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PREFACE. 

THE principal sources from which this 
Volume of the History of Scotland. has been 
written, are the same as those indicated in 
the Preface to Volume Seventh ; but the 
Author has also had the advantage of con-
sulting a valuable collection of original letters 
and papers, illustrating the reign of James 
the Sixth, which has been most liberally com-
municated to him by the Right Honourable 
Sir George Warrender, Bart. 	These letters 
]lave contributed some important facts to 
this Volume ; and promise to be of still 
greater service to the next, in the lights which 
they throw on the concluding portion of this 
1144ory. 

Amongst them are several secret and con-
fidential letters of Queen Elizabeth to James 
the Sixth, which contain much that is char- 
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acteristic of this extraordinary woman, and 
are written wholly in her own hand. 	The 
Volumes 	containing these 	materials 	are 
quoted in- the text as the Warrender MSS., 
and were consulted by Dr Robertson, who . 
has described them, in - his Preface to the 
History of Scotland, " as a very valuable 
collection of Original Papers, in two large 
Volumes, communicated by Sir AlOxander 
Dick." 

The Author has also to acknowledge the 
kindness of his friend, Sir Cuthbert Sharp, 
in placing in his hands three folio Volumes, 
containing chiefly the Original Letters of Sir 
Robert Bowes, who acted so prominent a part 

"4.r1  ini  the history of this period, and to whose 
vigorous and graphic details frequent refer-
erice has been made in this Volume. 

LONDON, April 8, 1842. 

   
  



CONTENTS 

Or 

THE EIGHTH VOLUME. 

CHAP. I. 

REGENCY OF MORTON. 

1573-1580. 
PLGS 

Morton reduces the Borders, 1 
Killigrow leaves Scotland, 	 '  2 
State of Scotland, 	  4 
Grievances of the Kirk, 	  5 
Morton's exactions, 6, 8 
Killigrew's mission into Scotland, 	  9 
His interview with James, 	  10 
State of the Country, 	  12 
Killigrew's Secret Instructions as to Mary, 	 13, 14 
He leaves Scotland,• 	  15 
Walsingham's Remonstrances to Elizabeth, 	 16, 17 
Killigrew and Davison ordered to proceed to Scotland, 18 
Affray on the Borders, ib. 
Elizabeth's Intemperate Message, 	  19 
Killigrew arrives in Scotland, 	  21 
State of the Country, 	  21, 23 
Discontent of the Kirk, 24 
Andrew Melvil, 	  25 
Plot of Atholl and Argyle against Morton, 	 27 
Mission of Randolph to Scotland, 	  
Success of the Plot, 	 • 	 

30 
30, 31 

Morton's resignation of the Regency, .32  
Randolph leaves Scotland, lb. 

   
  



V111 	 CONTENTS. 

• PAGE 

Council of Twelve appointed, 33 
• Morton's Schemes for the Recovery of Power, 	. 	. 	. 	 35 
Morton's Coalition with Mar, 	  36 
Mar and his friends get possession of the King's person, 	 37 
Morton recovers his power, 	  39 
Parliament at Stirling, 40 
Opposition of Lindsay and Montrose, 	  41 
Argyle and Atholl assemble their forces, 	  43 
Bowes reconciles the two factions, 	  44 
Unsettled State of the Country, 46 
Intrigues in favour of Mary, 	  48, 49 
Destruction of the House of Hamilton,   51, 53 
Death of the Earl of Atholl, 	  54 
Meeting of the General Assembly at Edinburgh, 	. 	. 	. 56 
Esme Stewart, afterwards Duke of•Lennox, arrives in Scotland, ib. 
Ho becomes the King's favourite, 	  58 
Parliament at Edinburgh, 	  59 
Poverty of the Crown, 	  61 
Reports of attempts to seize the King's person, . 	. 	. 	. 63, 64 
Elizabeth sends Sir R. Bowes into Scotland, 	. 	. 	. 	 66 
Lennox professes himself a Protestant, 67 
The Ambassador's interview with James,   87, 68 
His Secret Message to the King, 	  69 
Bowes leaves Scotland, 	  71 

CHAP. II. 

JAMES THE SIXTH. 	4 
• 

1580-1582. 
Wavering Measures of Elizabeth, 	  72 - 
Lennox's increasing power, 	  73 
Alarm of Elizabeth, ib. 
Bowes Mission to Scotland, 	  74 
Its failure, 75 
Lennox resolves to destroy Morton, 	  76 
Rise of captain James Stewart, 	  77 
Morton accused of Darnley's Murder, 	' 78 
Ife.is confined in Dumbarton, 	  80 
Randolph sent by Elizabeth into Scotland, 	 81 

   
  



CONTENTS. IX 

PAGE 

His audience of the King, 	  82 
His great efforts to save Morton, 	. 	. 	. 	. 	. 	. 	. 	 84, 85 
Intrigues and Plots against Lennox, 	  86, 87 
Elizabeth encourages them, 	  88  
Douglas of Whittingham reveals the whole, 	

•  Randolph retires, ib.  
89 

Morton's Trial and Condemnation, 	  91  90, 
'His Execution, 	  96  

Great Power of Lennox, 	  97  
He is created a Duke, 	  99 
Miserable condition of the Queen of Scots, 	 100 
Her Memorial to Elizabeth, 	  102 
Struggle between Episcopacy and Presbyterianism, 	. . 103 
Second Book of Discipline, 	  ib. 
Montgomery made Bishop of Glasgow, 	  104 
Proceedings of the Kirk against him, 	  105 
Mission of Captain Arrington into Scotland, 	. 	. 	• • ib. 
The Party of the Kirk alarmed by Reports from France, 106, 107 
The Ministers admonish the King, . 	. 	...... 108 
John Durie's Interview with Signor Paul, 111 
Durie rebukes the King, 	  112 
Tie is ordered to quit the City,  	, 	. . ib. 
Montgomery excommunicated, 	  113 
General Assembly, 	  114 
Violent debates, 115 
Durie banished, 	  116 
Grievances of the ilp irk, 	  118 
Boldness of Andrew Melvil, 	  119 
Band against Lennox, 	  120 
Montgomery driven from Edinburgh, 	  121 
Lennox's obstinacy, 122 
Raid of Rutliven, 	. 	. 	. 	. 	........ 124, 125 
Conduct of the Ministers of the Kirk, 	  127 
MI  James Lawson's Sermon, 128 
Sir George Carey sent into Scotland, 	  129 
Randolph's exultation, ib. 
Lennox's irresolution, 	• 	 • 	 130 

   
  



X 	 CONTENTS. 

CHAP. III. 

•JAMES THE SIXTH. 

' 1582-1584. 
PAGE 

Durie's Triumphant Return to Edinburgh, 	 131 
Sir George Carey's Interview with James, 	. 	. 	. 	. 132, 133 
The Kirk vindicates the Raid of Ruthven, 	 135 
Death and Character of Buchanan, 	  136, 137 
General Assembly, 	 1 138 
Elizabeth's Attempt to Recover the Letters of Mary to 

Bothwell, 	  139  
Pitiable situation of the King, 	  140 
Lennox leaves Scotland, 	  141 
The Ministers send Mr John Colvile to Elizabeth, . 	. . 	• 	143 
Fowler's disclosures of French Intrigues, 145 
Archibald Douglas betrays Mary's Secrets to Walsingham, -146 
Arrival of Menainville, the French Ambassador, 	. 	. 	. 	147 
Alarm of the Kirk, 	  148 
Interview of the Ministers with James, 	  149 
Menainville's boldness, 150 
The Ministers denounce La Motte and Menainville, 	. . 	151 
John Colvile and Colonel Stewart sent to Elizabeth, 	. . 	153 
Menainville's successful intrigues against the Protestant 

Lords, 	  154 
The Queen of Scots' Letter to Elizabeth, 	  157 
Mary's Interview with Beal,  	158, 159 
Projected "Association" between Mary and her Son in the 

Government, 	 ib. 
Elizabeth sounds James on this subject, 	  161 
James' aversion to any "Association," 162 
Menainville leaves Scotland, 	  163 
Colonel Stewart and Colvile's proceedings in England, . 	164 
Elizabeth's extreme Parsimony, ...... . . 	 165, 166 
Death of Lennox in France, 	  166, 167 
James deceives Bowes, 168 
The Kilig escapes from the Ruthven Loads, 	 169 
The Earl of Arran resumes his Power, 	  170 

' Mar and Angus fly, ib. 
Raid of Ruthven declared Treason, ib, 

   
  



CONTENTS. X1 
. . 

• Wilt 

Singular Interview between the King and the Ministers, 171, 173 
Walsingham's Embassy to Scotland, 	. 	. 	. 	. 	. 	. 	 175  
His Interview with James, 	  176 
Walsingham's Intrigues, 	  177 
Discovered and defeated by Arran, 	  178 
Proceedings against the Ruthven Lords, 	  180 
Flight of Andrew Melvil, 181 

°Arrival of the young Duke of Lennox from France, 	. 	 182 
Intrigues of Bowes and Walsingham, 	  184 
Discovered and Defeated, 	  185, 186 
Arran and the King's offers to Elizabeth, 	-  186 
Elizabeth's Difficulties between the two parties, 	. 	. . 187 
Colvile's Remonstrances, 	  188 
The Intrigues of Colvile and Gowrie, 	  189 
Gowrie seized, 	  ib. 
Flight of Mar and Angus, 	  190 
Flight of the Ministers to England, 191 
Artifice against Gowrie, 	  192 
Gowrie's Trial, 	  193 
His Behaviour and Execution, 	  194, 195 

CHAP. IV. 

JAMES THE SIXTH. 

1584,-1586. 

Unlimited Power of Arran, 	 • 197 
Elizabeth's Difficulties, 199 
Parliament at Edinburgh, 201 
Mr David Lindsay imprisoned, 	  202 
Davison sent to Scotland, 	  20a 
His Conversation with Sir James Melvil, 	 205 
Davison's Audience of the King, 	  207 
Davison's Picture of the Country, 	  208, 209 
Preponderance of French Influence, 	  210, 211 
Elizabeth's anxieties, 	  214 
Her crafty policy, 	  216 
She appoints Lord Hunsdon to confer with Arran, . . . 	217 
Davison's Intrigues with the Banished Lords, 	. 	. . . 	ib. 
Meeting between Hunsdon and Arran, 	 220, 223 

   
  



Xii 	 CONTENTS. 	 . 
. 	- 

PAGE 

Master of Gray betrays Mary's interests, 	  224 
State of opposite Factions, 227 
Sir Edward Hoby and Arran's Secret Interview, 	. 	. 	 229 
Arran's Pride and Oppression 	  231 
Severity to the Countess of Gowrie, 	, 	  232 
Plot of Arran to assassinate Angus,   233, 234 
Persecution of the Kirk, 	  235 
Hewison's Sermon, 	  237 
Mr David Lindsay's Vision, 	  238 
Master of Gray's Embassy to Elizabeth, 	  239 
James' Letter to Lord Burghley, 	  241 
Gray's Offers to Elizabeth, 	  244 
Intrigues of Elizabeth against Arran,  	245, 246 
Gray defeats the project of an Association between James 

and Mary,  	 247 
Persecution of the Kirk, 248 
Submission of some Ministers, 	 ' 249 
Arran's violence, 250 
Sit Edward Wotton sent to Scotland, 	  251 
Intrigues against Arran, 	  252 
Proposals for his Assassination, 	  255 
1Votton's embarrassment,   - 256 
Lord Russell slain, 257 
Projected League with England, 	  259 
Plot of Gray for the return of the Protestant Lords, 	. 	. 261 
Encouraged by Wotton,   262, 2G3 
Arran's counterplots, 	  265 
Wotton's personal danger, 	  267 
Gray designs to cut off Arran, 	  269 
Enterprise of the Protestant lords, 270 
Flight of Sir Edward Wotton, 	  271 
Arran's flight from Stirling, 	  272 
Angus, Mar, and their friends, occupy Stirling, 	.. . 	. 273 
Interview with James, 274 
Elizabeth sends Sir William Knolles to Scotland, 	. 	. 27.5 
Interview with James,  	 276 
Randolith's mission, 277 
Favourably feceived by James,  	 279 
League between James and Elizabeth signed, 	. 	. 	. 	 280 
Elizabeth's parsimony, 282 

   
  



CONTENTS. Mill 

FAGS 

Terms of the League, 	 .  284 
Elizabeth intercedes for Archibald Douglas, 	• 	• 	• • 285 
Douglas's return and pardon, 	  286 

CHAP. V. 	
. 

 

JAMES THE SIXTH. 

1586-1587. 

Elizabeth'S object in sending Archibald Douglas to Scot- 
land, 288 

Babington's Conspiracy, 	  289 
Retrospect of Mary's proceedings,  	 290, 292 
Throckmorton's Plot in 1584, 	  293 
Walsingham's system of espionage, 	  295 
Walsinghaues tools and assistants, 	  294 
Ballard and Babington's two Plots, 295 
Mary's design for her escape, ib. 
Savage's design to slay Elizabeth, 297 
Ballard's introduction to Babington, 	  298 
Six gentlemen resolve to assassinate Elizabeth, 	. 	. . 	300 
Mary's letter to Charles Paget, 	 ,  301, 305 
Progress of the Plot, 	  307 
Perilous situation of Mary, 	  309 
Observations, 310 
Nan and Curle, 311 
Letter to Babington, 	  
Intercepted by Walsingham, 	  • 

312, 313 
313 

Mary to Morgan, 	  315 
Nan to Babington, 316 
Phelipps repairs to Chartley, 318, 319 
Babington's alleged letter to Mary, 	  321 
Curle to Gifford, 	  322 
Mary's alleged letter to Babington, 	  323, 324 
Observations, 323 
Forged Postcript, 	  326 
Contents of Mary's alleged letter, 327, 330 
Walsingham's mode of proceeding, 331, 332  
Babington's suspense and difficulty, 333 

   
  



xiv 	 CONTENTS. 

PAGli 

Babington's flight, 	 334 
Elizabeth informed of the Plot, 	  ib. 
Her advice to Walsingham, 	  335 
Mary carried to Tixall, 	  

e Her papers and letters seized, 	  
337 
ib..  

Elizabeth's joy, 	  338 
Babington and his companions apprehended, 	. 	. 	. 	. 339 
Elizabeth's fears as to their trials, 	. 	  ib. 
Her directions for increasing the pain of. the executions, 	. 340 
Mary brought back to Chartley,   341, 342 
Examinations of Nau and Curle, 	  343 
Burghley's unfeeling letter, 	  344 
Confessions of Nau and Curle,   345, 346 
Commission for Mary's trial,  	 348 
Mary's spirited reply on hearing of Elizabeth's resolution, 349, 350 
Mary refuses to plead, 351 
Elizabeth's letter to Mary, 	  352 
Mary consents to appear before the Commissioners, 	 353 
The Commissioners repair to Fotheringay, 	 ib. 
Trial of Mary,   354, 355 
Mary's answer to the charge,   356, 357 
Burghley's reply,   358, 359 
Mary's second answer,   360, 361 
Proceedings of the second day, 	  362 
Mary accuses Walsingham, 	  ib. 
She renews her protestation, 	  363 
The Court adjourns abruptly, 	  365 
Burghley's letter to Davison, 366 
Court meets again at Westminster, 367 
Remarks, 	  368 
Meeting of Parliament, 	  369 
Parliament petition Elizabeth to execute Mary, 	. 	. 	. ib. 
Her reply, 	  370 
Mary informed of the sentence, 	  371 
Paulet's brutal conduct to Mary, 	  372 
Mary's. st letter to Elizabeth, 	  374 
Henry the Third intercedes for Mary, 	  375 
Elizabeth's violence, 376 
The King of Scots' efforts to save his mother, 	. 	. 	. 	376, 378 
Embassy of Sir W. Keith, 	  380 

   
  



CONTENTS. xY 

PAGE 

Elizabeth's auger, 	  381 
Embassy of the Master of Gray and Sir R. Melvil, 	. . ib. 
Their interview .with Elizabeth, 	  383 
Ministers of the Kirk refuse to pray for Mary, . 	. 	. . 384 
Elizabeth's fears and irresolution, 	  i 386 
She signs the warrant for Mary's execution, 	 387 
Her instructions to Davison recommending the private 

• assassination of Mary, 	  

	

Letter to Sir Amias Paulet, 	  
387, 388 

389 
Paulet's reply, 	  390 
Davison's interview with Elizabeth, 	  391 
The Council send off the Warrant, 	  392 

. 	• 	 Mary's firmness, 393 
Her reply on being told to prepare for death, 	. 	. . 	. 394 
Her conduct before her Execution, 396 
Her parting with Sir Andrew Melvil, 	  400 
Her devotions, and behaviour on the scaffold, 	. 	. . 	403, 404 
She is beheaded, 	  405 

   
  



XV1 CONTENTS. 

PROOFS AND ILLUSTRATIONS 
FROM 	

• 

UNPRINTED MANUSCRIPTS. 

• 
PAGE 

I. Attack on Stirling, 28th April, 1578, 	. 	• 	. 	. 409 
II. Composition between Morton and his enemies, . 	. 411 

III. Destruction of the House of Hamilton by Morton • 
in 1579, 	  412 

IV. Poisoning of the Earl of Atholl, and state of parties 
in Scotland, 	  414 

V. James letter to Mary, 	  418 
VI. Randolph's Negotiation in Scotland, and Elizabeth's 

attempt to save Morton, 	  
VII. Letters on the troubles, trial, andlleath of the Re- 

419 

gent Morton, 425 
VIII. Scottish Preaching in 1582. 	John Durie's Sermon, 430 

IX. Sir Robert Bowes to Walsingham, written immedi-:  
ately previous to the Raid of Ruthven,-15th 
Aug. 1582, 	  432 

X. Archibald Douglas to Randolph, 	  4'33 
XI. The Duke of Lennox's last letter to the King of 

• Scots, 	  434 
XII. The King's recovery of his liberty in 1583, . 	. 	. 436 

XIII. Walsingham's embassy to the Scottish Court in Sep- 
tember 1583, 	• 	  437 

XI V. HISTORICALREMARKS ON THEQUEEN OP SCOTS' SUP- 

POSED ACCESSION TO BABINOTON'S CONSPIRACY, 439 

   
  



HISTORY 

OF 

SCOTLAND. 
.._ 
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1573-1580. 

REGENCY OF MORTON, 
CONTINUED. 

. 	 . 	 . 

CONTEMPORARY PRINCES. 
England. 	Prance. • 	German➢• 	Spain. 	Portugal. 	Pope.

, 
 I 	.. 

ElizabotIt. 	firnr411. 
III. 

 . 	atr
p
rp

r 
 II. 	I hillp II._ 	Sebastian. 	Gregory X III 

I
, 

 1 	 I 	 I 

SCOTLAND was now at peace ; and the Regent, having • 
nothing to fear from domestic enemies or foreign 
intrigue, addressed himself with great energy and 
success to reduce the country to order. 	The border 

. districts, at all times impatient under the restraints-of 
a firm government, had, during the late civil commo-
tions, become the scene of the utmost violence and 
confusion ; -but Morton, advancing . from Peebles to 
Jedburgh with a force of four thousand men, soon 
compelled the principal chiefs to respect the law and 
give pledges for their obedience' 	Sir James Hume 

1 Ns. Letter, St. P. Off. 	The Regent to Lord Burghley, Kehe, 
30th August, 1573. 

VOL. VIII. 	" 	 • 	II 
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of Coldingknowes, was then appointed warden of the 
East, Lord Maxwell of the West, and Sir John Car- 

. michael, of the Middle Marches;' and the Regent had 
leisure to renew his correspondence and cenfirm his 
ties with England. 	_ 

Some time before this, when Killig,rew, after his 
successful -embassy, returned to ,the English court,2  
Morton had sent 4 memorial tO Elizabeth,3  in which 

' he pointed out the principles upon which he 'proposed 
to regulate his future government. 	He declared the 
grateful feelings entertained by himself and the peo-
ple, for her late assistance in quieting their troubled 
country, and reducing it under the King's obedience.' 
Ho' urged the necessity of entering into a mutual 

' league for the maintenance of the Protestant religion 
and its professors against the Council of Trent ; and 
suggested the expediency of a contract or band for 
mutual defence from foreign invasions 	In a letter 
written at the same time to Burghley, he pointed out 
the heavy charges which he had incurred, and re-
quested pecuniary assistance, as it would still be 
necessary for him to provide against any renewed 
-rebellion by keeping up a body of troops ; and he, 
lastly, reminded her that Mary, the root of all the 

' Diurnal of Occurrents in Scotland, p. 337. 	Spottiswood,. 
p. 272. 

2  June 29. 
3  Copy, St. P. Off. Memoirs of me, the Lord Regent Of Scotland, 

to the Queen's Majesty of England's Ambisador, &c., 26th June, 
1578. 

4  Ibid. 	 6 Ibid. 
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evil, was still in her power, and .at her disposal. 
" The ground of the trouble," said he, " remains. hi • 
her Majesty's hands and power ; whereunto I doubt 
not ter highness will put order when she thinks tithe, 
so as presently I will not be further curious there,  
anent, abiding the knowledge uf- her-  Majesty's mind, . 
how she -shall think conveniofit to proceed in that 
behalf."' 	It appeareq rte, froi414fii$ fient6ce, that 
the Regent, invitpek the English Queen to renew the 
negotiations for pitting Mary to death an Scotland, 
which were so suddenly broken off by the decease of 
Mar; and indeed, some time before the surrender of 
the Castle of Edinburgh, Killigrew, the Ambassador, 
wrote to Burghley, that he had given Morton a strong 
hint upon the subject. 	He stated, that in a conver, 
sation which took place in the palace, the Regent 
had declared, that as long as the Scottish Queen' 
lived, there would be treason, troubles, and mischief; 
to which, said Killigrew, " I answered he might help 
that ; and he said; when all was done, he thought at 
the next parliament * * to prove the noblemen after 
this concord, to see what might be done."2 	We. do 
not find, however, that Elizabeth at this moment gave 
any encouragement to the renewal of this nefarious 
negotiation. 

All was now quiet in Scotland, and it is remark- 

1  MS. Letter, St. P. Off. Morton to Burghley, 25th June, 1573. 
'2  MS. Letter, St. 4 Off. 	The Regent to Lord Burghley, IIoly- 

rood, 26th June, 1573. 	Also MS. Letter St. P. Off. 	Killigrew 
to Bnrghley, 4th March, 1572-3. 
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able that, notwithstanding the miseries of the civil 
war, the general prosperity of the country had been 
progressive. 	Commerce and trade had increased ; 
and whilst the power of the high feudal lords was 
visibly on the decay, the middle classes had risen in 
importance ; and the great body of ;the people, in:- 
structed in their political duties by. the sermons of 
the clergy, and acquiring from the institution of parish 
schools a larger share of education and intelligence,' 
began to appreciate their rights, and to feel their own 
strength. 	There is a passage in a letter of Killi. 
grew, which is worthy .of notice upon this subject. 
" Methinks," said this acute observer, " I see the 
noblemen's great credit decay in this country, and 
the barons, burrows, and such like, take more upon 
them ; the ministers and religion increase, and the 
desire in them to prevent the practices of the Papists; 
the number of able men for service very great, and 
well furnished both on horse and foot ; their navy so 
augmented, as it is a thing almost incredible." 1 	It 
is to be recollected, that KilligreW's last visit to 
Scotland had been in 1567, immediately after the 
murder of the King; and that the remarkable change 
which he now noticed, had taken place in the brief 
period of five years.  

This nourishing state of things, however, did not 
long continue ; for although the Regent ,was justly 
entitled to the praise of restoring security and order, 
and his vigour in the punishment of crime, and the 

I MS. Letter, St. P. 0ff. 	Killigrow to Burghley, 11th Novem- 
ber, 1572, 
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maintenance of the authority of the laws, was supe-
rior to that of any former governor,• there was one 
vice Which stained his character, and led to measures 
of an unpopular and oppressive kind. 	This was 
avarice : and he found the first field for its exercise 

,in-  an attack upon the patrimony of the Kirk. - He 
had the address to persuade the Presbyterian clergy, 
that it would be the hest thing for their interests to 
resign at 'once into hiS hands the thirds of the bene-
fices, which had been granted for their support by a 
former parliament. 	Their 'collectors, he said, were 
often-  in arrear ; but his object would be, to make 
the stipend local, and payable in each parish where 
they served. 	This would'be a better system; and if 
it failed, they should, upon application, be-  imme- 
diately reinstated in their right and possession.' 	The 
plan was agreed to, but was followed by immediate 
repentance on the part of the clergy ; as the moment 
Morton became possessed of the thirds, his scheme 
of spoliation .was unmasked. 	The course he followed 
was, to appoint two, three, or even four churches to 
one minister, who was bound to preach in them by 
turns; and at the same time he placed in every parish 
a reader, whose duty was to officiate in the min-
ister's absence, and to whom a miserable pittance 
of twenty or forty pounds Scots was assigned. 	Hav- 
ing thus allotted to the Church the smallest possible 
sum, he seized.the overplus for himself; and when the 
clergy, sensible of their error, petitioned to be re- 

, 
1 Spottiswooa, p. 273. 	. 
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instated hi their property, as had been promised, they . 
were at first met with delays, and at last peremptorily 
told, that the appointment of the stipends ought pro-
perly to belong to the Regent and Council. 

Nothing could be more distressing and degrading 
to this independent body of men than Such a state of, 
things. 	Before this, when their stipend was defec- 
tive, they had an appeal to the superintendents, who, 
if not always able, were at least solicitous to relieve 
them. 	Notiv, they were compelled to become suitors 
at Court, where their importunate complaints met 
only with ridicule and neglect. 	All this misery was 
justly laid to the Regent's account ; and although 
once their favourite, as a•steady friend to the Refor-
mation; he' became highly unpopular with the clergy. 

But, if the grasping avarice of Morton fell heavy 
on the ministers of the Kirk, their woes were little 
to the miseries of the lower classes, more especially 
the artisans, merchants, and burgesses of the capital. 
Many of these had remained in the city during the 
time of the late troubles. 	These were now treated 
as rebels, who had resisted the King's authority; and 
they found that they must either submit to a public 
trial, or purchase security by payment of a heavy 
fine. 	The sum thus collected, was intended at first 
to be -divided between the state and the citizens 

-. whose• houses and property had been destroyed ; but 
it followed the fate of all monies paid into the coffers 
of this rapacious governor. 

Another source of complaint arose out of those 
Itinerant Courts, denominated Justice Ayres, and 
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held in different parts of the kingdom ; which, under 
his 'administration, became little else than parts of a 
system of legal machinery, invented to concuss and 
plunder all classes in the country. 	To supply them 
with. victims, he kept in pay a numerous body of 
.informers, whose business it was to discover offences. 
Nor was It difficult to bring forward accusations of 
almost every possible nature, after so many years of 
a divided government, in which men, at one . time or 
another, had been compelled to-acknowledge very op-
posite authorities ; now that of the King and his 
Regent ; now, of the Queen or her partisans. 	Ample 
ground was thus found for every species of prosecu-
tion : against merchants for transporting coin out of 
-the realm, against Protestants for transgressing the • 
statute by eating flesh in Lent, against the poorer 
artisans or labourers for the mere remaining in a 
town or city which was occupied by the Queen's 
forces. 	As to those whose only offence was to be 
rich, their case was the worst of all; for to have a 
full purse, and " thole"' a heavy fine to the Regent, 
were become synonymous terms. 

These were not Morton's only resources. 	His 
petitions to Elizabeth for support were importunate 
and incessant ; nor did he fail to remind her, that as 
it was by her "allowance and advice that he had 
entered upon the Regency, so he confidently ex-
pected her aid, especially in money, and pensions 
bestowed upon his friends." 	Although universally 

1  " Thole," undergo. 
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reputed rich, he dwelt pathetically on his limited 
revenue compared with his vast outlay ;. and in the 
letter to Burghley, which preferred these requests,.he 
at the same time earnestly. recommended Elizabeth to 
keep-a watchful eye upon France, as the noted Adam 
Gordon, who had already done  so much mischief iii. , 
the North, was now .received at the French court, 
and, he heard, had  offered, if properly supported, to 
overthrow the King's government in Scotland.1  

This news seems to have alarmed the English. 
Queen ; for, not long after, she again despatched 
Killigrew into that country. 	Her .open 'object was 
to learn the state of public feeling, and the. disposi-
tion of the Regent ; " whether he was constant in his 

. affection towards England ; how his government was 
liked by the people; whether the Scottish Queen had• 
yet any party there ; and, above all, to discover whe-
ther France was intriguing, as had been reported, to 
get possession of the youngKing." 	To the Regent's 
proposal for a defensive and religious league, he was 
instructed to• reply, that she deemed such a measure 
at present unnecessary ; although, in any emergency,' 
he might look confidently to her support. 	As to his 
request for money, Killigiew was, as delicately as he 
could, to " waive" all distussion upon the subject. 

Here,• however, ns in the former embassy, there 
was a mission within a mission ; and the envoy's 
open. instructions embraced not the whole, nor even 
the most.  material part of the object for which he 

1 MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	The Regent Morton to Burghley, 
'Jan. 21, 1573-4, ITaildington. 	 .. 
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was sent: 	I-Ie was enjoined by Burghley-  and Lei- 
cester (doubtless, as before, with Elizabeth's knpw-
ledge and advice) to renew the negotiation for "the 

. great matter ; " the project for having Mary put to 
death in her own country;  and by her own subjects. 
-Unfortunately the written orders upon this point are 
now lost ; but immediately. upon his arrival in Edin-
burgh, the Ambassador Communicated to Walsingham 
his fears that they had suffered the time for the 
accomplishment of so desirable a result .to go by .l.  

On examining the state of the country, Killigrew 
became convinced that his Sovereign and the English 
baxr lost popularity since his late residence in Scot- 
land. 	The. Regent, although professing his usual 
devotion, appeared more distant and reserved. 	The 
Queen's coldness on the subject of the proposed 
league, and her evasion of his request for pensions, 
had produced no good effect ; 	and some piracies 
committed by English subjects upon Scottish mer- 

. chantmen, had occasioned great popular discontent. 
Not long, after the Ambassador's arrival, he re-

paired to Stirling, where he was introduced to the 
young King, then only seven years old ; and, after 
the interview, he sent this interesting portrait of him 
to Walsingham :—" Since my last unto you," said 
he, " I have been at Stirling to visit the King in her 
Majesty's name, and met by the way the ' Countess 

MS. St. P. Off. 	"Instructions given to henry Killigrew, Esq., 
&c." May 22, 1574, Signed by Walsingham. - Also MS. Letter, 
St. P. Off. 	Killigrew to Wnlsinglun, June 8, 1574, Berwick. 
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of Mar coming to Edinburgh, to whom X did her 
Majesty's commendations. 
' " The King seemed to be very glad to hear from 

' her,Majesty, and could use pretty speeches : as, how 
much he was bound unto her Majesty, :yea, more 
than to his own mother, 	And at my departure, he 
prayed me to. thank her Majesty for the good remem-
brance she had of him ; and further desired me to 
make his hearty commendations unto- her Majesty. 
His Grace is well groWn, both in body and spirit, 
since I was last here. 	He speaketh the French 
tongue marvellous well ; 	and that which seems 
strange to me, he *as able extempore (which he did 

, before me) to read a chapter of the 'Bible out of 
Latin into French, and out of French after into 
English, so well, as few men could have added any- 
thing to his translation. 	His schoolmasters, Mr 
George Buchanan and. Mr. Peter Young, rare men, 
caused me to appoint the King what chapter I would; 
and so did I, whereby I perceived it was not studied 
for. 	They also made his Highness dance. before me; 
which he likewise did with a very good grace ; a 
Prince Sure of great hope, if God send him life." 1  

The English Ambassador remained in Scotland for 
more than two months, during 'which time he had 
ample opportunities to make himself acquainted with 
the state of the country. 	He found the Regent firm 
in his government, universally obeyed, somewhat 

1  MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	Killigrew to Waisingham, 31st June, 
1574. 
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More feared than loved ; but bold, decisive, and clear-
headed in the adoption and execution of such mea-
sures as he deemed necessary to establish quiet and 
good order. in the realm., 

The general prosperity of all classes of the people - 
surprised him. 	He had, •to, use his own expression, 
left the country " in a consumption," distracted and 
impoverished by a long continuance , of- civil war 

m 	
.1 

He had expected, on his return, to meet with the 
same melancholy. state of things ; but to his astonish-
ment, the nation; as he described it to Burghley and 
Walsingham, had recovered itself with a rapidity Of 
which he found it difficult. to assign the cause. 	Its 
commerce and -manufactures were in a flourishing 
condition, the people seemed to have forgotten their 
miseries, the nobles were reconciled to each other, 
and universally acknowledged the King's authority. 
Although French intrigue was still, busy, and the 
captive Queen attempted to keep up a party; the 
uncommon vigilance of Morton detected and 'put 
down all her practices. 	Formerly, the people broken, 
bankrupt, and dispirited, were glad to sue for the 
protection of England, and the nobles were eager in 
their offers to Elizabeth. 	Now, to - use Killigrew's 
phrase, they were 1‘ lusty and independent ;" they 
talked as those who would be sued to.; their alliance, 
they said, had 'been courted by 't great monarchies ;" 
and they complained loudly of the attack and plunder 
of their merchantmen by the English pirates. 	On 

1 This must allude to his last visit but one, i. e. in 1.507 ; for in 
1572 he described it as rapidly improving. 	8npra, p. 4. 	• 
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this' subject the Regent expressed himself• keenly, 
and was greatly moved. 	He dwelt, too, on other 
causes of dissatisfaction. 	The rejection of the pro- 
posed league by Elizabeth ; her silence .as to sending 
him any aid, or granting any pensions ; the delay in 
giving back the ordnance which had been taken by, 
the English, and other lighter subjects of complaint, 
Were all recapitulated ; and.  it was evident to Killi-
grew that there was an alteration .in the relative 
position of the two countries, which he assured Wal-
singham would' not be removed by mere words of 
compliment' 

The Ambassador anxiously impressed upon Eliza-
beth and her ministers, that the Scots were no 'longer 
dependent upon: England ; and as to attempting to 
make any impression upon the Regent in " the great 
matter,' which Leicester and Burghley were solici-
tous should be again secretly discussed, it seemed to 
him a vain idea at present. 	If Morton were to con- 
sent' to put Mary to death on her delivery into his 
hands, it would only be, as he soon perceived, by the 
offer of a far higher bribe than Elizabeth was dis-
posed to give ; and by the settlement of large annui-
ties on such of the nobles as were confidants to hiS 
cruel design. 	Killigrew was so 'assured of the back- 
wardness of his royal mistress upon this point; and 
the determination of the Regent not to move without 

• - 	 . 
I MS. Lotter, St. P. Off. 	Killigrew to Walsingham, June 23, 

1574. 	Ibid. Same to the same, 24th June, 1574. 	MS. Letter, 
St. P. Off. 	Killigrew to Walsingliam, 18th June, 1374. 

' The having Mary pit to death in Scotland. 
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such inducement, that he begged to be allowed to 
return. 	" I see no cause," said he to Walsingham, 
" why I should remain here any longer; 	* 	* 	* 
especially if you . resolve not upon the league, nor 
upon pensions, which is. the surest 'ground I do see 
to build ' the great matter' upon, without which •  
small assurance can be made. 	I pray God we prove 
not herein like those .who refused the three volumes 
of Sibylla's .prophecies, with the price which after-
wards they were glad to give for one that was lost; 
for sure I left the market here better cheap than now- 
I find it."' 

The Queen of England, however, was not to be 
so easily diverted from any, object upon which she 
considered the safety of herself and her kingdom to 
depend, and she insisted that her Ambassador should 
relnain and accompany the Regent in his Northern 
progress; upon which he was about to enter.' 	" I 
think it not convenient," said Walsingham to him, in 
a letter of the 18th July, " that you be recalled till 
such time as you have advertised how you find the 
Regent affected touching ' the great.  matter' you had. 
in commission to deal in ; and therefore I think fit 
you accompany the Regent till you be revoked."3  

In the mean time, Elizabeth held a secret confer-
.  

1 MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	Edin. Killigrew to Walsingliam, 
July 12, 1574. 	MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	Killigrew to Walsing- 
ham; 23d June, 1574. 
.2  MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	Killigrew to Walsingham, June 23, 

1574. 
3  MS. Letter, Draft, St. P. Off. 	Walsingliam to Killigrew, 

July 18, 1574. 
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ence with LeiCester, Burghley, and Walsingham, and 
appears to have herself suggested a new scheme for 
getting rid of Mary. 	It is unfortunately involved in 
much obscurity, owing to the 'letter in which it is 
alluded to being written partly in cipher ; but it was 
disapproved of by. Walsingham, apparently on the 
ground that- it would be dangerous to send the Scot- • 
tish Queen into-Scotland, without an absolute cer-
tainty that she should be put to death.'. 

The English Queen was evidently distracted be-
tween the fear of two dangers—one, the retaining 
Alary within her dominions, which experience had 
taught her was the cause of constant plots and prac-
tices against her ; the other, the delivering her to the 
Scots, an expedient which, unless it were carried 
through in the way proposed by Burghley and Lei-
cester, in 1572 2—that is, under a positive agreement 
that' she should be put to-death, was, as they justly 
thought, full of peril. 	Morton, however, although 

. 	 . • 
1  MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	Walsingham to Killigrew, Wood- 

stock, July 30, 1574. 	Killigrew accordingly accompanied the 
Regent in his Northern progress; and, on their arrival at Aber-
deen, held a secret consultation on the great matter; but unfortu-
nately, the lettdis in which we might have looked for a particular 
account of what took place have disappeared. 	All that we know 
with certainty is, that the Ambassador returned soon after to the 
English court, (Aug. 16 ;) and that in a brief memorandum of such 
things as the Regent desired him to remember in his conferences 
with the Queen of England, is this slight note :—" What further 
is to be looked fer in that which past betwixt us at Aberdeen, 
touching the matter of greatest moment."—MS. Mem. St. P. Off. 
Aug. 16, 1574. 

2  Vol. Seventh of .this History, pp. 388, 3,49, 
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he had shown himself perfectly willing to receive 
Mary under this atrocious condition, continued firm 
in his resolution not to sell his services for mere 
words. 	He, too, insisted on certain terms; especially 
an advance in• money, and pensions to his friends. 
But the Queen .deemed his demands exorbitant; and, 
as was not unfrequent with her when pressed by a 
difficulty from which she saw no immediate escape, 
she dismissed the subject from her mind, and unwisely 

_ took refuge in delay. 	In this manner " the great 
matter" for the present was allowed to sleep ; and 
Mary owed her life to the parsimony of Elizabeth, 
and the avarice of the Scottish Regent' 

Killigrew not long after .left Scotland, and on 
parting with him, Morton assured Leicester, in a 
letter which this Ambassador carried with him, "that 
-no stranger had ever departed from that country 
with .greater liking and contentment of the people.°'2  
He requested him at the same time, on his return to 
the English Court, to communicate with the QUeen 

• and Council, upon some subjects of import, which 
required a speedy answer. 	These embraced. the 
dangers to which the Protestant interest in Scotland 
was exposed from continental intrigue ; but to the 
Regent's mortification, many months elapsed before 
any answer was received. 	At last, Walsiugham, 
alarmed by the apathy of Elizabeth, and the continued 
practices of her willies, endeavoured, in a letter of 

1 MS. Letter, St. P. Off. Aberdeen. The Regent to Leicester, 
Aug. 16, 1574. 	 . 

2  MS. St. P. Off. 	Mora to Leicester,46th August, 1574. 
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free remonstrance, to rouse his mistress to a sense of 
her 	peril. . 	He 	told her, that 	he 	bad recently 
received a despatch from the Scottish Regent, and,  
with it some ,intercepted papers of the Bishop of 
Rose', which required instant consideration. . They 
would convince her, he trusted, how utterly hollow 

• were the promises. of France and Spain, and to what 
imminent danger she was exposed from " unsound 

..subjects at home." 	He besought her deeply to weigh 
the matter, and " set to" her hand for the protection 
of her realm : observed that, " Though the Cardinal of 
Lorrain were dead, he had left successors enough to' 
execute his plots;" and conjured her to use expedition, 
before the hidden sparks of treason, now smouldering 
within the. reahn, should break out into an unquench. 
able fire.. 	" For the love of God, madam," said he, 
" let not the case of your diseased estate hang longer 
in deliberation. 	Diseased estates are no more cured 
by consultation without execution, than unsound 
bodies by mere conference with the physician ; and . 
you will perceive by his letters, how much the Regent. 
is aggrieved." 1  

For .a moment, these strong representations alarmed. 
Elizabeth, and she talked of sending Killigrew or 
Randolph immediately into.  Scotland ; 2  but her rein,- 

1 Ms. Letter, Draft, St. P. Off. Walsingham to Elizabeth, 
January 15, 1374-5.- 

2  MS. Letter,'St. P. Off. 	Edward Cary to Walsinglun, 17th 
January, 1574-5. 	Also Orig. Draft, St. P. Off. 	Walsingham 
to the Queen,..20th Mara, 1574-5. 	In the midst of these anti- 
cipated troubles, died, at his palace of Hamilton, the Duke of 
Chastelhorault, bettor known by the name of the Regent Arran, 
on the 22d January,41574-5, 
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tions with France occasioned new delays. 	She had 
entered into -an amicable correspondence with Cattle-.  
rine de Medicis. 	The Duke D'Alencon still warmly 
prosecuted his marriage suit ; 	and although the 
English Queen had not the slightest intentias of 
granting it, she, as usual, dallied and coquetted with 
the proposal. 	In the midst of all, Charles the Ninth ' 
died ; the Queen became engrossed with the .specula-
tions and uncertainties which follow a new succession; 
and Morton, irritated by neglect, was driven by re-
sentment and necessity to cultivate the friendship of 
that party in Scotland which was devoted to France. 

This alienation was soon detected by Walsingham, 
who wrote in alarm to Burghley, and -on the suc-
ceeding_ day to Elizabeth, adjuring her, "for the love 
of God, to arrest the impending mischief, and secure 
the Scottish amity, which of all others stood them at 
that moment in greatest stead. 	Already," he said, 
"the Regent was conferring favours ov the Hamiltons, 

.who were entirely French ;- already he was plotting 
to get the young King of Scots out of the hands of 
his Governor, Alexander Erskine ; Henry the Third, 
the new King of France, was well-known to be 
devoted to the house of Guise ; and with such feelings, 
what was to be expected, but that the moment he 
had quieted the disturbances in his own realm, he 
would keenly embrace the cause of the Scottish 
Queen ?" 1. 	. 

1  MS. Letter, Orig. Draft, St. P. Off. Walsingham to Burghley, 
11th April, 1575. 	Also St. P. Off. Orig. Draft. 	Walsingiatit 
to Elizabeth, 12th April, 1575. 

C VOL. VIII. 
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Elizabeth was at last roused, and .gave orders for 
the despatch of Henry Killigrew into Scotland, 
accompanied .by Mr. Davison; afterwards the cele-
brated Secretary, whom he was directed to leave as 
English resident at thp Scottish Court,' 	But before 
the Ambassador crossed the Border, an affray broke 
out, which threatened the most serious consequences, • 
and arrested him at Berwick.. At a Warden . Court, 
held by Sir John Forster, Warden of the Middle 
Marches, and Sir John Carmichael, Keeper of Lid-
desdale, a dispute arose which led to. high- words 
between these two leaders ; and their followers, 
taking fire, assaulted each other. 	The .Scots at first 
were repulsed, but being joined by a body of their 
countrymen from Jedburgh, rallied, attacked, and 
totally routed the English. 	Sir John Heron, Keeper 
of Tynedale, was slain ; whilst Sir John Forster, Sir 
Francis Russell, Sir Cuthbert Collingwood, Mr Ogle, 
Mr Fenwick, 4nd about three hundred men, were 
made prisoners, and carried by the Earl of Angus to. 
the Regent at Dalkeith. 	Morton received them with 
much courtesy, dismissed,  the prisoners of inferior 
rank, and' expressed, in a letter to Elizabeth, his 
readiness ;to 	afford redreSs: but he 	detained 'the 
Lord Warden ; and when -the Queen insisted that 
the Regent should meet Lord Huntingdon, the 
President of the North, in a personal conference in 
England, he peremptorily refused. 	Such a proceed- 
ing, he said, was beneath the dignity of the office he 

i MS. St. P. Off. Orig. 	Instructions to Henry Killigrew, 27th 
May, 1575. 
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held ; but he offered to. send the Justice Clerk to, 
arrange a meeting in Scotland.' 	 . 

6n being informed of this, Elizabeth, already chafed 
by the detention of her Warden, broke into one 'of 
those furious fits of passion which sometimes caused 
her highest councillors to tremble for their heads, and 
disagreeably reminded them of . her father. • In this 
frame she dictated a Violent message to the Scottish 
Regent, Which she commanded Killigrew to deliver 
without reserve or delay, 	She had seen, she said, 
certain demands made,. on his part, by the Justice-
clerk, and did not • a little wonder at so strange and 
insolent a Manner of dealing. 	He had already been 
guilty ora foul fact in detaining her Warden, the 
Governor of one of the principal forts in her realm ; 
be had committed a flagrant breach of treaty ; and 
had she been inclined 'to prosecute her just revenge;  
he should soon have learnt what it was for one of his 
base calling to offend one of her quality. 	And, 
whereas, continued she, he goeth about to excuse the 
detaining of our Warden, alleging that he feared he 
might revenge himself when his blood was roused for 
his kinsman's death,—such an excuse seemed to her, 
she must tell him, a scornful aggravation of his fault ; 
for she would have him to know, that neither Forster 
nor any other public officer or private subject of hers 
dared. to offer such an outrage to her government, as, 
for private revenge, to break a public treaty. 	As to 
the conference with Huntingdon, instead of receiving 

1 MS. Relation of the Affairs of Scotland from 1566 to 1570. 
Warreniler MS. Collections, vol.13. fol. 208. 
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her,offer with gratitude;  he had treated it with W:1114  
tempt. 	He had taken upon him to.  propose a place 
of meeting, four miles within Scotland ; an ambitious 
part in' 'him, and Savouring so much of an insolent 
desire of sovereignty, that she would have scorned such 
a'request had it come from the King' his master,' or 
the greatest Prince in Europe. 	To conclude, she*, 
formed him that, if he chose to confer with the Ealli 
Of Huntingdon at the Bond Rode,1  she was content; 
and he would do well to remember that hig prede-,  
cessor the Regent Murray had, not scrupled to come 
to York, and afterwards to London, to hold a consul-
tation with her cominissioners.a 

This passionate invective 'lave given, as it is high.; 
ly characteridic of the Queen; but Huntingdon and 
Killigrew 'deemed it prOper to soften its expressions, 
in conveying the substance Of it to the Regent,.whom 
they had no mind unnecessarily td irritate,' 	Even in 
its diluted state, however; it awed him into submis- 
sion. 	He met the English President on the '16th of 
August at the appointed place, arranged. all differ= 
enees, and hot •only disinissed his prisoner's, but load-
td them with presents, and sent , Carmichael,  up to 
England 'to ask pardon of Elizabeth. 	Amongst his 
gifts were some choice falcons; upon which a saying 
rose amongst the 'Borderers, alluding to the death of 

I The, B024 R0(10, or boundary road, a pla-ce or road on the 
Marches near Berwick, common to both kingttems. 

2  MS. Letter, S. P. Off. 	To Killigrew in Scotland. 	From 
the Queen. 

3  MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	Killigrew to Leicester, 14th August, 
, 1575. 
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Sir, John Heron,-thatt.for this once, the Regent had. 
lost by his bargain.: 	Re,had ,given live hawk 	for 
dead Herons.l• 	l• 	4 • 	 , -, 

The quarrel having -been adjusted, Killigrew pro 
ceeded to Scotland,' On his arrival there, he. perceived 
everywhere indications'of the same flourishing condi- 
ticin in which he had lately left the country. 	Whilst 
the people seemed earnestly disposed to preserve the 
amity with England, all lamented the late -accident 
on the Borders; and the ministers in their sermons 
prayed, fervently for the, continuance of the, peace, 
As to the Regent himself, the•Ambassador found him 
still firm in his affection to ,England, and in resisting 
the advaiices .of • France. 	Although not popular, 
generally, the ,vigour and success of his government 
were 'admitted even by his enemies; property and 
person were secure; and he, gave an example of this 
in his own Conduct ; for he never used. a guard, and 
would pursue his diversions; walking abroad with his 
fishing-rod over  his shoulder, or his hawk on, his 
wrist,' almost alone, to the wonder of many. 	The 
Borders, since the late ,disturbance, had been quiet ; 
and so rapidly had the foreign commerce of the coun-
try increased, that Killigrew reckoned it able to raise 
twenty thousand mariners,' 	it • 	 . 
• Such was the favourable side of the pietup ; but 

1  MS. Letter, St. P. Off..B.C. 	Huntingdon to Leicester, 14th 
August, 1575. 	Ibid. MS. Letter. 	Huntingdon to Sir T. Smith, 
17th August, 1575. 	Also MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	The 1tegent 
to Walsingham, 20th September, 1575. And Hume of Godscroft, 
vel. ii. p. 253. 

2 Murdin, p. 283. 	 • 
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there were some drawbacks to this prosperity, arising 
chiefly out of the - feuds amongst the nobility, and 
the discontent of the clergy. 	Ii was reported that 
Hamilton of Bothwellhaugh, who had shot the Regent 
Murray, and fled to the continent after the murder, 
was to be brought home by the Lord of Arbroath.. 
ThiS nobleman was second son of the late Duke of 
Chastelherault, and, owing to the insanity of Arran 
hii eldei biother, had become the chief leader of the 
Hamiltons. 	The idea of the return of his murderer, 
roused the friends of the late Regent to the highest 
pitch of resentment; and Douglas of Lochleven, his 
near kinsman, assembling a force of twelve hundred 
men, vowed deadly vengeance against both the as- 
sassin and Arbroath his chief. 	The Earls of Argyle, 
Athol, Buchan,-  and Mar, With Lords Lindsay and 
Ruthven, espoused the quarrel ofLochleven; Arbroath, 
on the other hand, would be supported, it was said, 
by all the friends of Prance and' the Queen; whilst 
Morton in vain endeavoured to bring both parties 
to respect the laws. 	Arbroath, too, meditated a 
a marriage with - the Lady Buccleugh, sister to 
the Earl of Angus, the Regent's nephew and heir; 
and when Morton appeared to countenance the match, 
a clamour arose amongst the young King's friends that 
he showed an utter disregard to the safety of his sove-. 
reign. 	Was not the Duke, they said, failing the King, 
the next heir to the throne? was not Arran his eldest 
son mad ? and did not the right of the royal succes-
sion devolve on Arbroath ? Had the Regent forgotten 
the ambition of the House of Hamilton, and Arbroath's 
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familiarity with blood ? and would he strengthen the 
hands of such a man by a marriage in his own family ? 
If so, he need not look for the support of any faithful 
subject who tendered the young King's preservation.' 

To these were added other causes of disquiet and 
difficulty: 	Morton was no longer popular with the 
Citizens of Edinburgh; nor, indeed, could he reckon 
upon the support of any of the middle or lower classes 
in the state. 	His exactions had completely disgusted 
.the merchants of the capital. 	He had imprisoned the 
most opulent amongst them, and this caused so great 
an outcry that many scrupled not to say, that, if he 
did not speedily; change hiS measures the 	Same 
burghers' hands which had put him up, would as 
surely pull him down again. 	To all these causes 
of discontent, must be added his quarrel with the 
Kirk, and the soreness arising out of his recent 
establishment of Episcopacy. 	This had given mortal 
offence to. some of 'the leading ministers, who consi- 

• dered the appointment of Bishops, Abbots, and other 
Catholic dignitaries to be an unchristian and hetero-
dox practice, utterly at variance with the great prin- 

- ciples of their Reformation. 	They arraigned, and 
With justice, as far as regarded the Regent, the selfish 
and venal feelings which had led to the preservation 

. of this alleged relib .of Popery. 	It waS evident, they 
said, that avarice, and not religion, was at the, root 
of the whole. 	The nobles and the laity had already 
seized a large portion of the Church lands, and their 

1 Murdin, pp. 282, 283. 
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greedy eyes still coveted ,mcirei 	These prizes they 
were determined_ to- retain; whilst the poor ministers 
who laboured in the vineyard, and to whom the thirds 
of the benefices had been assigned; found this a 
nominal provision; and were unable;with their utmost 
efforts, to extract a pittance from the collectors ; the 
whole of the rents finding their way ,into the purses 
of the Regent and his favourites. 	And how'utterly.  
ridiculous was this last settlement of the Bishops? 
Was it Act notorious that the See attached to the 
primacy, of St Andrew's belonged, in reality, to Mor= 
ton himself? .that there was a secret agreement, a 
nefarious collusion, between him and the Prelate, his 
own near relativeo  whom he had placed in it ? 	WAS 

it not easy to see that the chief purpose of this eccle-
siastical Office was to enable the Regent more readily 
and decently to suck out the riches of the benefice, . 
as, in the north country, farmers would sometimes-
stuff a calf's skin, called there a Tilichan, and set it 
up before a cow to make her give her milk more will- 
ingly? 	_What were all these Bishops, and Abbots, 
and Priors, Whom they now heard so' much about, 
but mere Tulchans,—men. of straw,--clerical calves, 
set up by the nobility to facilitate their own Simo- 
niacal operations ? 	. 

These arguments, which were enforced with much 
popular eloqudnce - and humour, by those ministers 
who were attached to the Presbyterian form of 
Church Government, produced a great effect upon 
the people, already sufficiently disgusted by the ex- 
actions and tyranny of the Regent, 	Morton, too, 
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increased the,  discontent by his violence, threatening 
the most zealous of the ministers; and broadly 
declaring that there would be no peace or order in 
the country till some of them were hanged' 

At this crisis, Andrew Melville, a Scottish scholar 
of good family, who had been educated first in his 
native country,. and afterwards brought up in the 
strictest 'principles of Calvin' and Beza • at Geneva, 
returned to Scotland from the continent. 	He was 
profoundly skilled in the Greek and Latin languages, 
and Calculated, both by his learning and enthusiasm, 
to be of essential service to the. reviving literature of 
his country ; but he was rash and imperious, a keen 
republican, sarcastic and severe in his judgment of 
others, and with little command of temper. Soon after 
his arrival he acquired a great influence over Durie, 
one of the leading ministers of the Kirk, who, arhis 
instigation, began to agitate the question, whether 
the office of a Bishop was consistent with the true • 
principles of Church Government as they could be 
gathered from the Word of God ? 	After various 
arguments and consultations held upon the subject, a 
form of Church polity was drawn up by some of the 
leading ministers; and the Regent, with gre4ter in-
dulgence than his former proceedings had. promised, 
appointed some members of the Council to take it 
into consideration: but they had scarcely met, when 
the State was suddenly plunged into new troubles, 
which at once broke off their conference. 

1 Calderwood, MS. Hist. British Museum. 	Ayscough's Cats- 
'nue, No, 4735, P. 1053 of the MS. 
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This rero1ution originated in a coalition of the 
Earls of Athol and Argyle against the Regent. Both 
these noblemen were of great power and posses-,  
sions, and 'Could command nearly the whole of the 
north of Scotland. 	Athol, *a Stewart, was considered 
the leader of that party which had recently attached 
themselves to the young King, under the hope of 
prevailing upon him to assume the Government in 
hig own person. 	Being a Roman Catholic, he was, 
for this" reason, much suspected -by Morton; and he, 
in his turn, hated the Regent for his cruel conduct to 
Lethington, to whom Athol had been linked in the 
closest friendship. Argyle, on the othef hand, although 
he had fOrmerly been united with Morton in most of 
his project's, was now completely estranged from his -
old comrade; and the cause of quarrel was to be 
traced to the Regent's cupidity. 	Argyle had married 
the -widow of the Regent Murray, Agnes Keith, a 
sister of the Earl Marshal, and through her had got 
possession of some of the richest of the Queen's 
jewels.- 	These Mary had delivered to Murray in a 
moment of misplaced confidence. He, as was asserted, 
had advanced money upon them to the State; at his 
death they remained in the hands of his widow; and 
Morton now insisted on recovering them, in obedience 
to an or* given on the subject by Parliament. 
Argyle and his lady resisted; and although the jewels 
were at last surrendered, it was not till the noble 
persons who detained them were threatened with 
arrest. 	This, and other causes of dispute, had en- 
tirely alienated Argyle from Morton :.but, for a short 
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season, -the Regent derived security from the sail 
guiliary contests between the two northern Earls 
themselves. 	Their private- warfare, 'however, which 
had threatened to involve in 'broils and bloodshed the 
whole of the north, Was suddenly composed; and by 
one of those rapid changes which-  were by no means 
unfrequent in feudal Scotland, the two fierce rivals, 
instead of destroying each other, united in 'a league 
against the Regent. 	This new state Of things is to 
be traced to the influence of Aleiander Erskine, the 
_GOvernor of the King .and Commander of Stirling 
Castle. 	This gentleman had recently discovered that 
Morton, With that subtle  and treacherous policy, of 
whiCh he had already given many proofs, was secretly 
plotting to get possession of the person of the young 
monarch, and to place a creature of his own in com- 
mand of the Castle of Stirling. 	To confound his 
scheme, Erskine, who was beloved by the higher 
nobles, and a principal member of the confederacy 
which had been.  formed for the King's protection, 
wrote secretly to Athol and Argyle, inviting them to 
come to Stirling, assuring them that James was al-
ready well disposed to redress their complaints against 
the Regent, and promising them immediate access to 
the royal person. 

It is scarcely to be 'believed that these plots and 
jealousies should have altogether escaped the atten-
tion of Morton. He had his-secret emissaries both in 
Scotland and in England, and he must have been well 
aware of his increasing unpopularity. 	The age of the 
young King, who had how Completed his twelfth year, 

   
  



28 	 iiiSTORY or SCOTLAND. 	1576. 

and begun' to. take all interest in the Government; 
admonished hiin that every succeeding .yearrwould 
render it a more difficult task for I any Regent to 
engross the supreme tower; and as 'long as...lames 
remained under the care of Alekander-Erskine, whom 
.he had reason to believe his enemy, it was evident 
that the continuance of his authority "must• be pre- 
carious. 	Already, he saw his sovereign- surrounded 
by those who, for-their own _ends, sought to persuade 
him that he *as arrived at an age when he ought- to 
take the Government into his own-  hands. 

'So far-sighted and experienced'a political intriguei 
as Morton, could not be sensible of all this, without 
speculating on the best 'mode of encountering the 
storm when it did arrive, and averting the wreck of 
his power. 	To continue sole Regent much. longer 
was evidently full of difficulty; but to flatter the young 
Monarch by a nominal sovereignty, and to rule him 
as effectually under 	the title of King, ass he bad 
done when sole Regent, 'would be no arduous matter, 
considering his tender 	years, 	provided he could 
undermine the influence of Erskine his Governor, 
and crush the confederacy with Argyle and Athol. 
In the mean season, he resolved to await his time, 
and watch their. proceedings. 	But the 	Regent, 
although cautious and calculating, was not aware 
of the full 'extent of the confederacy against him ; 
and the catastrophe arrived more suddenly than 
he had anticipated. 	The intrigues of Argyle and 
Athol had not escaped the eyes. of Walsingbam; 
and in 	December, 1577, Elizabeth, suspecting an 
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impending revolution, .despatched Sir Robert Bowes 
to. Scotland, with the hope of preventing any open.  
rupture between Morton and - the 'Allay. 	He 
.vas instructed -to inculcate the absolute necessity 
of union, to prevent both themselves and her kingdom 
front falling a sacrifice to .the practices of foreign 
powers ; and to threaten Morton, that, if he continued 
refractory, and refused to make up his differences 
with. bis opponents, she would make no scruple to 
cast him off, and herself become a party against him. 
He carried also a flattering letter from the Queen to 
-the Earl of Athol, in which she assured him of her 
favourable feelings and recommended peace.' 

For' a moment, thee envoy appears to" have suc-
ceeded ; but he was aware that the. friendship pro:- 
fessed on both sides was hollow, and the lull of civil 
faction only temporary. 	This is evident from a 
letter which he wrote to Leicester, upon his return 
to Berwick :—" Albeit," said he, " those matters (in 
Scotland) are for a season wrapped up, yet it is not 
'nlike, without wise handling and some charge to 
her Majesty, that the fire will be readily kindled 
again. 	* 	• 	* 	The readiest way, in my opinion, 
to preserve the realm in quietness, with continuance 

this 	is to 	 all the of 	amity, 	appease and — 2 	griefs 
between the Regent and others of the realm, and by 
friendly reconciliation and union to make him gracious 

1 MS. Iustruetions to Thomas Randolph, 30th January, 1577-8, 
St. P. Off. 	Orig. Draft of MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	The Queen's 
Maj. to the Earl of Athol, December, 1577. 

2  A word in the original is here inegiblo. 
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amongst them. 	For which he must receive some apt 
lessons, with gentleness, from her Majesty : • but with 
the same, he must.  also • receive some comfort, agree- 
able to his nature."' 	It is evident from this, that 
Bowes had become convinced that, to conciliate Mor-
ton and preserve peace, Elizabeth must deal: less in 
objurgation, and more in solid coin; than, she had 
lately done ; nor need -we wonder • that the .envoy, 
afraid of undertaking so delicate a task, was happy 
to return: but the-. Queen, who bad received some 
new and alarming information of the success Of 
French intrigue in Scotland, commanded Mtn to re-
visit Edinburgh, and watch the Broceedings of both 
parties. 	Even this, however, did not appear enough : 
and soon after, Randolph was despatched on a mission • 
to the young King and the Regent; its object being 
similar to that of Bowes', but his instructions more 
urgent and decided.2 	Some delay, however, occurred; 
and he had scarcely arrived in Scotland, when the 
clouds which had been so long gathering burst upon 
the head of the Regent. 	The rapidity of the move- 
ments of the conspirators, and their complete success, 
were equally remarkable. - On the 4th of March, 
(1577-8) Argyle rode with his usual retinue to Stir-
ling, and being immediately admitted by Erskine to 
an interview with the young Xing, complained loudly 

1  MS. Letter, Brit. Mus. Caligula, C. v. fol. SG. 	Sir It. Bowes 
to Leicester, October 9, 1577, Berwick. 	• 

2  MS. Letter, Brit. Mus. Caligula, C. v, fol. iii. 	Instructions 
given, 31st January, to Thomas Randolph. 	Also MS., St. P. Off. 
mr Randolph's several Instructions in his Ambassades. 
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of Morton's insolent and oppressive conduct, not only 
to himself, but to the whole nobility and people. He 
implored him to call a Convention to examine his 
complaints; and, if he found them true, to take the 
Government upon himself, and put an end-to a system 
which, whilst it cruelly opprest his subjects, left him 
nothing but the name of a King. 	These arguments 
were enforced by Erskine the Governor ; the famous 
Buchanan, one of the tutors of the .young monarch, 
threw all his weight into the same scale ; and . the 
other confederates who had joined the conspiracy, 
Glammis the Chancellor, the Abbot of Dunfermline, 
the Secretary, Tullibardin the Comptroller, and the 
Lords Lindsay, Ruthiren, Ogilvy and others, eagerly 
joined in recommending such a course. 	Athol at 
this time was absent: but he arrived, no doubt by 
concert, at the moment his presence was. most neces-
sary; and being instantly admitted into the castle, 
and led to the King, his opinion was urgently de- 
manded. 	Scarcely, however, had he time to deliver it, 
and to express his detestation of the tyranny by 
Which they had been so long kept down, when a 
messenger brought letters from Morton, keenly re- 
probating the conduct of the northern Earls. 	Ile 
remonstrated with the King on the outrage com-
mitted against his royal person and himself ; repre-
sented the necessity of inflicting on such bold offenders 
speedy and exemplary pUnishment ; and concluded 
by declaring his anxiety to resign his office, if his 
royA1 master was prepared to overlook such proceed- 
ings. 	This offer was too tempting to be rejected : 
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letters were addressed to the nobility requiring their 
instant attendance 'at court. 	Argyle, Athol, and 
Erskine, took care that those summonses should find • 
their way only to their friends. 	The Convention 
assembled ; a resolution was unanimously passed that 
the King should take the Government upon himself; 
and before the Regent had tithe to retract, he was 
waited upon by Glammis the Chancellor, and Lord 
Herries, who brought a message from his Sovereign, 
requiring 	his 	immediate 	resignation. 	Although 
startled at the suddenness of the demand, Morton was 
too proud, or too wary, to pretend any repugnance. 
He received- the 	envoys with cheerfulness ; rode 
with them from his castle at Dalkeith to the capital ; 
and there, at the Cross, heard the herald, and the 
messenger-at-arms proclaim his own deprivation, and 
the assumption of the Government by the young 
King. 	He then, in the presence of the people, re-
signed the ensigns of his authority; and, without a 
murmur or complaint, retired to one of his country 
seats, where he seemed wholly to forget his ambition, 
and to be entirely engrossed in the tranquil occupa-
tions of husbandry and gardening,  

The news of this revolution was instantly -com,- 
municated by Randolph to hfs friend Killigrew, 'in 
this laconic and: characteristic epistle, written when 
he was on the eve of throwing himself on horse-
back to proceed to England, and in person inform 
Elizabeth of the alarming change. 

" All the devils in hell are stirring and in great 
rage in this country, 	The Regent is discharged— 
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the country broken;  the Chancellor slain bythe Earl 
of Crawford, four killed 'of the town' out of the castle, 
and yet are we in hope of some good quietness, by 
the great wisdom of the Earl of Morton. 	There 
cometh to her -Majesty from hence an Ambassador 
shortly. 	I know not yet who, but Sandy Hay in his 
company. 	It behoveth me to be there before : and 
so show my wife." 1• 	 • • 

The death of the Chancellor, Lord Glammis, here 
alluded to by Randolph, was in no way connected 
with the revolution whiCh he describes, but took 
place in a casual scuffle between his retinue and that-
of the Earl of Crawford. His highoffice was bestowed 
upon Athol, Morton's chief enemy;  and the leader of 
the confederacy which had deposed him. 	But this, 
though it preserved the influence •of the successful 
faction, scarcely compensated for the loss of their 
associate, who was accounted one of the wisest and 
most learned men in Scotland. 

Meanwhile, the confederated nobles followed up 
their advantages. 	As the King was not yet thirteen,- 
a Council of twelve was appointed. . It consisted of 
the Earls of Argyle, Athol, Montrose, and Glencairn ; 
the Lords Ruthven, Lindsay, and Herries ; the Ab-
bots of Newbottle and Dunfermline ; the Prior of St 
Andrew's : and two supernumerary or extraordinary 
Councillors ; Buchanan, the King's tutor, and James 
Magill, the Clerk-Register. 	All royal letters were 
to be signed by the King and four of this number; and 

' MS. Letter, St. P. Off. Randolph to Killigrew, 20th March, 
1577—that is, 15;7-8. 	Signed jooularly—Thonta zo de/ Nienie. . 
Sanily Hay was Alexander Hay, Clerk-Register. 

VOL. VIII.. 	 • I) 
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as the first exercise of their power, they required from 
Morton the delivery of the Castle of Edinburgh, the 
Palace of Holyrood, the Mint, and the Queen's jewels 
and treasure. 	To all this prostration of his former 
greatness, he appears to have made no resistance ; 
but simply required, that, in the next Parliament, 
they. should pass' an act approving of his administra- 
tion- during his continuance in .the Regency. 	He 
then held a hurried conference with Randolph, before 
his setting off for the English Court ; intrusted him 
with a brief letter to his old friend, Lord Burghley, - 
wri tten in his new charaoter as a private man,' and 
seemed prepared, with perfect contentment, to sink 
into that condition. 

It was evident, however, from the expressions he 
used in this short note, that he had informed Ran-
dolph of some ulterior design for his resumption of 
power, which he did not choose to commit to writing; 
and that the Ambassador, long versant in Scottish 
broils and intrigues, considered it a wise and likely 
project. 	Nor was he wrong in this conclusion : for 
the development of this counter-revolution, which 
restored Morton to power, followed almost imme-
diately; and the outbreak was as sudden, as the 
success was complete. 

The King's Lords, as Argyle and his friends were 
called, had formed their Council,' assembled in the 

1 MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	The Earl Morton to Lord Burghley, 
28th March, 1578. 	He signs simply, " Morton." 

2  MS. Record of the Privy Council in Register House, Edin. 
burgh, 24th March, 1577-8. 
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capital, conferred the Chancellor's place on Athol, 
and proclaimed a Parliament to be held on the 10th 
of June. 	On the 24th of April, the General Asseni- 
bly met at Edinburgh; and having chosen Mr Andrew 
Melvil to be their Moderator, proceeded to their 
deliberations with their usual zeal and energy. 	it 
was determined to revise the Book of Church Policy, 
and lay it before the King and Council ; and a blow 
was aimed at the late Episcopal innovations, by a 
declaration that, owing to the great corruption already 
visible in the state of Bishops, no see should be filled 
up till the next General Assembly of the Church!. 
During these transactions, Morton lived in retire-
ment, and appeared wholly engrossed in his rural 
occupations ; but be had secretly gained to his in-
terest the young Earl of Mar, whose sister was the 
wife of Angus, Morton's heir, and the head of the 
house of Douglas. 	To Mar, he artfully represented 
that he was unjustly and shamefully treated by his 
uncle, Erskine the Governor. 	He, the young Earl, 
who was no longer a boy, was entitled by hereditary . 
right to the government of Stirling Castle ; but his 
uncle usurped it, and with it kept hold of the King's 
person. 	It was Alexander Erskine, not the Earl of 
Mar, who was now considered the head of that 
ancient house. 	Would he submit to this ignominy, 
when, by a bold stroke, he might recover his lost 
rights ; 	when the house of Douglas, with all its 
strength and vassalage, was ready to take his part; 

I MS. Caldcrwood, pp. 1055-1059. 
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and his uncles, ithe Abbots of Dryburgh; and' Cain. 
buskenneth,• offered their council and 	assistance ? 
These arguments' easily gained- over the young lord; 
and is' be• and his retinue were generally lodged • in 
the castle, he determined • to put, Morton's,  plan , in 
execution. 

On the '26th April, about five in the morning, be-
fore many of the garrison were stirring, Mar, who 
had slept that night in the castle, assembled his 
retinue, under the pretence of a hunting party, and 
riding to .the gates with the Abbots of Dryburgh and 
Cambuskenneth, called for the keys. 	lie was met by 
his uncle, Erskine the Governor, with a small com-
pany, who, for the moment, suspected nothing; but 
finding himself rudely accosted as a usurper by 
the Abbots, instantly dreaded some false play. 	To 
shout tfeason, seize a halbert from one of the guard, 
and call to his servants, was with Erskine the work 
of a‘moment; but, ere assistance arrived, his little 
band was surrounded, his son crushed to death in the 
tumult,'and himself thrust without the gates into an 
outer hall; whilst Mar seized the keys, put down all 
resistance, and became master of the castle.. Jn the 
midst of this uproar the young King awoke, and 
rushing in great terror from his chamber, tore his 
hair, and called out' that the Master of Erskine was 
slain. 	lie was, assured that his governor 'was safe; 
and the Earl of Argyle, who had been roused by the 
tumult, finding the two Abbots arguing with Erskine 
in the hall, but showing him no personal violence, 
affected to consider it a family quarrel, between the 
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uncle and the nephew, aiiil retired, after advising an 
amicable adjustment. 	News of the tumult was, that: 
evening, carried to the Council.  at Edinburgh; accoml 
panied by an assurance from Mar, Argyle, and Buch-
anan the King's tutor, that the.  dispute was adjusted. 
Upon this they despatched Montrose, the same night, 
to Stirling ;  who, coining alone, iwas courteously re-
ceived and admitted into the • castle : but next day 
when the Council rode -thither in a body and de- 
Manded admittance, this was peremptorily .  refused 
by Mar. 	They should all see the King, he said, but 
it must be one by one ; and no Councillor should 
enter the gates with more than one attendant.' 

Incensed at this indignity, the Council .assembled 
in Stirling, and issued a proclamation, prohibiting 
any resort of armed men thither, whilst they sent 
secret orders to convoke their own forces. 	, But their 
measures were too late: Douglas of Lochleven had 
already entered the castle, joined Mar, and commu-
nicated with Morton, whose hand, it was strongly 
suspected, although it, did not appear, had managed 
the whole. 	Angus, meantime, by his directions was 
ready, at six hours' warning, with all the armed 
vassals of the house.of Douglas; and the ex-Regent, 
forgetting his gardens and pleasure-grounds, hurried 
from his Jura' seclusion and reappeared in public, 
the same subtle, daring, and unscrupulous leader us 
before.2  

1 MS. Callerwqod, Brit. Mus. p. 1061. 
2  Copy, Caligula, C. v. fol. 89. 	Sir Itobort Bowes to Lord 

Butgbley,: Edinburgh, April 28, 1573. 	Tn this lotteti of Bowes 
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Events now diowded rapidly on each other. 	At 
the earnest request of the young King, an agreement 
took place between Mar and his uncle, Alexander 
Erskine.. 	The Earl retained the Castle of Stirling, 
and with it the custody of the royal person. 	To-the 
Master of Erskine, so Alexander was called, Was given 
the keeping. of the Castle of Edinburgh ;i and in a 
meeting held at Craigmillar, between Morton, Athol, 
and Argyle, it was decided, that they should next day 
repair together to Stirling, and adjust all differences 
before the King in person. 	This was determined on 
the 8th of May ; and that evening the two northern 
Earls, after sharing Morton's hospitality at Dalkeith, 
rode "with him to Edinburgh. 	In the morning, how- 
ever, Morton was nowhere to be found ; and it turned 
out that he had risen before daybreak, and, with a 
small retinue, had galloped to Stirling, where he Was 
received within the castle, and soon resumed his 
ascendancy both over Mar and the King.' 

Against this flagrant breach of agreement, Argyle 
and Athol loUdly remonstrated ; and Sir Robert 
Bowes, the English Anbasador, exerting himself to 

to Burghley, written in the midst of this revolution, and on the 
very day the Council rode to Stirling, he says,.—" What storm 
shall fall out of these swelling heats, doth not yet appear. 	But I 
think, verily, within two or three days, it will burst into some open 
matter, discovering sufficiently the purposes intended; wherein, to 
my power, I shall seek to quench all violent rages, and persuade 
to unity and concord amongst them." 

I MS. Calderwood, Brit. DMus. Ayscough, 4735, p. 1061. Also, 
Orig. Draft, St. P. Off. 	Articles delivered by Argyle, Athol, &c. 
to Lord Lindsay. 
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restore peace, the young monarch summoned a con-
vention of his nobles : but the northern Earls and 
their associates received such a proposal with deri- . 
sion, and sent word by Lord Lindsay, that they would 
attend no convention held by their enemies, within 
a fortress which they commanded. 	Other Lords 
obeyed, but came fully armed, and with troops of 
vassals at their back ; and both factions mustered in 
such strength, and exhibited such rancour, that, but 
for the remonstrances of Bowes, the country would 
have hurried into war. 

Amidst the clamour and confusion, however, it was 
evident that the. ex-Regent directed all. 	By his per- 
suasion a new Council was appointed, in Which he 
held the chief place. 	It was next determined to 
Send the Abbot of Dunfermline as Ambassador from 
the young King to Elizabeth. 	He was instructed to 
thank that Princess for the special favour with which 
she had regarded him from his birth, to confirm the 
peace between the two countries, and to propose a 
stricter league for mutual defence, and the main-
tenance of true religion.1  

The Parliament had been summoned to meet in 
July at Edinburgh : but Morton was well aware of 
his unpopularity in that city, and dreaded to bring 
the King into the midst of his enemies. 	By his per-
suasion, therefore, the young monarch changed the 
place of assembly to *the great hall within Stirling 
Castle, where he knew all would be secure. 	But 

• 
1  MS. Draft, St. P. Off. 18th Julie, 7IM 
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this new mea,suro 'gave deep offence ; and when the 
day approached, Argyle,..A.thol, Montrose, Lindsay, 
and llerries, with their, adherents,' assembled in. the 
capital„declaring that nothing should .compel them 
to attend a .Parliament within a citadel garrisoned 
by their mortal enemies, :and where it ,would be a 
Mockery- to* expect any free discussion. 

Despising this opposition, Morton. hurried on 1•:1 
measures, and the Estates assembled in the greiw, 
ball Within Stirling Castle.' 	It was opened by the 
King in person; but scarcely had the Members taken 
their, seats, ,when Montrose and Lord Lindsay pre-
sented themselves as. Commissioners from Argyle, 
Athol, and their adherents, and declared that this 
could in no sense be called a free Parliament. 	It was 
held, they said, within an.armed fortress; - and for this 
cause the noble peers, whose messengers they were, 
had refused to attend it ; and we now come, said 
Lindsay, with his usual brevity' and, bluntness, to 
protest against its proceedings. 	Morton here inter- 
rupted hint, and commanded him and his companion 
to take their; places ; to which Lindsay answered, 
that he would stand there till the King ordered him 
to his seat. 	James then repeated the command, and 
the old .lord sat down. 	After a sermon, which was 
preached by Duncanson, the minister of the royal 
household, 'and a harangue by Morton, who, in the 
absence of Athol the Chancellor, took upon him to 
fill his place, the Estates proceeded to. choose the 
Lords of the Articles ; upon which Lindsay again 

1 July 1G, 1578, 
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broke in upon the proceedings, calling all to witness, 
that every act of such a Parliament was null, and the 
choosing of the lords an empty farce. 	This second 
attack threw Morton into an ungovernable. rage, in 
which heunsparinglyabused his old associate. "Think 
ye, Sir," said he, " that this is a court of churls or 
brawlers? 	Take your own place, and thank God 
that the King's youth keeps you safe from his resent- 
ment." 	" I have served the King in his minority," 
said Lindsay, " as faithfully- as the proudest among 
yd; and I think to serve his Grace no less truly in 
his majority." 	Upon which, Morton was observed 
to whisper something in the King's ear, who, blush-
ing and hesitating, delivered himself of a little'speech, 
which, no doubt, had been prepared for him before 
hand. 	" Lest any man," said he, " should judge this 
not to be a free Parliament, I declare, it free; and 
those who love me will think as I think?" 

This silen-eed Lindsay, and the proceedings went 
on; but Montrose, abruptly leaving the hall, rode 
post to Edinburgh. 	It was reported that he bore a 
secret letter from the King, imploring his subjects to 
arm and relieve him from the tyranny of Morton. 
It is certain, that the recusant Earl drew a vivid 
picture of the late Regent's insolence, and roused the 
citizens to such a pitch of fury, that' they mustered 
in arms, and declared that they would rescue their 
Sovereign from the hands of a traitor who had sold 
them to the English. 	Nothing could be more grate- 
ful to Argyle, and Athol than such a spirit; 	and 

l MS. Callerwood, Brit, Mus. pp. 106; 106.3. 
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sending word " to the townsmen, that they would -
speedily join them with a force which would soon 
bring their enemies to reason, they summoned their 
feudal services, and prepared for war' 

Montrose's sudden retreat saved him from imprison-
ment ; for next day an order of Privy-council ap-
peared, commanding him and Lindsay his associate to 
confine themselves to their own lodgings under pain of 
rebellion? In the meantime the Parliament proceeded. 
Morton's demission of the Regency, and the King's 
acceptance of the government were confirmed. 	An 
ample approVal and discharge was given him of 
all the acts done during his Regency, and a new 
Council 	appointed; in which he himself sat 	as 
chief, and could, in any etnergency, command a ma- 
jority. 	The revolution was thus complete. 	He had 
loSt the name of Regent, but he had retained his 
power; and the nominal assumption of the govern-
ment by the young King had removed many difficul-
ties which before trammelled and perplexed him? 

But this daring and experienced politician had men 
to deal with who, having been trained in his own 
school, were not easily put down ; and scarcely had 
the arrangements for the new government been com-
pleted, when Argyle and Athol occupied the city 
of Edinburgh, .and communicating with the leading ' 

1 MS. Letter, ]3rit. Mus. Caligula, C. v. fol. 101, Lord Huns-
don to Burghley, Aug. 19, 1578, Berwick. 

2  MS. Books of Privy Council, Register-House, Edinburgh, 
17th July, 1578. 

3  Draft, St. P. Off. 	Names of the King's Ordinary Council, 
and Acts of Parliament of Scotland, vol. ii. p. 94. 
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ministers of the Kirk, now completely estranged 
from Morton, assembled their forces. 	It was in 
vain that Sir Robert Bowes, the English Ambassa-
dor, remonstrated against this violence ; in vain that 
a. charge from the Privy-council was fulminated 
against the two Earls, commanding them, on pain of 
treason, to depart from Edinburgh within twenty- 
four hours. 	Both sides flew to arms : the country, 
so lately restored to peace, again resounded with 
warlike preparation : proclamations, and counter-
proclamations were discharged against each other; 
summonses for their armed vassals issued in every 
direction ; and so readily were the . orders obeyed, 
that Argyle and Athol, who had marched out of 
Edinburgh on the 11th August with only one thou-
sand men, found themselves, on mustering at Falkirk 
on the 13th, seven thousand strong. 	Of these troops 
the greater part were animated by the deadliest 
hatred of Morton ; •especially the hardy bands of the 
Merse and Teviotdale, led by their wardens Colding- 
knowes and Cessford. 	They carried before them a 
banner of blue sarsnet, on which was painted a boy 
within a grated window, with the distich "Libery 
I crave, and cannot it have."' 	This was meant to 
represent the King's thraldom to Morton ; and below 
it was their answer, declaring that they would die 
to set him free. 	Ou the other side came Angus, who 

1  MS. Letter, Calig. C. v. fol. 101, Lord nunsdon to Burghley, 
Aug. 19, 1578, Berwick. 	In these transactions the celebrated 
Buchanan acted as a kind of Secretary of state. 	Calderwood 
MS. fol. 1071. 
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had been recently proclaimed Lieutenant General to 
the King, with a body of five thousand men ; and the 
skirmishing between the advanced parties of each 
army had commenced, 'When Sir Robert Bowes, Ac-
companied by Lawson and Lindsay, the two principal 
ministers of the Kirk, rode hastily from the capital;  
and again offered himself, in the name of his mistress 
the Queen of England, as a peacemaker between the 
rival factions' 

In this humane office, after prolonged and bitter 
discussions, he was successful. 	The young King, oil 
rather Morton in his name, declared, that foreseeing 
the wreck and misery of the realm, if the present 
divisions were not speedily removed, he was ready to 
meet the wishes of the Queen of England ; and there-
fore commanded his nobility, on both sides, to dis- 
band their forces. 	To reassure Argyle and Athol's 
factiOn, their late conduct in taking arms was accepted 
as loyal service ; Argyle, Lindsaiy, and Morton, so 
recently denounced as traitors, 'were added to the 
Privy-council ; a committee of eight noblemen was-
to be chosen, to advise with the King upon the best 
mode of reconciling his nobility ; 	and, from this 
Moment, free access was to be afforded to all noble-
men, barons, or gentlemen, who came to offer their 
service to 'their Princes 	To these conditions both 
parties agreed ; and by the judicious management of 

1 Ms. Calderwood, p. 1071• 
2  MS. St. P. Off. Copy of the time. 	_Articles ngreed on in 

Sentlan,1 between the King and the Lords, 13th Antrust, 1578. 
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Bowes, Scotland was saved for the present from the 
misery of civil war. 

This minister, after the service he had thus per-
formed, remained for some time resident Ambassador 
at the Scottish court ; where Morton's successful in-
trigues had once more established him as the chief 
ruler in the state ; a result which was'viewed with 
much satisfaction by Elizabeth, who, even after his 
demission of his high office;  had never ceased to give 
him the title of Regent.1- For the name, however, 
he cared little : it was power to which he looked ; 
and this, having for the moment secured, he was de- 
termined riot speedily again to lose. 	The great 
principles upon which he had hitherto conducted the 
Government, were a strict amity with England, op-
position to all foreign intrigue, a determined resist-
ance to the deliverance of the Scottish Queen, and a 
resolution to maintain the Protestant faith. 	On this 
last important point, hoWever, his motives had be-
come suspected by the influential body of. the minis- 
ters of the Kirk. 	This was owing to his introduc- 
tion into Scotland of the Episcopal form of Church 
government, and his resistance to the book of Church 
polity which. had been drawn up by the General 
Assembly, and presented to the King and the three 
Estates for their approval. 	Yet still, although no 
longer the favourite of the clergy, Morton was anti- 
Catholic enough to be preferred by them to Athol, a 
professed Roman Catholic, and his .associates, who, 

1  Instructions to Randolph, 31st January, 1578, 011440;4e. v. 
fol. 111, Brit. illus. 
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for the most part,. were either avowed or suspected 
Romanists ; and for the present the ministers re-
frained from endangering the restored peace of the 
country by any violence of opposition. 

Yet it was impossible for any acute observer not 
to see that the times were precarious. 	The elements 
of discord were lulled in their active efforts, Mit not 
destroyed ; the intrigues of France and Spain for the 
deliverance of Mary, and the reestablishment of the 
ancient faith, were still busily carried on ; and Bowes 
the Ambassador, who, from long experience, was in-
timately acquainted with the state .of the rival fac-
tions, regarded the Court and the country as on the 
eve of another change. 	On the 3d November, shortly 
previous to his leaving Scotland, he thus wrote from 
Edinburgh to Lord Burghley :— 

" By my common letters to the .Lords of her Ma. 
jesty's Council, the weltering estate of this realm, 
that now attendeth but a tide for a new alteration of 
the Court, will appear to your Lordship, and how 
necessary it is in this change approaching, and iii 
the confederacies presently knitting, to get some 
hold for her Majesty amongst them."' 	It had been 
his own earnest endeavour to get such hold over them ; 
and for this purpose he had entered into negotiations 
with the Earl of Caithness, one of the principal lead- 
ers of the confederacy against Morton: 	He and his 
associates had sent articles of agreement, in the usual 

. 	 . 

l MS. Letter, Brit. Mus. Caligula, C. v. fol. 109. 	Sir R. 
'Bowes to Burghley, 3d November, 1578, Edinburgh. 
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form, to the English Ambassador : but they expected, 
also, the usual gratuity ; and as it turned out, valued 
their devotion to Elizabeth at a.higher rate than that 
-parsimonious Princess was disposed to reckon it. 
Caithness, indeed, Was of loose and accommodating 
principles, both in politics and religion ; and although 
Bowes flattered himself that, on his departure from 
Scotland, he had left the faction opposed to Morton 
very favourably disposed to England, he did not con-
ceal from Walsingham his apprehensions that the 
continuance of this feeling was precarious. 	" I fear," 
said he, in his letter to this minister, " that no great 
inwardness 'Shall be found in them, when they find her 
Majesty's liberality coming slowly to them, that use 
not often at the fairest call to stoop to empty lure."' 

These apprehensions of the English minister regard-
ing the unsettled state of Scotland were not without 
good foundation. 	Mary's indefatigable friend, the 
Bishop of Ross, whose intrigues in the affair of the 
Duke of Norfolk had already given such alarm to 
Elizabeth, was now busily employed on the Conti-
nent, exciting France, Spain, Germany, and the Papal 
Court, to unite for her deliverance ; and holding out 
the present crisis of affairs in Scotland as eminently 
favourable for the restoration of the true faith. 	The 
extent to which these operations were carried, was 
amply proved by a packet of intercepted letters, 
written in cipher, and seized by Walsingham or 
Burghley, whose spies and informers were scattered 

1 MS. Letter, Brit. Mus. Caligula, C. v. fol. 110. 	Sir R. 
Bowes to 	Nov. 24, 1578. 	I suspect to Walsingliam. , 
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all over Europe. 	It was found that the Earl of 
Athol, a Roman Catholic, the great leader of the late 
cabal against Morton, and Chancellor of Scotland,. 
was in constant correspondence with the Bishop of 
Ross. 	The letters of the Scottish Queen herself, 
written immediately after -Morton's resignation of the 
Regency, to the same prelate, and directed to, be 
communicated to the Pope, expressed her satisfaction 
at the late revolution in Scotland, and her zealous 
concurrence with his Holiness in his project. for the 
restitution of the true faith in Britain, by the united 
efforts of the great Catholic powers. 	She alluded, 
in the same letter, to a project for the carrying off 
her Son, the young King, to the Continent, which the 
Pope had offered to forward by an advance of money. 
She informed him, that in consequence of the changes 
in Scotland since Morton's demission, she felt per-
fectly assured of the affection and services of the 
young Prince, and of his councillors; she urged the 
necessity of placing him, if possible, in the hands of 
her friends of the house of -Lorrain ; alluding to the 
imminent danger he incurred from Elizabeth's in-
trigues to get possession of his, person, or even to 
deprive him of his life ; she declared her conviction, 
that if her son were once in France, and removed 
from the sphere of Elizabeth's influence, a more 
lenient treatment of herself would ensue ; and, lastly. 
she directed Ross to communicate upon all these 
matters with the Pope's nuncio at Paris.' 	. 

1 MK Brit. Mus. ex eypltris Regime 6eotiio ad Episeopum 
Rossensem, Caligula, C. v. fol. 102. 
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In an intercepted letter, written about the same 
time by Beaton, Bishop of Glasgow, Mary's  Am-
bassador at the Court of France, to the Bishop of 
Ross, the determination of Henry the Third, and the 
Duke of Guise, to assist- her to their' utmost, was 
clearly intimated' 	In the autumn of the same year, 
and soon after 'the pacification between the rival 
factions in Scotland, which we have seen efected by 
Bowes, the Bishop of .Ross made a progress into. 
Germany, with the object of exciting the Emperor, 
and the.Duke of Bavaria, to unite with the other 
Catholic Powers for the speedy liberation of his 
royal mistress, and the restoration of religion. 	From 
hotli potentates he, received the utmost encourage- 
ment. 	The Emperor declared his readines6 to co- 
operate with the endeavours Of his brother Princes 
for the deliverance of the Scottish Queen, and the 
securing to her and her .son their undoubted right to 
the English throne ; and the Duke 'professed his de-
termination to peril both property and life itself for 
the restoration of the Catholic faith.' 	This encour- 
aging information . was conveyed by Ross to the 
.Cardinal Como, in a letter written from Prague on 
the 27th September, 1578, which, unfortunately for 
his mistress, fell into the hands of her enemies ; and, 
at the same time, this indefatigable prelate, at the 
request of the Emperor, had drawn up .a paper on 

1  Ex literis Archiesp. Glaseuensis ad Episcop. Rossen. 14th 
Juno, 1578. 	Calig. C. v. fol. 103 d. Brit. Mus. 

2  MS. Brit. Mu& Caligula, C. v. fol. 10 d. Ex literis Ep;:•cop. 
Rossetu;is ad Cardinal= Comensem, Pragru, 27th Sept. 1578. 

VOL. VIII. 	 E 
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the state of parties in Scotland, in which he carefully 
marked the relative strength of the Roman' Catholic 
and Protestant peers,' and pointed out the favourable 
crisis which had occurred. 	In a second interview, to 
which the' Emperor admitted hill% he described the 
state of parties .in Scotland, following certain heads 
communicated by his royal mistress ;2. and by all 
these united exertions, there is no doubt that a deep 
impression was made throughout Europe in favour 
of the Scottish Queen. 	Well, therefore, might Sir • 
Robert Bowes describe the condition of affairs in 
Scotland as one full of alarm ; and before we con-
demn Elizabeth for her severity to Mary, we must 
weigh the perils to the Protestant faith •which theSe 
intercepted letters so clearly demonstrated. 	But, on 
the other hand, it must not be forgotten, that these 
very dangers arose out of the injustice of !Itn. impri- 
sonment. 	- 	 . 

.In the mean time, Morton.  once more bore the 
chief sway in Scotland, where hiS triumph over the 
conspiracy of Athol and Argyle had really Increased 
his power; whilst 	his possession 	of the King's 
person enabled him to overawe the young monarch 
as effectually as he had ever done when Regent. 
This resumption of strength he now employed to 
crush the house.of Hamilton. 	 • 

The Duke of Chastelherault was now dead; his 
eldest son the Earl of Arran, had been insane for 
some years ; and in these melancholy circumstances, 

MS. Mit. :11111.5, Caligula, C. v. fol. 105. 
2 Ibid. fol. 100. 
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the leaders of this. potent and ancient family were 
his brothers the Lord of Arbroath and Lord Claud 
Hamilton. 	Arbroath, in the event of the death of 
Mary and the young King, was next heir to the 
throne ; and his possessions were described by Bowes 
as the greatest and the richest in Scotland.' • These 
lands were conterminous with the vase estates of the 
Earl of Angus, which included nearly all the Over-
whrd of Clydesdale, as Arbroa.th's did the Nether-
ward ; . and Morton and the Douglases had long 
looked upon them with greedy eyes. 	But although 
his enmity. against Arbroath and. his brother was 
entirely selfish, Morton was not guilty of injustice 
when he persuaded the foung King that it was his 
duty to proceed with severity against the house  of 
Hamilton. 	It had a long reckoning of crime and 
blood to account for. 	There was little doubt that 
the late Archbishop of St Andrew's, its chief leader 
and adviser, had suffered justly as an accessory to 
the murder of Darnley ; and this cast a strong suspi- 
cion of implication upon its present leaders. 	It was 
certain that.  they were guilty of the death of the 
Regent Murray ; it was as undoubted that Lord 
Claud Hamilton had given the, order which led to the 
murder of the Regent Lennox ; and the houses of Mar 
and Douglas were bitterly hostile to the whole race. 

The Hamiltons being thus miserably situated, 'the 

1 3IS. Brit. Illus.' Caligula, C. v. fol. 82. 	Also, Draft of the 
King's Proclamation against John Hamilton, some time Commen-
dator of Arbroath, and Claud Hamilton, some time Commendator 
of Paisley, dated 2d May, 1579, Bowes Papery.. 
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.terrilde work of feudal retribittion commenced, tut d • 
was prosecuted in the rapid and cruel spirit of, the 
times.' 	Morton and Angus in person besieged the 
Castle of Hamilton, commanded by Arthur, Hamilton 

:of Merio11.1 	He offered to surrender on being assured 
of his life, and pardon to himself-and his garrison of 
all. their offences, except the murder of the King and 
the two Regents ; but these terms were scornfully 
refused, and'he was at last compelled to submit um-
conditionally.' ' Much interest was made to save 
him : but Mar and Buchan, with Lochleven and 
James Douglas, a natural son of Morton's, were 
furious at the..idea of his escaping their vengeance ; 
declaring that the lives of anyten, Hainiltons were a 
poor recompense for the Regent Murray. 	He and 
his company, therefore, were hanged ; amongst whom 
was Arthur Hamilton, a brother of •Bothwellhaugh 
who shot the Regent, and was known to have held 
the stirrup when the murderer threw himself on 
horseback and escaped,' 	The Castle of Draffen, an- 
other stronghold of this great family, in which the 
Duchess of Chastelherault, and the unfortunate Earl 
of Arran, had taken refuge, 'Was invested and taken 

1  4th May,.1579. 	 . . 
9  MS. Lottr to Sir George Bowes from (as I suspect) kr 

Archibald Douglas, Edinburgh, 24th May, 1579, copy of the 
time, Bowes Papers. 	' 

8  MS. 1411.1111ns. Occurrences 'out of Scotland, 14th May, 
1579, and 24th May, 1579, Caligula, C. v. fol. 120, copy. 	Alpo 
MS., Letter, 9th May, Bowes Papers. 	Also MS. Ibid. Caligula, 
C. v. fol. 122, Notes of Occurrences, 1st Juno, 1579. 	Also MS. 
Calderwood, Brit. Mus. Ayscough's Catidoguo, 4735, fol. 1083. 
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about the same time, its garrison having.abandoned 
it during the night ; and in a convention of the nobi-
lity held soon-after at Stirling, it was determined to 
complete the ruin of this devoted house by processeS 
of treason in the next Parliament. 	' Nothing•cOuld 
be more wretched than its condition at this moment. 
The Lord of Arbroath had fled to Flanders, where 
he was an ' almost houselesS  exile ; 	Lord Claud 
escaped to England, and threw himself upon •the 
compassion of - Elizabeth ; .its lesser chiefs were 
trembling tinder an impending sentence of forfeiture ; 
and its head, the Earl of Arran, whose royal descent 
and great power had made him, in former days, an 
almost accepted suitor, first of Elizabeth, and after-
wards' of Alary, 'was a prisoner, hopelessly insane, 
and placed, with his unhappy mother the Duchess, 
under the charge of Captain Laramie, a,  soldier of 
-fierce and brutal habits, -and a determined enemy of 
the house of Hamilton. 	Yet these accumulated 
miseries do not appear' to have excited the slightest 
degree of sympathy in this unfeeling age ; and when 

'Elizabeth, compassionating the misfortunes of the 
Hamiltons, despatched her envoy Captain Arrington, 
to plead their cause at the Scottish Court, he found 
the young King, and the whole body of the nobility, 
inflatned with .the deepest hatred agailitt them, ex-
pressing a conviction that their continuance in Scot- 
land was dangerous to his person, and resolute against 
their pardon or return? 

l MS. Letter, Brit. Mus. Nicolas Arrington to Burghley, i oth 
Oct. 1579, Berwick% 	Caligula, C. v. fol.-130. 
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In the midst of these cruel transaction's, Athol the 
Chancellor, and the great leader of the confederacy 
against Morton,' died suddenly, and under circum- 
stances of much suspicion' 	He had just returned 
from a banquet, given by Morton at Stirling, to com-
memorate the reconciliation of the nobles ; and the 
symptoms of poison so strongly indicated. themselyes 
both before and after death,: that his friends did not 
hesitate to say publicly, that, he had met with foul 
play from the ex41,egent, who treated the report with 
contempt. 	The body was opened, and examined by 
a learned circle of " mediciners, chirurgeons, and 
poticaries ;" but they disagreed in their verdict. 	By 
some the poison was so plainly detected, that they 
declared there Was not a doubt upon the subject ; 
whilst Dr Preston, the most eminent physician of the 
time, was equally positive that there was no poison 
in the case,—certainly none in the stomach. 	On 
being irritated by contradiction, however, he had the 
temerity to touch a portion, of its contents with his 
tongue, and, to.the triumph of his dissentient breth-
ren, almost died in consequence, nor did he ever 
completely recover the unlucky experiment? 	In the 
mean time, though the dark report was thus strength-

. 
I lie died aPKincardine on the 25th April, 1579. 	"The whole 

friends of the dead art) convened at Dunkeld upon the third of 
May, where the young Earls of Athol and Montrose - put in 
deliberation what were best way to come by revenge of this hei- 
nous fact." 	MS. Letter, 5th May, 1570, without a signature, to 
Sir George Bowes, enclosed in a letter to Mr Archibald Douglas. 
Bowes Papers. 

2  MS. Calderwood, Brit, Mus. pp. 1083, 1084. 
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ened, Morton's power, and the absence of all direct 
proof, protected him from any farther proceedIngs. 

Sometime after this, the General Assembly of the 
Kirk met at Edinburgh ; and having chosen Mr 
Thomas Smeton for their moderator, at his request 
appointed a council of the brethren to advise with 
him upon matters of• importance. 	TO this council 
Mr Thomas Duncanson, Minister of the Royal House-
hold, presented a letter from the. ydupg King,. which 
contained a request, that the Assembly would at 
present abstain from debating upon such matters. 
touching the polity of. the Kirk, as in a former con-
ference had been 'referred for debate and decision to 
the Estates of Parliament. 	The same letter informed, 
them, that Parliament would shortly meet and take 
these matters into consideration ; and it expressed the 
King's hope, that, in the mean season, the Assembly 
would exert themselveEl to promote peace and godly 
living, not only amongst, their own members, but 
throughout the whole body of the subjects of the 
realm; so that the expectations of such busy meddlers 
as were enemies to the public tranquillity, should be 
disappointed. 	. 	. 

The Assembly having taken this royal letter into 
consideration, in its turn appointed a committee of 
their brethren,—the principal of whom were Erskine 
of Dun, Duncanson the Kirig's minister, and Andrew 
Melville, to wait upon the King, with some requests 
to which they besought his attention. 	These were—
that he would interdict all parents, under heavy 
penalties, from sending their children to be educated 

   
  



50 	 HISTORY OF SCOTLAND. 	1579. 

at the Universitrof Paris, or.other foreign colleges 
professing Papistry ; that he would cause the Uni, 
versity of St Andrew's, some of whose professors had 
recently ,left the. Protestant communion, to be re-
formed in all its colleges and foUndations ; and 'take 
order for the banishment of Jesuits, whom the As. 
sembly denominated " the pestilent dregs' of a most 
detestable idolatry." 	They further, besought him to 
liroceed to a farther conference upon such points of 
Church. policy as had been left undetermined at the 
last conference at Stifling, and to _desist from con-
trolling or. suspending, by his royal letters;  any of 
the. decrees of the• General Assembly.' 	Calderwood; 
the zealous and able historian of the Scottish Kirk, 
has pronounced a high eulogium upon the learning, 
holiness, and unanimity of this Assembly' 

Not _long after this, Esme Stewart, commonly 
called Monsieur D'Aubigny, cousin to the King, and 
a youth of gradeful figure and accomplishments, ar- 
rived in Scotland .a 	Ile was the son of John Stewart, 
brother of Matthew Earl of Lennox, the late Regent, • 
and had scarce, been a week at Court when he be- 
came a great favourite with his royal relative, 	It 
was immediately whispered, that he had been sent 
over by the Guises, to fill Athol's place as leader of 
the Freiich faction, and to act as a counterpoise to 

1 MS. Cablerwood, sob none 1579, Brit. Mus. Ayseough's Cata-
logue, 4735, p. 1092, 

2  Ibid. fol. 1092. 
1  On the 8th September, 1574. 	MS. Letter, Bowes Papers, 

an anonymous correspondent,.who,5e mark is-4^, to Sir G. Bowes, 
9th September. 
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the 'predominating influence of ,Morton. 	He was 
accdmpanted by Monsieur Momberneau, and *Mr 
Henry Ker,,-.—the first 	 liveli- a man of great wit, and 
ness, gay; gallant, and excelling in all the sports and 
pastimes to which the young monarch was partial ; 
the.seeond, Ker, of a more subtle and retired char-
acter,—who had been long a confidential servant of 
Aubig,ny's, and was•strougly suspected by the minis- 
Iers.of the Kirk to be a secret agent of the Guises. 

All this excited the fears of Elizabeth ; and the 
information sent her, by her secret agents, both in 
Scotland and France,*was by no means calculated to 
remove her apprehension. 	As D'Aubig,ny - and• his 
friends, however, acted as yet with great caution and 
reserve, the Queen contented herself, for the moment, 
,with a mission of observation and inquiry; for which 
she selected Captain NicolasArrington,,a brave and 
intelligent officer of the garrison of Berwick, who had 
already been repeatedly employed in Scotland. 	His 
open instructions were to intercede with James for 
some favour to the Hamiltons; his More secret orders, 
to acquaint himself with the character and intentions 
.of D'Aubigny, the state of parties, and what projects 
were then agitated for the young King's marriage. 
On the first point, the pardon, or at least the more 
lenient punishment of the house of ilamilton, he pre-
vailed nothing,--so deep was James's hatred, or per- 
haps more truly, that of Morton, against him. 	With 
regard to the marriage, Arrington informed Burghley, 
that neither the Council nor*D'Aubigny had yet made 
any formal proposal 	upon the sultject. 	.'It was 
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evident," he said,. "that the young French stranger 
had already won the affection of his royals kinsman, 
and might look for high preferment ;" probably to be 
Earl of Lennox, with a large share of the forfeited 
lands of the Bamiltons, if he could be prevailed upon 
to change his religion.1 	• 

The old soldier who thus wrote to Burghley,, re, 
quested his indulgence, should his information prove 
incorrect, as he had been more familiar with " an, 
other weapon than the pen ;" but the course of events 
soon proved the accuracy of his intelligence. 	Wher- 
ever James went, he insisted on having• D'Aubigny 
beside him. 	When he • removed, for the purpose of 
holding • his Parliament, from Stirling to Holyrood, . 
his graceful cousin had splendid apartments provided 
for him in the palace, nearest to the royal bed-
chamber; and in the sports and pageants with which. 
the citizens received their monarch, the favourite, for 
180.  he was now declared, found himself universally 
regarded and courted. 	The expensive scale on which 
these civic festivities were conducted evinced a re- 
markable increase in the national wealth. 	They 
exhibited the usual confusion of classical, feudal, and 
religious machinery ; in which "Dame Musick,"-  at-
tended by four fair virgins representing the cardinal 
virtues, and the Provost and three hundred citizens, 
clad in velvet and satin, enacted their parts with great 
assiduity and success. 	Whilst the twentieth psalm. 
was being sung, a little child emerged from a silver 

MS. Letter, Brit. Mus. Caligula, C. v. fol. 130. 	Nicolas 
Arrington to Burghley, 10th Oct. 1379, Berwick. 	• 
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globe, which opened artificially over the King's head, 
and fluttering down to his Majesty's feet, presented 
him with the keys of the city. 	Religion, a grave 
Matron, then conducted him into the High Church; 
and thence, after healing sermon, the monarch and 
the congregation repaired to the Market.Cross, where 
Bacchus sat on a gilded puncheon, with his painted 
garments and a flowery garland. 	The fountains ran 
wine; the principal street of the city was hung with 
tapestry, and, at the conclusion of the procession, the 
town presented the King with a cupboard of plate, 
valued, says a minute historian, at six thousand merks.1  

These pageants were introductory to the Parlia-
ment which assembled on the 20th of October, and, 
as had been anticipated by Arrington, was principally 
occupied with the proscription of the Hamiltons, and 
the exaltation of D'Aubigny.. The Lord Arbroath and 
Lord Claud Hamilton, with many more of the same 
name and house, were proclaimed traitors, and their 
estates forfeited; 'whilst all who had been partakers 
in the slaughter of the two Regents, Murray and 
Lennox, were commanded, under pain of death, to 
remove pix miles from Court, 	On the other hand, 
the King conferred the Earldom of Lennox upon his 
favourite, .and presented him, at the same time, with 
the rich Abbacy of Arbroath. 	Not long after, the 
stream of royal favour flowed still more munificently. 

4j-le was made Chamberlain for Scotland ; his earldom 

1  Moyse's Memoirs, Bannat. Edit. p. 25: 	Also, MS. Calder- 
wood, Brit. Mus. vol. ii. p. 1099. 	History of James the Sect, p. 
179, Bannat. Edit. 

   
  



60 	 IIISTORY Or SCOTLAND. 	 lri'lg. 
, 	. 

was erected into a dukedom ; and he was so caressed 
by the young sovereign, that Argyle and many of the 
principal nobility began not only to treat him with 
high consideration, but, according to the common 
usage of the times, to'enter into those bands or cove= 
Hants by which they bound themselves to his service, 
Mid with which the reader of this history is already 
so well acquainted.' • 

Morton, however, and the ministers 'of the Kirk, 
still kept aloof : the one animated by that proud 
and haughty feeling which prompted him rather to 
crush than to court a rival : the ministers;  from the 
horror with which they regarded all Roman Catho-
lics, and the suspicions they had from the. first. 
entertained that D'Aubigny was•a secret emissary of 
the Pope and the Guises. 	When these fears were 
once excited, the churches resounded with warnings 
against the dark machinations of Popery ; and the 
pulpit, as had frequently happened in these .tinies, 
became a political engine. 	It was recollected that 
the Duke of Guise had accompanied D'Aubigny to 
Dieppe, and remained with him for many hours in 
secret conference in the ship ; he had been known 
also to have had consultations with the Bishops of 
Glasgow 2  and Ross; and for what purpose (so.  the 
ministers argued) could the forty thousand crowns, 
which he brought with biro, be so naturally applied 

• 
i MS. Letter, Brit. Mus. Caligula, C. v. fol. 133, and also 

135. 	Bowes to Burghley, 22d October, 1579, Berwick. 
9  St: P. Off. French Cor: 	Paulet to Walsingliain, 29th August?  

1579, Paris. 	 * 
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as-in corrupting the Protestant nobles? 	Nay, was 
it not known that a part had already found its way 
into the coffers of the Lady Argyle; and did not all 
men see the warm and sudden friendship ,between 
her husband the Earl, and the favourite?' 

Amid. these suspicions and jealousies, the year 
1579 passed away; and it was apparent to all who 
regarded the state of the country with attention, that 
it could not long remain without some sudden change 
or convulsion. 	The King was wretchedly poor; and 
the revenues of the crown, during his minority, bad 
'been plundered and dilapidated to such an extent 
that he 'could not raise three thousand pounds to 
defray the expenses of his household. 	The nobility, 
on the other hand, were rich ; they had prospered 
as the crown had sunk ;. and 46 determined were 
they to hold fast their gains, thatthey "would spare 
nothing 'they possessed. to the King's aid, without 
deadly feud." 2 	It had been earnestly recommended, 
that the King's person,. in those unsettled times, 
should be defended by a body-guard, and that six 
Privy-councillors, in rotation, should always remain 
with the.  Court : but no funds could be raised to pay 
the soldiers' wages; the Councillors refused to support 
a table for themselves ; no money was forthcoming 
elsewhere ; and the King was frequently left almost 
alone, without court or council around him ; a state 

1 MS. Calderwood, Brit. Mus. sub num, 1579, f. 1095. 
2  MS. Brit. Mus. Caligula, C. v. fol. 1.55. 	Copy. 	Memorial 

of the pre*nt state of Scotland, 31st December, 1379. 
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of destitution. which, it 'was justly apprehended, 
Might lead to the most dangerous results. 

When Elphinston, Abbot of Dunfermline, wag 
sent to England, in the preceding summer,' his main 
purpose was to explain to the Queen the poverty 
under which the young Prince had entered on his 

'government ; 	the great insecurity of his person, 
surrounded as , he daily was by men " who had 
dipped their hands in the .blood of his parents and 
dearest kinsfolks," and the absolute necessity for a 
supply of money to pay the expenses of his guards 
and household .8 	But Elizabeth could not be induced 
to advance any supplies ; and these evils and dangers 
had ever since been on the increase. 	Since the arrival 
of Lennox, too, the feuds amongst the nobility bad 
risen to an alarming.height. 	Morton, jealous of the 
new favourite, and animated by a hatred of Argyle, 
absented. himself from Court ; the powerful Border 
septs of the Mines and Cars regarded the eX-41egent 
with the deadliest rancour ; Elphinston, the King's 
Secretary, a 	man of talent, and 	long his firth 
friend, was now estranged from him ; and even the 
potent Angus, hiS nephew, and his heir, kept at a 
safe distance, and watched events. 	But Morton's 
great wealth, his energy, courage, and experience, 
made him still a formidable enemy ; and they who 
most wished his downfall, knew not on what side to 
attack him. 	The young King, in the mean time, who 

1  30th July, 1578. 
2  MS. St. P. Office. 	Demands of the Abbot of Dinferthline, 

Ambassador from the King of Sects, 30th July, 1.5713.11 
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had always felt an awe for the latO Regept, became 
daily more devoted to Lennox, whom, with a boyish 
enthusiasm, and a precocious display of theology, he 
was now labouring to convert from what he esteemed 
his religious errors. 	He gave him books of. con- 
troversy, brought him to attend the sermons of the 
ministers; procured one of the ' mildest 	and most- 
learned of their number to instruct him, and so far 
succeeded, that, if not converted, he was reported to 
be favourably inclined to the Protestant Church. 
Any.sudden recantation would have_ been suspicious; 
and, meanwhile, his royal and youthful mentor con- 
gratulated himself upon his favourite's hopeful and _ 	• inquiring state.' 

Amid these cares and controversies, a sudden 
rumour.arose, none could tell from what quarter, that 
the Earl of Morton had plotted to seize the King, 
and carry him to Dalkeith. 	How this was to be 
effected, no one could tell ; but James, who had 
ridden out on a hunting expedition, precipitately 
interdicted the sports, and galloped back to Stirling 
Castle. 	Morton loudly declared his innocence, and 
defied his' calumniators to bring their proofs ; yet 
scarcely had this challenge been given, when the 
Court was again thrown into terror and confusion, 
by news secretly brought to the Earl. of Mar, that 
Lennox and his faction had fixed on the night of the 
10th April to invade the royal apartments, lay hands 
on the King, hurry him to Dumbarton, and thence 

) MS. Brit. Mits. Caligula, C. vi. fol. 2. 	Captain Arrington to 
Burghley, 4th April, 1580, Stirling. 
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transport lhim to France.' 	It was whispered, also, 
that a deep confederacy had been formed against the 
Earl of Morton, by the same - junto :- that Sir James 
Balfour, now a fugitive in France, and one who was 
well-known to have been a chief accomplice in the 
murder of the King's father, had promised to purchase 
his pardon, by giving up the bond for the murder, 
signed by Morton's own hand ; and that thus there 
was every hope of bringing the hoary and blood-:  
stained tyrant to the scaffold, which had so long 
waited for him.  

In the midst of these ominous. rumours, the night • 
of the 10th April arrived, and all iri the .castle pre- 
pared for an attack. 	Mar permitted none to see the 
King ; soldiers were stationed within and without, 
the royal .chamber ; mid a .shout arising, that Lennox 
ought to be thrust out of the gateS, he shut himself up,  
in his apartments, with a strong guard of his friends, 
armed 'at all points, and swore that he would set 
upon any that dared invade him. 	In the morning„ 
Argyle,. Sutherland; Glencairn, and other adherents 
of Lennox, hurried to Stirling ; but were refused 
admittance to the castle ; and their fears for Lennox 
increased, when they heard it reported, that Morton 
was on the road to join his party. 	All was thus in 
terror and uncertainty : men gazed, trembled, and 
whispered fearfully amongst each other, aware that 
secret plots were busily concocting ; that the ground 
they stood on was being mined : and yet none could 

) MS. Letter, 	Brit. 'Mu. 	Caligula,. C. vi. fol. 8. 	Captain 
Arrington to Lord Burghley, 16th April, 1580, Berwick. 
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tell -where the blow would- fall, or whet; the train 
might be exploded. 	At this moment, Captain Ar- 
rington, Elizabeth's envoy, was in Stirling Castle, and 
thus wrote to Burghley : 	" The young King is in 
heavy case, and much amazed with these troubles, 
and the more by reason of his great affection towards 
D'Aubigny, whom he perceives the mark they shoot 
at. 	Mons. D'Aubigny, with ,his faction, doth offer 
to abide the trial by law, or otherwise, in their very 
persons, that there was never any such plot or mean-
ing by him, or his consent, or by any others to their 
knowledge, to-have drawn the King either to Dum-
barton or any other sinister course."' 

It is difficult to arrive at.  the truth amidst these 
conflicting accusations of the two factions. Elizabeth 
certainly had received a warning from her Ambassador 
in France, that there was a design on foot to have 
the young King brought thither; and Morton had 
probably been encouraged by the English Queen to 
prevent it by every possible means.' 	Lennox, on the 
other hand, although he indignantly, and probably 
truly, 	repelled 	any 	such 	treasonable 	intentions, 
avowed his wish to reform the Council, and protect 
the King from the pillage of the blood-suckers of the 
royal revenue, who had been thrust into their offices 

	

1  MS. Letter, Brit. Mus. Caligula, C. vi. 1. 7. 	Arrington to 
Walsingham or Burghley, 10th April, 1580, Stirling. The addreq 
of the letter is torn away. 

2  MS. Letter, Brit. Mus. Caligula, C. vi. T. 17 and 18. 	Copy. 
Lord Treasurer and Walsingbam to Mr Robert Bowes, 17tli 
April, 1580. 

VOL. VIII. 	 F 
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by Morton and Mar. 	In this project, James himself 
appears to have borne a part ; . and had probably in-
tended, under pretence of a hunting party at the 
Doune of Menteith,.to have'eseaped from thetutelage 
of Mar,- and accomplished a revolution in the Court.' 
The secret project; however, was discovered, and 
defeated by the vigilance of the house of Erskine, 

In the mean time, the picture drawn by Arrington, 
of the dangerous state of the 	threw Elizabeth 
into, alarin, and she immediately despatched Sir 
Robert Bowes to Stirling. 	His instructions were to 
strengthen; by every means, the decaying influence of 
Morton,—to declare the Queen's willingness to gain 
some of the chief in authority by pensions,—to pull 
down the power of Lennox,—to plead for the pardon 
of the Hamiltons, and thoroughly to sift the truth of 
the late rumours of a conspiracy for ,carrying off the 
young King. 	Bowes.also, before he set out, received 
a letter from Secretary Walsinghain, recommending 
him to - use the utmost vigilance in this mission. 
This, he said, was most necessary, as it was already 
reported in Spain, that mass was set up once more in 
Scotland, and arms taken against the Protestants ; 
and, as he knew for certain, that Ker of Fernyhirst, a 
Roman Catholic, and an active friend of the Scottish 
Queen, with Bothwellhaugh, the blood-stained Ha-
milton who had' shot the Regent Murray, had both . 
recently ridden post from France into Spain.2  

'Brit. Mut Caligula, C. vi. f. 29. 	Bowes to Burghley and 
Walsingham, 10th May, 1580, Stirling. 

2  Draft, St.. P. Off. 	IIralsingham to Bowes, 3d May, 1580. 

   
  



1580, 	 JAMES VT. 	 67 

' 	On reaching court, the Ambassador was received, 
by the young King, with great courtesy : but his man-
ner instantly changed when any allusion was made 
to the Hamiltons ; 'and it was evident to all that 
his exertions on this head would ,be unavailing.' 	It 
was apparent, also, that the revival of.Morton'si former 
power promised to be a matter of extreme difficulty. 
He himself was so .completely convinced of the 
strength of his enemies, and the deep estrangement 
of the King, that he had resolved to retire altogether 
from public. affairs. 	In a secret conference held, in the 
night,. with Bowes at Stirling Castle, he expressed 
much. doubt whether it was not too late to attempt 
anything against Lennox, who now professed himself 
a' Protestant, and had so completely conciliated the 
ministers of the Kirk, that they addressed a letter in 

. his commendation to the Council.' 
As to the late rumoured conspiracies for carrying . 

off the King, the Ambassador found. it difficult to dis-
cover the truth : but, be was witness to a strange scene 
of violence and brawling before the Council, in which 
Morton, Mar, and Lennox gave the 'lie to their ac-
cusers, and the King, with much feeling and good 
sense, exerted himself to restore peace : a striking 

- contrast, no- do.ubt, to Bowes' experience of, the de-
corous gravity and awe preserved by Elizabeth in her 
Council, in which the highest nobles generally spoke 

. 	 • 
1 MS. Letter, Brit. Mug. Caligula, C. vi. fol. 25. 	Bowes to 

Burghley and Walsinghaan, May 3, 1580, Stirling. • 
" MS. Letter, Brit. Mus. Caligula, C. vi. fol. 31. 	Bowes to 

Burghley and Walsingliani, May 10, 1.580, Stirling. 
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upon, theb; knees, and hone but her Majesty was per-
mitted to lose temper. Pn the subject of the alleged 
plot of Lennox, James was at first reserved, al.-,  
though ,he expressed much :love mid admiration for 
Elizabeth; but the Ambassador, at last, gained his 
confidence, and , drew from him many particulars, 
which showed that the conspiracy, intended to, have 
been carried into effect at Castle Doune,, involved the 
ruin of Morton,—the dismissal of Mar,. and other 
obnoxious councillors, and a complete reconstruction 
of the government under Lennox and Argyle. 	As. it 
appeared, also, that. Sir John Seton, Sir George 
Douglas,- and some of the captive Queen's most 
attached servants were to have been brought into the 
Council, Bowes at once suspected that the design 
originated in France, and that Lennox and his youth-
ful sovereign acted under the influence of the Guises. 
lIe was the .more persuaded of this, when. Morton 
assured him that, since D'Aubigny's arrival, the King's 
feelings bad undergone a great change in favour of 
that country. ,  

But the time called for action, not for speculation; 
and, on consulting with his friends, regarding the 
most likely means of averting the dangers threatened 
by this alarming state of things, 'there were many 
conflicting opinions. 	It was recommended to have 
tried councillors about the King, and a strong body-
guard to -prevent surprise ; as it had been, remarked, 
that the late alarms and plots bad all broken out 
when there was scarce a single councillor at court 
who could be depended upon. 	Yet this could not be 
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done Without money; and where was money to be had. 
in 'the present 'exhausted state of the royal revenue?' 
Soon after this; the Ambassador took an opportunity 
of seeing the yOung King alone, and delivering a 
secret' thessage from Elizabeth, upon a subject of the 
deepest interest to both : hi's succession to the Eng- 
lish crown after her death. 	The particulars of the 
interview,' and the answer given by James, were 
communicated in cipher, in a letter of which the ad-
dress is nOw lost, but which was addressed probably 
to Burghley or Waliingham,--his usual correspon- . 
dentS When the subject 'was of, high moment. -" In 
private with the King (so wrote the Ambassador) I 
have offered to acquaint him 'with a secret greatly 
importing him and his estate, and lately discovered 
to me by letters; which were not out bf the way, in 
case he should desire sight thereof ; and, taking his 
honour in pledge for the secrecy, 'which he readily 
tendered, t opened to him, at large, all the contents 
specified in the" cipher note last sent to me, and to be 
communicated to him, persuading him earnestly to 
beware that he made not himself the cause of greater 
loss to him, than France, Scotland, or Lennox could.  
countervail. 	He appeared here to be very much per- 
plexed ; affirming that he would both most chiefly fol-
low her Majesty's advice, and also ask and require 
hkr.  counsel in all his great adoes. 	* 	* 	* 	In 
which good resolution and mind {continued Bowes) I 

1  ms. Letter, Brit. Mu s. Caligula, e. vi. 191, 24 and 27, inclu- 
sive, and fol. 28 and p2. 	Bowes to Burghley and Walsingham, 
May 1.3; 1580. 	The same to the same, .11ay 10, 158d. 	. 
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left him ; wherein with good company and handling I 
think he may be well continued. 	 But.Lennox having 
won great interest in him, and possessing free and 
sure access to him at all times, 	* 	* 	I dare not, 
therefore, assure, in his tender years, any long -con-
tinuance • or sure performance of this promise.' 
TheSe anticipations of James's fickleness proved to 
be well founded ; for neither the prize held out by 
Elizabeth, nor all' the efforts, of Bowes could retain 
the Monarch in his good resolutions. 	The influence 
of Lennox and his friends 'became daily more pre-
dominant ; his youthful Master's arguments on the 
errors of the Church of Ronie, seconded by the expo-
sitions -of the Presbyterian clergy, had, as he affirmed, 
convinced him; he had publicly avowed his conversion 
to Protestantism, and had signed the articles of 
'Religion drawn up by the Scottish clergy. 	his 
enemies were thus deprived of their principal ground 
of complaint and alarm ; and, although they accused 
him of insincerity,—and certainly the circumstances 
under which this recantation was Made, were sus-
picious,—still; as he afterwards died professing him-
self a Protestant, we have every reason to believe his 
assertions to have been sincere.' 

But whether at this moment sincen or interested, 
Lennox's conversion, and consequent increase of 
power, placed Morton, and the other old friends bf 

1  MS. Letter, St. P. Off. Orig. Cipher and Decipher. 	The letter 
contains proof that its date must be 16th or 17th May, 1580. 

2  MS. Letter, Brit. Mus. Caligula, C. vi. fol. 36. 	Bpwes to 
Burghley and Walsinglun»

,
, 16th May, 1580, Edinburgh. 
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England, in a dangerous predicament. 	Had they 
been assured of immediate support, they were ready, . 
they said, to resist the ,intriguei of France, which 
became every day more successful,—the Bishops of 
Ross and Glasgow keeping up a correspondence with 
Lennox. 	But Elizabeth, as Walsingham confessed 
to Bowes; was so completely occupied and, entangled 
with the negotiations for her marriage with the Duke 
of Anjou,. that every other subject. was postponed. 
No answer, which promised any certain assistance, 
arrived ; and Morton, wearied out and irritated with 
this neglect, declared to the Arnbassador3  that he 
would be constrained to provide for his personal safety 
by a reconciliation with Lennox. 	" He utterly dis-
trusted," he said, " Elizabeth's intention to be at any 
charges for the affairs of Scotland; his own peril was 
great and imminent; yet, had he been backed by 
England, he would have adventured to beard his 
enemies, and to have retained the country at the de-.  
votion of the Queen. 	It was too late now ; and to 
save himself from ruin, he would be driven to means 
which could be profitable to neither of the realms, 
and were much against his heart."' 	Bowes soon 
after was recalled from Scotland.2 	• 

. 1  MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	Bowes to Walsiugham, August 2, 
1580. 

2  On the 2d August he seems to have been at Edinburgh ; on 
the 10th August he was at Berwick. 
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difAr. II. 

JAMES THE 'SIXTH. 

1580-1582. 

'CONTEMPORARY PRINCES. 
f France. 	i Germany. 	Spain. 	1 	Port. 	

I
Pope. E...ozami. 	 1 

gm  Eliznboth. .1 	, III. 	( Rudolph II. I 	Philip H. 	I 	Philip. 	Gregor$ X1111 

FOR some time after this, Elizabeth's policy towards 
Scotland was of that vacillating and ccintradictory kind,  
which estranged her friends, and gave confidence to 
her. opponents. 	She had been early warned by Sir 
Robert Bowes, then resident at Berwick, of the great 
strength of the _confederacy at the head of which 
Lennox had placed himself, and that soon no efforts 
would avail against it.1 	" Such had been," he said, 
" the success of .the French intrigues, that Scotland 
Was running headlong the French course ;"2  and that .i 
everything tended to the overthrow of religion,—by. 
which we must understand him as meaning the Pres. 

1  MS. Lotter, St.•P. OIL 	27th June, 1580, BoWes to Wal- 
Bingham. Also, 1st Sept., 1580, Waisingham to Bowes. Also, 6th 
Sept., 1580, Bowes to Walsingbani ; and 18th Sept., 1580, Wal- 
Bingham to Bowes. 	Orig. Draft. 

2  MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	Bones to Walsingluun, 10th Aug., 
• 1580, Berwick.  
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byterian party in that country. 	" Still," he added, 
" all was not irrecoverable, if the Queen would dis-
miss her parsimony, and take the true way to secure 
friends." 	But Elizabeth was deaf to these remon- 
strances. 	She ,alternately flattered, remonstrated, 
and threatened ; but she resolutely refuSed to "gq 
to any charges ;" and the effects of her indecision and. 
neglect were soon apparent 	. 

Lennox grew daily more formidable. 	As he was 
supported by the favour of the King, and the coun-
tenance and money of France, le drew into his party • 

-the most powerful of the nobility. 	His possessions 
and lauded property were already - great. 	Favour 
after favour was' bestowed, 	,Himself, or his friends 
and retainers, held some,of the strongest castles in 
Scotland; and not long after this, Walsingham, who 
was anxiously watching, his' power, heard, with dis-
may, from BoVves, that Dumbarton, one of the most 
important keys 'of the kingdom, was to be delivered 
to 'the favourite.' 
• This last determination incensed Elizabeth to tli 
highest pitch. 	She had for some time been engaged 
in a secret correspondence with the captain of the 
castle, the noted Cunningham of Drumquhassel, who 
had promised to retain it at her devotion ; and on the 

1  MS. Letters, St. P. ,Off. 	Draft, Walsingham to Bowes, 31st 
Aug., 1'580; and same to same, 10th .Aug., 1580. 	Also, Orig. 
Draft, Elizabeth to Morton, 22d June, 1580 ; and Bowes to Will- 
singbam, 9th July, 1580. 	Also, Orig. Draft, Walsinglunn to 
Bowes, 1st June, 1580. 

2  M$. Letter, St. P. Ofr, 	Bowes to Walsingham and Burgh-
ley, Aug, 31, 1580. 
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first intimation that it was to be placed in the hands 
of Lennox, she ordered.  Sir Robert Bowes to ,ride 
post from Berwick into Scotland, with a fiery mes- 
sage, to be delivered to ,the .Scottisk Council. 	The 
imperious and unscrupulous temper of the Queen was 
strongly marked in his instructions'. 	If he found the 
fortress (for so its great strength entitled At to be' 
called). undelivered, he was to remonstrate loudly 
against its being surrendered to one who, whatever 
mask the Pope allowed him to wear, was in his heart 
an enemy to the Gospel. 	If it was too late, and the 
castle already given up, - he was instantly to confer 
with Morton how so fatal a step, could be remedied : 
"Either (to quote the words of the instructions) by 
laying violent hands on the Duke and his principal 
associates, in case no other more temperate course 
can be found,. or by some other ' way that by him 
might be thought meet."' 	. 

Bowes hurried on to Edinburgh ; 'met with Mor-
ton, whom he found still bold, and ready. to engage 
in any attack upon his rival.; and had already given 
him ." some comfort to prick him on"—meaning, no 
doubt, an advance in money, when new letters arrived 
from. the Queen: 	A. single day had revived her par- 
simony, and cooled her resentment : it would be better, 
she thought, to try persuasion first, and forbear ad- 
vising force,• or any 'promise of assistance. 	None 
could answer for the consequences' of a civil war. 

- 1  Orig. Draft, St. P. Off. 	Walsiugham to Bowes, Aug. 30, 
1580. 	Endorsed by Walsingliam's hand, '"My letter t4, Mr 
Bowes." 
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They might seize the young King, carry him to 
•Dumbarton, and thence transport him to France .I 

Bowes was directed, at the same time, to alaim 
James' fears, for a second time, on the subject of the 
succession,—to assure him, in. great secrecy, that if he 
continued obstinately to prefer D'Aubigny's persua-
sions to the counselS of his mistress, his right would 
be tut off by an act of Parliament, and the title to 
the English . throne established • in the • person of 
another.' 	This threat, however, had been so often 
repeated, that it produced not the slightest effect ; 
and Elizabeth soon after recalled her Ambassador, 
Commanding him, before he left the Scottish Court, to 
upbraid the King with his ingratitude. 	Ilis farewell 
interview was a stormy one. 	" His royal mistress," 
he said, "was bitterly mortified to find that this was 
all the return for her-care of James 'ever since his 
cradle. 	She had little expected to be treated with 
contempt, and to see promoted to credit and honour 
the very man against whom she bad expressed so 
much suspicion and dislike ; but hereafter, he might 
find what it was to prefer a Duke of Lennox before 
a Queen of England." 	 • 

This retirement of Bowes greatly strengthened 
D'Aubigny. 	The young King became more attached 
to the interests of France : he entered into communi- 
cation with -his mother, the imprisoned Queen ; and 

1  Ms: St. P. Off. 	Walsingham to Bowes, 1st Sept., 1350. 
2  St. P. Off. Copy. Walsitighant to Bowes, 10th Sept., 1380. 
3  Orig. Draft, St. P. OM 	Walsingliaut to Bovve4, 7th Oct., 

1,180. 

   
  



- 76 	HISTORY OF SCOTLAND. 	1580. 
- 	-  whilst the courts of Romne, Paris, and Madrid, united 

their endeaveurs- to procure her liberty, Lennox perk 
suaided James to second their efforts, and• to over- 
whelm'their opponents by a mighty stroke. 	This was 
the destruction of Morton; the bitteregt enemy of 'the 
-Scottish ;Queen, and whose recent intrigues with the 
English Anibassador - hid shown that, although his 
power *as diminished, his will to work • their ruin 
was as active as before. 	Their plot against him, 
which had been in preparation for sonne time, was 
now ripe for execution, and it was determined, td 
arraign ' him as guilty of the murder of Darnley. 
That he had been an active agent in the conspiracy 
against that unhappy Prince, was certain; and that 
Archibald Douglas, another powerful member of the 
house of Douglas, had been personally present at the 
murder was well known : but -  this could be said of 
others who had eseapea prosecution ; and as to 
Morton, although shorn of much of his power and 
lustre, be was still so dreaded that no one, for many 
years, had dared to whisper an accusation against 
him. 	The arrival of Lennox, however, had changed 
the scene; and this new favourite of his Sovereign 
was now risen 'to such a height of power, that, find-
ing the late Regent intriguing with Elizabeth against 
him, he determined to pull down mid destroy his 
enemy at once. 

For this purpose many things then assisted. 	Mor- 
ton had quarrelled with the Kirk, and lost the confi-
dence of its ministers ; he Ilvas bated by the people 
for 	his 	avarice 	and severe 	exactions 	during his 
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4/  Tegency ; and his steady adherence—to -r,Igland Chad 
.made him odious to the ,friends Of the . imprisoned q  Queen, and the party of France. 	Lennox, therefore, 
had every hope of success ; and to effect his purpose, 
he employed a man well calculated to cope with such 
an iantagonist. , This was James Stewart, Captain of 
the Royal Guard; and second son of Lord Ochiltree, 
who had already risen into great favour with the 
King, and was afterwards destined to act a noted 
part in the history of the Country. 	Stewart had re- 

eived a learned education ; and from the principles 
Of his. father; and his near connexion with Knox, 
who 'had 'Married his sister, was probably deStined 
for the Church. 	But hiS daring and ambitious char-
acter threw . him into active. life : he embraced the 
profession of arms, served as a soldier of fortune in 
the wars of France and Sweden, visited Russia, and 
afterwards returned to his own country, where he 
soon won the confidence of the young King and the 
Duke of Lennox, by his noble presence and elegant 
accomplishments. 	Beneath these lighter attractions, 
however, he concealed a mind utterly reckless and 
licentious in its principles, confident and courageous 
to excess, intolerant of the opinions of other men,, 
and unscrupulous as to the means he adopted to raise 
himself into power. 	• 

To this luau, then only beginning to develop these 
qualities, was committed ,the•bold task of arraigning 
Morton ; and to obtain complete proof of his guilt, 
it was 'arranged that Sir James Balfour, who was 
believed to have in his possession'the bond for Darn. 
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ley's murder, and who was himself a principal assassin, 
. should come secretly from France, and exhibit this 
paper with Morton's signature attached to it. 

In this last scene of his life, the ex-Regent exhibited 
the hereditary pride and courage of the house of Dou- 
glas, 	He had been warned of the danger he incurred., 
and the storm which was about to burst over his 
head, two days before, when hunting with the King. _ 
But he derided it ; and on the last of December, the 
day on which he fell into the toils, took his place, as . 
usual, at the Council table, where the King presided. 
After some unimportant business, the usher suddenly 
entered and declared that Captain James SteWart 
was at the door; and earnestly craved an audience. 
The request was immediately granted ; and Stewart 
advancing to the table, fell on his knees, and instantly 
accused Morton of the King's murder. 	" My duty 
to your Highness," said he, addressing the King, " has 
brought me here to reveal a wickedness that has 

. been too long obscured. 	It was that man (pointing' 
to the Earl) now sitting at this table, a place he is,  
unworthy to occupy, that conspired your royal father's 
death. 	Let 'him be committed for trial, and I shall 
make good my words."' 	 ' 

Amidst the amazement and confusion occasioned 
by this sudden and bold impeachment, the only per- 
son unmoved was Morton himself. 	Rising from his 
seat, he cast a momentary and disdainful glance upon 

I MS. Letter, St. P. Oil: 	Bowes to Walsinglnun and Burgh:- 
ley, Jan. 1, 1580-1. 
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his accuser, and then firmly regarding the King, " I 
know not," he said, " by whom this informer has been 
set on, and it were easy for one of my rank to refuse _ 
all reply to so mean a person ; but I stand, upon my 
innocence—I fear no trial. 	The rigour-with which 
I have prosecuted all suspected of that murder- is well 
known ; and when I have cleared myself, it will be 
for your Majesty to determine what they deserve who 
hive sent this perjured tool of theirs to accuse me !" 
These bitter terms Stewart threw back upon the 
Earl with equal contempt and acrimony. 	" It is false, 
utterly false," he replied, " that any one has instiga- 
ted me to • make this accusation. 	A horror for the 
crime, and zeal for the safety of my Sovereign, have 
been my only counsellors ; and as to his pretended 
zeal against the guilty, let me ask him, where has he 
placed Archibald Douglas his cousin ? 	That most 
infamous of men, who was an actor in the tragedy, 
is now a Senator, promoted to the highest seat of 
justice, and suffered to pollute that tribunal before 
which he ought to have been arraigned as the mur, 
derer of his Prince."' 	. 	 . 

This scene had begun calmly ; but as these last . 
words were uttered, Stewart had sprung upon his 
feet, and Morton laid his hand upon his Sword, when 
Lords Lindsay and Cathcart threw themselves be-
tween thein, and prevented a personal - encounter? 
The King then commanded both to be removed ; and, 

1  Spottiswood, p. 310. 
2  Harleian, 6999, fols. 3, 4, 5. 	Bowes to Walsingliaro, Jan• 71 

Berwick, 1.-480-I. 
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aftdr. a brief consultation,• the. 1  Justice-clerk, who sat' 
at the Council table, having declared that, On a charge,  
of treason, the accused must instantly be 'warded,' 
Morton .was first shut "up in the palace, and after one 
day's. interval; committed to the 'castle of Edinburgh.- 
Even there, however, lie was not deemed secure front - 
a rescue ; and ,his enemies were not contented, till 
they lad lodged him within the strong fortreis .of' 
Dumbarton,. of which Lennox, his great enemy,- vas . 
governor? 

On the same day that the ex-Regent was com-' 
witted, the CounciL ordered his cousin, Aichibald 
Douglas, to . be seized ; and Hume of Manderston, 
with a party of horse, 'rode furiously all night to his" 
castle of Morham : but Douglas had escaped, a few 
hours before, across the English Border, having re-
ceived warning from his friend the Laird of Long 
Niddry, who rode two horses to death in bringing 
him the. news.2 	Lennox and his faction, however, 
had made sure of their principal victim ; and all was 
now headlong baste to hurry on his 'trial, and have 
the tragedy completed, before any interruption could' 
be made, or any succour arrive. 	Yet this was not 
easily accomplished. 	The story of his seizure had 
effectually roused Elizabeth. 	Randolph was 	de- 
spatched on the spur of the moment, to carry a vio- • 
lent remonstrance to the King ; and Lord Hunsdon, 

1  Calderwood, MS. Hist. Brit. Mus. Ayscougli, sub anno 1581, 
fol. 1115. 	Also, MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	WaLsingham to Ran- 
dolph, 25th January, 1580-1. 

2  MS. Calderwood, sub anno 1581, fol. 1118. 	. 
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her cousin, a proud and fiery soldier, received orders 
to raise the power of the north, and lead an army 
into Scotland.' 	 . 

But the envoy, on his arrival at Edinburgh,' found 
it more difficult to raise a party for the delivery of 
-Morton than he had anticipated. 	Matters were there 
in so violent a state, and the English alliance so un-
popular, .that he dreaded. assassination ; and prayed . 
Walsingham, who had addressed him as an envoy, 
to vouchsafe him the name of an ambassador, if it 
were 'merely for protection, and to save him from 
personal, violence.3 	On sounding the dispositions of 
the leading men, they appeared coldly affected. 	The 
Earl of Angus, indeed, Morton's nearest kinsman, 
was ready to peril all in the effort to save him ; • but 
be stood alone. 	The rest of the nobles were either 
banded with Lennox, or held themselves aloof, till 
Hunsdon's soldiers should be seen crossing, and not 
threatening to cross the Border, and till Randolph 
had begun "to pay. them in better coin than promises. 

. They had been so often deceived by the.artful diplo-
macy of the English Queen ; she had already so fre-
quently incited them to take arms, under a prolnise 
of assistance, and left them, when it was too late to 
retreat; that they were full of distrust and suspicion. 
Nor- was the audience with the young King in any 

1  MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	Walsinghant to Randolph, 8th Jan., 
I 380-1. 

2  Jan. 18, 1380-1. 
3  MS. St. P. Off. 	Randolph to WaJsingbam, Jan. 2Z 1580-1, 

Sunday., 	He arrived in Edinburgh on Wednesday the 18th Jan., 
1580-1. 

VOL. VIII. 	 0 
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way more encouraging. 	lames had been irritated 
on Randolph's first arrival, by his refusal to have 
any intercourse with his favourite •Lennox ;1.  and 
when the envoy attempted to justify himself, and • 
offered to prove, by the production of an intercepted 
letter, that he Was an agent of Rome and the houie 
of Guise, and carried on a secret intelligence with 
the enemies of both kingdoms, the monarch. answered 
With much spirit, that Lennox was an honourable 
nobleman, his own near kinsman, and that the accu- 
sation was perfectly false. 	He had come from• mok• 
tives of affection to visit him ; and as for the inter: 
cepted letter he spoke 'of, from the Bishop of Glasgow 
to the Pope, if any such existed, it•  was either a 
forgery, or a design of that prelate for Lennox's 
ruin. 	" The Bishop's character," said James, " is 
well known ; he is my declared traitor and rebel ; a 
favourer and kinsman of the Hamiltons, the mortal 
foes of the house of Lennox ; and no one would be 
more likely than Beaton to think his labour well 
bestowed, if,, by his letters and intrigues, he might 
cause me to suspect and discard my kinsman, who 
has embraced the true religion, and is zealous for my 
honour and interest. 	On this head," he added, " the 
Duke is anxious for the fullest investigation, and' 
will refuse no manner of trial to justify himself from 
so false a slander-; and as to the trial of Morton, (he 
concluded,) my good sister cannot be more solicitous 
on that head than I myself. 	But what would she 

1  MS. St. P. Off. 	Randolph to Walsingha,m, 22d Jan., 1580-4 
Edinburgh, Sunday. 
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have . Can she complain, that a man accused, in my 
own presence, • of the murder of my father, has been 
imprisoned till the evidence be collected against him ; 
or is it, reasonable to be angry because the day of 
trial is not fixed, when she is aware that Archibald 
Douglas, a principal witness, has fled into- England, 
and that till the Queen of England delivers him up, 
Morton cannot possibly be arraigned ?' 

To all this Randolph had little to reply ; and every 
day convinced him more deeply than the preceding, 
that Morton's fate was sealed.-  • Elizabeth, indeed, 
had at first talked proudly and authoritatively of her 
determination to save him ; and her ministers and 
soldiers borroyved her tone. 	Walsingham declared 
to Randolph, that if a hair of Morton's head were 
touched, it would cost the Queen of Scots her life.2  
Hunsdon addressed to .the same Ambassador a blus-
tering epistle, anticipating his speedy , invasion of 
Scotland, and full of threats against the " petty fel- 
lows" who were about the King of S.cots.3 	LeiCester, 
whose opinion ought to have had still greater weight, 
expressed himself in ominous and warning words: 
alluding to the dreadful fate of Darnley, " Let that 
young King take heed," said. he. 	" If he prove 
unthankful to his faithful servants so soon, he cannot 
long tarry in that soil. 	• Let the speed of his prede- 
cessors be his warning."' 	Bowes. declared, that if 

1  MS. St. P. Off. 	The King of Scots and his Council's Answer 
to Mr Randolph, 7th Feb., 1580-1. 

2  MS. St. P. Off. 	Walsingham to Randolph, 9th Feb., 1580-1. 
4  MS. St. P. Off. 	Hunsdon to Randolph, 3d Feb., 15R0-1. 
4  MS. St. P. Off. 	Leicester to Randolph, 15th Feb., 1580-1: 
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Lennox Werdi permitted' to triainph, and Morton to 
fall, they quarrel would beim longer:about thetrifies 
of the ifOrders, but the right to the crown;' in Nithigh 
Scotland would be assisted by France: and Spain) and_ 
fortified' by  . a.  large party within .England.1 	And 
the wise ThirghleY, in hisi"Directions"- toilandolph, 
urged the neeessitt ofimmediate action to save Scott 
land from:the dOinination ofd, concealed Papist--,so he 
describe& Lennox 	who, whatever ho might pretend 
to the 'contrary, had been permitted,  by thb Court of 
home -to disseilibie his religion' 	' 	I 	, 

But' tla energy was short-lived, and . spent itself 
in Words.' 	illunsdon, after all his threats, protracted 
hits levieS ; not an English soldier crossedthe Border; 
and -no decided ' support br supplies of money 'could 
be extracted from the caution and `parsimony of the 
-English `Queen; whilst on the' part of Lennox and 
his' adherents, all was vigour and warlike preparar 
tion. 	The whole force of the Hahn wds sumnioned 
td be in readineasio resist the English army. 	Bands 
of " waged soldierso termed to distinguish them 
frdn the feudal militia of the country, who served 
Without ' pily--1-Wero enlisted, and added to the ordi-
nary guard about the King's person ; arid the thrde 
'Estates assembled to vote supplies for the exigencies 
of the expected war With England: 	, 

Before this Parliament Randolph appeared. and 
• . 
1  MS. St. P. Off, 	Bowes to Leicester, 14th March, 1580-1, 

Berwick. 
P MS. St. P. OM 	Directions sent to Mr Randolph, wholly in 

Burghley's hand, 17th FA, 1580-1. 
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made his Iast great effort to.  bring about the deliverf 
ante of Morton, anal overthrow• the power of Lennoxi 
byi.Open negotiation ;and rremonstrance. ..,He spoke 
fon, two ihciurs : insisted with -much ,earnestness on 
the' benefits to' be derived from the friendship of his 
royal .mistress•; described, in, glowing terms, the dan• 
gerS to be 'apprehended from Lennox, whom he 4e-
nounced as an' agent of, France and Reline; and pro-
duced an intercepted letter from the 13ishop of .Ross, 
'to prove his allegations. 	All these ,exertions, howl 
ever, came too late, and were utterly unsuccessful. 
'Lennox denied the. charge," and ,demanclecl ithe fullest 
Snvestigation: 	The Parliament promised forty thou- 
sand- pounds - to support the;:preparations against 
England; daily ruihours of war, i  ami whisperings of 
the intrigues and conspiracies which were fomented 
by the English diplomatist, agitated and inflamed the 
country ; and at last, as Randolph himself ,described; 
it, f‘ Every day bred a new disorder ; men began to be- 
Stirring in all parts ; the Ambassador grew odious, his 
death Suspected, and the Court in a manner desperate." i  

These suspicions of conspiracies were not without 
foundation ; • for, from the Inoment of his lwrival, 
Randolph had kept in his eye the third article in his 
instructions, • which was, to raise a faction against 
Lennox, and employ force, either in seizing his per-
son, or putting him to death in some open attack, if 
more conciliatory measures failed' 	It was hoped 

MS. St. P. Off. 	Mr Randolph's Negotiation in Scotland. 
' MS. Instructions to Mr Randolph, Jan..13, 1580-14 	Also, 

Menthial for Secret Objects. 	Caligula, C. vi. 104-106. 
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that in this way the party in the interest of England 
might secure the person of the young King, and re-
move -from him those obnoxious ministers who per-
suaded him to throw himself into the arms of France, 
and to seek.  the liberty of the- imprisoned Queen. . 
The great advocates for this plan were Sir Robert 
-Bowes, Lord HUnsdon, Lord Huntingdon, ,and, the 
Earl of Angus ; but they differed somewhat as to the 
best mode of proceeding. 	Bowes seemed to have 
the least scruples as to employing-force, for the sepa- 
rating James from his favourite. 	In a letter to 
Walsingham or Burghley,' written shortly after Ran-
dolph's arrival, he informed his correspondent, that 
the Scottish nobles were drawing to an association ; 
and that, amid the pageaUts with which the King 
and Lennox were then recreating the Court, " a 
strange masque might be, perhaps, seen at Holyrood," 
which would check the triumph . of the favourite. 
Hunsdon, whose fiery temper on no occasion brooked 
imuch delay, recommended .martial measures ; and 
assured the Bnglish secretary, that Lennox must 
look for his dismissal to France, or to " something 
worse' 	Huntingdon, a nobleman of the highest 
honour in these dark times; " assured Randolph, that 
any attempt to restore English ascendancy by nego-
tiation would be fruitless ; -that open war must be 
deprecated ; and that to get out of their difficulties 

. 	. 	. 
1 The address is lost. 	MS. Brit. Mus. Caligula, C. vi. fol. 1.13. 

Bowes -to 	7Th February,' 1580-1, Berwick. —, 
2  Ilarleian, 6999, fol. 203. ' IIunsdon to Walsingham, Gth Feb., 

1580-1. 
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by' murder' would be worst of all : but, he added, 
that he could see no objection to another- method, 
which. had been already resorted to with. success, and 
that more than once, in Scottish history. 	Why may 
not some of the nobility, assisted by England, say to 
the King,--' Your Grace is young ; you cannot judge 
for yourself, and must be rescued from this French 
stranger, who abuses your confidence ;' and then," he 
added, " if Lennox resisted and took arms, let them 
unarm him if they can, and let our royal mistress 
assist them."' 

Amidst these various and conflicting opinions, Ran-
dolph laboured busily, and with the ardour of a man 
in his native element ; so that at last a baud or asso-
ciation was "packed up," to use the common phrase of 
the times, amongst the nobles ; and Bowes informed 
Leicester of the intentions of the conspirators, in a 
letter which shows, when taken in connexion with a 
communication addressed the day after by Walsing-
ham to Lord Hunsdon, that the design of the nobles 
was to seize the person of the King, and secure, or 
perhaps murder, Lennox. 	" Albeit," said • Bowes, 
" the levy of the forces newly assembled in Edin-
burgh and elsewhere, and the planting them about 
the King, to guard his person against suspected 
surprise or violence, doth greatly threaten the stay 
or defeat of the purposes intended, whereof I know 
your Lordship is advertised ; yet I am in good hope, 
that, if any opportunity be found, the parties asso- 

1  MS. Letter, St. P. Off, 	Huntingdon to Randolph, 21st March, 
1580-'1. 
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hie° will,t.With good_couragd, .ittemptT thermatten'4 
To this,-,Elizabeth; Mho !knelt,  and directed .all, re;• 
plied, that she would heat of no violence being offered 
to the King's person i.ibut as for D'Anbigny„:she cotild 
be i content he,  were; turiirisedi . provided' it' Cofild i be 
executed , when r..lid , iwas found,  separated from his 
young Master,' 	'The extent• of violence or bloodShed 
sanctioned under 'this wordil" surprised,licanna be 
precisely fixed-;%but to.those:who knew thdcharmter 
of the Scottish nobles of those days, andinonet kneW 
it better [ than ,the English,  -Queen, it conVeyed, n'o 
doubt, an emphatic.meaning. , , 	, 

The conspirators thus encouraged., 'convicted their 
artangem'ents: 	They succeeded in corrupting some . 
of 'the royal household; by their connivance, forged 
keys for the .King's private ,apaitinents were ,inad6; 
411a they thus hoped to enter the palace, seize the 
young monarch, put Lennox;  Argyle,' and, Montrose 
to•death, and send James to England.' 	But Lennox} 
when on the .very point of -being cut off, was saved 
1.4 an unexpected discovery; sand Morton, When his 
prison began' to be cheered by the near prospect of 
eScalie, found himself more hopelessly situated,thait 
before. 	The chief actor 	in .the association for his 
-iescue 'were • the Earls of Angus and Mar. - With 
Angus, Randolph had arranged,all in nightly meet-
ings, held sometimes in the fields, sometimes at Dal 

1- MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 14th Marshy 1580-1. 	Bov;•es td Lei- 
-ceder. 	Also,. MS. Brit. blue., Harleian, 6999, . fol. 479. 	Orig. 
Draft, Walsingliain to Hunsdon, 15th March, 1580-1, 	, 	' 
'+: MS. IIarleian, copy! of the timol 	Randolph to Hunsdony 

March 20, 1580-1. 	• 
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keithl: alibi Laird. rof Whittinghami A Douglas,. and 
brother toithe, noted Archibald ,Donglas; INIas a priii-
bipal conspirator, and intrusted iWith.their most secret 
intentions ;.$ arid four confidential servants...of Morton, 
named, Flick, for Aleck;  Nesbi.4 Reid, and Jerdan, 
Were !principal 'agents in the:.plotv  and,fknew all its 
ramifications. 	'Lord,  Hunklonj  who had• ra.high ad- 
miration:id Ang,ns,- was,. , as - we . have. seen,. deeply 
implicated 	his forces were in readinbss to advance 
from:Berwick into Scotland, and., he only, waited for 
the Signal which was to.'be :thb news of the King's 
seizure ; when Lennox, _receiving . some...hint which 
awakene& his suspicions  seized Douglas'of Whiffing-
ham; threatened him with the rack, and obtained a 
revelation of the:whole: 	Morton's servants, Fleck, 
Nesbit, Reid, and Jerdan, were- instantly arrested 
and put to the torture: 	Angus was banished beyond 
Spey ; Randolph, whose intrigues were laid bare, fled 
precipitately to -Berwick,. after having been nearly 
slain by a shot fired into his stwily ; ' and. Elizabeth, 
disgusted by the treachery of. Whittingham, and. the 
utter failure of the plot against Lennox, commanded 
Hunsdon. to •dismiss his forces, recalled Randolph, 
and abandoned Morton to his fate. 	1 	t 1 

This, it was now evident, could riot be -long.averted. 
4.Iis enemies were powerful and clamorouS "against 
him 	Captain James Stewart, the accuser of the ex- 

MS. St. P. Off. 	Randolph to Walsiughaxn, 25th March, 
1.580. 	Randolph affects to " Entspend" hia judgment of ,the truth 
of all this confession of 1Thittingham till further trial: 	There Raw 
to be little doubt that he knew all the particulars of the plot pre-
vious to the confession, and bore a principal part in arranging it, 
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Regent, had openly declared, if they by whom he had 
been urged to this daring enterprise, did not make 
an . end of the old tyrant, he would soon make an 
end of them' 	The confession of Whittingham, and 
of Morton's confidential servants, had furnished his 
enemies with evidence sufficient to bring him to the 
scaffold ;2  and although Angus, Randolph, and Huns-
don still continued their plots, it was found impossi- 
ble to carry them into execution. 	One by one the 
various Earls and Barons, whose assistance bad been 
bought byElizabeth, dropped off, and made their peace 
with the stronger party ;3  till at last Morton was left 
alone, and nothing remained to be done but to sacri-
fice the victim.  

For this purpose, Stewart; his accuser, and Mon-
trose, were commissioned to bring him from Dum- 
barton to' the capital. 	In those dark days many 
prophetic warnings hung over ancient houses; and 
among the rest, was one which predicted that the 
bloody heart, the emblem of the houSe of Douglas, 
would fall by Arran. 	This saying Morton affected 
to despise ; for the Earl of Arrau was dead, and the 
Iiamiltons, his enemies, in whose family this title 
was hereditary, were now banished and broken men. 
But Stewart, his implacable foe, had recently pro-
cured from the King the gift of the vacant 'earldom, 

1  MS. St. IS. Off. 	11th Ian., 1580-1, Bowes to Lord. Burghley 
.aud Sir Fr. Walsingham. 

2  MS. St. P. Off. 	Randolph to Walsinglunn, 25th March, 
1581. 

3  MS. Harleian, 6999, fol. 521% 	Randolph to Hunstion, Edin- 
burgh, 23d March, 1580-1. 
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though the news Of his pro;notibn had never reached 
the captive in his prisoll at •Dumbarton. 	When 
Morton, therefore, read the name of Arran in the 
commission, he started, exclaiming, " Arran ! who is 
that ? the Earl of Arran is dead." 	" Not so," said 
the attendant; "that title is -now held by Captain . 
James Stewart." 	" And is it so ?" said he—the 
prediction flashing across his memory. 	" Then, in- 
deed, all is over ; and I know what I must look for."' 

Yet, although hopeless as to the result, nothing 
could ' be more calm or undaunted than the temper 
in which he met it.. 	During his long imprisonment, 
he had expressed contrition for his sinful courses ; 
deplored the many crimes into which ambition and 
the insatiable love of power had plunged him ; and 
sought for rest in the consolations of religion, and the 
constant study of the Holy Scriptures. 	At the same 
time, his preparations for the worst had not prevented 
him from taking as active a part against his enemies 
as his captivity would allow. 	' 	• 

IIe was brought to trial on the first of June, five 
months after his arrest ; and such was still either the 
lingering dread of his power, or the terror of some 
attempt at rescue, that the whole town• was in arms. 
Two companies of soldiers were placed at the Cross, 
two bands above the Tolbooth; whilst the citizens 
armed also, and with another body of troopS filled 
the principal street, for the purpose of conducting him 
from his lodging to the Tolbooth, where the trial took 

	

place. 	Iiis indictment contained twelve heads of 

	

' 	1 Spottisvrood, p. 813. 
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accusation, o'r '"ditia.tp "-hut' the paper bad nbt been 
preserved ; and this is the' less Material,. as` the ,  gyros 
ceedings had scarcely beguni when' a letter ,from t,lie 
King was presented;cotanfanding the Jury to confine 
their attention solely to the Most important charge; 
his accession to the murder ,  of the late King; his 
father. 	On this point, absolute , and direct proof 
might not have been easily' procured ; for it turned 
Out that Sir Jamb Balfour either did net posSess; or 
would nnt produce, he bond• for Darnley's Murder. 
But Morton's own. defence supplied this defect ; fOr 
although'he denied that he had ever procured, or given 
his consent- to the. death of Darnley;  he distinctly 
admitted that he knew the murder was to be 'coin-
mitted, and had concealed it; upon which confesSion 
the 'Jury found him guilty. 	 i 

The 'terms,  in which their sentence was embodied 
were the same as those still employed in ,Scotland. 
It declared him " convicted., of counsel, concealing, 
and being art -and part of the King's murder." 	And 
upon hearing: these last words read ,aloud, the Earl, 
Who had maintained the greatest calmness and tem. 
per during the trial, became deeply agitated. 	"Art 
and -part!" said he, with great vehemence, and strik. 
ing the fable repeatedly with a little baton or 'staff 
which he usually carried. 	"Art and part ! God 
knoweth the contrary." 	It is evident that he drew 
the distinction between an active .contrivance • and 
approval, and a passive knowledge and concealment 
of the plot for Darnley's assassination. 

On the morning of the day on which he suffered, 
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some of the leading ministers' of the. Kirk, with whom 
he. I Pad.; bed; much t at `varianee i On the subject of 
Episcopacy, breakfasted•with him in. the prison, and 
a long and intdrestineeonference took place, of which 
the. particulars have been preserved, in a narrative 
drawn up by those who were present.'- 	It is difficult 
for ;any one who reads this ;account, and whci iS 
hequairited with the dark: and. horrid crimes which 
ttained.the ;life .of Morton, .not to be painfully struck 
with .the disproportion..betWeet his. expresiions of 
contrition; and his certain anticipationS of immediate 
glory • and felicity. 	The ,compunction for his many 
eiimes--4-mutder, tyranny, avaricei  :cruelty, lust; and 
all the sins which Were the ministers of his exorbi-
tant ambition and pride—is so ,slight, ;that we feel 
perplexed as to the sincerity of a repentance which 
seems -to sit so easily. 	He speaks of the murdei. of 
Riceio, or as he terms it, " the slaughter of Davie," 
in which • he acted 0 • prominent a part, withoiit an 
expression of regret ; . and appears to have lost almost 
.every. recollection of his former life, in his prospect 
-of instant admission. into the society of the blessed. 
Yet all may have been, nay, let'us hope all was sin,  
are.; 'and whilst it is vain ,to Speculate upon a Mate 
Of mind. known only to MIA NO° sees the heart, 
allowance must be madd for . the character of all 
age 	familiar ?with 'blood; 	for 	the 	peculiar, aml 
almost. ultra-Calvinistic, 	theology 	of the 	divines 
who ministered to' him in his last moments; and: 
the possibility of inaccuracy in' the narrative itself, 

I Banuatynes Memorials, Dannatyue Club Editiou, p. 317/. 
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which was not read over to lain before his death_ 
Inspeaking of the assassination of the King, he dis-
tinctly repeated his' admissioiis made at the trial ; 
affirming that he, in common, with many others, knew 
that Darnley was to be cut off, but did not dare to 
foiewai:n him ; and adding, that the Queen was the 
contriver of the whole plot. 

These conferences took place on the day in which • 
he suffered ; and his friends amongst the clergy had 
scarcely left him, wren his keeper entered his room, 
and 'desired him to come forth to the scaffold. 	He 
appeared surprised, and observed, that having been 
so much troubled that day with worldly matters, he 
had hoped that one night at least would have been 
allowed him to have advised ripely with his God. 
" But, my Lord," said the keeper, " they will cot 
wait, and all things are ready." 	" If it be . so," 
answered he, " I praise God I am ready also ;" and, 
after a short prayer, he passed down to the gate of 
the palace to go to the scaffold. 	Here another in- 
terruption took place ; for Arran, his mortal enemy, 
was waiting on the steps, and requested him to tarry 
till his confession, which had been made to the min-
isters, had been written down, and brought to him 
for his signature. 	, But this reimmersion into worldly 
affairs he entreated to be spared. 	" Bethink you, 
my Lord," said he, " that I have far other things 
now to advise upon. 	I am about to die : I must 
prepare for my God. 	Ask me not to 'write now ; 
all these good men (pointing to the ministers) can 
testify what I have spoken in that matter." 	With 
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, 	. 
this Arran profeSsed himself satisfied; .but his im-
portunity wa not at an' end` ; for he added that Mor-
ton must be reconciled to him. before he proceeded 
farther. 	To this the Earl willingly agreed ;.. observ- 
ing, that now was no time to reckon quarrels, and 
that he forgave him and all, as be hiinselfloped for 
forgiveness. 	He then proceeded to the scaffold, 
which he ascended with a firm step ; and turning to 
the people, repeated, shortly, his confession of the 
foreknowledge of the King's murder, only suppress-
ing the name of his near relative, Mr Archibald Dou- 
glas. 	He declared that he died in the profession of 
the gospel as it was at that day taught and established 
in Scotland ; and exhorted the people, if they hoped 
for the favour of Heaven, to hold fast the same. 	Mr 
James Lawson, one of the ministers, then prayed 
aloud ; and, during this act of devotion, Morton, who 
had thrown himself, with his face on the ground, be-
fore the block on which he was to suffer, was observed 
to be deeply affected. 	In• his agitation, his whole 
frame was convulsed with sighs and sobs bursting 
from his bosom ; and his body rebounded from the 
earth on,  which he lay along. 	On rising up, however, 
his face was calm and cheerful ; he shook his friends 
by the hand, bidding them farewell with many ex-
pressions of kindness ; and having declined to have 
his hands bound, knelt down, and laid his neck upon 
the block. 	At this awful moment, Mr James Law- 
son, stooping' forward to his ear, read some verses 
from the Scripture, which Morton repeated with a " 
firm 'voice. 	As he pronounced the words, " Lord 
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Jesus, receive my spirit!" the axe descended, and the 
imperfect sentence died upon the lips, which..quivered 
and were silent for evercl • The execution took place 
about four o'clock on the evening of Friday the 2d 
of June. 	• It was remarked - that Fernyhirst, who 
was known to have been acquainted with the murder 
of the King, stood in a window opposite the, scaffold. 
He• was recognised by a conspicuous ,feature in his 
dress--his large ruffles ; and seemed to take delight 
in the spectacle. 	The people also remarked -that 
Lord Seton and his two sons had taken great care to 
secure a good view of all that passed, by pulling 
down a stair which would have intercepted their 
view of the scaffold' 	 • 

On the day after Morton suffered, George Binning, 
a servant of Archibald Douglas, was executed for his 
participation in the murder of the King. 	The con- 
fession of this accomplice threw some additional 
light on this dark story. 	He affirmed, 	that his• 
master, Archibald Douglas, who was then an ad-
herent of the Earl of Bothwell, was present at the 
deed, and, in his haste to leave the spot, lost one of 
his slippers ; that, when his master came home, his 
clothes were full of clay and soil, occasioned, no 
doubt, by the explosion ; and that, in retreating from 
the scene of the murder, he (Binning) encountered,- 

1  Mg. Calderwood, Brit. Mns., Ayscough, 4736, for. 1136. 
Morton's head was fixed on the Tolbooth, on the highest stone of 
the gable towards the public street. 	There is a fine original pic- 
ture of the Regent Morton at Dalmahoy, near Edinburgh, the scat 
of the present Earl of Morton. 	It has been engraved by Lodge. 

9 Id. Ibid. 
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at then foot of a barrow lane near the spot, certain 
1' musselled' Men," meaning men .who had -disguised 
theinselves by muffling their faces in their cloaks; 
bite of whom, as he conjectured by his voice, was a 
brother of Sir James Balfour.k 

The• death of Morton was followed, as was to be 
expected, by the concentration of the whole power of 
the state in the handS of the Earl of Lennox and 
Captain Stewart, now Earl of Arran. This necessarily 
led to the revival of the influence of Prance, and to 
renewed intrigues by the friends of the Catholic faith, 
and the supporters Of the imprisoned Queen. 	The 
prospects 'of the Protestant lords, and of the more 
zealous ministers of the Kirk, were proportionably 
overclouded; the faction in the interest of England 
was thrown into despair; and reports of the most 
gloomy kind began to circulate through the country. 
It waS said that religion was on the point of being 
altered ; that the King would marry a 'Princess of 
the house of Lorrain ; that the Duke 'of Guise had 
already written to him in the most friendly terms, 
and now for the first time had condescended to call 
him King.' 	The conduct of Lennox was calculated 
to confirm rather than mitigate these suspicions. 	He 
professed, indeed, an earnest 	desire to 	maintain 
amicable relations with England ; and had written 
to this effect to the Earl of Leicester,. warning him 

1 MS. Calderwood, Brit. Mus., Ayscougli, 4736, fol. 	11,56. 
2  MS. St. P. Off. B.C., Scrope to Burghley, lath Aug., 1581. 

Also, B.C., same to same, 31st September, 1581. 	Also, MS. 4t* 
P. Off. 	Bowes to Burghley, 3(1 Oct., 1581. 

VOL. VIII. 	 11 

   
  



08 	' 	HISTORY OF SCOTLAND. 	1581... 

against Archibald Douglas, who was now in Eng--
land, and laboured to embroil the two kingdoms.1  
But he had forgotten entirely his friendly professions 
to the Presbyterians. The ministers of the Kirk, who 
had congratulated themselves as- the instruments of 
his conversion, were treated with 'coldness ; and it 
was soon discovered that he had warmly espoused 
the King's opinions with regard to Episcopacy, and 
was ready to second, to his utmost ability, the efforts 
of the monarch for its complete establishment in his 
dominions. 

Meanwhile, the new Earl of Arran was not ne-
glectful of his interests, and advanced rapidly in power 
and presumption. Soon after the execution of Morton, 
he appeared before the Privy-council, entered into a 
detail of his proceedings against that nobleman, la-
mented the necessity he had been under of employing 
torture to procure evidence, and demanded and ob-
tained an Act of approval from the King, which 
characterized his whole conduct as honourable, and 
assured him, that at no future period should it be 
called in question? His next step was an act of such 
open profligacy, as to incense and scandalize the whole 
country. 	He lived in habits of familiar friendship 
with the Karl of March, and ha'd been under deep 
obligations to him ; but he employed the opportuni-
ties such intimacy gave him to seduce the affections 
of the Countess of March, a woman of great beauty; 

1  MS. St. P. Off. Lennox to Leicester, 7th Oct., 1581, Litligow. 
2  Orig. Record of Privy-council in the Register-House, Edin., 

3d June, 1581. 
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and so completely succeeded in depraving her mind, 
that she brought an action of divorce against her 
husband, on.  a ground which none but the most aban- 
doned could plead. 	The suit 	was successful, the 
decree of divorce pronounced ; and Arran married 
the Countess, whose situation at that moment pro- 
claimed her either a liar or an adultress. 	It affords 
a shocking picture of the manners of the times, that 
the young King appears to have countenanced this 
proceeding. 	Nor was this all. 	James determined 
to grant. new honours to those who had assisted him 
in. the•overthrow of Morton : 'Lennox was made a 
Duke; Captain Stewart; who had already received 
a gift of the Earldom. of Arran, was invested in that 
dignity with great solemnity ; the Earl of March 
received the Earldom of Orkney; Lord Ruthven that 
of Gowrie ; and Lord Maxwell, one of the most power- 
ful nobles of that time, became Earl of Morton. 

Parliament now assembled, and the sanction of this 
supreme Court was given to all those measures lately 
passed in favour of Lennox and Arran. 	Indeed, it 
could scarcely be expected that any would dare to 
oppose them ; for JaMes had sent intimation to the 
Earls of Mar, Eglinton, Glencairn, with the Lords 
Lindsay, Boyd, llerries, and Ochiltree, that he would 
dispense with their presence on this occasion ;1  and 
none, probably, attended but those who were favour- 
able to the Court. 	The adherents of the late Earl 
of Morton were pronounced rebels, and their estates 
confiscated. 	Amongst these,, the principal were the 

t'S. St. P. Off. 	Bowes to Burghley, 18th October, 1581. 
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Earl'of Angus; Archibald Douglas of'Wliittingliam; 
IJaines Douglas, Prior Of 'Phiscardine,. -and 'Jam'es 
TOuglas- of Pittendreich, tWo r  nattiral,  sons' 'of the 
Regent Morton ; Douglas of Parkhead ;, 'and Archi-
bald Douglas, Constable of the Cagle of -Edinburgh. 
In the 'same Parliament; Lennox, Whol believed his 
influence how tO be all po`weenl,,  exerted himself to 
procure the Pardon of -Sit i.IDS Balfour, who' had 
reently.  &nib hint good' serVice 'in the vierthroiswof 
MOitOn. 	Bid 'lib wasi'disapPointed; for Jameirre- 
ftised hie reqUestr, and. pointed to,  those 'Acts of Par- 
. !lianient by' WhiCh ' it was declared; that no ?person 
guilty of the Xing' hiS father's thuider,,' should ever 
be restored'''. At the same meeting of the Estates, 
the statutes Were-  confirmed ' which piotected the 
reforined religion ;' some efiadtments 'introdUced:lbr 
there4ultition of the' i,oinag- , against the exportation 
of WOol, and that ekeess 'of apparel .  amongst !the 
+middle and' lower classes, and' expensive and supef- 
findus banquets, 'which marked. the peogrIess• of, the , 
coihitry in Wealth and refinenieht; and lad 'etched 
the jealousy of the higher nobility. 	t 	1 

it is now necessary to turn for 'a 'moment td the 
'Sdottish Qtleeniu e  her imprisonment. 	It • wa..S• a 
laseratle ehiumstande in the fate of this unfortunate 
Prittess, that'  any successes' of her friends generally 
brought along with then an increase Of rigour ,  and 
jealouSY upon the part 'of herb:text:wale rival. 	This 
inerease, on the other hand, as surely led to mote 

1  MS. St. 1'. Off. 	BE., TI:ornias Selby td Mr 'Roma Foster, 
-)9th Nov., 	1.581. 
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,determined; efforts for het delivery ; and thus, during 
the thirteen. years for, which pile' bad now ,continnecl 
a. captives  her health 110, been, shattered, and her 
spirits !broken;. by, those alternations, of, I  hope and 
lear,—those fluctuations r of ardent expectation, or 
bitter, disappointment,. :wbigh must have destroyed 
&yen the ,.healthiest and most buoyant constitution. 
ltIer condition, about this time was so feeble, that she 
-had lost the euse of her limbs, and was carried in a 
chairorlitter, by her servants.: She besought Eliza- 
beth; in .pathetic terms, for the A-your of a coach, that 
ishe might enjoy 4 drive in the,ark of Sheffield Castle, 
wheveshe.waoconfined.; she requested the additional 
attendance of two- ,female servants and two men 
servants, which her, sickness, demanded ; and, she en-
treated to, have passports for the Lady Lethington• 
and ',Lord Seton, in whose society, she. might find 
some alleviation , of her solitude. 	But, although 
Castelnau, .the French Ambassadors  seconded these 
requests by the most earnest Temonstranee, the Eng-
lish Queen was deaf to his entreaties, and resisted the 
application.' 	 i 

This cold and-unreleuting conduct could not fail to, 
make a deep impresSion upon Mary; and, in a mo-
ment of resentment and excitation, she had, deter-
mined to resign her rights as Queen of Scots, and her 
claims upon the Crown of England, into the hands of 
her son, with an earnest hope, that_ he would invade 
that realm, and, assisted by the Roman Catholic 

Addition aunt Mem. de Castelnau, p., .519. 	Chalmers Life of 
Mary, vol. 1. pp. 384, 388, 

39161 
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party abroad, and Elizabeth's discontented subjects 
at hozne,' establish his rights, and overwhelm her 
oppressor: 	But the return of calmer consideration 
showed the madness of such a scheme ; and her 
anxiety for the amicable recognition of the rights of 
her son to the English Crown, banished.the.suggeS-1 
tions of personal resentment. In a memorial presented 
by Miry about this time to Elizabeth and her Par-
liament, she requested to be heard, by deputies whom 
she would appoint, upon the subject ,of her title and 
pretensions .1 	It . was not, she added, on her own 
account that she suggested this. 	-Continued afflic- 
tion had brought on a premature age ; sorrow had 
extinguished ambition ; and, with her shattered frame, 
it would be 'ridiculous to expect.  to survive Elizabeth. 
But she felt the natural anxiety of a mother to secure 
the, rights of her child ; and she entreated her sister 
of England to agree to her petition, and to recognise 
the undoubted title of her son, as the most certain 
means of promoting settled peace, and securing their 
mutual security. 	- 

This sensible memorial 	experienced 	the 	same 
fate as her former petition : 	it made no impres- 
sion upon the Queen of England, or her minis-
ters ;  and Mary; defeated in her moderate desires, 
was compelled to embrace more determined mea-
sures, and to. throw 'herself entirely into the arms 
of France. 	This led to a new-project, known by the 
name of " The Association," and which appears to 
have originated about this time. 	It was .proposed 

1 	11.111.,Iii), p. 	lfiT. 
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to the young King, that in order to have his title to 
the Scottish throne recognised. by the' powers of 
Europe,—none of whom, with the exception of Eng-
land, had yet publicly given him the name of King,—
he should resign the Crown to his mother, under the 
condition, that she should retransmit it to him, and 
retire from all the active duties of the Government. 
But before pursuing this scheme, which led ultimately 
to important consequences, it is necessary to attend 
to. the state of the Church, and its violent collision 
with the Crown. 	. 

The struggle between EpisCopacy and the Presby-
terian form of Church government, which had 'been 
originally established at the time of the Reformation, 
was now assuming every day a more determined and 
obstinate form. 	The young King, with his ministers, 
and favourites, Lennox .and Arran,. and a large pro- 
portion of the nobility, supported Episcopacy., 	The 
ministers of the Kirk, and the great body of the 
burghers, and middle and lower classes of the people, 
were zealously attached to the Presbyterian model; 
and considered the office of a Bishop as anti-Scrip- 
tural, and a remnant of 'Popery. 	In a General 
Assembly, held some time, previous to this, the 
" Platform" of Ecclesiastical goVernment, drawn up 
by Andrew Melvil, had been .ratified by a majority 
of the ministers; and received the solemn sanction 
of the Church, under the title of " The Second 
Book of Discipline.' 	Under these Conflicting •cir- 

1  Calderwood's History, pp. 97,102, convened 20th April, 1,is 1. 
Confessions of Faith, vol. ii. Tr. 807; 

   
  



104 	nISTORY.OF SCOTLAND. 	15812 

cumstances'i the Dike of Lennox, . whose inflpence 
with the young, King ,gave, him, r an almost Labtolute 
power in',  that disposal of patronage, appointed 31i 
Robert Montgomery td the vacant. hishoprick of 
Glasgow. 	It was notorious to all, that,this ,was: a 
collusive and Simoniacal transaction; for Montgol 
mery. resigned the .temporalities .Of 'the, see, to • .the 
DUke, and wad contented, to' receive , ai small annual 
stipend out. of its 'revenues., 	But the clergy; 4t.first 
Waving this objection; pronounced a high 'censure upon 
Montgomery; and interdicted him from accepting 4 
bishoprick. 	lie remonstrated, and was.  supported 
by tho King and his Council; *ho contended, 'Mat 
as Episcopacy had never been abolished. by the three 
Estates, no illegal act had been committed. 	. 

The General Assembly of the Church soon after 
was convened in the capital; and us some' private 
intelligence had been tent to -Scotland' of tbe intended 
:f AsAociatiou" between the imprisoned Queen' 'haul 
the King her song this' ecclesiastical convention met 
in id state; ' of much excitement 	'It was knewn 
that Various missionary prieSts were Secretly intrigue  
log -in the country ;* that George Douglas 	had 
arrived on a mission from Trance, charged with secret _ 
despatches from the Bishop's of Glasgow and Ross; her 
tigenfs in that realm ; and great.  dread was enter. 
tained of Leunox's inereasink influence over the Mind 
of the young King. 	Determined measures, therefore; 
were adopted by the Church. 	Articles against1 Mont- 
gomery were drawn up, which condemned, in strong 

t  roWenrood, p. 118. 	 i 	' 

   
  



15811 	s f 	1JAMES VI. 	I -.1- I 	 105 
• 

terms, his lifd, conversation, and' bpinions ; S and ald 
though, upon investigation, many faults' objected to 
him turned, out to he frivolougo and Unfounded, °the» 
Matteis were proved, which, it was contended,-  utterly 
incapacitated him for the officewhich he had accepted. 
He received an injunction, therefore, to continue in his 
ministry 'at Stirling ; and; under pain of 'the highest 
ensures, to abandon all thoughts of the bishoprick.' 

During these transactions,.Elizabeth, who had be.,  
come alarmed on the subject of 'Scotland', and dreaded 
the preponderating influence of Lennox. and Arran; 
despatched- Captain Nicolas -Arrington; an able officer 
of the 'garrison at Berwick on- a-mission into that 
country. 	He was instructed to use his' utmost 
efforts to persuado the King to continuo in amicable 
relations with England ; to sow, if possible, by Adme 
secret practice, a division between the Duke of Len,  
nox and the Earl of Alma ; and to expose the devices 
Of France and Spain for- the overthrow of religion, 
and the resumption of power by the Scottish Queen.1  
it had been the advice of Sir Robert Bowes, in a 
letter addressed to Burghley, that every means should 
be Adopted to increase some jealousies which, owing 
to the pride and' intolerance of Arran, had arisen 
between him and the Duke 	But after every effort 
to " blow the coals,"' as he expressed it, these proud 
rivals became convinced that their safest policy was 
to forget their differences, .and unite' against. .their 

i St. P. 0114. 	26th octoter,1t431, Instructions for 14'. Vrington, 
;Ica into Scotland. 	Copy.  

2  At S. St. P. Off., Doves to Burghloyi 18th Oct., 1581. 
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common enemies. A reconcilement, accordingly, took. 
place ;' and Lennox, strong in the continued attach-
ment of the King, and the new friendship of Arran, de.: 
termined to coneentratehis-whole strength against that 
faction of the Kirk which opposed themselves to Epis-
copacy, and had threatened his Bishop with deposition. 

At this moment secret information' of a threatening 
nature arrived from France. 	The reports regarding 
the progress of "The Association" between the Queen., 
mother and her son -were confirmed: 	It was. said, 
that Lord Arbroath, the head of the great- house 
of Hamilton, -now in banishment, was to be restored 
by 'French influence, under the condition, that the• 
"Mass" should return along with him. 	And Mr John 
Durk, one of the ministers of Edinburgh, sounded a 
fearful note of alarm, in a sermon which he delivered 
in the high Church of the city. 	" The. King," he 
said, " had been moved by certain courtiers, who now 
ruled all at their will, to send a private message to 
the King of France and the .Duke of Guise, and to 
seek his mother's blessing. 	He knew this, he de- 
clared, from the. very man who was employed in the 
message—George Douglas, Mary's sworn gervant; 
and he painted in strong colours the deplorable effects 
which might be anticipated from such a coalition. 	It 
was proposed, in these dark counsels, that the King 
should resign the Crown to his mother, and she con-
vey, it again -to him, with an assurance, that he should 
then be acknowledged as King by France, and by the 
powers of Europe, which, up to . this time, had refused 

1  Historic of King James the Sext, p. 186. 	• 
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him the royal title. 	And what must inevitably follow 
from-  all .this? 	If the transaction were completed, 
it would be argued, that the establishment of religion, 
and all other public transactions since the coronation, 
were mull ; that the King's friends were .traitors, and 
their adversaries his only true subjects." 	After the 
sermon, a remarkable conference took place between 
the Earls of Argyle and Ruthven, and the ministers, 
.Durie, Lawson, and Davison, in the Council house. 
On being pressed as to the French intrigues, Argyle 
confessed that he had gone too far.; but affirmed, that 
if lie saw anything intended against religion, he would 
forsake his friends, and oppose it to his utmost. 	To 
Ruthven, Davison the minister of Libberton, in allud-
ing to the murder of Riccio, used a still stronger 
argument—" If things," said he, " go forward a; they 
are intended, your head, my Lord, will pay for Davie's 
slaughter. 	But Scottish nobles, now are utterly un- 
worthy of the place they hold : they would not, in 
other times, have suffered the King to lie alone at 
Dalkeith with a stranger, whilst the whole realm is 
going to confusion.; and yet the matter (they signifi-
cantly added) might be reformed well enough with. 
quietness, if the noblemen would do their duty."' 

Nor were these warnings and denunciations con- 
fined to the nobility. 	The young King, when. sitting- 
in his private chamber in the Palace of Stirling; re-
ceived an admonition quite as solemn as any delivered 
to his subjects. It was entered by Mr John Davison, 
along with Duncanson the royal chaplain, and Mr 

1 MS. Calderwood, Ayeeough, 47313, fel. 3172. 
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Peter Yonne: and DaviSon; 'aftet4  pointing o'nfithe 
dreadful state) of:'the.+ country, ieilioried him' id put 
awaitho'se evil cOun'cillors•Who 'were sd TaA tritigiiii 
ruin:Upon the connnonweal, and his own oul:i I'MY 
liege," said he, "at ibis present, there are three; jAvels 
in this realm• precidus td 'all good men-t—Religied, the 
Commonweal,. land youi.. Grace's person: 	Into what 
a horrible confusion • 'de MO' first/ have entered, all 
men are witness; liut as to the ithird; 	,.pur Grace 
hath need to bewaie, not only of,  the 'common hypoa. 
Crites and flatterers, )but more especially of two SOrfs 
of men. 	First; such as opposed:themEtelves to your 
Grace in 'your minority :- whereby they have con 
mitted offences for which (they Must yet answer 46 
the laws; and, therefore, must needs fear the Xing. 
Remember the saying, ' Maas tem i6ilii,careto multhe 
The second sort, are those who are conjured enemies 
to religion. 	if (he concluded) Your Grace would call' 
to you sue!' godly( men as teould name, they would 
soon show you whom' they think to be ineludedin 
these two rankle. 	It had been arranged before. 
hunch that should the young King exhibit any desire 
to profit by this donnsel, Davison was to name the 
Lairds of Dun; Lundie, and Braid, with -Mr Robert 
Pont and Mr James- Lawson, two 'of the leading 
ministers ; but James, after hearing the exordium, 
and observing:hurriedly, that it was good counsel, 
Started off from the subject, and broke up the inter-
vieW.1  

1  MS. C'alderirood, Brit. 3f us. rot. 1172. 
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These _scenes of alarm and *admonition were. fol-
lowed by. 4 violent attempt of Montgomery ,to possess 
himself of the bishoprick, in Twhich he entered the 
Church at, Glasgow, accompanied by a ,barid of the 
royal guard, and ,in,`Ortue . of a charge. addressed by 
the King. tQ that ,Presbytery, endeavoured .to expel 
the established minister from the pulpit, and to occupy 
his place. 	This was resisted by the Kirk;, and the 
ministers of the Presbytery qf Glasgow were in con-
sequence summoned, before the Council :t but they 
defended themselves with the ,greatest courage, and, 
when. pressed by the King,. declined the judgment of 
the, Sovereign, or bits judges, in a matter not of a civil 
but of a purely spiritual natures 	Lawson, Durie, 
Andrew Hay, and p large body 'of the ministers and 
elders from Edinburgh, Dalkeitb,. and Lithgow, ac-
companied them to Stirling ; and when the,  King 
insisted that .they should receive ;Montgomery, and 
Warned them of the fatal consequences of a refusal, 
he was 'boldly reminded by Durie, that such intem-
perate proceedings would only lead. to the, excom- 
munication ,of the man whom he favoured' 	This 
threat, and the preparations for carrying it into 
immediate execution, alarmed the object of.the qtra,r-
rel himself; and the submission of Montgomery tQ the 

1  April 13, 1382. 	 , 
2  Calderwood. MS., fol. 1174. 	Montgomery, incensed amtinst 

Andrew gay;  one of -the,  ministers threatened to bring him 'to 
justice, as art and part in foreknowing and concealing the late 
_King's murder. 	The only ground of the charge was, that Mr 
Andrew Hay was uncle to the Laird of Tallo, (ITay,) who was 
oxechted for, the merder., 	, 
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jurisdiction and *sentence of the Kirk, led to a tem-
porary cessation of the controversy. 

This hill, however, was exceeding brief; and soon 
followed by a more determined collision between the 
antagonist principles of Presbyterianism and Episco- 
pacy. 	The Kirk at this time possessed, amongst its 
ministers, some Men of distinguished learning,• and, 
of_ the greatest courage. 	•Dunie, 	Lawson, 	Craig, 
Lindsay, Andrew Melvil, Thomas Smeton, Pont, 
Davison, and many others, presided over its councils ; 
and formed a spiritual conclave which, in the infalli-
bility they claimed, and the obedience they demanded, 
was a hierarchy in everything but the name. 	Elo- 
quent, intrepid, and indefatigable, they had gained 
the affections of the lower classes of the people ; and 
were supported, also, by the increasing influence of 
the burghs•  and the commercial classes. 	Animated 
by such feelings, wielding such powers, and backed 
by such an influence, it was not to be expected that 
they would be easily put down. 	The great cause of 
Episcopacy, on the other hand, was supported by the 
young King, who was himself no contemptible theo-
logian ; by the Duke of Lennox, the Earl of Arrant' 
and a large portion of the old nobility. 	Abroad, it 
looked to the sympathy and assistance of France; 
and as the whole hopes of the imprisoned Queen, and 
the great body 'of the Roman Catholics in England, 
rested on Lennox and his friends, they were inclined 
to strengthen his hands in every possible way. 	The 
power of this party had recently been shown by the 
destruction of Morton, which they carried through 
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with a high hand against the whole influence of Eng- 
land and the Kirk ; 	and, flushed by this success, 
they resolved to renew the battle with the Presbyte-
rian party, in the case of the Bishop of Glasgow ; 
which, however insulated or insignificant it might 
appear at first sight, really involved the establish- 
ment or destruction of Episcopacy. 	Montgomery, 	. 
a weak man, and wholly under the influence of Len-
nox, was easily persuaded to retract his submission, 
and repeat his attempts to possess himself of the 
bishoprick ; whilst, at this moment, the feelings of ,  
the ministers were goaded to the highest pitch of 
jealousy and resentment, by the arrival of a messenger 
from the Duke of Guise : ostensibly, he came with a 
present of horses to the King; but it was suspected 
that more 'was intended than mere courtesy. 	The 
person who brought this gift. was Signor Paul, the 
Duke's master-stabler, and, as was asserted, one of 
the most active and remorseless murderers at the 
massacre of St Bartholomew' 	It was scarcely to 
be expected that this should be- tamely borne; and 
John Durie, the minister of Edinburgh, instantly 
rode to Kinneil, Arran's castle, where the King had 
determined to receive Guise's envoy- 	Meeting Signor 
Paul in the garden, the minister hastily drew his cap 
over his eyes, declaring he would not pollute them 
by looking on the devil's ambassador ; and, turning 
to the King, rebuked him sharply for receiving gifts 

1  Ats. Calderwood, Ayscough, 4736, fol. 1189. 	"This Seignor 
Paul was a famous murtherer at the massacre at Paris. 	No fitter 
wag could be sent to make pastime to the King." 
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from so• odious a. quarter: 	" Is it with the Guise," 
said he, "that your Grace will interchange presents—,q 
with. that cruel murderer of the saints ? 	Beware, 
my liege, I implore you, (he continued,) beware with 
whom you ally yourself in marriage ; and remember 
John Knox's last words unto your Highness—re-;  
member that good man's warning, that so long as you 
maintained God's holy Gospel, and kept your body 
unpolluted, you would prosper. 	Listen not, then, 
to those ambassadors of the devil, who are " sent 
hither to allure you from your religion." ' 	To this 
indignant sally, James, overawed by the vehement 
tone of the remonstrant, quietly answered, " that his 
body was pure ; and that he would have 'no woman 
for his wife who did not fear God and love .the 
Evangell."2  

_From Kinneil, Durie returned to-Edinburgh, where 
his zeal flamed np to. the highest. pitch; and, trans-
forming the pulpit, as was the practice of those times, 
into a political rostrum for the discussion of the 
measures of the Government, he exposed the intrigues 
of Lennox, the schemes of the Queen-mother, and the 
profligacy of the Court, in such cutting and indignant 
terms, that he was immediately summoned before 
the Couneit and ordered to quit the city. 	The 
strictest injunctions, at the same time, were directed 

• 
1 MS. Calderwood, fol. 1189, and MS. Letter, St. P. Off. D.C. 

AVeddrington to Walsingham, Berwick, 15th May, 1582: 	The 
interview between Durk and the King at Kinneil, took place on 
the 11th May. 	MS. Calderwood. 	.. 

2  Ibid. MS. Calderwood, fol. 118!. 
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to the Provost and Magistrates 0 tarry this sentence 
of banishment- into execiltion under pain of treason.' 
Lennox's party, at this moment, was described by. 
the• Laird of Carmichael, (a Scottish gentleman em- 
ployed to transmit secret information to Walsinghail,) 
as guiding all at Court.' 	Its ranks, as he informed 
the English secretary, embraced Arran, a great per-
seciitor of the preachers,•Huntley, Seton, Ogilvy, the 
Prior Maitland, (this was the younger brother of the 
famous Secretary Lethington,) Balfour, Robert Mel- 
vil, Mr David Makgill, and one Mr. Henry Keir.: 
These, lie added, were all-Papists.' 	But Carmichael, 
hiniself probably a 	rigid Pre'sb'yterian, was little 
disposed to make any distinction between those who 
supported Episcopacy, and the friends of the Church 
of Rome. 	'Yet it must be remembered, that the re- 
ported intrigues between the Courts of Spain and the 
Duke, with the secret negotiations of the Jesuits for 
the association of the Queen-mother with her sou in 
the Government, gave him no little countenance in 
the assertion ; and the vigour with which Lennox 
pushed forward his measures against the Kirk, seemed • 
to indicate a very formidable combination of forces. 
Undismayed, however, by the attack of their adver-
saries, the party of the Kirk only roused themselves 
to a more determined 	opposition : retaliated, by 
excommunicating Montgomery ; and called upon the 
people to weep for their sins, and be prepared to 

1  MS. Calderwood, fol. 1189, 30th May, 1582. 
2  MS. Letter, 6t. P. Off., 1st June, 1582. 	Laird of Carmichael 

to Walsingliam. 
VOL. via. 	 1 
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peril all, rather than. part with their religion. 	.The 
country, at this moment, must have presented an ex-
traordinary picture : the pulpits rang with alternate 
strains of lamentation and defiance. 	Patrick Simp- 
son, alluding to the fate of Durie, .declared, that the 
principal link in the golden chain of the ministry was 
already broken. 	.Davison, a firmer spirit, whose small 
figure and undaunted courage had procured him from 
Lennox the soubriquet of the "petit diable," exhorted 
'his auditors to take coinage, for God would dash the 
devil in his own devices; and, on the 27th of June; an 
extraordinary Assembly of the Church was convened 
in the capital, to meet the-crisis which, in the language 
of the times, threatened destruction to their Zion.1  

The prodeedings were opened by a remarkable 
sermon, or lecture, which Andrew Melvil delivered 
from the pulpit of the New Kirk. 	He chose for 
its subject the 4th chapter of  the first Epistle to 
Timothy ; and, in speaking of the fearful trials and 
heresies of the " latter days," inveighed, in no gentle 
terms, against the audacious proceedings of the Court. 
The weapon now raised against them, he described as 
the "bloody gully' of absolute power." 	An41 whence, 
said he, " came this gully ?—From the Pope.—And 
against whom was it used ?—Against Christ himself: 
from whose divine head these daring and wicked men 
would fain pluck the crown, and from whose hands 
they would wrench the sceptre. 	These might be 
deemed strong expressions, be added, but did not every 

1  MS. Calderwood, fol. 1189, 1190, 1191, 1192. 
2  Gully : a large knife ; a sword, or weapon. 
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day verify his wordS, and give new ground for alarm? 
Need he point out to them the King's intended de- 
mission of the crown to his mother ? 	Was not the 
palpable object of this-  scheme, which had been con-
cocting these eight years past, the resumption of her 
lost power, and with • it the reestablishment of her 
idolatrous worship4 	Who were its authors ? 	Bea- 
ton Bishop of Glasgow, and Lesly Bishop of Ross. 
And by what devices did this last-named prelate ex-
plain their intentions to the imprisoned Princess ? 
To the letters which he sent, he had added a paint-
ing of a Queen, with a little boy kneeling at her feet 
and imploring her blessing ; whilst she extended 
one hand to her son, and with the other pointed to 
his ancestors, as if she exhorted him to walk in their 
footsteps,. and follow their faith.' 

At this Assembly, it was warmly debated whether 
Durk was bound to obey the sentence of banishment— 
a point upon Which opinions were much divided. 	The 
Provost and Magistrates contended that they must 
execute the law which had pronounced the sentence, 
or become amenable to its penalties. 	One party of 
the ministers, taking a middle course, advised that 
two of their brethren, Mr David Ferguson and Mr 
Thomas Buchanan, should be sent to remonstrate 
with the King. 	But from this the fiery Davison 
loudly dissented. 	" Ye talk," said be, " of reponing 
John Durie. 	Will ye. become suppliants for rein- 
stating him whom the King had no power to dis- 
place ; albeit, his foolish flock have yielded ?" 	At 

1  41Is. Calderwood, Ayseough, 4739, fol. 1192, June 27, 1582. 
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this, Sir James Balfour started to his feet, and fixed 
his eyes sternly on the 'speaker. 	Balfour was noto- 
rious as one of the murderers of Darnley; yet, having. 
been acquitted of that crime by a packed jury, he. had 
resumed his functions as an elder of the Kirk' 	Such 
a- man wag not' likely to overawe the bold minister ; 
and he undauntedly Continued. 	" Tell me what flesh 
mayor can, displace the great King's ambassador, so 
king as he keeps within the bounds of his commis-
sion?" . Saying this, he left the Assembly, in great 
heaf, perceiving that the question ,would be,  carried 
against him, which accordingly happened ; for, on the 
resumption of the debate, .it was determined .thA 
Dune should submit, if the Magistrates, who belonged 
to his flock, insisted. 	They did so : and that very 
evening, he was charged not only to depart. from the 
town, but not to reside within the freedom and 
bounds of !the city.' 	About nine o'clock the same 
night, ,he was seen, taking his way through the, prin-
cipal street of the city, accompanied by two notaries, 
and 'a stall band of -his brethren ; among whom were 
Lawson, Balcanqucl,•and Davison, r.  On reaching the 
Market-cross,  he. directed,  the notaries to read a 
written protestation, which 'attested the sincerity of 
hig life and doctrine , and declared, that although he 
obeyed the 'Sentence of banishment, no mortal power 
should prevent him from preaching the Word.' 	'Upon 
this, placing a piece of money in the bands of the 

1  MS. Letter, St. P. Off.,I3,C. Serope to Purgbley, Aug. 18,1581. 
2  MS. Calderwood, brit. Mus. Aysecagh, 4738, fol. 11ThGt  
3  MS. Calderwood, fol. 11DG. 
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notaries, he took instruments, as it was termed ', and, 
dining the ceremony, Davison, who stood by his side, 
broke into threats and lamentation. 	" I too must 
take instruments," cried he ; " and this, I protest, is 
the most sorrowful sight these eyes ever rested on: 
a shepherd removed 'by his own flock, to pleasure 
flesh and blood, and because he has spoken the truth. 
But' plague, and fearful judgments, will yet light on the 
inventors."' 	All this, however, passed away quietly, 
except on the part of the speakers ; and the denuncia- 
tions of the minister appear to• have met with little 
sympathy. A shoemaker's wife in the crowd cried out, 
if any-Would cast stones at him, she Nrould help.1  A by-
stander, also, was heard to whisper to his neighbour, 
looking with scorn on the two protesters, "If I durst, 
I would take instruments that ye are both knaves."2  

Shortly before this, a conference had been held at 
Stirling, between the Commissioners of the Court 
and the Kirk, which had concluded by the King 
directing the ministers to present him with a list of 
the grievances of which they complained. 	They 
accordingly prepared their "Articles," which, in bold 
and unequivochl language, drew the, distinction be-. 
tween the obedience they owed to the King and 
the submission which was due to the Kirk. 	They 
complained, that the monarch, by advice of evil 
councillors, , had taken upon him that spiritual au-
thority which belonged to Christ alone, as the King 

111S. Caldernod, lel. 1196. 	This same woman had troubled 
the Kirk much in Morton's time. 	her name was Urquhart. 

2  Calderwood, MS. Mist. fol. 1196. 	' 
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and Head of His Church ; and, as examples of this 
unwarrantable usurpation, appealed to the late ban-
ishment of Durie, the maintaining an excommunicated 
Bishop, the interdicting the General Assembly from 
the exercise of their undoubted spiritual rights, and 
the evil handling of the brethren of Glasgow for doing 
their duty in the case Of,Montgomery' 

The presentation of these Articles was intrusted to a 
committee of the ministers. It embraced Pont, Lawson, 
Smeton,Lindsay, Hay, Polwart,Blackburn, Galloway, 
Christison, Ferguson, James Melvil,Buchanan, Brand, 
Gillespie, Duncanson the minister of 	the King's 

-household, 	and 'Andrew Melvil, Principal of the 
new College at St Andrew's. 	To these a single lay- 
man was added in the person of Erskine of Dun, a 
name much venerated in the history of the Kirk. 	It 
had been agreed, that these " Griefs" should be pre-
sented to the Kin; in the beginning of July; and on 
the sixth of that month, this intrepid band of minis-
ters set out for Perth; where James then' held his 
Court. 	Their adversaries had in vain made many 
exertions to intimidate them ; and secret information 
had been sent, by Sir James Melvil, to his relative 
Andrew Melvil, that his life was in danger; but he 
only thanked God that he was not feeble in the 
cause of -Christ, and prodeeded forward with his 
brethren. 	On being ushered 	into the presence- 
chamber, they found Lennox and Arran with the 
King; and laid their remonstrance :on the table. 

I MS. St. P. Off., Advertisements from Scotland, 22d June, 
1582. 	MS. Cablerwood, fol. 1108-0, 
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Arran took it up, glanced his eye over it, and furi-
ously demanded " Who dares sign these treasonable 
Articles ?" 	" We dare," responded Andrew Melvil, 
"and will render our lives in the cause." 	As he said 
this, he came forward to the Council-table, took the 
pen, subscribed his name, and was followed by all his 
brethren. The two nobles were intimidated by this un-
looked-for courage: the K ing was silent; and, after some 
conference, the ministers were dismissed in peace.' 

It would have been well for Lennox and Arran 
had they taken warning from these symptoms of 
• determined oppOsition"; but they underrated the in-
fluence of the ministers, and were not aware that, at 
this moment, a strong party of the nobility was form- 
ing against them. 	It was fostered by the Kirk, and 
encouraged by England ; whilst its leaders, as usual 
in such enterprises, appear, about this time, to have 
drawn up a written contract, which declared the 
purposes for which they had leagued together. 	This  
paperivas entitled the "Form of the Band, made among 
the noblemen that is enterprised against Dobany;"' 
and it described, in strong language, the causes which 
had led to the association. 	These were said to be, 
the dangers incurred by the professors of God's true 
religion ; the intended overthrow of the Gospel, by 
godless men, who had crept into credit with the 
King's. Majesty ; the perversion of the laws ; 	the 
wreck of the ancient nobility and .the ministers of 

MS. Calderwood, fol. '1200, leol.. 	 . 
2  Caligula, C. vii. fol. 14, Brit. Ilfii8. 	A copy, 	Dobnuy i• 

D:Aubigny, the Duke of Lennox. 
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religion ; the interruption of the amity with Eng-
land ; and. the imminent peril of the King's • person, 
unless some remedy were speedilya,dopted. ".Where-
fore," (it continued,) •" We have sworn, .in' God's' pre-
sence, and engaged, by ,this:,' Band; to punish and 
remove the,  authors of these intended evils, and •to 
reestablish justice and good order, as we shall answer 
to ,the Eternal God, and upon our honour, faith, .and 
truth."1 	The original of this important paper' haS 
not been preserved ; and the names of the associators 
do not appear in the copy I but we may priniounce 
them, from the evidence of other letters, to have been 
the Earls.of Gowrie, Mar, Glendairn; Argyle, Mont-
rose, Eglinton, and Rothes, with the Lords Lindsay, 
Boyd, and, many others.' 	The principal enemies to 
14ennox among the ministers, wero Lawson, Lindsay, 
Hay, .Smeton, Pulwart, and Andrew Melvil.' 

At the time. this Band was formed, itS authors had 
not fixed upon any precise mode of attack; but the 
events which now occurred brought their measures to 
a head, au4' compelled them to act upon the offensive. 

'Shortly previous to the interview of the ministers 
with, the King At Perth, Montgomery. had been re-
instated in the bishoprick of Glasgow by the royal 
con nand .; and the sentence of excommunicition 
pronounced upon him by. the Kirk was reversed, arid 

• 
3,  Caligula,, C, vii. foLi 14, Brit. Mua: 	A +copy. 	See Aid BISI. 

Calderwood, p. 1210. 	f 	f 	 . 
2  Caligula?  C. vii. fol. 18, 3iS. Letter, Widdrin(r4Fton to Wal- 

siiighttm, July' i 6, 158 	berwiek. 
3  MS. Calderwood, fo). I20L, 	 • 	i 
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declared null. 	To soften, at the same , time, the 
effect of this strong measure of defiance, the King, 
by a public' proclamation, renounced all intention of 
making .any changes' in religion ;, and Montgomery, 
confiding in his restored: himours,i ventured from hiS 
seclusion at Dalkeith, where lie had resided with his 
patron:Lennox, and once more showed himself in Edin-
burgh! But Lawson, one of the leading ministers, flew 
to the magistrates, accused them 'of permitting au 
excommunicated traitor to walk the streets.; and com- 
pelled them to discharge S him from their city.1 	As he 
departed, Montgomery threatened that, within half an 
hour, they should change .their tone ; and, within a 
brief space, returned with a royal 	which 
was read at the Cross, commanding all men to accept. 
him. as a true Christian and good subject. 	He 
brought, also, letters to the same purport, which were 
sent to the Lords of Session. 	All, however, was in 
vain, so strong was the popular current against him. 
The Provost, in an agony of doubt between his duty 
to the King and his allegiance to Lthe Kirk, impre-
cated vengeance upon his head, and declared he would 
have given a thousand merks he had never seen his 
face. 	The Judges refused to hear him; and a report 
arising, that he should be again expelled, an immense 
crowd assembled. Tradesmen, armed with bludgeons, 
and women with stones, waited round the door of the 
Court; and their expected victim would probably 
have been torn in pieces, had he not been smuggled 
away by the Magistrates through a narrow lane called 

'.31S. Calderwood, fol. 11D8, 1201, Ju'y 2, 1582, and tfuly 24. 
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the Kirk Heugh, which led to the Potterrow gate. 
His retreat, however, became known ; the people 
broke in upon him with many abusive terms. 	FalSe 
traitor, thief, mansworn carle, were 'bandied - from 
mouth to • mouth ; and as he sprung through the 
wicket, he received some smart blows upon the back. 
So little sympathy did he meet with from the King, 
that, when the story reached the Court at Perth, 

‘James threw himself down upon .the Inch, and, 
calling him a seditious loon, fell into convulsions of 
laughter'  

The effect, however, was different upon Lennox. 
His penetration did not enable him to see the formid-
able strength which was gradually arraying itself 
against him ; and his blind obstinacy only hurried on 
the catastrophe. 	At the instigation of France,' he 
determined, by a sudden attack, to overwhelm his 
enemies ; and, assisted by the force which himself 
and Arran could command, to seize the Earls' of 
Gowrie, Mar, and Glencairn, with Lindsay, and the 
chief of the Protestant nobles. 	Having achieved this, 
and banished the leading ministers of the Kirk, he 
looked forward to a triumphant conclusion of his 
labours in the establishment of Episcopacy; and the 
association of the imprisoned Queen with the govern.. 
ment .of her son. 	Bowes, however, the English Am- 
bassador, became acquainted with these intentions, 

1 MS. Calderwood, fol. 1202. 
Sir R. Bowes to Secretary Walsinghain, August 15, 1582. 

Orig. Draft. From the Original Letter-Book of Sir Robert Bowes, 
kindly communicated to mo by my friend Sir Cuthbert Sharpe. 
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and informed the Protestant Lords of the plot for 
their destruction. 	The minuteness of the - infor- 
mation 'which 	this 	veteran 	'diplomatist 	elicited 
by his pensioned informers, is remarkable. 	He 
'assured Gowrie and his friends, that they must look 
to themselves, or be content soon to change a prison 
for a scaffold ; that he had certain intelligence the 
King had consented to arraign them of a conspiracy 
against his person : and they knew, that if convicted 
of treason, their fate was sealed. 	It was by W'al- 
singham's orders that Bowes - made this communi-
cation, in the hope It would rouse the enemies of 
Lennox -to immediate' exertion ;- nor was he • disap- 
pointed.' 	Appalled by the news, and aware that 
even a brief delay might sweep them over the preci-
pice on which they stood, it became necessary to act 
upon the moment. 	The only danger to be dreaded 
was in prematurely exploding the mine already in 
preparation, -and thus risking a failure. 	The band, 
or contract, as we have seen, had been drawn up ; but 
it 'was still unsigned by many of thd nobility. 	There 
was scarcely time to concentrate all their forces ; and 
although they made sure of the approiral of the minis-
ters of the Kirk, who had already cordially coiiperated 
with them in all their efforts against Lennox, still 
these ecclesiastical associates were now scattered in 
different parts of the country, and could not be indi- 
vidually consulted. 	On the other hand, the danger 

1 Orig. Draft. 	Sir Robert Bowes to Walsinglttn, August 25, 
1582, Bowes' Letter-Book. 	See, als.o, Widdrington to Walsing-
boo, July 19, 1582, Caligula, C. vii. 
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was imminent ; and, if they acted instantly, some 
circumstances promised suCcess. 	The young' King 
was at Perth, separated both from Lennox 'and 
Arran' 	He had resorted to that country to enjoy 
his favourite pastime of the chaie ; his Court was 
few in number ; Gowrie,-Glammis, and Lindsay, three 
of the chief conspirators, were all-powerful in the 
neighbourhood of Perth ; and should they delay; as had 
been intended, till the King removed to the capital, 
it would become more difficult, it not impossible, to 
execute their design. 	In this state of uncertainty, 
they received intelligence which made-them more thait 
suspect that Lennox had discovered their conspiracy' 
This settled the 	: and having once decides 
on action, their proceedings were as bold .as they had 
before been dilatory. 	In an incredibly short time, 
Gowrie, Mar, Lindsay, the Master of Glammis, and 
their associates, assembled a thousand men, and sur-
rounded Ruthven Castle, where the King then lay. 
It was Gowrie's own seat ; and James, who, it ap-
pdars, had no suspicion of the toils laid for him, had 
accepted the invitation of its master, thinking only 
of his rural sports. 	To his astonishment, the Earls 
of Mar and Gowrie entered his presence, removed his 
guards, presented a list of their grievances, and, whilst 
they professed the utmost fidelity to his person, took 
special care that all possibility of escape Was cut off. 

1  Wednesday, 22d August. Lennox was then at Dalkeith, Arran 
.at Kinneil,—both places in the vicinity of Edinburgh. 

2  MS. Letter, Sir George Bowes to Walsingbain, 26th Aug, 
1572, Bowes' Letter-Book. 	Melvil's Memoirs, pp. 277, 281. 
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Meanwhile, the intelligence flew to Arran that the 
• .King was captive ; and he and, Colonel Stewart, his 

brother, set off in fiery speed at the head of a party 
of horse, 	Their attempt at rescue was, however, 
too late ; -for Colonel Stewart was attacked, and de-
feated• by Mar and Lochleven, who threw themselves 
• upon bim from an ambush,- where they had watehed.  
his approach ; whilst Arran, who had galloped by a 
nearer way to Ruthven, was.  seized the moment.  he 
entered the Castle court, and confined under a guard.. 
All this had passed with such. rapidity, and the 

, Lords who ,surrounded the King treated him with so 
much respect, that„James deluded himself with the 
hope that he might still be a free monarch. 	But 
next morning dispelled the, illusion. 	As he prepared 
to take horse; the Master of Glaminis intimated to-
him that the Lords who were now with him deemed 
its  safer for his Grace to remain at Ruthven. 	James 
declared he would go that instant, and was about to 
leave the chamber, when this baron rudely interposed, 
and placing his leg Wore the King, so as to inter- 
cept the door-way, commanded him to remain. 	The 
indignity drew tears from the young monarch; and 
some 4::d• the associated Lords remonstrated with 
Glanunis ; but he sternly answered, " Better bairns 
greet, than bearded men,"--a speech which his royal 
master never afterwards forgot or forgave.' 

But although thus far successful, the actors in this 

1  Bairns, children ; greet, weep. 
2  MS. Caldemod, Ayseongb, 47'31, fol. 02; 683. 	Spoitk.- 

Veocl, 1. 390. 	 I • 
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violent and treasonable enterprise were in a danger- 
ous predicament. 	Gowrie, Mar, Glammis, and Lind- 
say, were indeed all assured of each other, and con-
vinced that they must stand or fall together ; but the 
band or covenant which, according to the practice of 
the times, should have secured the, assistance of their 
associates, was still unsigned by a great majority of 
the - most powerful nobles and barons, on whose 
assistance they had 	calculated. 	On 	the 	other 
Land, the Duke of Lennox could reckon on the sup-
port of the Earls of Huntley, Sutherland, Morton, 
Orkney, Crawford, and Bothwell ; besides Lords 
Herries, Seton, Hume, Sir Thomas Ker of Fernyhirst, 
Sir James Balfour, the Abbot of Newbottle, and 
many inferior barons ; whilst the Earls of Caithness, 
March, and Marshal, professed 	neutrality' 	This 
array of opposition was sufficiently appalling; and for 
a brief season the enterprisers of the Raid of Ruthven 
(as it was called) began to waver and tremble ;2  but 
a moment's consideration convinced them, that if there 
was danger in advance, there was infinitely greater in 
delay. 	They were already guilty of treason ; they 
had laid violent hands on the King's . person ; had 
defied Lennox; imprisoned Arran, outraged the laws, 
and raised against them the feelings, not only of their 
opponents, but of all good citizens. If they drew back, 
ruin was inevitable. 	If they went forward, although 

1 St. P. Off. 	Names of the noblemen and lords that as yet 
stand with the Duke, 5th Sept., 1582. 

2  MS. Caligula, C.-vii. fol. 23. 	Sir George Carey to Burghley, 
5th Sept., 1582. 
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the peril was great, the struggle might yet end trium- 
phantly. 	They had the young King in their hands, 
and could work upon his timidity and inexperience, 
by menacing his life : they had possession of Arran, 
also—a man whom they dreaded far more than the 
gentler and vacillating Lennox : they were certain of 
the active support of the ministers of the .Kirk ; and 
Bowes and Walsingham had already assured them of 
the warm approval, and, if necessary, the assistance 
of England. 	All this was encouraging ; and they 
determined, at every risk, to press on resolutely in 
the revolution which they had begun. 

In the meantime, whilst such scenes passed at' 
Ruthven, the capital presented a stirring scene. 
Lennox, who was at his Castle of Dalkeith, in the 
immediate neighbourhood of the city, when he re-
ceived the intelligence of the surprise of the King, 
deeming himself insecure in the open country, took 
refuge with his household within the town. 	On his 
arrival, the magistrates despatched messengers to 
Ruthven, to ascertain the truth or falsehood'of the 
King's captivity from his own lips ; the ministers of 
the Kirk began to exult, and rouse the people to 
join with the Ruthven lords; and Mr James Law-
son, although earnestly entreated, by the Provost of 
the city, to be temperate in his sermon, replying, in 
the words of Micah, that what the  Lord put in 
his mouth.he would speak,' seized the opportunity 
to deliver, from the pulpit, a bitter and emphatic 
attack upon the Duke and his profligate associate, 

1  Calderwood, MS. Mist., fol. 1205-6. 
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Arran. ' It was true, he 	said, that 	these 	two 
baioni had subscribed the.Confession of Faith, .pro-
fessed the true religion, and communicated with their 
brethren at the Lord's table ; but their deeds testified 
that they were utter enemies of the truth. 	Had they 
not violated discipline, despised the solemn sentence 
of excommunication, set up Tulehan bishops, and 
traduced the most godly of the nobility and of the 
ministry ? And as for this Duke of Lennox, what. had 
been his practices since the day he came amongst 
them? With what taxes had he burdened the Com- 
monwealth, to sustain his intolerable pride ? 	What 
vanity in apparel ; what looseness in manners ; what 

. superfluity in banqueting ; what fruits and follies of 
French growth had he not imported into their simple,.  
country? 	Well might they be thankful; well praise 
God for .  their delivery from what was to have been 
executed the next Tuesday. 	Well did it become 
Edinburgh to take up the song of the Psalmist— 
"Laqucus eontritus est, et nos liberati -sums." i  

Whilst the ministers of the Kirk thus eulogised the 
enterprise of the Ruthven lords; Elizabeth, who had 
speedily received intelligence of their successydespatekJ 
ed Si; George Carey to Scotland, with letters to tlw 
young King, andinstructions to cooperate with her Am-
bassador Bowes, in strengthening the bands of Gowrie, 
and hisfaction. . Randolph, too, wrote in great exultation 
to Walsingham, rejoicing in the success of the revolu-
tion ; and, with the avidity and instinct of the bird 
which comes out in the storm, requesting to be again 

1  Calderwood MS., fol. 1206, Ayseough, 473G, Brit. Mus. 
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employed in the troubled atmosphere of Scotland. 
Unmoved- by the violence of the measures which had 
been adopted, he, in the spirit of the Puritan party 
to which he belonged, pronounced the Kines capti-
vity a reward conferred . by God on his sincere fol- 
lowers. 	" If it be true," said he, " that the King 
be now in the Protestants' hands, the Duke pursued', 
Arran imprisoned, and his brother slain, we may 
then see from this what it is to be true followers of 
Christ, in earnest preaching, and persevering in set-
ting forth His word without respect or worldly poli- 
cies."' 	It ' seems strange it should never have occur-
red to this zealous diplomatist, that the imprisonment 
of a King, and the violent invasion and slaughter of 
his councillors, were not the fruits to be expected 
from the gospel of peace and love. 	- 

Meanwhile, the captive monarch considered the 
late proceedings in a very different light, and medi-
tated niany schemes of escape and revenge ; but he 
was ah5ne, and closely watched : he did not even 
consider his life in safety ; and although it would be 
difficult to believe that Gewrie and his associates 
had any such atrocious designs, yet the history of 
Scotland afforded him too good a ground for these 
apprehensions. 	Lennox, on the other hand, was 
timid and irresolute, allowed the precious moments 
for action to pass, and contented himself with de- 
spatching Lord Herries, and the Abbot of Newbottle, 

1 MS. Letter, St. P. Off., 2d Sept., 1582, Afaidstone. 

VOL. VIII. 	 K 
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with some offers of reconciliation, which were' in-
stantly rejected.' 

These envoys, on arriving at Stirling, where Goivrie 
and his fellow-conspirators now held the King a 
prisoner, were not permitted to see Jaines in private, 
but were introduced to him in the Council Chamber, 
where they declared their message; 	" The Duke of 
Lennox," _ they said, ." had sent them to inquire into 
the truth of a rumour, that his Sovereign lord was 
-forcibly detained in the hands of his enemies ; for if 
it were so, it was his duty to set him free ; and with 
the assistance of his good subjects, he would instant- 
ly' make the attempt?: 	The scene which occurred, 
on the delivery of this message, must have' been 
an extraordinary one. 	Without giving Gowrie, or 
his friends, a moment to reply, James started from 
his seat, crying out it was all true : 	he was a cap- 
tive ; he was not at liberty to go where he chose, 
or to move a step without a guard : and he bade 
them tell it openly, that all who loved hiM should 
assist the Duke, and achieve his deliverance. 	The 
Ruthven lords were, for a moment, overwhelmed 
with confusion : but they outbraved the accusation. - 
Their Sovereign, they declared, had no more faithful 
subjects than themselves; nor should he be denied 
to go where he pleased ; only, they would not per-
mit the Duke of Lennox, and the Earl of.Arran, to 
mislead him any longer. 	If he valued,  therefore, 
the life of that person, he would do well to cause 

1 MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 
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him to retire instantly, and quietly, to France. 	If 
this" were not done, they must call him to account 
for his late actions, and enforce against him the most 
rigorous penalty of the law. 	Such was the message 
which they sent back by Lord Herries ; and they 
followed it up by a peremptory command to Lennox 
to deliver up Dumbarton Castle, and quit the king-
dom within twelve days ; orders which, after a short 
consideration, he despondingly prepared to obey. 

• 

CHAP. III. 	• 

JAMES THE SIXTII. 

1582-1584. 

CONTEMPORARY PRINCES. 
England. 	France. 	I 	Ger many. 	Spain. 	I 	P: odugal. 	Pope. 

Elizabeth. 	Henry III. 	Rudolph II. 	Philip II. 	i 	Philip IL 	Gregory XIII. I 	 I 	 I 

ALL was now joy and exultation with the Ruthven 
lords, and the ministers of the Kirk, who cordially 
embraced their cause. 	Mr John Durie, who had 
been banished from his pulpit in the capital, WaS 
brought back in processional triumph. 	As he entered 

' the town, a crowd of nearly two thousand people 
walked before him bareheaded, singing the 124th 
Psalm ; and, amid the shouts of the citizens, con- 
ducted him to the High Church. 	It was observed 
that Lennox, from a window, looked down in anger, 
but showed no disposition to contest the field with 
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his enemies ; and next day, accompanied by Lord 
Maxwell, Fernyhirst, and others of his friends, he 
left the city, and took the road to Dalkeith. 	This, 
however, was only to blind his opponents ; for he 
soon wheeled off in an opposite direction, and, with 
eighty horse, galloped to Dumbarton.' 

Meanwhile, Gowrie and his associates carried all 
with a bold hand. 	They had already compelled the 
King to issue a Proclamation, in which he declaied 

.that he was a free mcnarch, and preferred to re-
main for the present at Stirling: both assertions 
being well known to be false. 	They now committed 
Arran to a stricter ward, summoned a Convention of 
the nobility for an early day, required the Kirk to 
send Commissioners to this Assembly, promised to 
hear and remove its complaints, and gave a cordial 
welcome to Sir George Carey and Sir Robert Bowes, 
the English Ambassadors, who had now arrived at 
Stirling.' 	, 

At this audience Carey delivered a gracious mes-
sage from his royal mistress ; but when he alluded 
to the dangerous practices of Lennox, and charged 
him with' meditating an alteration in religion, and 
the overthrow of the King's estate and person, James 

1 MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	Archibald Douglas to Randolph, 
12th Sept., 1582. 	Calderwood, MS. Mist., fol. 1213. 

' Calderwood, MS. Mist., Ayscough, 4736, fol. 1211-12. 	Ibid. 
fol. 1213. 	Carey had audience on the 12th Sept., MS. Letter, 
St. P. Office, 14th Sept., 1582, Carey to Elizabeth. 	Endorsed 
by himself—" Copy of my letter to the Queen's Majesty." • Bowes 
was at Berwick on the 10th, and at Stirling on the 14th Sept., 
Bowes' Letter-Book. 
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could not conceal his passion and disgust. 	He 
warmly vindicated his favourite : affirmed that no-
thing had been ddne by Lennox alone, but with advice 
of the Gouncil ; and declared his utter disbelief that 
any treason could be proved against him.' 	Eliza- 
beth and •Walsingham, however, trusted that this 
would not be so difOcult; for they had lately seized 
and examined two persons, who managed the secret 
correspondence which the imprisoned Queen of Scots 
had recently carried on with` Lennox, her ion, and 
the Court of France. 	These were, George Douglas.  
of Lochleven, the same who had assisted the Queen 
in her escape; and the noted Archibald Douglas, 
cousin to the late Regent Morton, who had remain-
ed in exile in England since the execution of his. 
relative and the triumph of Lennox. 

This Archibald, a daring and unprincipled man, had , 
been a principal agent in the murder of Darnley, and 
had played, since that time, a double game in Eng- 
land. 	He had becoMe reconciled to Lennox, and was 
trusted, in their confidential measures, by Mary and 
the French Court ; whilst lie had ingratiated him-
self with Elizabeth, liralsingham, and Randolph, to 
whom he unscrupulously betrayed the intrigues of 
their opponents. 	On the late fall of Arran, the 
mortal enemy of the house of Douglas, he' had writ-
ten an exulting letter to Randolph,' and had begun 
his preparations for his return to his native country, 

1  Calderwood, MS. Hist., fol. 1218. 
2  ,MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	Archibald Douglas to Randolph, 

] 2th September,  1582. 
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when he was seized, by the orders of the English 
Queen, his house and papers ransacked, and his 
person committed to the custody of .Henry Killi-
grew, who, by no means, relished the charge of the 
" old Fox," as he styled him, in his letter to Wal-
singham.'  
• From the revelations of these two persons much 

• was expected; and George Douglas confessed that he 
had carried on a correspondence between Mary and 
her son, in which she had consented to " demit" the 
crown in his•favour, on the condition of being- associ-
ated with him in the government, and that her friends 
in France consented to recognise him as King. 	It 
was evident, also, that a constant communication had 
been kept up between Lennox, the captive Queen, 
and the Bishop of Glasgow, her ambassador at the 
French court; but it would have required much in-
genuity to construe this intaktreason on the part of 
Lennox, and the examinations of Archibald Douglas 
have no colour to the accusation. 	Arran, indeed, who 
was still a prisoner at Ruthven, offered to purchase 
his freedom by discovering enough to cost Lennox 
his head;2  but the Lords would not trust him, and 
preferred relying.on their own exertions to so danger- 
ous an alliance. 	 • 

In these efforts they derived the most active assis-
tance from the ministers of the Kirk, who, on first 

I MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	Henry Killigrew to Walsingham, 
17th September, 1582. 

1  MS. Letter, St. P. Off. Archibald Douglas to Randolph, I 2th 
Sept., 1582. 
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hearing of the enterprise at Ruthveu, despatched Mr 
James Lawson, and Mr John Davison, to have a 
preliminary conference with-Gowrie and his associates 
at Stirling;1  and, a few days after, sent a more solemn 
deputation, including Andrew Melvil and Thomas 
Smeton, to explain to the Privy-council the griefs 
and abuses of which the Kirk demanded redress.' At 
this meeting, the causes which had Ied to the late 
revolution were fully debated; and a band, or covenant, 
was drawn np, declaring the purposes for which it 
had been undertaken, and calling upon all who loved 
their country, and the true religion, to subscribe it, and 
unite in their defence. 	Two days after this, Lennox, 
from his retreat at Dumbarton, published an indignant 
denial of theaccusations brought against him; in which 
he demanded a fair trial before the three Estates, 
and declared his readiness to suffer any punishment, 
if found guilty.' 	He alluded, in this, to the King's 
captivity ; and retorted against the Ruthven lords 
the charge -of treason : but the associates fulminated 
a counter declaration ; repelled this as an unfounded 
calumny, and insisted, that to say the King was de-
tained against his will, was a manifest lie, the contrary 
being known to all men.' 	What shall we say or 
think of the Kirk, when we find its ministers lending 
their countenance and assent to an- assertion which 
they must have known to he utterly false? 

In the midst of these commotions which followed 

1  On the 15th Sept., 1582. MS. Calderwood, fol. 1227. 
9  Ibid. 
8  MS. Calderwood, fol. 1225. 	4  Ibid. 
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the Raid of Ruthven, occurred the' death of Buchanan, 
a man justly entitled to the epithet great, if the true 
criteria of such a character are originality of genius, 
and the impression left by it upon his age. 	.His 
intellect, naturally fearless and inquisitive, caught an 
early and eager hold of the principles of the Reformae 
thin; and having gone abroad, and fallen into the toils' 
of the inquisition, persecution completed what nature 
had begun. 	In politics he was a republican;, and his 
famous treatise "De Jure Regni apud Scotos," was 
the first work which boldly and eloquently advocated 
thoae principles of popular liberty, then almost new, 
and now so familiar to Europe. 	In 'religion he was 
at first. a leveller, and with the keen and vindictive 
temper which distinguished him, exerted every effort 
to overthrow the Roman Catholic Church; ,but, in his 
later years, when the struggle took place • between 
.Episcopacy and irresbyteriapisinl his sentiments be-
came more moderate or indifferent ; and latterly he 
took no part in those busy intrigues of the Kirk and 
its supporters, which terminated in the Raid of Ruth- 
yen. 	Of his poetical works, so varied in style and so 
excellent in execution,-  it is difficult to speak too 
highly; for seldom did a finer and more impassioned 
vein of poetry flow through a Latinity that, without 
servile imitation, approached so near to the Augustan 
age, 	In his history of his native country he is great, 
but unequal: his was not the age of severe and criti-
cal investigation; the school in which he studied was 
that of Livy and the historians of ancient Rome, hi 
which individuality and truth is often lost in the 
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breadth and generality of its pictures. 	But in their 
excellencies, he has equalled and sometimes surpassed 
them. 	The calm flow ,of his narrative, his lucid ar- 
rangement, the strong sense, originality, and depth of 
his reflections, and the ease and vigour of his unshackled 
style, need not.  dread a, comparison with the best au- 
thors of the ancient world. 	The point where he fails 
is that where they too are weakest—the cardinal virtue 
of truth.. It is melancholy to find so much fable em-
balmed and made attractive in his earlier annals; and 
when he descends later, and writes as a contemporary, 
it is easy to detect that party spirit and unhappy 
obliquity of vision, which distorts or will not see the 
truth. 	In an interesting letter quoted by the best of 
his biographers,' and written not long before his death, 
he tells his friend, that having reached his seventy-
fifth year, and struck upon that rock beyond which 
nothing remains for man but labour and. sorrow, it 
was his only care to remove out of the world with as 
little noise as possible. 	With this view he abstracted 
himself from all public business ; left the Court at. 
Stirling, and retired to Edinburgh; where, on the 28th 
September, 1582, his wishes were almost too literally 
fulfilled : for amid the tumult and agitation which 
succeeded the Raid of Ruthven, his death took place 
in his 76th year, unnoticed, unrecorded, and accom-
panied by such destitution, that he left not enough to 
defray his funeral. 	IIe was buried at the public 
expense in the cemetery of the Grey Friars : but his 

. 
1 Irving's Life of Buchanan, p. 273. 
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country gave him no monument; and at this day the 
spot is unknown where rest the ashes .of one of the 
gTeatest of her sons.' 

Soon after the death of Buchanan, the General 
Assembly met.  at Edinburgh on the 9th October; and 
the noblemen who had engaged in the enterprise at 
Ruthven, having laid before this great ecclesiastical 
Council their " Declaration" of the grounds on which 
they acted, received, to their-satisfaction, the cordial 
approval of the Kirk. 	Nor was this all: the Assembly 
issued their orders, that every minister throughout • 
the kingdom should justify the action, and explain %o 
his congregation the imminent perils from which it 
had delivered religion, the Commonwealth, and the 
King's person ; and not satisfied even with this, it 
determined to institute a rigid prosecution of all 
persons who presumed to express a different opinion.' 
But although thus resolute in the support of the Ruth- 
Ten confederates, as far as concerned their seizure of 
the King, the ministers severely rebuked the same • 
noblemen for the prOfligacy of their lives, and their 
sacrilegious appropriation of the ecclesiastical reve- 
nues. 	Davison the minister of . Libberton, in his 
conference with Gowrie and his friends, called loudly 
on them to begin their reformation of the Common-
wealth with a thorough reform of their sinful and 

I Irving's Life of Buchanan, .p. 309. 	Thero appears to have 
been placed over his grave a common flat stone or head stone, with 
some inscription; but this, from neglects  was in process of years 
covered up by weeds and soil, and the spot where it once was is 
not now known. 

2  MS. Calderwood, fol. 1232, 3, 4 ; also fol. 1236. 
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abominable conversation, p011uted as it was by swear-
ing, lust, and oppression ; and to show the sincerity 
of their repentance by resigning the teinds into the 
hands of their true owners;' whilst Craig, in preach-
ing before the Court, drew tears from the eyes of the 
young monarch by the severity of his rebuke? 

About this time Sir Robert Bowes, the English 
Ambassador at Edinburgh, having learnt that the 
celebrated casket, which contained the disputed letters 
of Mary to Bothwell, had tome, in the late troubles, 
into the possession of the_Earl of Gowrie, communi- 
cated-the intelligence to Elizabeth. 	By her anxious 
and repeated orders he exerted himself to obtain it ; 
but without success. 	Gowrie at first . equivocated, 
and was unwilling to admit the fact; but when Bowes 
convinced him that he had certain proof of it, 'he 
changed his ground, alleging that such precious papers 
could not be delivered to Elizabeth without the special 
directions of the King. 	This was absurd, for James 
at this moment was a mere cipher ; but the leader 
in the late revolution did not choose to part with 
papersi,vhich, in his busy and intriguing career, he might 
one day turn to his advantage.3 	Gowrie's is the last 
hand into which we can trace these famous letters, 
which have since totally disappeared. 

1 MS. Calderwood, fol. 1227. 
2  Ibid. fol. 1228. 
3  The letters of Bowes, upon this subject, tire preserved in his 

original Letter-Book, now before me, and kindly communicated by 
Sir Cuthbert Sharpe. Very full extracts from them were printed 
by Robertson, in his last edition, from copies sent him by Birch. 
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The situation of James was now'pitiable and de- 
grading. 	He hated the faction who had possession. 
of his person; but terror for his.  life Compelled hit to 
dissemble, and convinced him, that to gain delay and 
throw his enemies off their guard by appearing re-
conciled' to the dismissal of Lennox, was the surest 
step to a recovery of his liberty. 	The most anxious 
wish of his heart was to see the Duke restored to 
his former power; but to betray this how, would, he 
thought, he to bring his favourite into more imminent 
peril; whilst if he allowed him to retire for a short 
season tti France, he might not only escape ruin, but 
return with renewed influence and power. 	There 
were some friends of Lennox, on the other hand, who 
exhorted him strongly to attack his enemies, and 
assured him that every day spent in inactivity, added 
strength to their position and weakened his own ; 
whereas .if he boldly -faced the danger, they were 
ready to assemble a force sufficient to overwhelm 
Gowrie, and rescue the king. 	These so far prevailed, 
that on one of the dark nights of December,; it was 
resolved to attack the Palace of llolyrood, massacre 
the ltuthven lords, and carry off the King ; but the 
ministers, and Sir George Bowes the English Am-
bassador, sounded the alarm ; a strong watch was 
kept ; and although Fernyhirst, Maxwell, Sir John. 
Seton, and other barons, were known to have joined 
Lennox, and parties of horsemen were seen hoverbig 
all night round the city, the enterprise, from some 

I On the 4th December, 1582, 
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unknown cause was abandoned, and the K ing remained 
4 prisoner.' 	. 	, 

This failure was a triumph to the opposite faction, 
who lost, no time in following up the advantage. 	A 
letter .was sent to the Duke, to which the King had 
been compelled to ,put his name, charging him with 
disturbing the government, and recklessly endangering 
the safety of the royal person ; whilst a Herald was 
despatched to command  him, in the name of the 
Council, instantly to leave the country upon pain of 
treason.' 	This order, after many- vain pretexts 
and fruitless delays, he at last obeyed; having jirst 
sent a passionate remonstrance to his royal master, 
against the cruelty and injustice with which he had 
been treated.3 	On his road to London, (for he had 
obtained permission to pass through England into 
France,) he encountered two ambassadors who were 
posting to the Scottish Court: La Motte, who carried 
a message from the King of France; -and Davison, 
wini was commissioned by Elizabeth to examine the 
state of parties in Scotland and cooperate with 
Bowes in strengthening the Ruthven faction. 	It 

1 MS. Calderwood, fol. 1244, 1245; also MS. Letter, 8ir George 
Bowes to Walsingbapi, 6th December, 1582, which gives an in- 
teresting account of the intended attempt. 	It was proposed to slay 
the Earl of Mar, the Abbot of Dunfermline, the Prior of Blantyre, 
and Mr John Colvile. 	Bowes Letter-Book. 

2  MS. Letter, Sir George Bowes to Walsingham, 9th Decent- 
her, 1582. 	Bowes' Letter-Book. 

3  MS. Letter, St. P. Off. Endorsed by Cecil, "From the Duke 
of Lennox to the Scottish King: from Dumbarton, 16th December," 
1582. 
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was the anxious desire of the English Queen that no 
communication should take place between La Motte 
and the Duke, as she, had received secret information 
that this Frenchman came to promote the great scheme 
of an " association " between Mary and her son, by 
which she was nominally to be joined with him in the 
government, whilst he was to retain the title of King.1  
It was believed, also, that he was empowered to 
propose a marriage between the young King and a 
daughter of France; and to strengthen the Catholic 
party by promises of speedy support. 	Walsingham, 
therefore, threw every delay in the way of the French 
Ambassador ; and he acted so successfully, that La 
Motte found all his purposes counteracted. 	He was 
eager to hurry into Scotland before Lennox had left 
it; but matters were so managed, that they only met 
on the road; and here, too, Davison, who had received 
his lesson, took care that their conference should-  be 
of the briefest description.' 	Lennox then passed on 
to London, and the French and English Ambassadors 
held their way for Scotland. 

Meanwhile, the Ruthven lords, with their allies the 
ministers of the Kirk, were now much elated by the 
triumph over Lennox ; and Bowes, in a letter to 
AValsingham, assured the Secretary, that Elizabeth 
might have them all at her devotion if she would but 

1 MS. St. P. Off. Jan. 20, r5s 2-3,"Article presentee par la Motte." 
9  MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	Davison to Burghley, 3d January, 

1582. 	Also MS. Letter, St. P. Off, 	Sir W. Mildmay to Wal- 
singbam, 29th December, 1582. 	Also MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 
Burghley or Walsingham to Mr Bowes, 4th January, 1582-3. 

   
  



1582-a. 	 JAMES VI. 	 143 

advance the money necessary for their contentment 
, 	and the support of the King.' 	They selected Mr 

John Colvile, who had acted a principal part in the late 
revolution, to proceed as ambassador to the English 
Queen. 	He came nominally from the King of Scots, 
but really from them, and brought letters to Walsing-
ham from Gowrie, Mar, the Prior of Blantyre, and 
the Abbot of Dunfermline, the great leaders of that 
party. 	On his arrival at Court, he found there 
his old antagonist the Duke of Lennox, who had 
brought a letter•and a message to Elizabeth from the 
king of Scots. 	This princess had, at first, refused 
to see him under any circumstances ; but afterwards 
admitted him to a private interview, in which, to use 
the homely but expressive phrase of Calderwood the 
historian of the, Kirk, "she rattled him up,"2  address-
ing to him, at first, many cutting speeches on his 
misgovernment; to which the Duke replied with so 
much gentleness and good sense, that she softened 
down before they parted and dismissed him courte-
ously.3  

During Lennox's brief residenCe in London, Secre-
tary Walsingham exerted the utmost efforts to dis-
cover his real sentiments on religion ; as the ministers 
of the Kirk insisted that, notwithstanding his professed . 

1  MS. Letter, St. P. Off. Bowes to Walsingham, about the 18th 
December, 1582. 

2  The interview took place on Monday, 14th January, 1582-3. 
!%IS. Calderwood, fol. 1250. 

8  MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	(Fowler, I think) to Walbing- 
ham, January, 1582-3. 
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conversion, he continued a Roman Catholic at.heart; 
and that the whole .principles of his government had 
been,. and would continue to be, hostile to Englan d. 	It 
is curious to observe by what low devices, andwith what 
complete success, the English Secretary became.pos-
sessed of Lennox's most secret feelings and opinion% 
There wasat the English Court one Mr William Fowler, 
a gentleman of Scottish extraction, and apparently 
connected with the Duke, who admitted, him into 
his secret confidence. 	Fowler, at the same time, 
had insinuated himself into the good graces of Man} 1 
vissiere, the resident French Ambassador at the Court 
of Elizabeth ; and, by. pretending a devoted attach-
ment to French interests and the cause of the captive 
Queen of Scots, he had become acquainted with much • 
of the intentions and intrigues of Mary and her friends. 
This man was a spy of Walsingham's; and his letters 
to this statesman, detailing his secret conversations 
with Lennox and Mauvissiere, have been preserved. 
The picture which they present is striking. 	In their 
first interview', Lennox showed much satisfaction. 
" Your mother's house," said he to Fowler, "was the 
first I entered,• in coming to Scotland, and the last I 
quitted, in leaving the country." 	The Duke then told 
him that the French Ambassador was not in London, 
but had been sent for suddenly to Court. 	This was a 
trick, he added, to prevent a meeting between him 
and Mauvissiere ; and he heard, also, that the Queen 
of England would not see him; but, in truth, he had 
little to say to her, except to complain of the conduct 
of her ambassador in,Scotland. At this moment their 
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conference was broken off by some of the courtiers, 
who appeared dissatisfied that they should talk to-
gether; and the Master of Livingston, who was in the 
confidence of Lennox and his friends, joined the party. 
Fowler, upon this, took Livingston aside, and express-
ed his astonishment that the Duke should have left 
Scotland when he could muster so strong a party 

-against his enemies. 	Livingston replied, that Lennox 
knew both his own strength and the King's good will; 
but that hehad been forced to leave Scotland, "because 
the King mistrusted very much his own life and safety; 
having been sharply threatened by the lords, that, if he 
did not cause the Duke to depart, he should not be the 
longest liver of them all."' Arran, it appeared, had also 
written to James, assuring him that the only surety 
for his life was to send Lennox out of Scotland; and 
Fowler, in his secret meetings with Mauvissiere the 
French Ambassador, had the address to elicit from 
him, and communicate to Walsingham, the intended 
policy of France. 	La Motte Fenelon had been sent, 
he said, to renew the old league with Scotland.; to 
offer succour to the.  young King, if he found him in 
captivity, and a guard for the security of his person; 
to promise pensions to the principal noblemen in 
Scotland, as they had in Cardinal I3eaton's time; and, 
if possible, to advise a marriage with Spain. 	As to 
James's religions sentiments, Lennox had assured 
Mauvissiere that the young King was so constant to 
the reformed faith, that he would lose his life rather 

1  Fowler b Walsingham, Jan. 5, 1382-3. 	MS. Letter, St. 
P. Oft. 	Fowler used a mark, or eiplior, for hi., name. 

VOL. VIII. 	 L 

   
  



14d 	 HISTORY OF SCOTLAND. 	1582-3. 
• 

than forsake it; and when the ambassador asked the 
Duke whetherhe, too, was a Huguenot, he declared that 
he professed the same faith as his royal master.' 

At the same time that he thus fathomed the schemes 
of Lennox and the French Court, Walsingham had 
secured and corrupted another agent of the captive 
Queen, who, on the discovery of his practices with 
Mary and the English Catholics,. had, as we have 
above seen, been thrown into .prison by Elizabeth. This 
was the noted Archibald Douglas, a man of consider- 
able ability and restless intrigue. 	It had been pro- 
posed by Lennox to bring Douglas back to Scotland, 
and employ his power and talents against the English 
faction and the Kirk; but the young King had shrunk 
from receiving a man stained with his father's blood: 
and the prisoner, anxious for his freedom, was ready 
to purchase it by betraying the secrets of his royal 
mistress; and now plotted against her with the same 
activity which he had exerted in her behalf.2 	We 
shall soon perceive the success of this base scheme, 
and its fatal influence upon the fate of Mary. 

In the meantime, Elizabeth gave an audience to 
Colvile the Ambassador of Gowrie and the Kirk, and 
assured him of her entire approval of their spirited 
proceedings against Lennox. 	She cautioned him, in 
strong terms, against French intrigues; observing, that 
though the King promised fair, yet, as the recent 
conspiracy for seizing his person plainly showed, 

1  Fowler to Walsingham, 19th January' 1582-3. 	Also same 	. 
(as I think) to Walsingham, January, 1582-3. 

— 	 1582-3. 2  St. P. Off. 	to Walsingham, January, 
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"Satanas non dormit;" and she concluded by a general 
assurance .of support, and a promise to restore Archi-
bald Douglas to his native country, as soon as he had 
cleared himself from the accusations against him in 
England.1 	Scotland, during these transactions, must 
have been in a state of extraordinary excitement : it 
was a busy stirring stage,mpon which the young King, 
the ministers of the Kirk, the French Ambassador, 
and Gowrie, with the rest of the Ruthven lords, acted 
their different 	parts with 	the utmost 	zeal 	and 
activity. 	James, whom necessity bad made an adept 
in political hypocrisy, or, as he sometimes styled it, 
King-craft, pretended to be completely reconciled to 
the departure of Lennox, and said nothing against 
-theviolent conduct of his opponents; whilst he secretly 
plotted for the recall of his favourite, and anticipated 
the moment when he should resume his liberty, and 
take an ample revenge upon his enemies. 	The min- 
isters, on their side, deemed the season too precious 
to be neglected; they had expelled the man whomthey 
considered the emissary of Antichrist, the young 
King's, person was in the hands of their friends, and 
they determined that he should remain so. 

Such being the state of things, the arrival of 
Monsieur de Menainville the French Ambassador, and 
his request to have a speedy audience of the King, 
aroused them to instant action. • From the pulpits 
resounded the notes of warning and alarm.: France 
was depicted as the stronghold of idolatry ; the 

i St. P. Off.; I8th Jan., 1582-3. 	Her Majesty's Answer to Mr 
Colvife's Negotiation. 
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French King pointed out as the Tiger Who glutted, 
himself with the blood .of God's people ; it 'became, 
amongst them a matter of serious debateivhether it were, 
lawful to receive .any ambassador from an idolator; 
and when the more 'violent could not • carry • their) 
wishes, and it was decided that, 'fin matters politick,", 
such a, messenger might 1)e peimitted Ito enter the, 
kingdom*, 'a Committee was• appointed to wait` upon 
the young King; and. tread hint i, solemn lessOntOf 
admOnition.1  " lit this. int6rvie* James behaved with, 
spirit, and proved a match in theological and political,  
ciintroversy for' the diVines who came to instruct him., 
These' were,-  Pont; Lawson, Lindsay, and Davison 4 
and, on entering theroyal cabinet, they fouwl GowrieJ 
the Justice-clerk, and others of the Council, with the 
King, who thanked them for their advice, but observed 
that he Was bound 'by the law,of nations to use cow.; 
tag to all ambassadors. 	Should an envoy come front 
the Pope, or even from the Turk, still ho must receivd 
him. 	This Lawson stoutly controverted ; but the 
King not only maintained his point, but took occasion 
to blame the abuse 'with which this minister had•-as- 
sailed the French monarch. 	"As for that,",said thevi 
"the priests speak worse of your Gracd in France,than 
we of the King of Fronde in Scotland."--," And must 
yo irhitate them in evil?? retorted James.4,—" Not iit 
evil," -was their dnswer, "but in liberty, , It iS as 
fair for us to speak the truth boldly, as they boldly 
speak lees ;2  and if we wore silent, the chronicles . 

i MS. Calderwood, pp. 1247, 1231, iveluiive, Brit.Mus. 
I " Lees"—lies; 
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would speak and reprove it.".-:....,,,  Chronicles," said 
James, " ye .write hot histories, when .ye preach." 
Upon which Davison whispered in Lawson's ear, 
that preachers had• mire authority to declare, the 
truth in Breaching, than any historiographer in the 
World. 	Gowrie then observed, that as hasty a rid-
dance as might be, should he got of the French Am-
bassadors; and the. ministers took their leave, .but 
Davison lingeied for a Moment behind his.brethren,, 
craved a private word in the King's ear, and remon= 
strated sotto voce against his profane. custom .of 
swearing in the course of his argument. 	f‘ Sir," said, 
he, "I thought goiii to advertise you, but. not before 
the rest, that ye swore and took„God's name in vain 
too often in your speeches." 	James was nowise dis- 

• Pleased with this honest freedom ; but,. accompany-
ing the reverend monitor to the door of the Cabinet;  
put his hand lovingly upon his Shoulder, expressed 
his thanks for the reproof, and, above all, lauded hint 
for the unusually quiet manner in which it had been 
administered.' 

No such reserve or delicacy, however, was showir 
by the ministers to the French Ambassadors ; and 
Monsieur de Menainville--a man of great spirit—
was compelled to vindicate their privileges in his first 
public audience. 	It had been debated by the Kirk, 
with a reference to their arrival, whether private 
masses should be permitted under any circumstances; 
and aware of this, he had scarcely risen from kissing 

1 MS. Caldcrwood, fol. 1250, 1252. 
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the King's hand, when he put on his cap, and boldly 
claimed the privileges which belonged to his office. 
" I am come," said he, " from the most Christian 
King of France, my Sovereign, to offer all aid .to the 
establishment of quietness; and -being an.AmbnAsa,- 
dor, and not a subject, I- crave to be treated as such; 
and as I have food allotted for my body, so do I 
require to be allowed the food of my soul,—I mean 
the Mass; which if it is denied me, I may not stay 
and suffer a Christian Prince's authority and embassy 
to be violated in my person."' 	This spirited address 
made much noise at the .time ; and drew from Mr 
James Lawson, on the succeeding Sabbath, a coun-
terblast of defiance,,in which, seizing the opportunity.  
of elucidating the' mission of the king of Babylon, 
he " pointed out the French ambassage," and de-
nounced Mons. de Menainville as the counterpart of 
the blasphemous and railing Rabshakeh. 	Nor was 
this all : the indignation of the Kirk was roused to 
a still higher pitch, when the King commanded the 
magistrates of the capital to give (as had been usual in 
such 'cases) a farewell banquet to De la Motte Fenelon. 
This Ambassador now proposed to return to France, 
leaving his colleague, Monsieur de Menainville, to 
watch over the interests of that kingdom in Scotland; 
and nothing could equal the abuse and opprobrious 
terms which were employed, to convince men of the 
horror of such a proposal. 	Even the sacred orna-
ment of the Cross, which La Motte, who was  a 

) MS. Caldenvood, fol. 1233, 
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Knight of the Order of " Saint- Esprit," wore upon 
his mantle, was described as the badge of Antichrist; 
and when the influence of the ministers was found 
insufficient to stay the feast, a solemn fast was pro--
claimed for the same day, to continue as long as the 
alleged profane entertainment was enacting. 	At 
this moment, the scene presented by the capital was 
extraordinary.• 	On one side the King and his cour- 
tiers indulging in mirth and festive carousal; whilst, 
on the other, was 'heard the thunder of the Kirk, and 
its ministers " crying out all evil, slanderous, and in.-
jurious words that could be spoken against France ;" 
and threatening with anathema and excommunica-
tion the citizens who had dared to countenance the 
unhallowed feast.' 

Meanwhile the King became every day more weary 
of his captive condition; and secretly favoured the 
efforts of De Menainville, who remained in Scotland, 
and spared neither money nor promises in drawing 
together a faction against Gowrie and his associates. 
It 'vas necessary;  however, to act slowly and with 
great caution, for the keen eyes of Bowes and Davi-
son, Elizabeth's agents at the Scottish Court, early 
detected these intrigues. 	Walsingham, too, was in. 
formed of the frequent communications which took 
place between the captive Queen and her SOU; and 
his spies and agents on the continent sent him, almost 
daily, information of the correspondence of the Eng-
lish refugees and foreign Catholics with their friends 

1  Spottisw'ood, p. 324. 	Ilistorie of James the Sex t, pp. 1 PG, 197. 
MS. Caldorwood, p. 1953. 
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in England,!. 	Had Elizabeth seconded, as was ale" 
gessary, the indefatigable efforts of her ministers,,  it* 
can hardly be doubted that, she, would have ro'ver-,  
thrown the efforts of France; ,but her parsimony was: 
so excessive,' that Walsingham found himself_ coni-i 
pelled to renounce many advantages which. tie slight- 
est sacrifice of money, would have secured. 	It was: 
in, `aim that she commanded ,Bowes and DavisOn,lo) 
remonstrate with ,the .Toung King,n—to , warn him 4 
the confederacies•of foreign Princes against religion,' 
--to ,point-  out ;the great forces • lately raised in 
France,,—to 'declare her astonishment at his, suffering 
the insolence of De Allenainville, and receiving, as She,  
heard lie had done, with complacency, the congratu-L, 
lAtions of La Motte on his intended " Association'; 
with his mother, the, Queen -of Scots. • It was in vain 
that she expressed.her alarm at the report which hadl 
reached her, that he meant to recall, the Duke of, 
Lennox, from. France, and restore the Earl of Arran, 
to his liberty; in Vain that she begged him to peruse 
the letter written to hinrwith her own hand, express-
ing her opinion of that turbulent man whose ambition 
knew no limits, and would inevitably cast Lis State 
into /10 N'.  troubles. 	These remonstrances James, idol 
was an early adept in diplomatic hypocrisy,-received 
with expressions of gratitude and devotedness; ibuti 
they -did, not in the slightest degree alter his efforts'. 
to regain iisfreedom,and strengthen his party; whilst,: 

1  MS. CeaItierwood, fol. 1254. 
1  OHg. Minute, St. P. Off.; Walsingham to Bowes, 2d 1414, 

16e24, 	Also, St. P..Of1:4 same to same4 27th Feb.4 1682,4, 	i 

   
  



1582-3. 	 wits vr. 	 153 

with a talent,  and sagacity superior •to his' years, he 
controlled the more violent of his 'friends, forbade all 
sudden movements, and calmly watched for. a favour-
able moment .to put. forth his 1strength, and resume 
his freedom. 	 ,, 
-. This 'patience, indeed, was still 'necessary ; for, 
although gradually losing ground, the strength of 
Gowrie, and,  the faction of the ' Kirk, was yet .too 
powerful for their.opp.  aunts; and a tionvention haV-
ing been held by theme in the 'capital, (18th. April,. 
1583,) 'it was resolved 	to -asseinble Parliament.  
Against this measure James, who dreaded -thetpio-
scription of his friends,iand the total overthrow of his 
designs, remonstrated in the strongest term's, and even 
to tears, when his request was denied. 	He prevailed 
so far, however, as to have the meeting of the three 
Estates delayed till October ; and cheerfully consent-
ed that a friendly embassy should he despatched 
to England. 	To • this service, two persons of 'very 
opposite principles were appointed : Colonel Stewart, 
the brother of the Earl of Arran, Who was Much in 
the Ring's.  confidence, and had been bribed by De 
Menainville; and Mr John Colvile, who was attached 
to Gowrie and the Ituthven lords. 	Their open in-
structions were to communicate to Elizabeth, from 
the King; the measures he had adopted for the secu- 
rity and tranquillity . of • his realm ; 	to request her 
approval and assistance; to move_ her to -restore the 
lands in England which belonged to his grandfather, 
the Earl of Lennox, and the Countess of Lennox, his 
grandmother, and .to have some consultation on hiss 
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marriage' 	They were, lastly, enjoined to make strict 
inquiry,  whether any act was contemplated in preju-
dice of his succession to the English Crown, and, if 
possible, to ascertain the Queen's own feelings.  upon 
this delicate subjeCt.2 	De Menainville, the French 
Ambassador, still lingered in Scotland, although he 
• had received his answer, and applied for his passports ;3  
but the . King was unwilling that he should leave 
Court before he had completely organiied the scheme 
for his delivery. 	Of all these intrigues Walsingham 
was fully aware : for De la Motte Fenelon, in pass-
ing .through London,' had informed Fowler of the 
great coalition against the Ruthven lords; and Fowler, 
of whose treacherous practices the Ambassador had 
no suspicion, told all again to Walsingham.5 	It 
appeared, from these revelations, that La Motto had 
in his pocket, to-be presented to his master the French 
King, a list of the most powerful- noblemen in Scot-
land who had banded together for the King's delivery. 
These were the Earls of Huntley, Arran, Athol, Mon-
trose, Rothes, Morton, Eglinton, Bothwell, Glencairn, 
and Crawford, with the Lords Hume and Seton. 
The young King himself had secretly assured La 
Motte Fenelon, "that, although he .had two eyes, 
two ears, and two hands, he had but one heart, and 

1 MS. 	Calderwood, fol. 	1237. 	St. 	P. Off., 	April, 	1583, 
Instructions to Colonel Stewart. 

5  Instructions to Colonel Stewart, ut supra. 
3  Calderwood, MS., fol. 1265. 	 . 
i La Motto arrived in London about the 20th Feb., 1582-3. 

St. P. Off., Walsingham to Bowes, 20th Feb., 1582-3. 
5  Si. P. Off., Fowler to Walsingliam, 28th March, 1583. 
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that was French ;"1  and so ,successfully had De 
Menainville laboured, that he had not only strength.. 
ened his own faction, but sown such distrust and 
jealousy amongst their opponents, that Gowrie, their 
chief leader, began to tremble for. his safety, and 
vacillate in his fidelity to his former associates.° 
• At this moment, Rocio Bandelli, Menainville's 
confidential servant, who was carrying his letters to 
Mauvissiere, his brother Ambassador at the English 
Court, betrayed his trust, opened the despatches, and 
gave copies of them to Sir Robert Bowes, who im-
mediately communicated their contents to Walsing- 
ham. 	The young King, it appeared by their contents, 
had been urged to explode the mine, and at once 
destroy the lords who held him in durance ; but he 
dreaded to lose Elizabeth's favour, and was convinced 
that a premature attempt would ruin all. 	His wish 
was to dissemble matters till the return of his Am-
bassadors, Colonel Stewart- and Colvile, from the 
mission to England, and they had not yet left Scot- 
land. 	Mauvissiere, in the meantime, had warned 
Menainville, that Stewart, whose passion was money, 
was likely to betray him ; and his reply is so charac-
teristic that I insert it : " As to him who comes into 
England, (he means Stewart,) all your reasons, as far 
as my judgment goes, militate against your own. 

1  St. P. Off., Walsingham to Davison and Bowes, 9th March, 
1582-3. 	Orig. Minute. 

2  St. P. Ofr, Copie de la Premiere Lettre. 	Endorsed, Menain-
ville to La Motte ; but I think the letter is written to Mauvisaiore, 
28th March, 1583. 
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opinion. 	For if it is his trade to be treacheroils to 
all the world, why should he be .iinfaittftil to me 
more than to any other ? 'He loved money i granted ; 
but to take my gold does riot binder him from receiv-
ing another's. • May we' not hope, that siicli a inan • 
will do more for .two suns than for one ? 	He is a 
party man. 	I 'admit it ; but shoW me any man who 
has his own fortune at heart, and does not trim with 
the times ? 	His chief interest lies in England, believe 
me, much less than in another place which you wot 
of, where he may hope to gain more by a certain way 
in which I have instructed him, (and which he Will 
show you,) than by any other service• in the world. 
For the rest, the game is a good game.' 	. 

It must have been tantalizing to Walsingham, whose 
unceasing exertions had thus detected the plots of 
the French Court in Scotland, to find that all their 
efforts.  to defeat them, and keep the English party 

' together, were ruined by Elizabeth's extreme parsi- 
mony. 	In other matters, not involving expense, she • 
was active and vigorous enough. 	Holt, the 3esuit, 
who was engaged in secret transactions with the 
Scottish Catholics, had been seized at Leith ; and 
Elizabeth strongly recommended that he should be; 
As she expressed it, 	"substantially examined, add 
forced, by torture," to distover all he knew! 	She 
Wrote to Gowrie, and to the young King ;2  she urged 

I Copy, St. P. Off. 	Menainville to Mauvissiere, 28th March, 
1583. 	The original is in French. 	Also, St. P. Off., Bowes to 
Walsingham, 28th March, 1583. 

2 St4 P. Off, Walsingham to Bowes, 15th April, 1583. 
' MS. St. P. Off.,(cowrie to Elizabeth, 24th April, 1583. 
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her busy agent, Bowes, to press Igenainville's depar, 
ture ; abut the moment that Burghley.the Lord Chan-
cellor, and Walsingham; recommended the instant 
advance of ten thousand pounds to counteract the 
French influence in .Scotland, "she -did utterly mis-' 
like such a point, (to use Walsingham's words,) be- 
cause it cast her into charges."' 	Of this sum one 
half was to be giyen to the young King, and the rest 
expended upon the nobility, and the entertainment of 
a resident minister at the Scottish Court; but, when 
moved .in the business, the Queen woula not advance 
a farthing. 	. 

About this same time, and shortly before the Scot, 
tish Ambassadors set out for England, the captive 
Queen of Scots, worn out with her long imprisonment, 
and weary of the perpetual dangers and anxieties to 
which the efforts of the Catholic party exposed her, 
renewed her negotiations with Elizabeth. 	Some 
months before this she had addressed a pathetic and 
eloquent appeal to* that Princess, imploring her to 
abate the rigour of her confiaement, to withdraw her 
support from the rebels who kept her son in durance, 
and to listen, to the sincere offers she had so repeat, 
edlymade for an accommodation. Some of the passages 
in this letter were so touchingly expressed, that it is 
difficult to believe even the cold and politic heart of 
the English Queen could have been insensible to them; 
but there were others so cuttingly ironical, and at the 
same time so true, that wo cannot wonder the epistle 

1 MS. St. P. Nr., Walsingham to Bowes, 211 Afarrh, 1.1.2  3. 
Also, Fowler to Walsingharn, .'t. P. Off., April, 1583. 
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remained, 'for a considerable time, 'unanswered.' 	At 
length, however, Elizabeth despatched Mr Beal, one 
of her confidential servants, a strict Puritan, and a 
man of severe saturnine temper, to confer with, the 
imprisoned Queen. 	It may be doubted whether she 
had any serious intentions of listening to Mary : but 
she was anxious, before she received the Ambassadors, 
Stewart and Colvile, to probe her feelings, and ascer-
tain how far there existed any mutual confidence 
between her and her son; and Beal's letters to Wal- 
Singiiap present us with an interesting picture of this 
conference. 	Lord Shrewsbury had been associated 
with him- in the negotiation, of which he gave this 
account to the English Secretary : " Since our last 
despatch," said he, "this Earl and I have once re-
paired unto this lady; and whilst he went out to meet 
some gentleman of the country at the cockfight, it 
pleased her to spend some part of the afternoon in 
talk with me, of sundry matters of the Estate of 
Scotland. 	* 	* 	In conclusion*, she solemnly pro- 
tested, before Nau,2  that she and her son would do 
anything they could to deserve her Majesty's favour; 
and said that she was not so irreligious and careless 
of her honour and the force of an oath, as either 
before God or man she should be found to break that 
-which she had promised; and she added, that she was 
now old, and that it was not for her now to seek any 
ambition or great estate, either in the one realm or 
the other; as in her youth she might; but only desired 
to live the rest of the small time of her life, in quiet- 

] It will be round with a translation in Whitaker, vol. iv. p. 401. 
2  Monsieur Nau, Mary's secretary. 
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ness, in some honourable sort: she said she was dis- . 
eased .and subject to many sicknesses, • albeit, these 
many winters, she never was so well as she was this. 
She had a great heart which had preserved her, and 
desired now to be at rest, by- the making of some 
good accord with her-Majesty, her son, and herself." 

Beal then told Mary that, in his opinion, such an 
agreement or association as .had been contemplated 
was not desired in Scotland, neither by the young 
King nor the nobility. 
' 	" For the nobility," said she, "all that might hinder 
it are already gone. 	I have offended none of them 
which are now remaining; and therefore I doubt not 
but they will like thereof. 	These are principally to 
be doubted: Lindsay, Gowrie, Lochleven, Mar, and 
Angus. 	Lindsay is .a hasty man, and was never 
thought to be of any great conduct or wit; and if he 
would do anything to the contrary, the way to win 
him -was, to suffer him to have a few glorious words 
in the beginning, and afterwards he would be wrought ' 
well enough. 	In the association passed between her 
and her son," she said, " all former offences done to her 
were pardoned;" adding, "that whatsoever account 
her Majesty now maketh of Gowrie, his letters unto 
the Duke of Guise, sent by. one Paul, which brought' 
certain horses unto her son into Scotland, can declare 
that he will yield unto anything: she marvelleth how 
her Majesty dare trust him;" and said, "that because 
the Earl Morton did not, in a particular controversy 
that was between him and Lord Oliphant, do what 
he would, he was the cause of his death. * * There- 
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fore," she said, "there vas no stability or trust in him. 
Lochleven.hath (as she said) made his peace already. 
—Mar washer God-child, arid, in her opinion, like to 
prove a coward' and a naughty-natured boy: 	* 	* 
Angus had neveroffended her, and therefore she wished 
him no.  evil; but his: sirnarne' never had, been friends, 
to the Stewarts, and she knew the King,  her son 
loved him not. 	* 	* 	Touching her son," she oh- 4  
served, " that he was cunning enough riot to declare 
himself openly;  in .respect of his surety and danger 
of his life, being in his enemies' hands; and what," said 
she, "will, you say if his own letters can be showed to 	i 
that effect ?" 	* 	* 	On another occasion, some days 	, 
later, she confirmed this ; observing, that, although 
James might appear to be satisfied with Gowrie and 
the rest, he only-dissembled and waited his time, and 
must seek seine foreign support if he did hot embrace 
England, as he was too poor a King to stand alone 
against such a nobility; besides, Monsieur La Motte 
had told, her he was well grown, and his marriage 
could not be dcla.yed more than a year or two. 	"His 
father was married when he was but nineteen years 
old, and the Duke of Lorrain when he was hat , six- 
tee!). 	* 	* 	As to herself, she was sure, (she said,). 
of a great party amongst the Scottish nobles, and had 
a hundred of their bands to maintain her :Cause, oil 
the occurring of any good opportunity : 	yet she 
desired no ambitious estate, either in that country or 
this, but only her Majesty's favour, and liberty." 

1 MS. St. P. Off. Papers of Mary Queen of Scots, April 17th, 
1583. Lord Shrewsbury am! Mr Beal to WalsinglIam. 	Also 2:Irl 
April, 1583; same to same. 
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Elizabeth, having thus elicited as much as possible 
from Mary, and even procured from the captive Prin-
cess' some offers which might open, the-  way to the 
recovery of her liberty, communicated all that had 
passed • to Bowes, her Ambassador at the Scottish 
Court; and commanded him, in a secret interview 
with the young King, to sound- his feelings regarding 
the restoration of his mother to liberty, and her 
association with himself in the government 	The 
matter *as to be 'managed with the utmost Secrecy: 

- and The English• Queen was so anxious to receive an 
instant answer,-that Walsingham recommended Bowes 
to set a gallows upon the packet, as he had done on 
his own ; a significant hint sometimes given in those 
tinier to dilatory couriers.' 	In'all this, Elizabeth had 
no serious intention of either delivering'her Captive, 
or permitting her to -be associated with her son: her 
wish was to defeat the whole scheme; by making the 
young Prince jealous of his mother; and in this she 
appears to have succeeded. 	It is certain, at least, that 
in his secret interview -with the English ambassador, 
James expressed himself with much suspicion and 
selfishness; -and when Bowes showed him' the paper 
containing Mary's offers to Elizabeth, he animadverted 
upon them with so much severity and acuteness, that, 
had the ambassador himself been the critic, we could 
scarcelyhave expected a more determined disapproval. 
Thus, in-pointing to the eighth article, which related 
to their being jointly associated in the government, he 

' Minute, St. P. Off., 256. April, 1383. Walsiugham to Bowes. 
2  Ibid. 
VOL. VIII. 	 at 
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doubted, he said, that some prejudice might come 
to him, as well at home as otherwise; since it seemed 
so. warded, that she should not only be equal with 
him in authority and power, but also have the chief 
place before him : a.matter dangerous to leis• state 
and title to this Crown. Besides, he observed, sundry 
obstacles might be found in the person of his mother, 
which might annoy both - him ,and her. 	She was a 
Papist ; she had a Council resident in France, by 
whom she was directed ; she was so entangled with 
the Pope, and others her confederates, that she could 
not deliver herself from suspicion. 	In honour she 
could not abandon her friends in France; and as, in 
the person of Queen Mary, (alluding to Elizabeth's 
predecessor,) he said it was found, and seen- to the 
world, that her oivn mild nature could not suppress 
the great cruelty of her Councillors, but that their 
desire prevailed to persecute and torment God's peo-
ple ; to overthrow the -whole state and government 
established by king Edward• the Sixth. 	* 	* 	So 
the Protestants and others in England,. desiring a 
peaceable government and estate, might both doubt to 
find the like effects in the person of his mother, and 
be affrayed to come under the rule of a woman thus 
qualified.--Thee impediments and dangers, he added 
complacently, would not be found in his own condition, 
but rather an expectation of good parts, or qualities 
promising better contentment and satisfaction. 	He 
then, at Bowes' request, gave him the whole history 
of the correspondence between himself and the captive 
Queen ; expressed the deepest gratitude to Elizabeth 
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for this confidential communication; and concluded by 
assuring him, that, as he was convinced Mary preferred 
herself before him in this 	 he saw much proposal,—till 
more clearly than he yet could, the bottom of the 
business, and her true meaning, he would go no far-
ther without communicating with the English Queen, 
and taking the advice of his Council ; whose opinion 
he could not now have, on account of the solemn pro-
mise of secrecy to Elizabeth' 

It is evident, through the whole of this negotiation, 
that James, if he expressed his real feelings, had a 
single eye to his own interest ; and cared little what 
became of his unfortunate mother, provided he secured 
ad undivided sceptre in Scotland, and his succession 
to the English crown on Elizabeth's death. 	One 
only thing may be' suggested in his defence : 	It is 
just possible that, in all this he dissembled, with the 
object of blinding Elizabeth and Bowes to his pur-
poses for the recovery of his liberty and the over- 
throw of the English faction. 	But of this, the result 
will enable us more truly to judge. 

In the beginning of May, Menainville, having fully 
organized the plot for the overthrow of the Ruthven 
lords, and the return of the Duke of Lennox to power, 
took shipping from Leith for the Court of France : 
and so confidently did he express himself to his secret 
friends, that Bowes, who had a spy amongst them, 
told Walsingham he might look for a new world in 

• • 

' Ms. St. P. OA:, Bowes to Walsingham, Edinburgh, 1st May, 
1583. 

   
  



164 	HISTORY OF SCOTLAND. 	1583; 

August 	At the same time, the Scottish Ambassa-
dors, Colonel Stewart and l‘,Tr John Colvilei  accom-i  
panied. by Mr David Lindsay, -one of the minis*s 
of Edinburgh, who went at James's special request# 
repaired .to londoii, .where they were banqueted by 
Leicester;  and soon admitted to,an audience by Eliza-. 
Beth. 	Thii PrinceSs was,. as usual, profuse in her 
professions and advice to her young. cousin the • King 
of Scots, but exceedingly parsimonious of her money.' 
On the subject of his marriage, upon which he. had 
solicited her advice, she promised to write herself; 
but referred all other points to her Council, 	Et was 
•urged .  by Colvile, in the strongestr terms, that the 
King's person could not be deemed in safety, unless 
the Scottish Guard were increased. 	By this lie 
meant, in plain language, that James could -not be 
kept in captivity without a larger body of hired sol— 
diers to. bold the opposite faction in check. 	In them, 
to use the words a the Ambassadors, " the life of 
-the cause consisted"3 	And yet Elizabeth -  Gould 
scarcely be prevailed on to advance the paltry sum 
'of three hundred pounds, which she insisted Bowes 
Must pay upon his own credit : and c‘ if," paid Wal-
singham, when . he sent him her commands in this 
matter, " her Majesty should happen to lay,the bur-
den upon you, I will not fail to see you Tnyself dis- 

' MS. st. P. Off., 24th April, 1583. 	Bowes to.  Walsingham. 
Ibid. let May, 1583, same to same. 

2  MS. St., P. Off. Orig. Minute:, Waleingliam. to Bowes, 0th 
May, 1583, MS. Calderwood, Brit. Mus. fol. 1266. 	Also MS. 
St. P. Oft Heads of Advice to be given to the King of Scots. 

3  MS. St. P. OM Colvile to Walsingham, 7th Nay, 1383. 	1 
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charged of the same.' 	it had been one great pur- 
pose of Colonel Stewart, iii this embassy, to ascertain 
whkher most could be gained, by the proffered 
friendship of England or France. 	Re knew that the 
first object of his master the young . Xing, was to 
strite the blotw which should restore him to liberty t 
but this once sebured, there remained the ulterior 
question, whether he should 'then "run the French 
oi' the English course." 	And if the English Queen 
tad been content to relieve James of the load of debt 
IN' llieh overpowered him ; if she had frankly Commu-
nie'ated with him on the. succession, and given him 
her advice neon hisinarriage ; there was eVery proba-
bilitY that he would have dontinued at her devotion, 
Only two days after the Scottish Ambassadors had 
left COMA on their return, Bowes wrote from Edin--
burgh to Walsingham, that the Earls Of Huntley, 
Athol, Montrose, and other barons, had met. at Falk-. 
land ; that their " purpose to welter2  the CoUrt and 
State" was no Secret; and that nothing but a satis-
factory message from their royal mistress could save 
the English faction, and prevent a Change Of govern- 
meat.' 	Yet all this did' hot alter the resolution Of 
the English Queen. 	It was in vain that the Ambas- 
sadors remonstrated with Walsiugham ; that they 
reminded him of the lromises made by the Queengto 

1 MS. St. P. Off. 'Minute, Walsingham to Bowes,- 9th May, 
1583. 

2  To wettek: to throw the govornment into a state of movement 
nnd disturbance.' 

3  MS. Letter, St. P. Off. Bowei to Iralsinsinun, 311t May, 
1583. 
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the lords who had seized the King at R.  uthven; of. 
the exhortations sent them, at the beginning of the 
action, to be constant ; of the assurances given to 
them of assistance both in men and money' Gowrie 
found himself cheated out of the sums he had spent 
upon the common cause ; and perceiving the course 
which things must take, determined to make his 
peace with James on the. first occasion. 	Bowes' 
advances to the English faction were discouraged ; 
and Walsingham bitterly complained, that even the 
wretched three hundred pounds, which be had given 
from his own pocket, would turn out to be a 
dead loss to the Ambassador, if he looked for .pay- 
ment to her Majesty, and not to himself. 	" Thus, 
you see," said he, " notwithstanding it importeth us 
greatly to yield all contentment to that nation, [Scot- 
land,] how we stick at trifles ! 	I pray God we per- 
form the rest of things promised."2 	. 

At this crisis, intelligence arrived of the death of 
the Duke of Lennox in France.3 	He had been for 
some time in delicate health ; but the Scottish King 
had looked forward with confidence to his recovery, 
and his grief was extreme. His feelings became more 
poignant when he found the deep affection which his 
favourite had expressed towards himself on his death-
bed : enjoining his eldest son to carry his heart to 
his royal master in Scotland ; and dying, apparently, in 

I MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Colvile and Stewart to Walsingham, 
18th May, 1581.  

9  MS. St. P. Off., Walsingham to Bowes, 29th May,  1583. 
3  MS. St. P, Oil:, Fowler to Walsingham, Tuesday, 1383. 
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the Reformed faith. 	On the, day of his death he 
addressed a letter to James, informing him that his 
recovery was hopeless ; and advising him to trust no 
longer to Angus, Mar, Lindsay, or• Cowrie, whom he 
suspected as running the English faction ; but to give 
his confidence to those whom he termed his own party. 
A blank, however, had been left for their names, and 
he expired before it was filled up.1  

Thii event threw an obstacle in the way of the 
immediate, execution of that plot for his liberty, 
which.  the young King had been so long concert-
ing, and from the success of which he had. so  fondly_ 
looked forward to the restoration of his favourite.' 
Elizabeth seized this interval again to sound the 
mind of the King, and some of the leading men of 
her party in Scotland, regarding her recent negotia-
tions with the captive Queen fox her restoration to 
liberty, and her intended " association" with her son. 
Both rrince and Council treated the idea with re- 
pugnance. 	James observed to Bowes, that, although, 
as a dutiful son, he was ready to evert himself to 
procure the comfort and liberty of his mother, he was 
neither bound to this scheme of an " association," as 
she had asserted, nor would he ever consent to it in 
the form which she had proposed. 	The Councillors 
were still more violently opposed to Mary on both 
points. The association, they said, had been proposed 

' ms. Calderwood, fol. 1268, 1269. 	Also MS. St. P. Off., WO- 
singham to Bowes, 12th June, 1.583. 

2  MS. Letter, St. P. Off, Walsingbam to Bowes .Rh  'in"' 
158f). 
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in Murray's regency, and ,absolutely rejected ; and 
they were confident it would, meet the same fate now; 
and for her liberty, if, under restraint, she could keep • 
up so strong a faction, what would she do when free.?' 

This secret consultation. between the English Am-
bassador and the King, took place at Falkland on 
the 24th June; and so completely had James blinded 
Bowes, that he left Court and returned to the capi, 
tal, unsuspicious . of, any change. 	Next day; John 
Colvile, who, with Colonel Stewart, had just returned 
from England, assured AValsingham "that all things 
were quiet, and that the last work of .Ood, in the 
Duke's departure, had increased the friendly disposi- 
tion of the King."' 	But the letters were still on their 
way to England, when all these flattering hopes were 
overthrown, and the Ambassador received the astound-
ing intelligence, that the King had thrown himself 
into the Castle of St Andrew's; that the gates of the 
place were kept by Colonel Stewart. and his soldiers; 
that none of the nobility had been suffered to enters 
but such as were privy to the plot; and that the Earls 
of Crawford, thmtley, Argyle, and Marshal, were 
already with the monarch. On the heels of this news 
came a horseman in fiery speed from Mar to Angus ; 
and this Earl, the moment he heard of the movement, 
despatched a - courier Jri 	night with his ring to Both- 
well, urging him to gather his Borderers and join him 
instantly; which he did. But the two barons were met;  

I MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	Bowes to Wal8ingham, 29th Jitne 
1583, Edinburgh. 

® MS. Letter, St.P. Off., 25th June, 1583, Colvile to Waldinghlun. 
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within six miles of• St Andrew's, by a herald, 'who 
charged them, on pain of treason, to disband their 
forces, and come forward singly.. • They obeyed,.rode 
on, saw James, and received his orders to „return home 
and remain at their houses till he-called for them.' 

A few days showed that this sudden, though blood- 
less revolution, was complete. 	The King was his own 
master, and owed his freedom to the abilitYwith which 
he had. organied the plot and blinded his adyersaries.2  
Gowrie,iMar, and Angus, the three lords who had led 
the faction of England, and kept him in durance, were 
in despair; but Go wrie,more politic thanhis associates, 
had secured a pardon for himself some time before -the 
crisis.' Ili 	colleagues in the triumvirate fled ; and to 
crown all, Arran, who, there is every reason to believe, 
had been privy to the 'whole, after a brief inter' al 
returned to Court, was embraced by the King, and 
soon resmned all his pride and ascendancy' 

It was now nearly ten months since the Raid of 
Ruthven ; and as James had dissembled his feelings 
as long as he remained in the power of the leaders of 
that bold enterprise, the world looked not for any 
great severity against them. 	But the insult had sunk 

1  MS. Calderwood, fol. 1210. Augur; messenger arrived on the. 
Lord's day at night. , MS. Letter, Bowes to Walsinghftm, 4un8 
29, 1583, Bowes' Letter-Book. 

2  MS. Letter, Bowes Letter-Book, Bowes to Waisingham, 3d 
July, 1581 

3  MS. St. P. Off., Bowes to Walsingliam, July 9, 1583. Calder-
wood MS. fol.'1273.- 

4  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Bowea to Walsinghurn, MI AuguFt, 
1583. 
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deeper than was believed; and it was soon evident 
that the King had determined to convince hiS people 
that the person of the monarch and the laws of the 
land, should neither be invaded nor broken with im- 
punity. 	A proclamation. was set forth,' which char- 
acterized the enterprise at Ruthven as treason ; and 
whilst it assured his subjects, that all who acknow-
ledged their offence should experience the mercy of 
their prince, avowed his resolution to proceed vigor- 
ously against the impenitent and refractory. 	At the 
same time, he published a declaration "• of the good 
anti pleasant death in the Lord" of his late dear cousin 
the Duke of Lennox ;- informing his subjects that this 
nobleman had departed in the profession of the true 
Christian faith, established within his realm in the 
first year of his reign ; and 'denouncing penalties upon 
all who pretendedignorance of thisfact, ordaredto con-
tradict it, in speaking or in writing, in prose or rhyme .3  

This public vindication of the memory and faith 
of his favourite, was intended to silence the ministers 
of the Kirk, who bad deemed it their duty to cast out 
some injurious speeches against the Duke ; one of 
them affirming that; as he thirsted for blood in his 
lifetime, so he died in blood:3  an allusion to the 
disease of which he was reported to have fallen the 

I  ALS. St. P. Oft, copy of the Proclamation, 30th July, 1583. 
Also Spottiswood, p. 328. Also Bowes to WaNingliron, 31st July, 
1383. 

2  St. P. Off., copy of the Proclamation for Lennox, 27th July, 
1583. 	Also MS. Letter, Bowes' Letter-Book, 31st July, 1583. 
-Bowes to Walsingliam. 

8 MS. Calderwood; fol. 1270. 	 . 
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victim. 	This harsh attack upon his favourite justly 
and deeply offended the King ; and Lawson, the. 
author of the calumny, having been commanded to 
appear at Court, he, and a small company of his 
brother ministers, repaired to,  Dunfermline, and were 
carried into the presence chamber. 	Here, owing to 
the recent changes, they found themselves surrounded 
with the strange faces of a new Court. 	Soon after the 
King entered, and, whilst they rose and made their 
obeisance, James, to their astonishment, took not the 
slightest notice, but passing the throne, which all ex-
pected he was to occupy, sat down familiarly upon a. 
little coffer, and " eyed them all marvellous gravely, 
and they him; for the space of a quarter of an hour ; 
none speaking a word ; to the admiration of all the 
beholders."' 	:The scene, intended to have been tragic 
and awful, was singularly comic: and this was increased 
when the monarch, without uttering a syllable, juMped 
up from his coffer and, ,"glogieing" upon them, walked 
out of the room. It was now difficult to say what should 
be done. The ministers had come with a determination 
to remonstrate with their sovereign against the recent 
changes; and he, it was evident, enraged at their late con-
duct, had resolved, to dismiss them unheard; but, whilst 
they debated in perplexity, he relented in the Cabinet, 
to which he had retired, and called them in. Pontthen 
said they had come to warn him against alterations. "I 
see none," quickly rejoined the King; ".but there were 
some this time twelvemonth, (alluding to his seizure 
at Ruthven :) where were your warnings then?"— 

' MS. Calderwood, fol. 12711. 
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" Did we not admonish you at1  St Johnsten?" 'an-
swered Pont; "and, were it not for 'our lovelo Your 
Grace," interrupted i1ilr David'Ferguion, " eould we 
not easily hive found another plaCe to h6,ve spoken 
our minds than here ?" This allusion to their licenSe 
iu the pulpit made the King bite his lip; and -the 
storm was about to bre.alc out, when the same slieaker 
threw oil upon the waters, by casting in soine merry 
speeches. His wit wag of a homely 'and p'ecuiiar Char- 
acter. 	James., he said, Ought to liearhim, if any ; for 
he had demitted the Crown in his favour. 	Was he 
not Ferguson, the son 'of Fergus the first' Scottish 
King? and had le not cheerfully regigiied his title to 
his Grace, as he 'was an honest man and had' posses-. 
sion? " Well;" said James, " no other King in Edrope 
would have borne at your hands What I have."—" God 
forbid you should be like other EurOpean Kings !" was 
the reply; "what are they litit murderers Of the 
saints?—yebave had anolber sort of upbringing' but 
beware whom you choose to be about you ;' for, help-
less aS ye were in your cradle, yen are in deeper 
danger now."—" 1 am a Catholic King," replied the 
monarch, " and may choose my Own advisers." 	The 
word Catholic was more than some ot" the ministers 
could digest, and would have led to ad angry alterea-
tion, had lot Ferguson again adroitly allayed their 
excited feelings. 	" Ye 4, brethren," said he, turning 
to them, " he is a Catholic; that is, a, universal Icing; 
and may choose his company as King David did, in the 
hundred and first psalm." This was a master-stroke; for 
the King had very recently translated this psalm into 
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English metre, and Ferguson took occasion to com-, 
mend

. , 	t27 
his verses in the highest terms. 	They then agdin 

warned him "againsthis present 	ouncillors; and oue 
of the ministers, stooping down, had the boldness to 
whisper in his ear, that there was no great wisdom in 
keepinghis father's murderers, or their posterity, so near 
his Verson. 	Their last words were stern and solemn. 
" Think not lightly, Sir," said they, " of our commis-
sion; and look well, that you deeds agree with your 
promises, , for we, must damn sin in whoever it be 
found: nor is that face upin flesh that we may spare, in 
case we find rebellion to our God, whose ambassadors 
we are. ,Disregard not our threatening; for there was 
never one yet in this realm, in the place where your 
Grace is, who prospered after the ministers began to 
threaten him." 	At this, the king was observed to 
smile, probably ironically, but he said nothing ; and, 
as they took their leave, he laid his hand fqmiliarly 
on each. Colonel Stewart then made them drink, and 
they left the',Court.1 	I have given this interview at 
some length, as it is strikingly characteristic both of 
the Prince and the ministers of the Kirk. 

On receiving intelligence of the revolutioU in Scot-
land, Elizabeth wrote, in much alarm, to Bowes,' 
and resolved to send an Ambassador with her advice 
and remonstrance to the King. 	She hesitated, how-
ever, between Lord Hunsdon her cousin, and the now 
aged Walsingham; and two months were suffered. to 

1 MS. Culderwood, fol. 1272., 	• 
Ma Letter, St. P. Off., 10111 July, 1333, Walling/tam to 

Bowes, 
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pass before she could be brought to a decision. Dur-
ing this interval, all was vigour upon the part of the 
King and Arran, whilst despondency and suspicion 
paralyzed and divided their opponents. 	Angus, the 
head of the house of Douglas, and one of the most 
powerful noblemen in the country, was banished beyond 
Spey ;1  Mar and Glammis were ordered to leave the 
country;2  the Laird of Lochleven was imprisoned, 
.and commanded to deliver his houses to Rothes; 
Lord Boyd and Colvil of Easter .Wemyss retired 
to France ; whilst, on the other hand, the friends of 
the Queen-mother, and those who had been all along 
attached to the• interests of France, saw themselves 
daily increasing in favour and promoted to power. 
Those officers of the King's household, who were sus-
pected of being favourable to England, were removed, 
to make way for others of the opposite party. 	It was 
observed that James had given a long secret confer-
ence to young Grime of Fintry, a devoted Catholic, 
lately come from France, with letters (as Bowes be- 
lieved) from the Duke of Guise.' 	It was even noted, 
that a present of apples and almonds had been sent 
from Menainville to the King: a token concerted to 
show that all was ripe for the completion of the plot 
which he had devised when last in Scotland.' • In 

1 Spottiswood, p. 326. 
2  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Bowes to Walsingham, 19th Septem-

ber, 1583. 
3  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Bowes to Walsingham, 27th July, 

1583. 
4  MS. Id. Ibid. Also MS. St. P. Off., July 29, 1583. Servants 

of the King's house discharged. 
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short, although the. young King con Bided to make 
the fairest professions to Bowes, and addressed a letter 
to Elizabeth, in which he expressed the greatest devo-
tion to her service, and .the most anxious desire to 
preserve the amity between the two kingdoms, it was 
evident to this Ambassador that all was false and dis-
sembled. 

Amid these scenes of daily proscriptions and royal 
hypocrisy, the veteran statesman, Sir Francis Wa- 
singham,.arrived at the Scottish Court.' 	His instruc-' 
tions directed him to require satisfaction from the 
King regarding the late strange .actions which had 
taken place, so inconsistent with his friendly profes-
sions to his royal mistress; he was to use every effort 
to persuade James to reform the accident, which the 
Queen was ready to impute rather to evil counsel 
than to his own. wishes ; and to assure him that, if 
he consented to alter ,this new course, he should not 
fail to taste of her goodness.2 	But it required a very 
brief observation to convince Walsingham that his 
mission was too late. 	' He found himself treated 
with coldness. 	His audience was unnecessarily de- 
layed ; and when at last admitted, the young King 
was in no compliant mood, although he received 
him with much apparent courtesy.' 	To his coal- 

' MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 	Walsingham to Burghley, 6th Sept. 
1588. 	He came to -Edinburgh 1st September. 	MS. Calderwood, 
fol. 1278. 

2  MS. St. P. Off. 	Instructions for Sir F. Walsingham, 1311i 
August, 1583. 	. 

2  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Walsingham to Burghley, 6th Sept. 
1583, Edinburgh. 	• 
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plaints of the late changes, James replied, that he had 
every wish to maintain friendship with her Majesty: 
but this he,would now be better able to accomplish; I 
with, a united than a divided nobility. 	Before ,this, 
two or three lords had usurped the government; they,  
had engaged in dangerous courses, and had .hrought 
their ruin upon themselves. 	Walsingbam then at- 
tempted to point out the mischief that , must .arise 
from displacing those councillors who were best 
affected, to Elizabeth ;, but James sharply, and "with 
a kind of jollity," (so yrrote the old statesman to his 
royal mistress) reminded him that hp was an absolute 
King; that he would take such Ardor w,ith .his sub-, 
jects as best liked himself;' and that he thought his 
mistress should be no more curiousto examinetheaffec- 
tions of his council than he was of hers, 	!" And yet," 
said Walsingham, " you are but a young Prince yet, 
and of no great judgment in matters of government ; 
and many an elder one would think himself fortunate 
to meet an adviser like my mistress, 	But be assured!  f 
she is quite ready to leave 'you to your own guides 
once : I have not come down to seek an alliance for 
England, which can live well enough without Scot-
land, but to charge your Majesty with unkind dealing 
to her Highness, and to seek redress for past errors."F 4 

The Ambassador then complained of some late out-
rages which had been committed by the Scots upon 

) MS. Letter, Or g. Draft, St. P. Off, Walsioghatit to Elizabeth, i 
11th Sept., 1583. 
' Ms. Letter, Draft, St. P. Orli, Walsingbam to Elizabeth, 1 Ith 

Sept., 150, St Johnston. 
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the Borders; and the King having promised inquiry, 
and requested to see him next day in private, he took 
his leave. 	This secret conference, however, does not 
appear to have taken place. 	The probability is, that 
Arran, who carried himself towards Walsingham with 
great pride, had prevented it ; and, having bid adieu 
to the King; the English Secretary wrote to Burghley 
in these ominous terms': ' * * 	" You will'easily find 
that there is no hope of the recovery of this young 
Prince ; who,- I doubt, (having many reasons to lead 
me so to judge,) if his power may agree to his will, 
will become a dangeroUs enemy.' * * 	There is no 
one thing *ill serve better to bridle him, than for her 
Majesty•to use the Iramiltons in such sort as they 
may be at her devotiou."1  

This last hint, of the use which might be made of 
Lord John and Lord Claud Hamilton, the sons of 
the late Duke of Chastelherault, who had been long 
in banishment, and now lived in England, was acted 
upon by B owes ; and brief as had been this Ambassador's 
stay in Scotland, he had found time to sow the seeds 
of a counter-revolution, by which he trusted to over-
whelm Arran, and place the King's person once more 
in the power of the friends of Elizabeth. 	By his 
advice, Bowes bribed some of the leading nobles; and 
in less than a week after Walsingham's departure, 
his busy agent wrote to him that the good course, 
begun by him in that realm, was prosperous ; that he 
had met with many of the persons appointed, who 

1  MS. Letter, fit. P. Off., Waisingham to Burghley, II th Sept., 
1553. 

VOL. VIII. 	 N 
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promised to do what was committed to them ; and 
that already the well-affected were in comfort, and 
their adversaries in fear.1  

This new plot Walsingham communicated to Eliza-
beth in a letter which has unfortunately disappeared, 
but to which he thus alluded in writing to Burghley 
from Durham, on his journey back to the English 
Court : " There is .an offer made to remove the ill-
affected from about the King, which I have sent to 
her Majesty. 	They require speedy answer : and that 
the matter may be used with all secrecy, I beseech 
your Lordship, therefore, that-when her Majesty shall 
make you privy thereunto, you will hasten the one 
and advise the other."2  * * * Arran's quick eye, how-
ever, had detected these machinations : orders were 
given to double the royal guards, the strictest watch 
was kept at Court ;2  and although a body of forty 
horse were observed one night, to hover round Falkland, 
and all dreaded an attack, the alarm passed away. 
The "Byc course" (the name given to the projected 
conspiracy) was thus abandoned ; and Elizabeth, who 
was 	dissatisfied 	with 	Walsingham's 	ill 	success, 
determined to reserve her judgment on the Scottish 
affairs, and recalled Bowes from Scotland.' 

I MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Bowee to Walsingham, 17th Sept., 
1583.  

2  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Walsingham toTurghley, Sept. 22, 
1583, Durham. 

3  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Bowes to Walsingham, Oct. 22, 
1583. 

4  MS. St. P. Off., Elizabeth to Bowes, Sept. 22, 1583. 	Also, 
ibid., Bowes to Walsingham, 15th October, 1583. 	Also, ibid., 
Walsingham to Bowes, 30th September, 1583, York. 
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This coldness in the English Queen completely 
discouraged the opponents of the late revolution ; 
and before the end of the year, the King and Arran 
had triumphed over every difficulty. 	Angus, Mar, 
and Glammis, the Lairds of Lochleven and Cleish, the 
Abbots of Dunfeimiline and Cambuskenneth, with 
others who had acted in concert with Gowrie, were 
compelled to acknowledge their offences and sue for 
mercy ; whilst a Convention was held at Edinburgh, 
in which the good sense and moderation of the King 
were conspicuous, in restoring something of confidence 
and peace even to the troubled elements of the Kirk' 
Considering the difficulty of this task, it gives us no 
mean idea of James's powers at this early age ; when 
we find him succeeding in taming the fiery and almost 
indomitable spirits of one party of the ministers, and 
reconciling to his present policy.the more placable 
division of the Presbyterians. 	The great subject of 
contention between the Court and the Scottish clergy 
was the outrage committed at Ruthven ; a transac-
tion which had received the solemn sanction of the 
Kirk, but which the Prince, however, compelled to 
disguise his sentiments at the" time, justly considered 
rebellion. 	On this point James was firm. 	IIe had 
recently made every effort to bring the offenders to 
a confession of their crime ; and had appointed some 
Commissioners, chosen from the ministers and the 
elders of the Kirk, to confer with them upon the 
subject.' 	But this gentle measure not producing all.  

1  ids. St. P. Off., Bowes to Walsingliam, November 1, 1.583. 
9 MS. Letter, St. P. Off,, Bowes to Walbingbam, Nov. 28, 1.583. 
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the effects contemplated, a Parliament was convened 
at Edinburgh, and,an Act unanimously passed, which,  
pronounced "the surprise and restraint of the royal 
person" in August last, " a crime of high treason, of 
pernicious example, and meriting severe punishmepts." 
The former act of Council, which had approved, of it, 
was abrogated, as having been passed by ,the rebels 
themselves during the, restraint of their Sovereign ; 
and the King now declared his determination.,to 
punish, with the severest penalties, all who ,refused 
to sue for pardon, whilst he promised mercy to all 
who acknowledged their offence.'l 	. 	, 	, 	1. r  

These determined measures , were at length sue- 
cessfyl ; and the great leaders of the faction, who had 
hitherto remained in sullen and obstinate resistance, 
submitted to the King's mercy. 	Angus retired be- 
yond Spey ; the Earl of Mar, the Master of Glam,  
tills, with the Abbots of Dryburgh and Cambusketi-
neth, repaired to Ireland ; Lord Boyd, with the Lairds 
of Lochlever 	and Easter Wemyss, passed into 
France; and other of their associates were *prison-
ed, or warded within the strictest bounds. Mr John 
Colvile alone, who had been as deeply implicated as 
them all, refusing submission; fled to Berwick ; 2  
whilst Gowrie, who had already obtained pardon, 
reiterated his vows • of obedience, and remained at 
Court.' 	It was impossible, however, Wholly to sub- 
due the Kirk. 	Mr John Durk, one of the ministers, 

1 MS. Act, St. P. Off., I)ec. 7, 1583. 
2  MS. Letter, St. P. Oil:, Bowes to Walsingliarn, Dee, 29, 

1583. 	 8 irild. 
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denounced the recent proceedings 'in the pulpit at 
Edinburgh, and was ' followed ' in ithis ' course lby 
Melvil, the Principal' of the College of St Andrew's, 
But Durie was compelled,' by.  threats of haVing his 
head set' upon the West Port, one orthe public"gates, 
of the city to Ithake g qualified 'retractation ;" and 
Meivil only saved himself -  from imprisonment by a 
Precipitate flight !to Berwick.' 	He was a man of 
pleat learning; but fierce and • reckless temper ; who 
had beeti reheated at' Geneva ; a strict Puritan in 
religion, and a Re-publican in politics. 	When called 
before the Council, he' resolutely'declined their juris-
dietion,—a'ffirming,, that he was Lthenable Only to the 
Presbytery i'or anything delivered in the pulpit ; and 
when the King attemptc11 to convin'ee hiin of the 
Contfraiy, he'arrogantlY told him, that " he perverted 
the laws both of God and in6..'y 	t he remotal Of sd • 
stern an Opponent was pechliarly grateful to the 
dourtl, and as James had assured the eommissionerA 
of the Kirk, that he *as determined to maintain the 
Reformed religion, and to lay before his Council the 
remedies they recommended for restoring tranquillity 
to the Country, it, Was anxiously hoped that the dis-
tracted and bleeding State might be suffered to enjoy 
some lithe interval of repose.3  

Ddring these transactions, the young Duke of 
Lennox disembarked at Leith from France. 	Ile was  

1 MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Bowes to Walsingbam, Dec. 29, 
1583. 	 a Spottisvtooa, p. 630-. 	. 

3  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Bowes to Walsingham, Nov. 1, 
1589. 
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accompanied by the Master of ..Gray;. 	a person des- 
tined to act a conspicuous part in future years, and 
whom the King had expressly sent on this mission. 
On coming ashore, 'they-  were met by Arran and 
Huntley, and carried to Kinneil, where the Court 
then lay. 	James received the son of his old favourite 
with the utmost joy ; restored him to his father's 
honours and estates ; and, as he was then only thir-
teen, committed him to the government of the Earl of 
Montrose' 

It was now expected that a period of order and quiet 
would succeed the banishment of the disaffected lords ; 
for although the counsels of Arran were violent, there 
was a wiser and more moderate party in the King's 
confidence, which checked, for a little while, his 
rashness and lust of undivided power. 	To this class 
belonged• the celebrated Sir James Melvil, with his 
brother Sir Robert, and some of the more temperate 
spirits in the Kirk. 	One of these, Mr David Lindsay, 
accounted amongst the best of the brethren, addressed 
a letter, at this time, to Bowes, the late Ambassador, 
in which he spoke in high terms of the young King. 

* I MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Bowes to 1Va1singham, Nov. 16, 1583. 
Ibid., same to same, Nov. 20, 1583. 	Spottiswood, p. 328. 	The 
affection of this Prince for the family of his old favourite is a pleas- 
ing trait in his character, 	Nothing could make him forget them. 
Sometime after this, two of his daughters were brought over from 
France; of whom ho married one to the Earl of Huntley, the other 
to the Earl of Mar. 	A third was destined to an equally honourable 
match, but she had vowed herself to God, and could not be won 
from the cloister; and in later years, after his accession to the 
English Crown, James received, with undiminished interest, the 
youngest son of the house, and advanced him to great honour. 
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He advised Bowes to write to James ; assured him 
that advice from him was sure to be well received ; 
and added, that his royal master had recently, in 
private, assured him, that Secretary Walsingham was 
the wisest man he had ever spoken with ; that the 
more he had pondered on the counsels he had given 
him, in their late meeting, the better and more profit- 
able they appeared. 	" I perceive," said he to Bowes 
" his Majesty begins to take better tent [heed] to 
his own estate and weal nor he has done heretofore; 
and espies the nature of such as rather regards their 
own particular, nor [than] the quietness of this coun-
try and his Majesty's welfare; which compels him to 
see some better order taken, and that by the advice 
of the most upright and discreet men that he can find 
in this country : for he showed me himself, that he 
got councillors enough to counsel him to wound and 
hurt his Commonwealth ; but finds very few good 
chirurgeous to help and heal the same, and therefore 
must play that part himself."' 

Little did this excellent member of the Kirk dream, 
that at the moment he was breathing out his own 
secret wishes, and those of his Sovereign, for peace, 
into the bosom of Bowes and Walsingham, and en-
treating their cooperation as peacemakers, these very 
men were busy getting up a new rebellion in Scot- 
land, to which their royal mistress gave her full ap-

1 MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Mr David Lindsay to Mr Bowes, 
Leith, 2d Nov., 1583. 	See an account of Mr David Lindsay, in 
Lord Lindsay's 	" Lives of the Lind says," vol. i. 	p. 213-217; 
a not interesting and agreeable work, privately printed by that 
nobleman. 
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proval :r. but nothing cane more certain., 'The chief 
conspirators. were 	he ibanished, noblemen, Angus, 
Mar, ' the Master of glammis„ the Earl pf ,l3othwell,, 
Lord,  Lindsay, and ,theic associates., Of these,,,Mar, 
and Glaminis passed over secretly from, then; ,retreat, 
in Ireland, ;, i  AngnsIeft.,his ,refuge *n.the north ; ,,the, 
two sons, of ,the puke, of:Riastelherault,..Lorsi,Claud 
and Lord, John. Hamilton, ;were sent Own, l)y Eliza;, 
beth from i England to Itho Bordersli whilst Cowrie, 
who, to ,cever his purposes of treason, ,had sought 
and obtained:the King's license to visit the, continent,r 
lingered in Scotland to a,17a,nge...tlie plan, of the ,insure  
section.' 	In England, the great.  agent incommuni, 
eating with Walsiugham and Bowes, was that same, 
Mr John Colvile with whom we are already acquaint4 
ed ; and his letters, as well as, those which yet remain{  
of Bowes pd. Walsingham, admit us into the secrets 
of the conspiracy; and distinctly show the approval 
of the English Queen and her,ministers. 	Gown% as 
it appears, bad hesitated for some time between sub-
mitting to the King and embarking in the plot ; but 
Bowes wrote to Walsingbatn, (on the 4th March, 
1.583-4,) that he bad abandoned all thoughts of con, 
cession, and stood faithful to his friends. 	He added, 
that the , ground and Manner of  the purpose was . 

MS, So. P. pat,' BoitesJ to Walsinglita% 20th Jan., 158,3444. 
Explained, as to the meaning of the ciphers; by the letter of 
Bowes to Wa1singham, St. P. Off. 28th Doc., 1583. 	Also, MS. 
Letter, St1 P. Off., Bowed to Walsifigliam, 24th Jan., 1583-4. 
Also, MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Bowos to Walsingham, 13th Feb.,. 
1583-4. 	Also, St. P. Off. B.C., Forster to Walsinghain,. 28th 
March, 1,584. 	A/sa, MS. Calderwood, Brit. Mus. 4736, fol. 
1315. 
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knokvii to very.  few, 'as it' 'was thOiight requisite to 
keep it secret 'till the time of the 'exeention approach- 
ed. 	Some delay, hOweverjobt place, regarding.the 
course to be-iursued with a certain Bishop, who wAS 
considered ioo.poWerful an antagonist to be continued 
in ,power 4., 'and Colvile; who managed the plot in Lon-
don; had a!secret meeting with Wa6ingham on• this 
delicate . joint ; 	after Which, 'he Wrote' to him 	in 
these words: ". COnCerning.the .BiShop, the more' I 
think -of` the matter, the 'more necessity Pthink it, 

- that he, and 'all 	the 	strangers of his opinion,1  were 
removed ; for it I is' a common proverb; 'Hostel si 
intus shat, fru.kira elduclunta4• fore; neque antequant • 
eavellantur Jute cubandon61.?' -But although Bowes, 
Walsingham, and Colvile, Were no mean adepts in _ planning an insurrection,' they had to compete with 
an antagonist in Arran, who ..detected and defeated 
all their machinations. 	. His eyes were in.every guar.: 
ter ; not a movement taken by Gowric, or Mar, or 
Glammis, escaped him. 	He was aware that a Band 
had been draWn up, and signed by many of his ene-
mies in Scotland, by which they solemnly engaged W 
assassinate him, and compel the King to admit them. 
to 'his councils.' 	He had received information that, 
in -the end of March, a general assembly of the nobles,. 
who trusted to overturn the Government, would be 
held at St Johnston. 	But he awaited their opera- 
?' MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Colvile to Bowe.% 23d March, 158a4.. 

This must, I think, have been either Bishop Adamson or Mont-
gomery Bishop of Glasgow. 

2  llistorie of James the Sect, p. 203; 	Also, MS. Ca1derwood, 
Brit. Mus. 4736, Ayscough, fol. 1316. 
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tions with indifference ; for he- knew that the Earls 
of Glencairn and. Athole, upon whom Gowrie, Angus, 
and Mar, principally depended, were traitors to their 
own friends, and, had already revealed everything to 
him. 	When the meeting accordingly did take place, 
and the insurgent noblemen called upon all who were 
solicitous for the advancement of the Word of God, 
and the setting forth of his glory, to join their ban-
ner, their appeal found no response in the hearts of 
the people ; and the assembly fell to pieces without 
striking a blow.' 	. 

This premature movement, and its ill success, inti-
midated the conspirators, and gave new courage to 
Arran and the King, who sent a secret messenger to 
Elizabeth, offering the most favourable terms of ac-
commodation, and assuring her, that in supporting 
Gowrie and his friends, she was the dupe of some 
dangerous and unquiet spirits, whose purposes varied 
every month, and who were not even true .to each 
other.2 	The Queen hesitated. 	Colvile had recently 
received from his brother the Laird of Cleish, one of 
the conspirators, certain articles of agreement* be-
tween them and the English Queen, which they ex- 
pected to be signed. 	These he was to correct and 
present to Elizabeth. 	But this Princess was in a 

1 MS. Letter, Brit. Mus. Caligula, C. viii. fol. 5, Bowes to 
WaLsingham, 10th April, 1584, I3erwick. 	Also, ibid. same to 
same, fol. 3, 5th .Avril, 1584, 13erwick. 	MS. Letter, St. P. Off. 
B.C., Forster to Waleinglubm, 2d April, 1584. 

2  MS. Letter, St. P. OIL, ('olvile to his brother the Laird of 
Cleish, 16th April, 1584. 	Endorsed by Cecil, Mr Colvile; and 
by Colvile himself, Copy of my last letter sent to Scotland. 
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dilemma. 	If she signed the articles, she bound her- 
self to the faction ; and should they be discomfited, 
she furnished 'evidence of her-encouraging rebellion 
in subjects ; an accusation which Arran and his 
friends would not be slow to use. 	On the other 
hand, Colvile maintained that the late failure at St 
Johnston was to be ascribed to the folly and impa-
tience of some of their friends; and that now all was 
ready for the outbreak and success of the great plot. 
Gowrie was at Dundee, waiting only foi the signal 
from 	his 	fellow-conspirators. 	Angus, Mar, 	and 
Glannnis, were ready to rise and march upon Stir- 
ling. 	If they succeeded, the power, probably the 
life of Arran, was at an end ; a new order of things 
must be established in Scotland ; and the men whom 
she had just deserted, would be in possession once 
more of the person of the young King, and rule all. 
At this crisis, this busy partisan, Colvile, exerted him-
self to the utmost. He found that the English Queen, 
whilst she verbally gave her warm approval to the 
insurgents, " expressing her gracious and motherly 
care of the well-doing of the noblemen," steadily re-
fused either to sign their articles, or to receive any 
messenger from them, till they were openly in arms. 
Ile implored them to be contented with these general 
assurances ; and declared, that immediate action, 
without sending any further advertisements to Eng- 
land, could alone secure success. 	The examples by 
which he cofirmed this argument were the murder 
of Riccio, the seizure of Queen Mary at Faside, and 
the recent " Raid of Ruthven." 
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., If," said he, "advertisements' hid :been sent to 
England before the executioii of Davie, the taling'of 
the Queen at Faside, and"of Arran at Raithven, I 
think. none of these good'actionS had ever been effec- 
tuate. 	But you knoW, Mat -afterrall these enterprises 
were execute, her Majesty ever coMforted the enter. 
priSers thereof 'in 'all l'a,Wftil manner; albeit, she was 
not made privy to their intentions. 	Chiefly'after the 
late attempt at Ruthven, it is fresh remembrance how 
timeonsly Sir George Carey and Mr-Robert BoWeS, 
her Majesty's Ambassadors, arrived to countenance 
the said cause. 	But now, when men does'nothiug 
but sit down to advise when it is high time to draW 
Sword and defend, and will lie still in 'the mire unl 
stirring, and expecting 'till dome friend, pa4sing 'by, 
shall pull' them out,' it aPpearS'Well that they either 
diffide 'in the equity of their cause,' or else are be-
witched, and so useless, and that they can feel nothing 
till they be.led to the shathbles, as wait the peor Earl 
of Mortou.1  If (he proceeded) matters Were resolutely 
ordered, what more consultation is' needed, (seeing 
religion, the King's honour, and all good nien 'is in 
extreme danger ;) but first courageously, such as are 
agreed, 'to' join together in secret manner for the 
King's deliverance, as was done at Ruthveh ; bi if 
this cannot be, then -to convene at some convenient 
place openly, publish pioelamatioit to the people for 
declaration of their lawful and just cause, and so 

1  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., 16th April, 1584, Mr Colvile to hie 
brother. 	Colvile's ignorance of the nerd history of Riccio's war- 
der is striking. 	See vol. vii. of this History, pp. 80, 32. 
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pursue the present adversaries till either they -were 
apprehended or else.reduced. to some extremity."' 

When, Colvile ,spoke of the poor Earl of Morton 
being led to the:shambles,,he little .thought how soon 
his words were to prove prophetic in,the miserable. 
fate of Gowrie ; but so it happened. 	Arran, who was 
informed of. every particular,. had quietly suffered thq 
plot to proceed tto the very instant of its execution. 
1-laying ,secretly instructed his . own' friends to be 
ready with their forces at-an instant's warning, he 
did not move a step, till his adversaries were in the 
field ; and, by 41), overt, act, had fixed upon themselves 
the crime of rebellion. 	The,moment this was aster, 
tallied, and when he knew that Gowrie only waited 
at Dundee for a signal, to, join his, friends, who were 
advancing upon. 	Stirling, , he 	despatched Colonel 
Stewart to arrest him; who, with a hundred troopers, 
coming suddenly' to that town before sunrise, sur- 
rounded his castle. 	It was difficult, however, in 
these,times of feudal misrule and hourly danger, to 
find aScottish baron unprepared; and . the, earl bravely 
held his house against all assailants for twelve hours. 
But he was at last overpowered, seized, and carried, 
a prisoner to Edinburgh.2 	At the same moment that 
these scenes were acting at Dundee, word had been 
brought to the Court, that the Earls of Mar and 
Ang,usp  with 114 Master of. Glaminis, and five bun.. 

1 	, 
1 MS. Letter, St. P. Off., 16th April, 1584, Mr Colvile to his 

brother. 
2  MS. Letter, Caligula, C. 'nil. fol6 9, Bowes to Willsinglove, 

J. 19th April, 1684, Berwick. 
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Bred horse had entered Stirling, and possessed them-
selves of the castle ; and when Stewart entered Edin-
burgh with his captive, he found it bristling. with 
arms and warlike preparations; the drums beating, 
and the young King, in a high state of excitement, 
assembling his forces, hurrying forward his levies, 
and declaring that he would instantly proceed in 
person against them' 	So soon were the musters 
completed, that within two days an army of twelve 
thousand men were in the field; andJames, surrounded 
by his nobles, led them on to Stirling. 	These mighty 
exertions, however, were superflUous. 	The insur- 
gent lords did not dare to keep together in the 
face of such a force ; and leaving a small garrison in 
the• castle of Stirling;  fled precipitately through East 
Teviotdale into England, and solicited the protection 
of Elizabeth.' 	As they passed Kelso in the night, 
Bothwell, their old friend, met them, and held a 
secret conference ; but as such a meeting with traitors 
might have cost him his head, they agreed that at 
daybreak he should chase them across the Border; 
which he did, acting his part, in this counterfeit pur- 
suit, with much apparent heat and fury.3 	James 
Then took possession of Stirling ; the castle surren-
dered on the first summons ; four of the garrison, 
including the captain, were hanged ; Archibald Dou-
glas, called the constable, was also executed ; and it 

1 Ms. Letter, Brit. Mus. Caligula, C. viii. fol. 13, Bowes to 
Walsingliam, 23d April, 1584, Berwick. 	Ibid. fol. 13*, Bowes 
to WaLsingliam, 28th April, 1584, Berwick. 

2  MS. Calderwood, Ayscough, 4736, fol. 1321. 
8 Id. Ibid. 
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was soon seen that the utmost rigour was intended. 
against all connected with the conspiracy.1  

As its authors were the chief leaders of the Pro-
testant faction, and its objects professed to be the 
preservation of religion, and the maintenance of the 
true Word of God, it was suspected that the minis-
ters of the Kirk were either directly or indirectly 
implicated. 	Of these, three, Mr Andrew Hay, Mr 
James Lawson, and Mr WalterBalcanquel, were sum-
moned to Court ; and two in particular, Galloway, 
minister.  of Perth, and Carmichael, minister of Had-
dington, were searched for at their houses by the King's 
Guard, but could not be found. . They afterwards, 
with Polwart, Subdean of Glasgow, John Davison, 
minister of Libberton, and the noted Andrew Melvil, 
fled to England.' 

In the meantime, it was determined to bringGowrie 
to trial. 	Of his guilt, there was 'not the slightest 
doubt. 	He had. been a chief contriver of the plot, 
and the most active agent in its organization : but 
there was some want of direct evidence ; and a base 
device, though common in the criminal proceedings 
of these times, was adopted to supply it. 	The Earl 
of Arran, attended by Sir Robert Melvil, and some 
others of the Privy-councillors, whose names do not 
appear, visited him in prison ; and professing great 
concern for his safety, informed him that the King 
was deeply incensed against him, believing that he 
had the chief hand in expelling his favourite, the 

' MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Bowes to Walsinglituu, May 7, 1.584. 
2  Id. Ibid. 	Moyse's Memoirs, P. 50. 	Mist. James the Soxt, 103. 
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Duke of Lennox. 	Gowrie declared, that his part in 
the disgrace of the Duke was not deeper than that of 
his associates; but anxiously beiought theni, as old 
friends, to sue to the,King for a favourable Sentence. 
They replied, that to become intercessors for him in 
the present state.  of James's feelings, would only ruin 
themselves, and not serve him. 	" What, then," said 
he, "is to be done?" 	"Our advice," said they, "is, 
that you write a general letter to the King;  confeks-
ing your knowledge of a design against his Majesty's 
person ; and offering to reveal the particulars, if 
admitted to an audience. 	This will procure you an 
interview, which otherwise you. have no chance of 
obtaining. 	You may then vindicate your innocence, 
and explain the whole to the King." 	"It is a peri,  
lous expedient,", answered Gowrie. 	f‘ I never enter4 
tained a thought against the King; but this is to 
frame my own dittay,' and may involve me in uttei 
ruin." 	" How, so ?" said his crafty friends : " your 
life is safe if you follow our counsel ; your death is 
determined on if you make no confession." 	" Goet it 

.so hard, with me?" was Gowrie's reply. "If there be 
no remedy, in case I had an assured promise of in? 
life, I would not stick to try the device of the letter." 
"I will willingly pledge my honour," said Arran, 
-"that your life shall be in no danger, and that no 
advantage shall be taken of your pretended conks-,  
sion,"! 	Thus entrapped, the unfortunate man wrote 

) Dittay, accusation. 
2  MS. St. P. Off., Form of certain Devices used by Arran and 

Sir R. Melvil against Gowrie, enclosed by Davison in a letter to 
1ValsinghaM, dated 27th 'Dray, 1584, Berwick. 

, 	. 
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the letter 'as be was instructed ; it was sent to tho 
King, but he 'waited in vain fora reply ; and on the 
trial, when the Jury complained of defective evidence, 
and declared that they could find' nothing to justify 
a capital condemnation; Arran, who, Contrary to all 
justice and 'decency, rwaS ono of their number, dreg} 
the fatal letter' from his pocket, and appealed to the 
accused Whether ho could deny his own hand-writing. 
" It is mine assuredly," said Gowrie, 4` nor can I denY 
it ; but, my lords, this letter was written, these 
revelations were made, on a Solemn promise of my 
life. 	You must remember it all,' said he, looking at 
Arran, and turning to the lords who had accompanied 
him to the prison, " how at first I refused ; how 
earnestly Ilasserted my innocence; how you sware 
to me, upon 	•our honour' and faith, that' the King 
granted me my life, if I made this confession." 	The 
Lord Advocate replied, that the lords had no power 
to make such a promise ; and when the prisoner, 
with the energy of a man struggling between life 
and death, referred it to their oaths, these pretend-
ed friends declared that by them no such promise 
had been made .I 	The Jury then retired to consider 
their 'verdict ; and as ,trait rose to leave the room, 
Gowrie made a last effort to remind him of old 
times and early friendship ; but his speech fell on 
a cold ear: and-the prisoner, iipparently indifferent, 
calling for a cup of wine, drank and shook hands 
with some of his friends around him. 	lie sent, also, 

1  MS. l3rit. Mns. Caligula, C. viii. fel, 24, 	Form of Examina- 
tion, and Death of 'William Earl of Cowrie, 3.1 May, 1584. 

VOL.. VIII. 	 0 
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by one of them, a pathetic message to his- wife ; beg 
ging him to conceal his fate from her, as she was just 
delivered of her child, and the news,-if heard suddenly, 
might be fatal to her. 	At this moment, the Jury 
returned and declared him guilty,—a sbntence which 
he received with much firmness, and instantly rose to 
speak; but the Judge interrupted him, telling him 
that his .time was short, as the King had already 
sent down the warrant for his execution. 	" Well, 
my lord," said he, " since it is the King's content-
ment that I lose my life, I am as willing to part with 
it as I was before to spend it in his service ; and 
the noblemen, who have been upon my Jury, will 
know the matter better hereafter. 	And yet, in con- 
demning me, they have hazarded their own souls, for 
I had their promise. 	God grant my blood be not on 
the King's head ! 	And now, - my lords," continued 
the unfortunate man, " let me say a word for my 
poor• sons. 	Let not my estates be forfeited. , The 
matters are small for which I suffer. 	Failing my 
eldest boy, then, let my second succeed him." 	It 
was answered, he was found guilty of treason, and, 
by law, forfeiture must follow. 	The last scene of the 
tragedy was brief. 	He was allowed to retire for a 
few moments, with a minister, to his private devo- 
tions. 	He then walked out upon the scaffold, asserted 
his innocence of all designs against the King's per-
son, to the people who were assembled ; repeated the 
account of the base artifice to which he had fallen a 
victim ; and turning to Sir Robert Melvil, who stood 
beside him, begged him to satisfy the headsman for 
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_ his clothes, as he had left the dress in which he died 
to his page. 	The Justice-clerk then assisted him to 
undo his doublet, and bare his neck ; Gowrie' him-
self tied the handkerchief over his eyes, and kneeling 

' down, " smilingly," as it was remarked by an eye- 
witness, rested his head upon the • block. 	It was 
then severed from the body by a single blow ; and 
his three friends, Sir R. Melvil, the Justice-clerk, 
and Stewart.of Traquair, wrapping the remains in the 
scarlet cloth which he had himself directed to be 
the covering of the scaffold, had' them buried, after 
the head had'been sewed on to the body' 

Gowrie died firmly, penitently, and, it is be hoped, 
sincerely ; but even in this dark age of unscrupulous . 
crime and aristocratic ambition, few men had more 
need of repentance. 	His early age was stained with 
the blood of the unfortunate Riccio ; he and his father 
being two of the principal assassins. 	In his maturer 
years, he accompanied Lindsay in that harsh and 
brutal interview with Mary, when they compelled 
her, in her prison at Lochleven, to sign the abdica- 

' MS. Brit. Mus. Calignla, C. viii. fol. 29. 	Account written 'by 
a person present at the trial. 	It is difficult to reconcile the con- 
duct of Sir Robert Melvil to Gowrie, as described by Davison, 
with -this sentence in the above account: 	"lie was buried by 
his three-  friends, Sir Robert Melvil, the Justice-clerk, and Sir 
Robert Stewart of Traquair ;" and we find, from the same source, 
that, on the scaffold, Gowrie turned to Melvil, with a last request., 
as if nitrating it to his dearest friend. 	All this makes me sus- 
pect that IN 1 civil only acompanied Arran, and did not' assist him 
in entrapping Gowrie. 	Yet, anxious as I was to think the best, 
the assertion, contained in the original paper sent by Davison to 
Walsingliam, was too clear'and direct to permit me to omit it. 
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tion of the government. 	Since that time, his life had 
been one continued career of public faction ; -his 
character was stained by a keen appetite for private 
revenge ;1  and, although all must reprobate the base 
contrivances resorted to, to procure evidence against 
him on 	his 	trial, 	it 	is 	certain 'that,. in 	common 
with Mar, Angus, and Glammis, he had engaged in 
a conspiracy to overturn the government.' 	It is 
singular to find, that a man thus marked so deeply 
with the features of a cruel age, should have com-
bined with these considerable cultivation, and refine- 
ment. 	He was a scholar, fond of the fine arts, a 
patron of music and architecture, and affected mag-
nificence in his personal habits and mode of living. 
Common report accused him of being addicted.to the 
occult, sciences; ,and, on his trial, one of the articles 
against him was his having consulted a Witch: but 
this he treated with deep and  apparently sincere 
ridicule. 	 _. 

i ,,,Quaut nu Compte do Gourio it resemble toujours .a luy 
meszne,colloreet vindicatif et stir lequel peult plus la souvenanco 
Tune injure pa.9see, Tie toute aultro prevoiance do l'avenir."— 
MenainTille to Matrvissiers, 28th March, 1583. • St. P. Off. 

2  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Colyile to Walsingliam, 12th May, 
1584. 
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CHAP. N. 

JAMES TILE SIXTH. 

	

. 	• 
1584-1586. • 

• 
CONTEMPORARY PRINCES. 

1 	Portugal, 	1 	Popes. England. 	 1 	France. 	Germany. 	1 	
Philip IL Llizabeth. 	Henry 111. 	Rudolph IL 	IL 	Philip II. 	Gregory XIII. 

Statue V. 

LIE death of GoWrie, and the flight of his fellow-
conspirators, left Arran in possession of the supreme 
power in Scotland, and filled. Elizabeth and her min-
isters with extreme alarm, They knew his unbounded 
ambition ; they were aware of the influence which - 
be possessed over the character of the young King : 
his former career had convinced them that his talents 
Were quite equal to his opportunities: . He combined 
military experience, 'and the promptitude and deCi-
sion which a soldier.of fortune so often acquires, with 

.a genius for state affairs," and, a ready eloquence, in 
which all could see the traces,of a learned education. 
To this was added a noble presence and flgure,.with 
commauding manners, which awed or conciliated, as 
he pleased, those whom he employed as the tools of 
his greatness. 	Elizabeth suspected, also, and on 

.good grounds, that although be professed a great 
regard for the reformed religion—declaring his fears 
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lest the faction of the Queen-mother should regain 
its influence in Scotland, and seduce the mind of the 

monarch from the truth—still these . young 	 assevera- 
tions were rather politic than sincere. 	For their 
truth, she and her conneillors had no guarantee : and 

• looking to the profligacy of his private life, his bitter 
opposition to the Presbyterian clergy, and his con-
stant craving after 'forfeitures and power, they con-
jectured that his alleged devotion to England, and 
desire to continue the amity, was rather a contrivance 
to gain time till he looked about him, than any more 
permanent principle of action. 	.. 

All this was embarrassing to the English Queen 
and her ministers : ' and there were other difficulties 
in the way of their recovery of influence in Scotland, 
to which it was impossible to shut their eyes. 	They 
had trusted that the late conspiracy, if successful, 
would restore Lord Arbroath and Lord Claud IIa-
milton, to their ancient authority and estates ; and 
that their union with the Earl of Angus, who wielded 
the immense power of the house of Douglas, would 
enable them to crush Arran, and destroy the French 
faction in Scotland. 	.But Arran was' now triumph- 
ant ; and his enmity to the houses of Douglas and 
Hamilton was deep and deadly. ' Their restoration, he 
well knew, must have been his utter ruin. 	He had 
brought the Regent Morton to the scaffold ; he had 
possessed himself of the title and estates of the un-
fortunate Earl of Arran ; and as long as he continued 
in power, Elizabeth foresaw that the exiles would 
never be permitted to return. 	She had difficulties, 
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also, with the faction of the Kirk. 	They had hitherto 
been encouraged 'by England; and had been em-
ployed by. Burghley and Walsingham, as powerful 
opponents of the French faction, and the intrigues of 
the Queen-mother. 	But Elizabeth had herself no 
sympathies for the Presbyterian form of Church 
government : she had often blamed the factious and 
Republican principles disseminated by its ministers ; 
and now, when the party of the Kirk were no longer 
dominant, she felt disposed to regard them with cold- 
ness and distrust' 	On the other hand, the young 
King had avcrwed his determined enmity to ltome; 
whilst his opposition was simply to Presbytery as 
contrasted with Episcopacy. 	He had formed a reso- 
lution to maintain the Episcopal form of Rovernmciit 
which had been established in Scotland, at all risks, 
against the attack of its enemies. 	He was assisted 
in this great design by Arran, a man not easily shaken 
in his purposes; and by Adamson Bishop of St An-
drew's, whose abilities were of a high order, both as 
a divine and a scholar : and now that Gowric was 
gone, and the other great leaders of the Kirk in exile, 
there was every probability that James would suc- 
ceed in his object. 	It became, therefore, a question 
with Elizabeth, whether she might not gain more by 
encouraging the advances of Arran, than she would 
lose by withdrawing her support from the exiled 
lords.  

. Such being her feelings, she resolved to be in no 

• 1 • MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Walk:iigliam to Daviaon, 17th June, 
1384. 
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hurry to commit herself till she, had sent a minister, 
to Scotland, who should carefully ,examine the exact 
state of. parties in that country. 	When the, con- 
spiracy broke out, .Mr. Davison had been on his road 
thither; but he was arrested, on his journey, at Ber-
wick, ,by, letters. rrom Walsingham :' and, when. the 
French Ambassador; Nvlio was,.resident at the Eng, 
lisle Court, requested the Queen!s permission to repair 
to Scotland ,and act as a mediator betweel the faz-. 
tions, Elizabeth; readily consented.2 	She was the, 
morq.inclined to choose this moderate .course, as the 
King of France had recently offered to' ongage in a - 
strict league with England., 	Ile had declared ,his 
earnest desire to see the three crowns united ,in per-
feet amity, and his wishes .that the. afflicted, state o 
Scotland should ,be restored to. quiet : whilst he had 
instructed his, Ambassador to visit the captive Queen 
of Scots; to exert himself to the utmost to mitigate 
the.rigour of her confinement, and, if possible,i to pro-
cure her restoration to liberty.' 

1.1 the 	.licautime, Arran and the King,, although 
they professed a ,firm resolution to maintain pacific 
relations with, England, 	adopted 	energetic 	mea., 
cures , to secure ;their triumph and ;complete the 
ruin 9f •their enemies. 	A parliament oval held. at 

I  MS,  Lotter, St. P: Off.; 29th April, 184,. WalsiAgham to 
Davison. 

2  MS, Letter, Std P. Off. 	Walsiugham to Davison, 4th May, 
1584. 	Lid. same to same, 10th May; 1584. 	• 

4 318.,  St. Pb Oft waft,. 	Points' in the French Anibaktsnder's 
Letter, 13th May, 1584. 	 • .. 
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Edinburgh,'.in which Angus, Mat, Glarmnis, and their 
numerous adherents, were ,declared guilty of treason, 
and their estates forfeited to the Crown; Whilst some 
laws we're passed, which carried dismayinto the hearts 
of the Presbyterian clergy, and amounted, as Davison 
declared to Walsingham, to the supplanting and over-
throw of the government of the Kirk: The authority 
of the King was declared supreme in all causes,' and 
over all persons. 	• It, was made treason to decline his 
judgment, and that of his Connell, iii any matter what-
soever ; the jurisdiction of any Court, spiritual or 
temporal, which. was not; sanctioned by his Highness 
and the throe Estates, was discharged; and no persons, 
of whatever function or quality, were to presume, 
undersevere penalties, to utter any slanderous speeches 
.gainst, the *majesty of ithe throne, or the wisdom of 

the Council; or to criticise; in sermons, decfamations, 
or private conferences, their conduct and proceedings.' 
All . ecclesiastical assemblies, gerieral 	or proVincial, 
were 	prohibited from convening ; and the whole 
spiritual: jurisdiction was declared to he lresident in 
the bishops : the sentence of excommunication pro-
nounced against Montgomery was abrogated ; hnd a 
commission granted 0 the Bishop of St Andrew's, 
for the reforrhation of the yniversity of St A ndrew's : 

• 
I MS. 'Letter, St. P. Off., Davison to Walsingham, 23a May, 

1584. 
Spottiswood, fol. 333. 	MS, Letter,, St. P. Off.0  Davison to 

Walsingham, 23d May,.1584: 
3. MS. Letter, St, E. Off., Davison to Walsingham, nth Mn 

1584. 
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- 	• 
a, seminary of education, which was suspected to be 
in great need of purification from the heterodox.and 
republican doctrines of its exiled Principal, Melvil' 
To these laws it was added, that all persons who had 
in their possession the History of Scotland, and the 
work, De Jure Regni, written by Buchanan, should 
bring them to the Secretary of State, to be revised 
and reformed by him, 

It had been suspected by the Kirk that-suckmea-
sures were in preparation; and MrDavid Lindsay, one 
of the most temperate of.the ministers,had been select-
ed to carry to the King a protest against them ; but 
before this took place, he was seized in his own house, 
and carried out of bed, a prisoner to the castle of 
Blackness.' 	It was 'alleged that the had been engaged 
in secret practices with England ; and this created a 
presumption that he had.been cognizant of the recent 
conspiracy of Gowrie. 	Such severity, however, did 
not intimidate his brethren ; and when the recent 
acts against the Kirk were proclaimed at the Cross, 
on the Sunday after the rise of the Parliament, Robert 
Pont and Baicanquel, two of the ministers of the 
capital, openly protested against them. Having satis-
fied their conscience, and warned their flock against 
obedience, they deemed it proper to provide-for their 
own safety ; and fled in the night, followed hard by 
some of the King's guard, who had orders to arrest 

1  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Davison to Walsinghara, 27th May, 
1584. 	 2  Ibid. 

3  MS. Letter, St. E Off., Davison to Walsingham, g-3d May, 
1584. 
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theni. 	They escaped, however, and entered Berwick 
by day-break' 

Elizabeth now ordered Davison to proceed to Scot-
land, and the young King 'despatched the-celebrated 
Sir James Melvil, who was then much in his con- 
fidence, to meet hini-on the Borders. 	Melvil's com- 
mission was to sound the Ambassador's mind before 
he received audience ; and after their meeting he 
despatched a letter to his brother, Sir Robert Melva, in 
which he gave a minute and graphic account of their 
con'ersation, as they rode teether towards the Court. 
Davison he described as all smiles and gentleness, full 
of thanks forthe noble train which had met him on the 
Marches, and earnest in his hopes that he might prove a 
more happy instrument of amity than his diplomatic 
predecessors, Randolph and Bowes. Sir James's reply 
was politely worded, but significant and severe. 	He 
had little doubt, he said, that the intentions of the 
Queen of England were sincere ; her offers assuredly 
were fair, and the rebellion of subjects against their 
Prince could not but be hateful to her ; and yet the 
proceedings of her councillors and ministers appeared 
far otherwise to clear-sighted men. As for, the King 
his master, he was now a man both in wit and per-
sonage, and acute enough to look more to deeds than 
words. 	It is the custom (continued Melvil) of some 
countries to hold their neighbours in civil discord, and 
send Ambassadors to and fro to kindle the fire under 
colour of concord.—No words could more plainly 
point out the recent proceedings of Elizabeth; but Sir 
James was too Much of a courtier not to avoid the 

I MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Davison to Walsingbani, May 27, 1584. 
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direct application. 	Ile utterly disclaimed having that 
opinion of her Majesty, or of the Ainbassaldor himself, 
that many had of some Counsellors aid AtabassadorS 
but he assured him, unlas het Majesty proceeded 
otherwise with the King than she 'had done yet, 
matters were able' [likely I tofall out toner unniendable 
miscontentment. 	I would not speak of dna' done 
deeds, said he, pursuing the attack ; but 'now lately, 
when Mr Walsingliam was sent, his .11,11ajesty Was in 
good hope of a strait amity to be Packed in respect 
of his own earnest inclination and the quality of him 
that was sent, and could find notliiiig but an appear-
ance of changement of mind in 'him, either upon some 
new occasion, or by the persuasion of some other 
party; and, nevetthdlesS, his Majesty dealt favour-
ably and. familiarly with him, and showed favOnr undo 
sandry. that' were suspected, at his request, and kept 
straitly-  some speeclieS that were between them ; 
albeit, afterwards Master Bowes alleged the 'contrary, 
in such sort, that Sundry thought it were done .0 
pick a quarrel. 	And, whereas, (continued Melvil, 
alluding, to the late conspiracy of Gowrie,) his Ma-
jesty was mercifully inclined to all his subjects;----both 
they with some of England and some of England 
With them had practised, whereof her Majesty had 
some fore-warning,—yet, they drew to plain rebellion 
by them that etuhd hetfiet8  our of England and Ire-
land, and Were now returned mild treated there again; 
and, then, you will say the Queen loves his Majesty 

1 "Able" is the word in the original. There is some error, how- 
ever; the sense requires "likely.' 	• 

' Auld; old. 	 8 Ilet-fut; hot-foot. 
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—the 	Queen 	seeks, his 	Majesty's preservation ! 
What. is this but mockery V—This was a home-
thrust;  which Davison, • who knew its truth, could 
not easily parry ; nor was he more comfortable when 
Siy James alluded to the conduct of the Kirk, and 
the state of religion. 	Lord Burghley himself, said 
MelviL when,in Scotland at the time of the siege of 
Leith; had been scandalized at the proceedings 9f the 
niinisters, and gave plain counsel to put order to them, 
or else they would subvert the whole Estate ; - and 
yet now, said he, they are again crying out against 
the King's Highness, whose life and conversation is 
better reformed, and more godly, than their own. 
lie then detailed t9 him more particularly?  as they 
rode along, the " slanderous practices of some of 
these busy factioners ;" and ended with this advice : 
Mr Ambassador,—If .the Queen require friendship, 
she must like the King's friends,; she must hate his 
enemies; and either deliver them into his hands, or 
chase them forth of her country, as site ditl at his 
Majesty's mother's desire, after the 	slaughter of 
Davy. 	Your mistress need not. dread the King ; lie .• 
is young, far more bent on honest pastime than on 
great handling of countries ; and, unless compelled 
by such doings as.have.been carqqd on lately, he will 
keep this mind for many years yet. Ile is.young enough 
(this vas a glance at the succession to Elizabeth) to 
ahide upon anything God has provided for 14111.2 	, 

1 mS. Letter, St. P. Oft., Sir lames Velvil to toy i.ord or 
Pittenweem, or Sir Robert Melril of Icaroy, 

3  .Id. Ibid. 	 ' 	, 	' 	• 	 • 
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The two friends, by this time, had reached Mel-

vil's country seat, from which they rode to the Court 
at Falkland ; and Davison was admitted to his a;u- 
dience. 	He found the young Duke of ,Lennox, and 
the Earls of. Arran, Huntley, Montrose, and other 
nobles, around the King, who received his letters 
with courtesy ; but expressed himself in passionate 
terms against the rebellious nobles, whom, he said, 
he expected Elizabeth to deliver into his hands: 	To 
this, Davison replied, that no one could be more ten-
der of his estate and preservation than his mistress. 
As to the noblemen whom ,he termed rebels, she was 
as yet utterly ignorant of 'the true circumstances of 
the late alteration, (by this mild term she alluded to 
Gowric's treason ;) but she had always regarded 
these nobles as men who had hazarded their lives in 
his service ; nor could she now deliver them without 
blemish to her honour. 	Did his Majesty forget, that 
he had himself blamed Morton for the delivery of 
Northumberland in his minority; and had recently 
refused to give up Holt the Jesuit, who had been 
concealed in Scotland, and was a notorious intriguer 
against her Majesty's Government? 	'Besides, she 
had gbod cause of offence from the late conduct of 
Livingston, his servant, whom he had sent up to re- 
quire the delivery of Angus and his friends. 	This 
man had' spread reports injurious to her honour: he 
had asserted that Gowrie had written a letter, in 
prison, accusing Elizabeth of a plot against' the life 
both of Mary and the young King. The whole was a 
foul and false slander ; and she knew well the strata- 
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gems which had been used to procure such a letter : 
but she did, indeed, think it strange that the King 
himself should credit. such stories • of one whose life 
and 'government had been as innocent and unspotted 
as hers, and who had shown such care of himself, and 
sisterly affection to his mother.' 	For the banished 
noblemen, she should-  take good care they should 
create no trouble to his kingdom. 

To all this James answered, with a spirit and 
readiness for which Davison was not prepared, that 
for this last assurance there was not much necessity. 
He could look, he hoped, well enough himself to the 
defence of his kingdom against such rebels as she now 
thought good to protect.. 	The case of Holt, he said, 
was not parallel. 	He was a mean and single subject: 
they were noblemen of great houses and alliance. 
For Gowrie's letter, it was true such a letter had 
been written; but its terms were so general, as to 
touch neither her Majesty, nor any other persons in 
particular: nor was the accusation ever substantiated 
by proof. 	Her Majesty's honour, therefore, was un- 
blepished. James then turned to lighter subjects, 
talked of his hunting. and pastimes, and handed the 
Ambassador over to Montrose, with whom he dined.2  

A few days' observation 'convinced Davison that 
James felt as deeply as he had expressed himself; and 
that, although Arran's power was great, the King's 
inclinations seconded, if they did not originate, all those 

1  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., 10th June, 1584, Davison to Wal-- 
Bingham. 

2  Id. Ibid. 	. 	. 
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severe measures which were, now adopted against the 
banished nobles and ,the ministers. , Nothing wi 
heard of, from day to dil.y, but prosecutions, arrests,' 
forfeitures, and imprisonments ; whilst Arran, ands 
the nobles and barons w,ho had joined his party,, 
• exultingly divided the spoil ' 	The immense estates- 
of the family of Douglas were eagerly' sought after: 
and.  Davison?  .in a letter to :Walsingbam, conveyed a i 
striking picture of the general ,scramble,. " with the I 
miser?,  and confusion of the.country.", 'The proCeed-
ings of this Court, said li.e are thought so. extreme I 
and intolerable, as have not only bred 4, common I 
hatred and 'mislilie of the instruments, but also a 
decay of the love and devotion 0 the subjects to his. 
Majesty. 	* 	* 	The want of their ministers exiled; 1 
the imprisonment of, Mr David, Lindsay in the Blank- I 
less ;, and'  the warding of. Mr Andrew Hap in the 
north, who , refused to subscribe their late acts Oft 
Parliamentt  do not a little increase the murmur and 
grndging of the people ; besides, the lack of the ordi,  
Harry ministry,here, which is now only supplied by, 
Mr John Craig and Mr John Brand, at such times 
as they may be spared from their own-charges., 	pie  
King is exceedingly offended with such of them a.9  
are fled, blaming them to have withqrawn themselves 
without cause, notwithstanding some of theig -friends 
were already in hands, and ,warrant given forth for 
their own chargilni and apprehending before their 
departure. 	Immediately upon their returning, (he 
continued,) the Bishop of Glasgow, and Fictryr  an- 
other excommunicate, came to this town, and were 
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absolved jure politico froM the sentence of excommu-
nication, and now have liberty and access 'to the. 
Court. 	* 	* 	The prisoners are all yet unrelieved. 
of their wards, save Lindsay and Mr William Lesly, 
who, by the great suit of the Laird and Lady John- 
ston, hath obtained his life. 	The Bishop of Murray 
and Geoi•ge Fleck remain in Montrose. 	Bothwell 
hath been an earnest suitor for Coldingknowes ; but 
hath yet obtained no grace : he hath gotten the 
grant of Cockburnspeth ; Sir William Stewart hath 
Douglas ; the 8eoreia4 Maitland, Boucle ; and the 
Colonel, TantallOn : all belonging to Angus, whose 
lady cloth yet retain her dowry. 	The Colonel hath, 
besides, the tutory of Glammis, with the Master's 
living. 	Huntley bath gotten Paisley and Buquhan's 
lands ; Montrose, Balmanno, belonging to George . 
Fleck ; Crawford hath gotten the Abbey of Scone ; 
Montrose the office of Treasurer and the Lordship 
of Ruthven; Arran, Dirleton, Co'lauct, and Newton: 
all some time belonging to Gowne, whose wife and 
children Are very extremely dealt withal. 	Athol 
stands on terms of interdicting, for that it is suspected 
he will relieve and support them. 	Glencairn bath 
taken the castle of ErslZine.; the Laird of Clack-
mannan hath spoiled Alloa ; both belonging to the 
Earl of Mar, whose living is yet undistributed, save 
the Lordship of Brechin, which is given to Huntley. 
The Laird of Johnston hath gotten Locharnell, be- 
longing to George Douglas. 	The living of the rest 
in exile bein&; like to follow the same course. 	Arran 

tOL. Vtit. 	 r 

   
  



210 	IIISTORY OF SCOTLAND. 	 1584. 

(he went on to observe) had been promoted to the 
high office of Chancellor ; Sir John Maitland had 
been made Secretary; 	Sir Robert Melvil, Treasurer- 
depute ; 	and Lord Fleming, Lord Chamberlain : 
whilst Adamson, the Archbishop of St Andrew's, 
was in high favour, constantly at Court, and busily 
occupied in his schemes for the total destruction of 
the Presbyterian form of Church government, and in 
the persecution of its ministers and supporters.' 

Calm and cold as was the language of this letter, 
the sum of public misery and individual suffering con-
tained in such a description must have been great 
and intense ; and yet such scenes of proscription and 
havoc were too-  common in Scotland to make any 
deep impression upon Elizabeth, who, when the poli-
tical tools with which she worked were worn out or 
useless, was accustomed to cast them aside with the 
utmost indifference.2 	But her Ambassador struck 
upon a different string, and one which instantly vi-
brated with alarm and anger, when he assured her, 
that a complete revolution had taken place in the 
feelings of the, young King towards his mother ; that 
they kept up a =stunt communication ; and that 
every observation made by him, since his arrival in 
Scotland, convinced him that French . politics, and 
the influence of the captive. Queen, regulated every 
measure at the Scottish Court.' 	All pointed to this. 

1  MS. Letter, St. P. Of., Davison to Walsingbant, June 10, 
1584. 

2  Ibid. 	 3  Ibid. 

   
  



1584. 	 JAMES vr. 	 211 

The association, concluded already, or on the point 
of being concluded, between them, by which Mary 
was to resign the kingdom to her son; the late re-
volution at St Andrew's ; the execution, exile, or 
imprisonment of all who had been constant in reli-
gion ; the alteration of the Protestant magistracy in 
the burghs ; the reception of English Jesuits into 
Scotland ; the negotiations of the Scottish nobles 
now in power with the Bishops of Glasgow and 
Ross, Mary's Ambassadors and instruments at the 
Courts of France and Spain ; the frequent intel-
ligence between the young King and his mother; 
his speeches in her favour, and his impatience of 
hearing anything in her dispraise : all were so many 
facts, to which the most blind observer could scarcely 
shut his eyes ; and which, to use Davison's words to 
Walsingham, clearly demonstrated that the Scottish 
Queen, though elsewhere in person, sat at the stern 
of the Government, and guidedboth King and nobles 
as she pleased.1  

This was an alarming state of things to Elizabeth. 
The King was now grown tip : his marriage could 
not be long delayed. 	If, by his mother's influence, 
it took place with a daughter of France ; if to the 
intrigues of the Spanish faction of the Roman Catho-
lics in her own reahn, were to be added the revived 
influence of the Guises in Scotland, and an increased 
power of exciting rebellion in Ireland; what security 
had she for her crown, or even for her life ? 	A con- 
spiracy against her person was at this moment organiz- 

1  MS. St. P. Off., Davison to Walsinglifn, May 28' 1.584. 
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lug in England; for which Francis ,Throckinorton was 
afterwards executed' , Qf its true, character .it is dif-
ficult to form an opinion ;, but whether; a real or a 
counterfeit plot, it was enough to alarm the,country. 
It seems certain, that many r)-esuits and ,seminary 
priests were busy in both, kingdoms, exciting the 
people 'to rebellion,: sla,nclernus,,libels, a0 _tyeatises 

-031 tyrannicide,iivere priptefl„and*.seattere4 about by 
those who considored Jthe,,Qugenof 	 ngland,ausuiper 
-and -a heretic I., hell enemies !looked to the Queen, of 
Scots as ,the bulwark of , the true with, in England ; 
and. Mary, impatient under,heri  long captivity, natu-
rally and justifiably felt disposed to encourage every 
scheme which promised_ her, liberty and rest. 	At 
this moment, when all.was so,gloomy,,thefaction in 

Scotland by whose.assista,uce glixaheth,had,hitherto 
.kept :tier opponents in check, WaS.,suddenly, 9VPN-
whelmed; itsicaders executed, or,,driven into banish- 
ment 	and a government set up, ,the grst acts, of 
which]  had exhibited a cotuplot,o, deypteclness to, r tlte 
friends and the interests, of Mary. 	. 	I i 

i The English Queeu was, therefore„ compelled, by 
f the imminency of th9 danger,, to put the question, 
ifrowiiwas .  this .crisis to,  be met? 	Consulting Davi- 
son, she found that,any attempt at direct mediation, 
in, favour of the ,j)ftni§he,c1 jpyfigi,, wpAd,, in, the ;present . 
temper faf tile young King,;bo unsuccessful; and, to 
use opon form to create a counter.rrevolutiou, and 

1  restore the Yrotestaut aspeudancy, ryas full of peril.' 
I eerie; Vol. Ifi.1): &W.  

. 	12  3IS, Letter, St. 11-Off., DttlifiOTI to Burghley, hue 213, 0.5,84. 

   
  



1584. 	 JAMES vi: 	 213 

Setting.  both these aside; however, there were still 
three ways Which presented Themselves to revive her 
influence, and check the headlong violence by which 
things were running' into confusion and hostility to 
England. 	'One VMS !to secure the service's of Arran, 
Who possessed the 'greatest influence over James. 
He had secretly offered himself to Elizabeth, declared 
his eondandy in' religion; as it was professed in Erg-
land, and his conviction, that tb preserve •the amity 
with that realin; was ihei best policy for his ,Sove- 
r6ign. 	. 	he undertook; if the English Queen _followed 
his counsel, to - keki 'the young King, his master, 
unmarried for thred yearS ; and he requeeted het to-
send down to the Nirder, some nobleman) of rank iii 
whom she placed confidence; whom he would meet 
there, and to 1whom,'in a private conference, he would 
propose such measures as should ,be for , the lasting 
benefit of both countries. 	A second method, directly. 
contrary to this, WaS to support the banished lords) , 
Angus, Mar, and Glammis, with meney and troops; 
to employ them to overwhelm Arran, and compel the 
King to restore the reformed faction, and the - exiled 
ministers of The Kirk. 	A third ,scheme presented 
itself, in the offers which The captive Queen herself 
had made at this moment to Eliabeth. 	She was 
'now old, she said ; ambition had nb charms for her ; 
she was too much broken in health and spirits, by 
her long imprisonment, to meddle with affairs of 
State. 	All that she now wished, was to be restored 
to liberty, and permitted to live in retirement, either 
in England, et in her own country. 	She could not 
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prevent her friends, and the great body of the Roman 
Catholics in Europe, from connecting her name with 
their efforts for the restoration of the true faith ; from 
soliciting her approval, and organizing plans for her 
deliverance. 	All this resulted from her having been 
So long detained a captive against the most common 
principles of law and justice ; but if the Queen would 
adopt a more generous system, and restore her to liber-
ty, she was ready, she said, to make Elizabeth a party 
to the association, which was now nearly completed, 
with her son, to resign the government into the hands 
of the young King; to use her whole influence in 
reconciling him to the exiled lords; to promote, by 
every method in her power, the amity with England; 
and not only to discourage the intrigues of the Roman 
Catholics against the government of her good sister, 
but to put her in ,possession of many secret particu-
lars, known only to herself, by which she should be 
enabled to traverse the schemes of her enemies, and 
restore security to her person and government. 

AR these three methods presented themselves to 
Elizabeth, and all bad their difficulties. 	If she ac- 
cepted Arran's offer, it could hardly be done except 
after the old fashion, which she so much disliked : 
of pensioning himself and his friends; 	outbidding 
France ; and setting her face against his mortal ene—
mies, the Douglases and the hamiltons, whose return 
must be his ruin. 	If she sent back the exiled lords, 
it equally involved her in expense, and pledged her 
to the support of the Kirk ; to whose Presbyterian 
form of government, and high claims of infallibility 
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and independence, she bore no favour. 	If she em- 
braced Mary's proposals,—her safest, because her 
justest and most generous course,—she acted in hos-
tility to the advice of Burghley and Walsingham, 
who were deemed her wisest councillors ; and who 
had declared, in the strongest possible terms, that the 
freedom of the Scottish Queen was inconsistent with 
the life of their royal mistress, or the continuance of 
the Protestant opinions in England. Having weighed 
these difficulties, Elizabeth held a conference with 
her confidential ministers, Lord Burghley and Wal- 
singham. 	Although of one mind as to the rejection of 
the offers of Mary, they, contrary to what had hitherto 
taken place, differed in opinion on the two alternatives 
which remained. 	Burghley advised her to gain Arran, 
to send a minister to hold a secret conference with 
him on the Borders,' and, through his influence, to 
manage the young King. 	Walsingham, on the other 
hand, warmly pleaded for the banished lords. 	No 
trust, he affirmed, could be put. in Arran ; and, as 
long as he ruled all, there would be no peace for 
England : but at this instant, so great was the un-
popularity of the young King, and this proud minis-
ter, that if her Majesty sent home the banished lords, 
with some support in money and soldiers, they would 
soon expel him from his high ground, and restore 
English.ascendancy at the Scottish Court. 

having considered these opinions, Elizabeth de- 
cided that she would exclusively follow neither, but 

1 M:7,!. 8t. P. Off., Instructiotis to Lord lIumidon, June 30,158#. 

   
  



216 	HISTORY OF SCOTLAND. 	1384. 

adopt a plan(  of her own. , A was marked by that 
craft and dissimulation which, in those ,days of crook-
ed, and narrow policy, was, mistaken for ilvisdom, 
To all the three parties who,had offered themselves, 
hopes were held out. 	Arran was flattered, ,his pro- 
posals accepted; and, Lord Hunsdon, the cousin of 
the English Queen, directed to meet him in, a confer-
ene on the Porders. • At ,the same moment, a nego- 
tiation, -which had been.opened a ,short while before 
with the, Queer!. of „Scots,, was _renewed, 	She was 
once more deluded t witit ,the dream .of liberty ; and 
encouraged to use her influence with her 	on, and 
persuade him to more charitable feelings towards 
England, and the exiled lor4...:2  ,and,, lastly, these 
noblemen, and the banished ministers of the Kirk, 
were fed with hopes, that the Queen would, restore
them, to, their country ; , strengthen them with money 
-and arms, and gratefully accept their service to overr,  
whelm, both Arran and the Scottish Queen .3 	In this 
way, 	lizabeth persuaded herself, that she could hold 
in,her hand, and ingeniously play against each other 
-the mRin strings whichuloyed the principal puppets 

1  MS, Si. 1.'Ofe, Instructions to Lord HunsJon, 30th June, 
'1584. 	' 	" 

21104 Letter, St. Ps Off, May 10, 1584, Walsingbant tO 
Davison, 	Ibid.,, Randolph to 'Davison, Nay 13, 1584, 	Ihid., 
'Wahing.  ham to Davison, May r26, 1584. 	Ibid., Papers of Mary 
queen of 16tits, Lord Shrelogbuty and Mr. Deal io-lVaTainginun, 
Way 16, 1584; and Ibid.,:Walsinglinm to Lord Shrewsbury, Juno 
10, 1584 ; and Ibid., Mary queen of Scots to the French Atnbas- 
Bader, July 7, 1584. 

3. MS. Lotter St. P, oft, colviie to Walhingbanty 25th play, 1 	ay, 1.5R4. 	 • 
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Of the drama. 	If Arran proved true to his promises, 
as BUrghley anticipated, she could easily cast off the 
banished 	lords ; • if false, ' as Walsingham judged 
likely, they were ready, at her beck; to rise and Over- 
whelm him. 	Whilst, froin the captive' Queen, Whose 
restoration to liberty was 'never 'seriously contem-
plated, she expected to gain Such didclosures as should 
enable'her to traverse the constant intrigues 'of her 
enemies. 	It is to be ' remembered, that all these 
three inodes'of policy were-carried' on a bile and the 
same time ; and it ' is conieqUently difficult to bring 
the picture cleaily, Or without Confusion, before the 
eye : but it must be attempted: ' 	 . 

Elizabeth, in the beginning of July, informed James, 
that She had accepted hiS offerS, and had appointed 
Lord Hunsdon to -hold a conference with' Arran on 
the Borders.' . 	The - arrangements • for this meeting, 
however, which was to be conducted With considerable 
pomp and solemnity, could not be completed till August; 
:Md Davison, the English Ambassador in Scotland, 
employed this interval in getting up a 'faction in favour 
of the banished lords, undermining the influence of 
Axran, and in tampering with the Governor of the. 
Castle of Edinburgh, for its delivery into the hands. 
of the Queen. 	For all this Walsingham seat special 
instructions ; and whilst his secret agents were busy 
in Scotland, Colyile had private meetings with Eliza-. 
bah, and laboured to gain the IIamiltons to join the 
exiled noblemen. 	It was hoped; in this Way, that 

I Ma Lettety St. P. Off., Walking,liain td Davison, Jrrly 2.,. 
1584. 
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the foundation of a movement would be laid, by which, 
if Arran played false, a result which both Elizabeth 
and Walsingham expected, the banished nobles should 
break into Scotland, seize or assassinate him, get pos-
session of the person of the King, and put an end to the 
French faction in that country. 	This, as will be seen 
in the sequel, actually took place, though the course 
of events interrupted and delayed the outbreak.' 

It was now time for the appointed conference ; 
and, on the fourteenth of August, the Earl of Arran 
and Lord liunsdon met at Foulden Kirk ; a place on 
the Borders, not far from Berwick. 	It was one ob- 
ject of the Scottish lord to impress the English with 
a high idea of his power; and the state with which he 
came was that of a sovereign rather than a subject. 
His- retinfte amounted to five thousand horse, and lie 
was attended by five members of the Privy-council, 
who, whilst Ifunsdon and he alone entered the church, 
waited obsequiously without in the churchyard. 	All, 
even the highest noblemen, appeared to treat him with 
such, humility and deference, that Lord Humsdon, 
writing to Burghley, observed, they seemed rather 
servants than fellow-councillors ; and. Sir Edward 
Ifoby, who *was also on the spot, declared he not 
only comported himself with a noble dignity and grace; 
but was, in truth, a king, binding and loosing at his 
pleasure.' 	In opening the conference, Arran pro- 

1 MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Colvile to Walsingliam, May 25, 
1584. 

2  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Hansdon to Burghley, August 14, 
1584. 	Ibid., Sir Edward Iloby to Lord Burghley, 15th August, 
1584. 
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fessed the utmost devotion to the service of the Eng-
lish Queen ; and with such eloquence and earnestness, 
that Hunsdon declared he could not question its 
sincerity. 	There was a frankness about his commu- 
nications which impressed him with a conviction of 
their truth ; and Hoby, who knew Elizabeth's love 
of handsome men, sent a minute portrait of him to 
Burghley, recommending him to the favour of his 
royal mistress. 	For the man, said lie, surely he car-
rieth a princely presence and gait, goodly of person-
age, representing a brave Countenance of a captain of 
middle age, very resolute, very wise and learned, and 
one of the best spoken men that ever I heard : a man 
worthy the Queen's favour, if it please her.i 	- 

But to return to the conference. 	Hunsdon, on his 
side, following the instructions of Elizabeth, com-
plained of the recent unkind conduct of James in 
seeking an alliance with France, and encouraging 
the enemies of England. 	It was well known, he 
said, to his royal mistress, that this young Prince, 
instead of fulfilling his promises to her to whom he 
owed so much, was practising against her. 	his 
harbouring of Jesuits ; his banishment of the noble-
men best affected to England ; his intended " asso-
ciation" with his mother ; his intercourse with the 
Pope ; his contemptuous treatment of her Ambas-
sadors, all proved this ; and would, ere now, have 
called down a severe retaliation, had he not recently 
shown a change of mind, and expressed a desire of 

1 MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Sir Edward Hay to Lord Burghley, 
August 15, 1584. 
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reconciliation, which she was willing to believe sincere. 
She now trusted that Artan *ould act' up to .his pro-
testations; and emiilo/y hiS influencel twith the King 
his master, for the restoration 'of aiiiity between the 
two Crowns, and the return of his exiled notilitY. 

In his reply to this, Arran' did . not affect to con= 
ceal 'they intrigues' of Fiance and Spain to gain the • . 	I young King ; but lie assured ITunsdonithat all' his 
influence should be ekeirted to—  counteract their' suc- 
cess, and promote the amity with England. 	As to 
his *complaints, some he 'admitted to' be true, some 
he denied, others he exculpated. 11-lis Master, 'he 
said, had never dealt With' any 'Jesuits; 'and 'hew' of 
none in his dominions : he' had- no intentions of car- 
rying forward " the 'association" with his mother! 
nor hail he any secret intrigues with the POPe. 	He 
admitted his severity tii -some Of her AmbassadorS: 
but had it not been for the reverence he bore to thei 
mistresS, he would have used them with harder mea-
sure ; for he had Mr rt an doiph'8 own l handic prove 
him a stirrer up of sedition : and it was Mr Bowes, 
her Majesty's Ambassador, who was the principal 
plotter of the seizur9 of' his person at Ruthven, amid 
the recent rebellious enterprise at Stirling. 	As for 
the banished lords, 'it' was strange, indeed, to 'find 
her Majesty an intercessor' for men who had cast off 
their allegiance, and taken armS against fliei 	natural 
Prince ; and Whose proceedings had been so outrage-
ous, that neither the King, nor he himself, could en- 
tertain the idea of their return for a moment. 	Angus, 
Mar, and their companions, had never ceased to 'plot 
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against the government. 	Let him look back to the 
course of the last two years. 	With what shameful 
ingratitude had Angus treated the King his master, 
‘n the, husness of .the Earl of .Morton, in the affair 
of thn .Raid of Ruthven, when they iseized and im-
prisOne,d.bim,, (Arran,) and threatened the King they 
would, send him., his head,in a dish, ,if he did not in- 
stanply'14nish Lennox! 	Ilunsdon. pleaded against 
this the KiAlg'q Q%vn letter,tor ENabpth, which showed 

	

d with the 	 Arran smiled that the wasplease change. , 	. 	, 	. 	• 	• 
and said,., it was. easy to. extort such gi letter fron-t a 
Vrince they,had in ,their ,hands; 	Kunsdon replied, 
that ,,T, awl ought toi  Save secretly sought advice from 
Bowes the English Ambassador., 	Bowes ! retorted 
Arran.--Bowes, as the King well knew?  was at the 
hottom q ith? whole conspiracy for his,apprehension. 
And, then, look, to the dealings of the same lords in 
the last affair which cost Cowrie his head. 	With 
what craft did they seduce the ministers ; plotting 
my death, , and the King's second.  apprehension, had 
it not been happily detected and defeated. 	Nay, , ,. 
said said he, .getting'  warmer as he proceeded, what will l•  

Mir lordship think, if I tell you,, that at this moment 
the men you.are pleading for as penitent exiles, arc 
ns acqve and cruel-minded in their captivity as ever ; 
pud, that, 0 this, instant, I have in my bands the 
pertain hoofs of a plot now going forward, to seize 
the King, to assassinate myself, to procure, by 
treachery, the Castle of Edinburgh, and to overturn 
the Government ?' 	'Tis but a fel' days since all this . 

Als• St. P. Off.i.lIunsdon to WalsinOpm, 1 AtIt A v110, 1584; 
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has been discovered : and ,can your Lordship advise 
your mistress to intercede for such traitors'? 

This was too powerful an appeal to be resisted 
and Hunsdon, changing the subject, spoke of the con- 
spiracies against Elizabeth. 	Adverting to Throck- 
niorton's recent treason, he declared that his mistress 
the Queen well knew that, at this moment, there 
were practices carrying on in the heart of her king- 
dom for the disturbance of her government. 	She 
knew, also, that the King of Scots and- his mother 
were privy to these ; nay, she knew that it was in-
tended he should be a principal actor therein. _ Let 
him disclose them all fully and frankly, and he should 
find that the English Queen knew how to be grateful. 
To this, Arran promptly answered, that nothing should 
be hid from Elizabeth, and no effort omitted by the 
King or himself to satisfy her Majesty on this point. 
He then showed Hunsdon his commission under the 
Great Seal, giving him the broadest and most unlimited 
powers; and the conference, which had lasted for five 
hours, was brought to an encl.'. On coming out of the 
church, both Hunsdon and he appeared in the highest 
spirits, and good humour. 	It was evident to the lords, 
who had waited without, that their solitary communi-
cations had been of an agreeable nature; and the 
Scottish Earl seemed resolved that his own people 

and MS. Notes of the mane interview. 	Endorsed by Burghley, 
13th August, 1584 ; also, Ibid., Iluusdon to Burghley, August 
14,1584. 
- I MS. Letter, St: P. Off., llunsdon to Walsingham, 14th Aug., 
1584. 	Ibid., same date, ilunsdon to Burghley. 
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should remark it; for, turning to the lords about him, 
he said aloud, " Is it not strange to see two men, 
accounted so violent and furious as we two are, agree 
so well together,--I hope, to the contentment of 
both Crowns and their peace ?I 	At this moment, 
Hunsdon and Arran were reckoned the proudest 
and most passionate noblemen in their two countries; 
but for this excessive cordiality there were secret 
reasons, if we may believe an insinuation of Walsing- 
ham's to Davison. 	Hunsdon and Lord Burghley bad 
a little plot of their own to secure the favour of the 
young King of Scots, by gaining Arran, and bringing 
about a marriage between James and a niece of the 
English Earl; who, as cousin to Elizabeth, considered 
his kin as of royal blood.' 	On this point, Walsing- 
ham felt so bitterly, that he accused his old friends 
of worshipping the rising sun ; and observed, that her 
Majesty had need now to make much of faithful 
servants.' 

On coming out of the church, Arran called for the 
Master of Gray, a young nobleman of his suite, and 
introduced him to Hunsdon. It was impossible not to 
be struck with the handsome countenance and grace- 
ful manners of this youth. 	He had spent some time 
at the Court of France ; and, having been bred up in 

' MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Sir Edward Hohy to Dr Parry, 15th 
August, 1584. 

2' MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Hunsdon to Burghley, 1st October, 
1584. 	Also MS. Letter, St. P. Oft, Davison to Burghley; 27th 
July, 1584. 

8  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Walsingham to Davison, 12th July, 
1584. 
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the Roman Catholic faith, had been courted by the 
house of Guise, and employed by them as a confiden-
tial- envoy in their negotiations with the , captive 
Queen of Scots. He had always professed the deepest' 
attachment to this unhappy Princess ; and, the young 
King had, within the last year, become so _captivated 
with his society, that Mary, who had too rapidly 
biked him with much Qf her secret correspondence, 
sanguinely hoped that his influence would he of the 
highest service to her, in ,regaining a hold over the 
affections of her son. 	But Gray, under an exterior 
which was preeminently beautiful,,though too feminine 
to please some tastes, carried a heart as black and 
treacherous as any in this profligate age; and, instead 
of advocating, was prepared to betray thelcause of 
the nnprisoned ,Queen. . To her son the young King, 
and the Earl; of Arran, he had already revealed all,  
he knew ; and ,he now presented a letter from James 

. his master to Hunsdon. Its contents were of a secret 
and, confidential kind, and related to the conspiracies,  
against Elizabeth, . which gave this Princess such per-
petual disquiet. After enjoining onHunsdon the strict-
est concealment' of all he was about to communicate 
from every living being, except his royal mistress, 
Gray informed him that the King of Scots meant to 
send him speedily as Ambassador to England, with 
some public and open message to Elizabeth ; under 
colour of which, he was to be entrusted with the com-
mission of disclosing all the secret practices of Mary. 
Iiad Hunsdon kept his promise, we should have known 
nothing of all this ; but, next morning, he communi- 
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cated it to Burghley, in a letter meant only fo.r his 
private eye. 	It is to the preservation of this letter, 
that we owe our knowledge of a transaction Which 
brings the young King, and his fa,4ourite the Master of 

_Gray, before us in the degrading light 'of informers : 
the one .betraying his mother ; the other'selling, for 
his own gain,' the secrets with which he had. been 
entrusted by his sovereign. 	This is so dark au accusa- 
tion, that I must substantiate it by an extract from 
the letter in qUestion. " Now, my Lord," said Iluns-
don, addressing Burghley, "for the principal point of 
such,  Conspiracies as are in hand against her Majesty, 
I am only to make her Majesty acquainted withal 
by what means -she shall know it—yet will I acquaint 
your lordship 'with all. 	The King did send the Mas- 
ter of Gray, at this meeting, to me, with a letter of 
commendation, under the King's own hand, whom 
he means presently to send to her Majesty, as though 
it were for some other matters ; but it is he that 
must discover all these practices, as one better ac-
quainted with them than either the King or the Earl, 
(but by him.)' He is very young, but wise and secret, 
as Arran doth assure me. 	He is, no doubt, very in- 
ward with the Scottish Queen, and all her affairs, both 
in England and France ; yea, and with the Pope, for 
he is accounted a Papist ; but for his religion, your 
lordship will judge when you see him ; but hew 
Majesty must use him as Arran will prescribe unto 
her ; and so shall she reap profit by him. 	* 	* 	* 

1 These words seem sriperfluons, yet they are in the original 
letter. 

VOL. VIII. 	 (-1, 
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I have written to Mr Secretary [Walsingham] for a 
safe conduct to him ; but nothing of the cause of his 
coming, but only to her Majesty and to your lord- 
ship. 	If Mr Secretary be slow for this safe conduct, 
I pray your lordship 'further it, for the matter re- 
quires no delay." 1 	 . 

The conference-  was now concluded, and Arran had 
succeeded in persuading Lord Hunsdon, not only of 
his sincerity and devotion to the service of Elizabeth, 
but of his entire hold over the mind of his royal 
master. If Lord Burghley, to whom he professed the 
utmost attachment, would cooperate firmly with him-
self and Hunsdon, and the Master of Gray, he was 
able, he affirmed, to hold the young King entirely at 
the devotion of the Queen of England. 	He did not 
despair to unite the two Crowns in an indissoluble 
league ; and, by exposing the practices of her enemies, 
to enable Elizabeth to traverse all the plots of Mary 
and the Roman Catholics. But there were two parties 
whom, he declared, they must put down at all risks. 
The one laboured for the liberty of the captive Queen, 
and her association in the government with her son. 
The other was, at this moment, intriguing in every 
way for the return Of Angus and the exiled lords; 
for the triumph of the Kirk over Episcopacy, and the • 
reestablishment of the republican principles which 
.had led to the Raid of Ruthven, and the other con-
spipcies for seizing the King, and using him as 
their tool. 	•The first party was supported by France, 

1 MS. Letter, St. P. Off:, Hunsdon to Burghley, 14th August, 
1584. 
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.Spain, and the Spanish faction of the Roman Catholics 
in England. 	Its agents on the Continent were the 
Bishops of Ross and Glasgow, whose emissaries, the 
Jesuits and seminary priests, were, at that moment, 
plotting in Scotland ; it possessed many friends in 
the Privy-council and nobility of Scotland,—such as, 
Maitland the Chancellor, Sir James and Sir Robert 
Melva,' the Earl of Huntley, and it might, indeed, 
be said, the whole body of the Roman Catholic peers 
in both countries. 	It was from this party that the 
late conspiracies against the Queen of England bad 
proceeded, as her Majesty would soon discover by the 
embassy of the Master of Gray ; and, if she listened 
to his (Arran's) advice, it would be no difficult matter 
to detach James for ever from his mother and her 
friends. 	But to effect this, she must put down the 
other faction of the banished lords. 	The King, he 
said, hated Angus, their leader ; and Angus and the 
whole house of Douglas, were still boiling in their 
hearts to revenge on their sovereign, and on Arran, 
the death of the Regent Morton. As to the baniShed 
lords of the house of Hamilton, their return must be 
his (Arran's) destruction; and, for the exiled ministers 

• of the Kirk, James was so incensed against them, 
and so bent upon the establishment of Episcopacy, 
that he would listen to no measures connected with 
their restoration. 	Yet this party for the return of 
the banished lords, was supported by Walsingham 
in England, and Davison her Majesty's Ambassador 

1  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Walsingham to Hunsdon, 12th Ang., 
1584. 
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in' Scotland; and their btisy agent, Colvile, was admit-
ted to secret audiences with -Elizabeth, and fed with 
'hopes of their return. 	If, Said Arran,' this policy 
werercontinaed; it would blast all his efforts for the 
binding his young master tothe.service of Elizabeth; 
for rather than one of. the banished lords should set 

. his foot in 'Scotland, James;• he was assured, would 
throw hiniself into The arms of. Frarice and Spain, 
and carry.through tile project of, an 'association. with 
his mothei the 'captive' queen. 

These arguments of 'Arran explain that jealousy 
and irritation which appeared rin many of Secretary 
Walsinrg,ham's 'letters regarding the conference be-
tween him and Hunsdon.. This crafty statesman was 
well aware that there -waS a conference within a con-
ference, to which lie was kept a; stranger; a secret 
:negotiation between Burghley and Ilunsdoi4 the ex- 
--act object 'of Which he could not - fathom ; but by 
-which he felt' la own' policy regarding Scotland 
shackled and defeated. 	He looked, therefore, with 
suspicion upon Btfrghley'd whole conduct in 'the 
affairs Of Scotland at this time : and theSe feelings 
were increased by the court which Arran had 'paid 
to Burghley's nephew, Sir Edward Hobyi who formed • 
one' of,thinsdon's suite at the conference. 

This accomplished person, on'  he conclusion of the 
conference, rode from Foulderi 'Kirk, with the EaJr1 
of Arran, to the ground where he had left hid troops ; 
the tlidtanee 'was three miles; they had ample tithe 
for secret talk.; and Hoby, next morning, described 
the 'conversation, in letters addressed both .to his 
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uncle Burghley, and , his kinsman Dr Parry .1 	-The 
Scottish Earl was particularly flattering and confi- 
dential. 	Bringing Hoby near his troops, which were 
admirably mounted and accoutred, he pointed to them 
significantly, and shaking his head, told him in these 
ranks there Were many principal leaders,, who would 
gladly. send- him • out, 'of- the world if they could, so 
mortally did they hate him ; -but he,feared them not. 
Nay, such' .was his powers and• his enemies'. weakness 
at this moment, that if. Elizabeth -would accept his 
offers, she should have twenty thousand men at' her 
service. 	'To devote -himself to her, indeed, would be 
his highest pride: 	As for France and Spain, he cared 
little for either. 	He neither needed their friendship, 
nor feared their enmity ; but with the favour of his 
royal master, could live in Scotland, independent of 
both ;• and for these conspiracies against his life, the 
same God who had defended him in Muscovy, Sweden, 
and Germany, would cast his shield over him at home. 
Arran then appears to have changed the subject to 
James's expectations as Elizabeth's successor, the 
state of England, the rival interests .of the Catholic 
and Protestant factions in reference to this delicate 
point, and the probable effects of Mary's intrigues 
for the recovery Of her liberty upon the prospects of 
Let son. 	So, at least, may be conjectured. from 
lloby's description of the great and weighty discourses 
into Which he entered ; and he ended by assuring 
him, that the King of Scots desired, of all things in 
the world, to place himself, and. his whole interests, 

I MS. Lotter, St. P. Off., Sir Edward Hoby to Dr Parry, Aug. 
15, 1584. 
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in the hands of Lord Burghley -and Lord Hunsdon, 
the one as the wisest head, and the other the boldest 
heart in England.1, 	When it is recollected that Arran 
was no friend of the Queen of Scots, and that Burghley 
was not only opposed to every schenie for her liberty, 
but had often repeated-  his conviction, that her life was 
inconsistent with Elizabeth's security, we require no 
more certain evidence of the melancholy fact, that 
James was ready, at this instant, to desert her cause 
and betray her designs to her bitterest enemies. 

On his return, from this conference, to the capital, 
Arran, presuming on its successful issue, resumed the 
management of affairs with a high and proud hand. 
A few days before he met Hunsdon he had, as we 
have just seen, discovered a conspiracy against the 
government. 	In this plot, the Captain of the Castle 
of Edinburgh had been detected tampering with 
Davison and Walsingham, for the delivery of the 
fortress into the bands of the English faction ; and. 
Arran wisely resolved to defeat all recurrence of 
such attempts, by taking possession of the place in 
person.' 	Ile, accordingly, removed the Governor and 
officers, substituted his own creatures in their room, 
demanded the keys of the crown jewels and wardrobe, 
from Sir Robert Melvil ; and, with his lady and 
household, occupied the royal apartments within 
the castles 	He had now four of the strongest fort. 

1 mS. Lotter, St. P. Off., Sir Edward 'Toby to Lord Burghley, 
Aug. 15, 1584. 

2  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Walsingbam to Davison, July 12, 
1.584 ; and Ibid., Walsingbam to Davison, Aug. 13, 1584. 

3  MS. St. P. Oft, Davison to Walsingliam, Aug. 16, 1584. 
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resses of the country at his devotion,—Dumbarton, 
Stirling, Blackness, and Edinburgh ; and his ambi-
tion, enlarging by what it fed on, he assumed a kingly 
consequence and ,  state which offended the ancient 
nobility, and excited their fear and envy. 	On his 
return from the conference at Foulden Kirk, he was 
welcomed with cannon by the castle ; a ceremony, as 
it was remarked, never used but in time of Parlia-
ment, and to. the King or Regents : and when, soon 
after, summonses were issued for the meeting of the 
three Estates; all the country looked forward with 
alarm to a renewal of the proscriptions and plunder 
which had already commenced against the exiled 
lords. 	But the reality even outran their anticipation. 
Arran, assisted by his lady, a woman whose pride and. 
insolence exceeded his own, domineered over the de-
liberations of Parliament; and, to the scandal of all, 
insisted on those Acts, which they had previously 
prepared, being passed at once without reasoning.i  
Sixty persons were forfeited ;2  many were driven to 
purchase pardons at a high ransom ; and the unhappy 
Countess of Gowrie was treated with a cruelty and 
brutality which excited the utmost commiseration in 
all who witnessed it. This lady, a daughter of Henry 
Stewart Lord Methven, on the last day of the Par-
liament, had obtained admission to an antechamber, 
where, as the King passed, she hoped to have an 

1 MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Davison to Niralsingbam, Aug. 24, 
1584. 

2  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Davison to Walsinglum, Aug. 16, 
1584. 
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oppoitanity of pleading ,for herself and her children, 
but, by Arran's orders, she was driven into the open 
street.. 	Here she patiently awaited' the,.King's re., 
turn, and cast herself, in an agony of tears, at ,his 
feet, attempting to clasp his knees : .but. Arran, who 
walked at James's hand,, hastily pulled him past, and, 
pushing the miserable suppliant aside, not only threw 
her down; bat brutally. trod ,upon her'as the cavalcade 
moved forward, leaving. her in a faint on ?the pave, 
ment. 	Can we wonder that the sonsCof this injured 
woman, bred up in the recollection of wrongsl.like 
thee,e, should, in later years, lave cherished in. their 
hearts the deepest appetite for. revenge ? 

Immediately after the .Parliament„ the King ,re-
paired to his palace ,at Falkland; whilst Arran, 
Montrose, and. the other lords of his party, now all, 
powerful, remained in Edinburgh, engaged in pressing 
on tile execution of the late Acts, for the confiscation 
and ruin of their opponents. 	Qf these, by far the 
most formidable was the Earl of Angus; who, al,  
though banishedi  and now .at Newcastle,'retained a 
great influence in Scotland. 	He was -the head of the 
Presbyterian,  faction in that Country, the ,great sup-
port: of the.exiled ministers; and it Was his authority 
with Walsingliam that traversed Arran's and James's 
schemes for,  a league between England and Scotland, 
Oil the broad basis of the establishment of Episcopacy. 
.I t was resolved4 therefore, to ,cut off this baron ; and 
Arran, and his colleague Montrose, the head of the 
powerful house of Graham, made no scruple of look-
ing out for some desperate retainer, or hired villain, 
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to whom they might commit the task. 	Nor, in'these 
dark times, was such a search likely to prove either 
long or difficult. 	They accordingly soon pitched 
upon Jock or John Graham of Peartree, whom Mon. 
trose knew to have a bleed feud with Angus; sent a 
little page called Mouse to bring the,  Borderer to 
Edinburgh; feaSted and , caressed him during the 
time of the' Parliament, and carried him afterwards 
to Falkland, where the . two Earls, and • the King, 
proposed to him not only to assassinate their hated 
eneMy, but to 'make awayr with Mar and Cambus- 
keuneth, his brother exiles, at the same time. 	Jock 
at once agreed to murder,  Angus, and was promised 
a high reward by the young monarch ; but he de-
clined having anything to do with Mar or Cambus-
kenneth, with whom he had no quarrel ; and he loft 
the palace, after receiving from Montrose a short 
matchlock, or riding-piece, -which was deemed ser- 
viceable for the purpose in hand. 	But this atrocious 
design was'not destined to succeed. 	The villain, who 
was probably lurking about in the neighbourhood of 
Newcastle, was detected and seized, carried before 
Lord Scrope, compelled to confess his intention ; and 
information of the whole plot was, immediately trans,- 
mitted, by Scrope to Walsingham.1 	The English 
Secretary recommended, that the discovery should 
be kept a secret from all, except Angus and, Mar, 
who, were privately warned of the practices against 

! MS. Letter, St. P. Off., B.C., 22d. Dee., 1584, Sorope to 
1Valsingham. "For the matter of Pearttee, I have kept the same 
keeret, saving to the Earls of Angus and Mar, who, I trust, will 
lisp it as the same belnyveth." 
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them ; and it is from the confession of the Borderer 
himself, which he made before Scrope, that these 
particulars are given. 	The intended assassin thus 
described his interview with the King : 	After stat 
ing that he had arrived late at night at the palace, 
they brought him, he said, into the King's gallery;  
where he [the King] was alone by himself: and 'only 
he, Montrose, and Arran, and this examinant, being 
together, the King himself did move him, as the 
other two had done, for the killing of Angus, Mar, 
and Cambuskenneth : to whom, he answered, that for 
Alar and Cambuskenneth, he would not meddle with 
them ; but for Angus, he would well be contented to. 
do that, so as the King would well reward him for 
that. 	And the King said, he would presently give 
him sixty French crowns, and twenty Scottish pound. 
land to him and his for, ever, lying in Strathern, near 
Montrose.' 

These facts are so distinctly and minutely recorded 
in the manuscript history of Calderwood, who has 
given the whole of Graham's declaration, that it was 
impossible to omit them ; but although there is little 
doubt of the truth of the intended murder, as far as 
Arran and Montrose are concerned, it would be, per- 
haps, unfair to believe in the full implication of the 
young King, on the single evidence of this Border 
assassin. 	To return, however, from this digression 
to Arran's headlong career. 	His hand, which had 

1 MS. Calderwood, Brit. Mus., 1468. 	Examination of Jock 
Graham of Peartree; taken before the Lord &rope, Warden of tho 
West Marches at Carlisle, 25th Nov., 1384. 	 • 
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recently fallen.  so heavily on the nobility, was now 
lifted against the Kirk. 	Proclamation was made 
that all ministers should give' up the rental of their 
benefices ; and that none should receive stipend but 
such as had subscribed .the new-framed policy, by 
which Presbytery was abrogated and Episcopacy 
established. 	As was to be expected, many of the 
clergy resisted, and were commanded to quit the 
country within twenty days : nor were they perniit-
ted, as before, to take refuge with their banished 
brethren in England or Ireland.' 	All this was car- 
ried through at the instigation of the primate, Arch-
bishop Adamson ; who had recently returned from 
England, and exerted himself to purify the Univer-
sities from the leaven of Presbyterian doctrine, and 
to fill the vacant pulpits with ministers attached to 
the new form of policy. 	His efforts, however, met 
with bitter opposition. 	At St Andrew's, the Archi- 
episcopal palace in which Adamson resided, was sur-
rounded by troops of students, who armed themselves 
with harquebusses, and paraded round the walls, 
bidding the primate remember how fatal that see 
had been to his predecessor, and look for no better 
issue. 	Montgomery the Bishop of Glasgow was 
attacked in the streets of Ayr by a mob of women 
and boys, who with difficulty were restrained from 
stoning him, and kept pouring out the vilest abuse, 
calling him Atheist dog, schismatic excommunicate 
beast, unworthy to breathe or bear life.' 	Some of 

' MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Davison to Walsingliam, Aug. I a, 
15.84. 	 2  Ibid. 
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the ministers, .also,' refusing to imitate the example 
of their brethren rwho had fled froth their flocks, re-
mained to brave the resentment of the Court ; and 
taking their lives .in - their hands, openly preached 
against the late acts, and declared .their resolution 
not to obey them. 	The anathema of one of these, 
named Mr John Hewison,' minister ,  of Cambuslang, 
has been preserved. • 	It ig more remarkable, 'cer- 
tainly, for its courage than its charity ; and.may be 
taken as an example of the tone •of the high Puritan 
faction, to which he belonged. 	Preaching in the 
Blackfriars at Edinburgh, on the text which declares 
the resolute answer of St Peter.and St Paul. to the 
Council of the PhariseCs, he passed from the general 
application to the trials of the Kirk at that moment, 
and brokb out into these words ;----.0  But'what shall 
we say? 	There is injunction' now'. given :by ane' 
Wicked and godless counsel, .te.stop the mouths of 
the ministers from teaching of the truth ; and sic' a 
godless order Made, itis the like was never seen be:. 
fore. 	There is ane held 3  of the Kirk made ; there 
being no,' held but Jesus Christ, nor cannot. be. 
Stinking and baggage heidis ! 5  an excommunicated 
sanger !8  an excommunicate willane,7  ivlia sail never 
be obeyed here ! 	We Will acknowledge na Prince, 
na Magistrate, in. teaching of the Word ; nor be 
bounden to na injunctions, nor obey na acts of Par-
liament, nor na other thing that is repugnant to the 

' Anc, one. 	2  Sic, such. 	$ Heid, head: 
4  Na, none. 	. 	A lleidis, heads. 	I  Sanger, singer. 
7  Willane, villain. 
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Word 'of God: . but will do as Peter . and John said, 
Better obey God nor. man. 	But, it is not the King 
that .does this., 	It is the wicked, godless, and villane 
counsel lie has, and other godless persons, that infornt 
his Majesty wrangously,1  whereof there is aneugh2  
about him. 	For my own part,1 he continued, warm- 
ing in .his subject with the -thoughts of persecution, 
" I ken 3  I will be noted. 	I regard not. 	What can 
the King get of me ,but my head and my blood ?. 	1 
sail never obey their injunctions ; like as I request all 
faithful folk to do the like?" 	The prediction of this 
bold minister was so far , verified, that he was appre-
hended, and order given to bring him to justice ; but 
for some reason hot easily discovered, the trial did 
not take place.' 

It was at this Same time, that Mr David Lindsay, 
one of the persecuted. ministers, whose Mind, in the 
solitude of his prison at Blackness, had been worked 
into a state of feverish enthusiasm, was reported to 
have seen an extraordinary vision. 	.Suddenly, in the 
firmament, there appeared a figure in the likeness of a 
man; of glorious shape and surpassing brightness 
the sun was above his head, the moon beneath his feet 
and be seemed to stand in the midst of the stars. 	As 
the captive gazed, an angel alighted at the feet of thiS 
transcendant Being, bearing in his right hand'a red 

1  Wringously, wtongfully. 	2  Anetigli, eitougli. 
3  Ken, know. 	 _ 
4  MS. SL P.. Off., orig., Accusation of Mr John iieWiSOn. 
2  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Davison to Walsingham, July 14, 

1584. 
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naked sword, and in his left a scroll ; to whom the 
glorious shape seemed to give commandment ;—upon 
.which, the avenging • angel, for so he now appeared 
to be, flew rapidly through the heavens, and lighted 
on the ramparts of a fortress ; which Lindsay recog- 
nized as the Castle of Edinburgh. 	Before its gate 
stood the Earl of Arran and his flagitious consort : 
the Earl gazing in horror on the destroying minister, 
who waved his sword above his head ; his Countess 
smiling in derision, and mocking his fears. 	The 
scene then changed : the captive was carried to an 
eminence, from which he looked down upon the laud, 
with its wide fields, its cities and palaces. 	Sud- 
denly the same terrible visitant appeared : a cry of 
lamentation arose from its inhabitants ; fire fell from 
heaven on its devoted towns.--the sword did its work 
—the rivers ran with blood—and the fields were 
covered with the dead. 	It was a fearful sight ; but, 
amidst its horrors, a little bell was heard; and, within 
a church which had stood uninjured even in the flames, 
a remnant of the faithful assembled; to whom the 
angel uttered these words of awful admonition.— 
" Metuant Justi. Iniquitatem fugite. Dcligite Justi- • 
tiam et Judicium ; aut cito revertar et posteriora, 
erunt pejora prioribus."' 	Lindsay asserted that it 
was impossible for him to ascertain whether this 
Beene, which seemed to shadow out the persecutions 
and prospects of the Kirk, was a dream or a vision ; 

1 Sir George Warrender. 	MS. vol.. B., fol. 50. 	" A vision 
[which] appeared to Mr David Lindsay, he being in his bed in 
the house of Blackness, in the month of October, 1584. 
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but it brought to his mind, he said, a prophecy 
of Knox.; who, not long before his death, had pre-
dicted great peril to the faithful in the eighteenth 
year of the reign of James. 

Elizabeth now recalled Davison from Scotland,' 
and looked anxiously for James's promised Ambas-
sador, the Master of Gray, whose mission had, as 
she thought, been somewhat suspiciously delayed. 
But this gave her the less anxiety, as she had, in the 
meantime, continued her correspondence with the 
banished lords; whom, at any moment, she was ready 
to let loose • against Arran and the King.' 	She, at 
the same time, resumed her negotiations with Mary; 
and this unfortunate princess, who had so often been 
deluded with hopes, which withered in the expected 
moment of accomplishment, was, at last, induced to 
believe that the blessed period of freedom had arrived. 
Even Walsingham declared himself pleased with her 
offers, and advised that his royal mistress should be 
satisfied with them.3 	Such was the crisis seized 
by the accomplished villany of the Master of Gray, 
to betray his royal mistress, and to enter the service 
of Elizabeth. 	Before he threw off the mask, he had 
the effrontery to write to Mary, affecting the highest 
indignation at the suspicions she had expressed of 
his fidelity ; and declaring, that the best mode to 
serve her interests was that which he was now 

1  MS: Letter, St. P. Off., Davison to Walsingham, 17th Sept., 
1584. 

I MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Walsingbam to Captain Reid, 2.3d 
Reptember, 1584. 

8  Sadler Papers by Scott, vol. ii. 
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he  following. 	It was necessary, he said, that'the young 
King her son, should, in the first instance, treat solely 
for himself with Elizabeth, and abandon all thoughts 
of "the association" with his mother. 	This, he 
affirmed, would disarm suspicion; and James, having 
gained the confidence of the English Queen, might 
be able to negotiate for her liberty. 	But Mary, who 
was already aware of Gray's treachery, from the re-
presentations of Fontenay the -French Ambassador, 
promptly and indignantly answered, that any one who 
proposed such a separation between her interests and 
those of her son, or who opposed " the association," 
which was almost concluded, must be her enemy, and 
in that light she would regard him. 	To this Gray 
returned an angry answer, and instantly set off for 
England.' 	. 

At Berwick, he had a private consultation with 
Hunsdon, whose• heart he gained by his sanctimoni-
ous deportment in the EngliSh church, and by the 
frankness with which he communicated his instruc- 
tions. 	His principal object, he declared, was to in- 
sist, that the banished lords should either be delivered 
up by Elizabeth, or dismissed from her dominions. 
If this were done, ar if the Queen were ready to 
pledge her word that it should be done, he was pre-
pared, he said, to disclose all he knew of the secret 
plots against her person and government .; and lie 
would pledge himself, that no practice had been 
undertaken, for the last, five years, against herself, or 
her Estate, by France, Spain, the Scottish Queen, or 

1  Papers of Master of Gray, Pannatyne Club, p. 30-37. 
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the Pope, but she should know it, afirhoV.  to avoid: 
it .1 	Gray had been expressly ordered by James 
to hold his confidential communications with Burgh-
ley alone, and to repose no trust in Walsingham, 
whom the young King regarded as his enemy. 	From- 
Arran lie had received the same injunctions; and 
nothing could exceed the 'confidence which both. 
monarch and minister seemed disposed to place in 
Cecil. 	The King paid court to him in a long pedan- 
tic letter, written wholly in his own hand ; in which 
he discoursed learnedly upon Alexander the Great 
and Horner ; modestly disclaiming any parallel be-
tween himself and the conqueror of Darius, but 'ex-
alting Cecil far above.  such " a blind, begging fellow" 
as the Grecian bard. 	Ile addressed him as his friend 
and cousin,and assured him, that he considered himself 
infinitely fortunate in being permitted to confide his 
most secret affairs to such a counsellor; to whom, he-
was convinced, he already owed all the prosperity 
which hitherto had attended him .2 	Arran, at the 
same time, wrote in the most flattering and confiden-
tial terms to Sir Edward Hoby, Burghley's nephew ; 
and Hunsdon was requested by James to repair from 
Betwick to the English Court, that lie might assist 
in their consultations.' 

Gray now proceeded to London, and was speedily 
admitted to an audience of Elizabeth. 	It may be 
necessary, for a moment, to attend to the exact atti-

i Himsdon to Burghley, 19th Oct., 1584, Paper4 of Master of 
Cray, p. 13. 

2  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., James to Burghley, 14th Oct., 1584. 
3  Id. Ibid. 
VOL. VIII. 	 B 
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tude and circumstances in which this Princess now 
stood. 	She had the party of the banished lords, now 
in England, at her command. 	Angus, Mar, Lord 
Arbroath the head of the house of Hamilton, Glarnmrs, 
and many other powerful barons, were in constant 
communication with Walsingham ; their vassals on 
the alert ; the exiled ministers of the Kirk eager to 
join and march alongwith them. Theyheldthemselves 
ready at her beck; and she had only to give the word 
for them to cross the Border and attack Arran, to 
have it instantly obeyed. 	On the side of Mary, this 
poor captive had been drawn on, by the prospect of 
freedom, to offer the sacrifice of everything which 
belonged to her as an independent Princess, and which 
she could give up with honour. 	By the long-con- 
templated " association " with her son, she had agTeed 
to resign the government into his hands, and to re-
nounce for ever all connexion with public affairs, were 
she only allowed to live in freedom, with the exercise 
of her religion. 	IIere, then, the Queen of England 
had only to consent ; and, in the opinion of even the 
suspicious Walsingham, she was safe. 

Such was the state of things, when the Master of 
Gray made his proposals from a third party,—the 
young King and Arran. 	From his intimate know- 
ledge of the most secret transactions of the Scottish 
Queen and the Catholic faction, he was possessed, as 
he affirmed, of information which vitally touched 

	

her Majesty's person and estate.' 	This he was ready 

	

1  Papers of the 111-fiter of Gray, p. 13. 	Ilunsdon to Burghley, 
19th October, 1584. 
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to reveal.; but on condition that she would deliver 
up the banished lords, or drive them out of her domi-
nions ; break off all treaty with Mary on the subject 
of the association; and advance a large sum of money, 
in the shape of an annual proof of her affection to the 
young King. 	The first was absolutely necessary ; 
for the King his master was animated with the 
strongest hatred of his rebels. The secondwas equally 
so ; for Mary's liberty was inconsistent with the 
security of both the Queen of England and James : 
her unshaken attachment to the Roman Catholic faith, 
rendering any " association " with her son highly 
dangerous to Elizabeth ; whose efforts ought to be 
directed to separate their interests, and to secure the 
establishment of a government in Scotland under 
a minister opposed to 	Mary. 	And here 	Gray 
artfully laid the foundation of his own rise with Eliza- 
beth, and Arran's disgrace. 	Arran, he insinuated, 
was not so deeply devoted to her Majesty, or so 
hostile to the Scottish Queen as he pretended. 	He 
was proud, capricious, tyrannical, and completely venal. 
The King, too, was in such need of money, that Eliza-
beth would do well to remember that his politics, at 
this time, depended on the supply of his purse. 	If 
France bid highest, France would have both the min- 
ister and his master. 	Arran, too, by his pride and 
extortions, was daily, almost hourly, raising up a 
formidable party against him. 	None dared to aspire 
to any interest with the King, whom he did not 
attack and attempt to ruin. 	Already he, the:Master 
of Gray, was the object of his jealousy and hatred, 
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for the favour with which the King regarded him. 
All was yet, indeed, smooth and smiling between them; 
but he knew well, this very embassy had been given 
him with the view of separating him from his master. 
The storm was brewing ; but, if Arran tried to wreck 
him as he had done so many others, he might chance, 
proud as he wad, to have a fall .himself. 	So con- 
fident did he 'feel , in the love of his royal master, 
if Elizabeth-  would grant him her, support, he was 
certain he could supplant this insolent favourite, 
gain the young King, -unite England and Scotland in 
an indissoluble league, recall the banished lords; over-
whelm all the' secret plots of the Roman Catholics, 
and completely separate Mary and her son. To. effect 
all this, however, Would require 'time ; for, on two 
points, the King would be hard to be moved. 	If the 
exiles came back, they would bring' Melva and the 
banished ministers of the Kirk along with them ; and; 
at this moment, the very mention of such a iresult,  
-would excite James's determined opposition, 

Elizabeth was highly pleased with this proposal. 
She had long distrusted Arran ; and felt that her best 
security lay in the return of the Protestant lordp. 
She was anxious to break off her negotiation with 
Mary ; but did not like the odium of such a 'course. 
The• blame would be thrown on' the King of peots 
by Gray's'plan ; and this she liked mach. 	She knew 
the unremitting efforts of France and Spain, to gain 
the young King ; and felt fissured, that her only safe-
guard would be an q association'! -between i her own 
kingdom,  and -Scotland, from which Mary should 
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be entirely excluded ; and the basis of which should 
be the defence of the reformed religion against 
the perpetual attacks of the Roman Catholics in 
Europe. 

There were some circumstances of recent occur-
rence 'c hich.  greatly strengthened her in this course. 
Father Crichton, a Jesuit, happening to be on his 
voyage to Scotland from Flanders, the vessel was 
chased by pirates, and ne was observed to tear some 
papers and cast them away. But the wind blew them 
back into the ship: they were picked up, put to-
gether, and found to contain a proposal for an inva-
sion of England by Spain and the Duke_of Guise. 
As one object proposed here,' and in all such plots 
was the delivery of the Queen of Scots and the de-
thronement of Elizabeth, their-constant recurrence 
was now met by an " association" for the protection 
of the English Queen's government mid life, first pro-. 
posed by Leicester, and eagerly subscribed by persons 
of all ranks and denominations. 	,The terms of this 
association were afterwards solemnly approved by 
Parliament, and an act passed for the safety of the 
Queen's person. 	It stated, that if any invasion or 
rebellion should be made in her dominions, or any 
enterprise attempted against her person, by or jilt• 
any person pretending a title to the crown after her 
death, she might, by a commission under the Great 
Seal, constitute a court for the trial of such offences, 
and which should have authority to pass sentence upon 
them. 	It added, that a judgment of " Guilty" having 
been pronounced, it should immediately be made pub- 
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lie; and that all persims against whom such sentence 
was passed, Should be excluded from all claim to the 
crown, and be liable to be prosecuted to the death, 
with their aiders and abettors, by her Majesty's sub- 
jects.' 	This league was evidently most unjust to- 
wards the Scottish Queen, as it made her responsible, 
and liable to punishment, for the actions of persons 
over whom she bad no control. 	She saw this ; and 
at once declared that the " association" had no other 
object than indirectly to compass her ruin. 	But if 
alarming to Mary, it was proportionably gratifying 
to Elizabeth. 	Sho persuaded herself that if her sub- 
jects thus united to protect her person, and preserve 
the reformed faith, she ought vigorously to second 
their efforts ; and this inclined her to look graciously 
on Gray. 	The measures, therefore, proposed by him 
were adopted. 	It was resolved to undermine Arran, 
as the first step for the restoration of the banished 
lords ; and the other objects, it was trusted, would 
follow. 	To cooperate with Gray, Sir Edward 
Wotton was chosen to succeed Davison as Am- 
bassador in Scotland. 	He was a man of brilliant 
wit and insinuating address, a great sportsman, an 
adept in hunting and " wood-craft ;" and these qua-
lities, with a present of eight couple of the best 
hounds, and some choice horses, would, it was be-
lieved, entirely gain the heart of the young King. 
Wotton, too, as we learn from Sir James Melvil, was 
a deep plotter, and capable of the darkest designs,- 

. 
I 	Carte*  vol. iii. p. 587. 
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whilst to the world he seemed but an elegant, light-
hearted, and thoughtless man of fashion. 

Having laid these schemes for the ruin of his cap-
tive Sovereign, -and Of Arran his friend, the Master of 
Gray returned to the Scottish Court, and received 
the thanks of the King, and his still all-powerful 
'favourite, for the success with which he had con- 
ducted his negotiations' 	To disarm suspicion, it was 
judged prudent that, for some time, all should go on 
serenely. 	Elizabeth wrote in flattering terms to 
Arran. 	She, at the - same time, commanded the 
banished lords to remove from Newcastle into the 
interior ;2  and, in return for this, Gray "hadthe satis7  
faction of assuring her, that he found the King his 
master in so loving a disposition towards her, that 
he could not feel More warmly were he her natural.  
son. 	lie was equally successful in at once creating 
a breach between Mary and James. 	The just and 
merited contempt with which Fontenay, the French 
Ambassador, had stigmatized Gray's base desertion 
of that Princess, furnished him with a subject of com- 
plaint to the King and Council ; and he so artfully 
represented the dangerous consequences which must 
follow " an association" between the young King and 
his mother, that it was unanimously resolved it should 
never take places 

This was a great point gained ; and to secure fur- 
1  MS:Letter, Master of Gray to Elizabeth, 24th Jan., 1584-5. 

Ibid., Colvile to Walsingham, 31st Dec., 1584. 	Also, Papers of 
Master of Gray, p. 41, Master of Gray to Walsingham, 24th Jan., 
1554-5. 

2  MS. St. P. Off., Col•ile to Welsingham, 31st Dec., 1584. 
3  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Master of Gray under the title of 

Le Liemau to Elizabeth. 
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-ther success, he implored Elizabeth and her ministers 
to humour James, for the present, by entirely casting 
-off Angus and the exiled lords ; whose despair was 
great when they found the predicament in which they 
stood. Theyappealed in urgent terms to Walsingham ; 
declared that even now, if the Queen would say the 
-word, they would break across the. Border, surprise 
the Orson of the King, and chase Arran with igno- 
miny froin the. country. 	Everything was, ready for 
Such an effort, and their friends only. waited their 
arrival. 	But. their proposed conspiracy was coldly 
received. 	Wa1singham wrote to them, that her Ma- 

-jestyl  seeing' the hard success of the late enterprise 
-at Stirling, Was doubtful some like plot might have 
like issue ; and preferred a.more temperate System of 

._mediation, 	in 	Scottish affairs, 	to a' more violent 
course.' 	The 	exiles, 	therefore, 	submitted ; 	and 
James and Arran, exulting in their success, recom- 
menced their persecution of the Kirk. 	 t 

All ministers were compelled, on penalty of depri- 
,vation,to subscribe the acts ofParliament which estab-
lished the Episcopal form of Government ; forbidden 
to hold the slightest intercourse with their brethren 
who had fled for cohscience sake ; and even prosecuted • 
if they dared to pray for them? 	This extreme seve- 
.rity appears to ,have been enforced by a Very general 
submission to the obnoxious acts ; and as it was fel- 

.lowed up by the removal of the banished lords linto 
• the interior of England, and a prohibition of any 

' 1  31S Letter, St, P. 011:61Valsingliarit to Colvile, in. 10, 
1.584-5. 	 . I 
' Spottiswood, p. 336. 
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Scottish minister from preaching, publicly or pri-
vately, in that realm, the cause was considered at 
the lowest ebb. 	A letter, written by David Hume, 
one of the exiles, from Berwick, to Mr James Car-
michael, a recusant brother of the Kirk, .gave some 
details which carried sorrow to the hearts of the 
brave little remnant which still stood out against the 
Court. 	It told, in homely, but expressive phrase, 
that all the ministers betwixt. Stirling and Berwick, 
all, Lothian, and all the Merse, had subscribed with 
only ten exceptions ; amongst whom, the most noted 
were Patrick Simpson and Robert Pont ; that the 
Laird of Dun, the most venerable champion of the 
Kirk, had so far receded from his primitive faith as 
to have become a pest to the ministry in the north; 
that John Durie, who had so long resisted, had 
"crackedhis curple"1  at last, and closed his mouth; that 
John Craig, so long the coadjutor of Knox and John 
Brande, his colleague, had submitted; that the pul-
pits in Edinburgh were nearly silent—so fearful had 
been the defection—except, said he, a very few, who 
sigh and sob under the Cross. 	His own estates, he 
added, had been forfeited, his wife and children. beg-
gared; and yet he might be grateful he was alive,thongh 
in exile, for at home terror occupied all hearts. 	No 
iman, said he in conclusion, while he lieth down, iz 
Aure of his life till day.' 

Cracked ilia curple. 	Curple, Scots; f. e. e ruppet; meaning 
that the 6rupper had broken, and Durie, saddle and all, had come 
violently to the ground. 

2  MS. Letter in MS. Calderwood, Brit. Alas., Aysough, 4736, 
fol. 1528. 	 • 
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This miserable picture was increased in its horrors 
by the violent proceedings of Arran against all con-
nected with the banished lords; by his open con-
tempt of the laws, and the shameful venality of his 
government. 	His pride, his avarice, his insolence 
to the ancient nobility, and impatience of all who 
rivalled him in the King's affections, made his go-
vernment intolerable ; and the Master of Gray, be-
ginning to find that he was looked upon with sus-
picion by this daring man, concluded that the moment 
had come for the mortal struggle between them. 

At this time, Sir Edward Wotton, the English Am- 
bassador, arrived in Edinburgh. 	He was instructed 
to congratulate James on his wise determination to 
break off " the association" with his mother, the 
captive Queen ; and to encourage him to enter into 
a firm league with England. 	The Ambassador was 
also directed by Elizabeth to hold out to the Scottish 
King good hopes of a pension ; but Walsingham, her 
prudent Secretary, advised him not rashly to name 
the sum set down in his instructions, as its small 
sound might rather do harm than good.' As he found 
opportunity, he was to sound the King, also, on the 
subject of his marri•iage, naming the King of Den-
mark's daughter ; and to assure him; that his deep 
animosity against the banished lords, was, in her 
opinion, immoderate and unjust. 	Last summer, she 
said, the Earl- of Arran had, in his letters to her, 
accused them of a conspiracy against his life ; and 

1 ms. St. P. Oft,, Minute, Wal.,..inglIam to Wotton, 23d May, 
1585. 
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now, recently, she had investigated a similar tale 
brought up by James's Ambassador, the Justice-
clerk : but both tales, in the end, proved so weak and 
groundless, that she had good cause to think them 
maliciously devised to serve some end.' 

Such were Wotton's open instructions; and, as he 
seconded all he said by a present of eight couple of 
buckhounds, and brought some noble horses for the 
royal stud,  James - received him with the youthful 
boisterous delight, which such gifts usually produced 
in the royal mind. 	But the Ambassador had a darker 
and more secret commission. . During Gray's late 
stay at the Court of England, he had contrived, with 
the approvakof Elizabeth, and the assistance of Wal- 
Bingham, a plot for the destruction of Arran ; and 
Bellendeu the Justice-clerk, who had recently visited 
England, had been prevailed on by the Queen to join 
it. 	Wotton was now sent down to take the manage- 
ment ; and at the moment when he arrived, he found 
the' Master of Gray deliberating with• his brother 
conspirators, whether it were best to seize and dis- 
coure their enemy, or to assassinate him. 	The Lord 
Maxwell, now best known by the title of Earl of 
Morton, had joined the plot, having a mortal feud 
with Arran ; and it is not improbable the more vio-
lent course would have been chosen, when Gray 

1 MS. St. P. Off., Instructio'ng to Sir Edward Wotton, April, 
1385. 

2  To discourt ; a phrase not unusual in the letters of this time; 
meaning to banish any minister from the King's presence and 
councils. 
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-received, 	by the haiids %of' Wiitteli,':.u;) letter freni 
Elizabeth, redenrinehdingi them to slia,re him. 	'Wel- 
ton next 'day *rote Itho to Waliingh'ani: " I — ' '1  

" i'y, 'my letter that. miself! -did Al'eliver to' the 
Master of. Gray from her Majesty, their. :fiurpOse .ig 
altered; 'at her MajeSty"s' request; to ' deal' with 'him 
by iiolender;. notWithst6ling; updn the loast.decasion 
that 'shall' be Offered; they mean' tOlniake ShOrb *oil' 
.with 'him."'''. .Gray, alid; on the isaMe day,: addresSed: 
a'10ter'loith :kngligh.' Seoretaiir, isSuriliglhili, rthati 
he would comply with' 'the (QueeiN wishes,,and' not 
resort to 'violence; Texe60 'he,  saiV• smite hazard to 'his 
O/ivii life.' 'Adding, eniphati6any and. truly, as to his 
own 'character,' " when life 'is' gone all' is gone' to .ine."1  

In the' inidgi 'el these' ' dark. intrigues, all Avis rbtistle 
and pleasure 'a l l the ScottiSli .COUrt.- 'i The King 
hunted;feasted,' and. Made trOkresseS1O biSIdifferent 
palaces, 'and the' 'seats ;11-ns nobility.. 	The Anibao, 
ga,dgr, iii tiirhoSe SOcietylietoOk much delfght,attend'ed 
hiin 'on' all .  his i expreditions ; 06eaSionalily .  mingling 
State affair's 'tqith -.the 'chase, . or !the inasque; oii the 
banquet `; r  recemthendingifthel speedy 'adjustment . of 
the letigue With' 	lizabieth ;' sounding .him lightly oii 

- the point of his marriage ; touching' oii the friefiiiil 
eli4ly.divisiOng amongst lei's nobility, which; were iii- 
eiensed.' by his 'contirinled. ' severity to ' the 'banished 
lords ,  'and sonieticae 	'adverting, 'with extreme cant 

.i. 12via.  Traeoi, Si. i'l: Off., iiraion.  'io Walsibgbatufi 31% Way, 
1585. 	't  1 	' 	. 	i 	1 	, 	, 	. 	, 	I  

? iS. Li3tter, St. P. oi, Masfer'of Ciiay to Walsingiliuff;  814 I May, 1585. 	 . 	' 	1 	1  , 	• 	r' 

   
  



1585. 	 JAMES VI. 	 253 

tion, and in general terms, to the delicate subject of 
the promised pension. 	To the league with England, 
James showed the strongest inclination. 	It appeared 
to him, he said, most• wise and necessary, that the 
" Confederacy," which had recently been entered into 
by the various Roman Catholic Princes, to prosecute 
the professors of the reformed faith, should be .met 
by a union of the Protestant powers in their defence; 
and when the various heads of this treaty, transmitted 
by Walsingham to Wotton, were laid before him, 
they Met with his cordial approbation.1 	On his 
marriage, he showed no disposition to speak with 
seriousness ; and Gray assured Wotton, that to deal. 
lightly in that matter would be best policy, his young 
master having no inclination to match himself at 
this moment. 	his mind was wholly engrossed with 
his pastime, hunting, and his buckhounds. 	Of this 
passion, a' ludicrous outbreak occurred shortly be- 
fore Wotton's arrival. 	James, at the end of a sharp 
and successful run, calling for a cup of wine, drank 
to all his dogs ; and, in particular, selecting and tak-
ing the paw of an old hound, named Tell Trite, who 
had greatly distinguished himself, he thus apostro-
phized his favourite : " Tell True, I drink to thee 
above all my hounds ; and would sooner trust thy 
tongue than either Craig or the Bishop." 	Craig was 
the royal chaplain, and the prelate, Montgomery 

1 MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Wotton to Walsingharn, 5th June, 
1 58 5. 	Ibid., 7th Juno, 1585, Heads of the League. 	ibid., Wal- 
singham to Wotton, 27th June, 1585. 	Also, Ibid., Thomas . 
Miller to Archibald Douglas, 8th July, 1 58 5. 
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Bishop of Glasgow. 	This anecdote was reported 
again to the banished ministers of the Kirk ; and 
mourned over more seriously, and as pointing to 
a deeper depravity, than it seems to have indi-
cated.' 

Wotton was pleased to find that James continued 
constant in his resolution not to enter into any asso-
ciation with the captive Queen ; but, on the other 
hand, there were two subjects on which the young 
monarch was immoveable,—his love for Arran, and 
his enmity to the banished Protestant Lords and their 
ministers. These were terrible stumbling-blocks in the . 
way of his negotiation ; and as the conspirators sus-
pected that, Arran was already intriguing with France, 
to traverse the league with England, many secret 
conversations took place between the English Am-
bassador and the conspirators, as to the propriety of 
cutting off this powerful favourite at once, before he 
did more mischief. Wotton duly and minutely commu-
nicated what passed, at such interviews, to Walsing-
ham and Elizabeth; and although the letters are, in 
many places, written in cipher, and wherever the 
intended murder is directly mentioned, the words 
have been 	partially scored out ; 	still, fortunately 
for, the truth, we. have a key to the cipher, and the 
erasure is often legible. 	Strange and revolting as it 
may sound to the ears of modern jurisconsults, it is 
nevertheless certain, 	that the 	Lord Justice-clerk 

Calderwood MS., Brit. Mm., fol. 1528, David Hume to Mr 
James Carmichael, 20th March, 1584-5. 
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Menden, the late Ambassador to England, and the 
highest criminal judge in the country, promised Wot-
ton to fl id au assassin of Arran, if he would engage 
that his royal mistress would protect him. 	Wotton 
was much puzzled with this, and still more embar-
rassed when he received a private visit from the pro-
posed murderer himself ; who figures in his letter as 
38, and appears to have been Douglas, Provost of 
Lincluden.1 	The English Ambassador had been 
carefully warned not to implicate Elizabeth, by any 
promises, but to leave the matter to themselves ; and 
as it is curious 10 observe how, in those times, an 
Ambassador informed a Secretary of State of an in-
tended assassination, and probed his mind as to the 
encouragement which should be held out, it may 
be interesting to give some short passages of his letter 
to Walsingham. 	" The Tuesday, in the morning, 38 
came likewise to me, that used, in effect, the same 
discourse that 

	

	had done before, all tending to — 
which, for the a necessity of 	. 	; 	 weal of 

the realms, should be done, so that the doers of it 
have thanks for their labour. 	I propounded to him, 
whether he might not be better discourta by way of 
justice. 	' Yea,' quoth he, ' worthily for twenty of-- 
fences ; but the king will not admit such proceedings: 
Then I asked if 20 [Morton] might not attempt it, 
seeing he was already engaged ; but that, for want of 
secrecy,. he said, and distance, was full of danger. 
At last I perceived, by his speech, that himself was 

1  MS-. Letter, Wotton to Walsiugliam, June 9, 1385. Caligala, 
C. viii. fol. 109. 
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to do it * * *. 	The thing he requires, as he saith, 
is to have thanks for his labours, and for his good 
affection he bears to her Majesty : and if he fortune 
to despatch it, that he be relieved with some money, 
to support him in the estate of a gentleman, till hd 
were able to recover the King's favour again.; and 
this •I trust, guoth he, 14 [the Earl of Leicester] 
and 15 [Mr Secretary] will not deny.—In general 
speeches, I told him that your HonourS were person-
ages that had him in special recommendation * * *. 
I told him I would make relation of this matter to 
your Honours : and he said he would write himself 
to Mr Secretary ; and so praying me, if I did write 
aught, to commit , his name to cipher, we depart- 
ed." 	This is a very shocking picture ; but the 
quiet .way in which the intended murderer of Arran 
talked of his projected deed, is, perhaps, less abhorrent 
than Wotton's enrn words to the Justice-clerk, when 
this dignitary- of the law pleaded the necessity of 
cutting him off, and offered to provide the man to do it. 
"1 paused a while, (so Wotton wrote to Walshigham,) 
and, remembering thatI had nO commission to persuade 
them, or animate therein, further than they saw 
cause themselves, specially in things of this nature, I 
durst not promise aught to encourage them ; and 
therefore told him, that I wilt not what to say to 
the matter. 	To move her Majesty I would not ; 
neither did I think it fit for her to hear of it before- 

' MS. Letter, Brit. Mus. Caligula, C. viii. fol. 195, Wotton to 
Walsingbam, 1st June, 1585: Also MS. Lettef, St. P.Off., Wotton 
to Walsiugham, 29th July, 1385. 
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hand : to abuse them I would not ; only, for mine own 
part, I was commanded to increase their credit with 
the King so long as I abode here. * * 	I wished 
rather, if it might be, to' have him disconrted. * * 
In the end, to be quit of him, (for, to be plain with 
your Honour, I found myself in a great strait and 
desire not to be acquainted with the matter ; -which, 
if it must be done, I wished rather to have been done 
ere. I came hither,) I asked what opinion 38 [the 
Provost] had hereof, and wished him to confer 
with him, which he said he would, and departed." 
With 38's opinion, and offer, in his own person, 
to finish the business, we are already acquainted. 
But we must not get farther involved in the meshes 
of this conspiracy, from which Arran escaped, at this 
time, by his own vigilance and the coldness of the 
Ambassador, who would fain have ensured the profits 
of success, without the responsibility of failure. 

In the mean time, Wotton had completely succeeded 
in the principal and avowed object of his mission. 
James had determined that the proposed league 
between England and his kingdom, for the defence 
of religion, should be concluded. 	He had revised and 
amended the various articles ; and, with the view of 
bringing forward the subject, had assembled a conven-
tion of his nobility at St Andrew's, when an event 
occurred, which threatened to throw all into confusion. 
This was, the slaughter of Lord Russell in a Border 
affray, which took place at a meeting, or day of truce, 

i MS. Letter, Bi:it. Mils., fol. 195.. 	Caligula, C. viii., let June, 
1385. 

VOL. VIII. 	 S 
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as it was called, between Sir John Foster and Key 
of Fernyhirst, the wardens of the Middle Marches.' 
There is good reason to believe that this unfortunate 
affair was wholly unpremeditated, for so Foster him-
self declared in his letter written to Walsingham the 
day after ; 2  but, as Fernyhirst happened to be the 
intimate friend of Arran, it instantly occurred to the 
crafty diplomacy of the English Secretary, and Wotton 
the Ambassador,3  that a good handle was given by 
the death of Russell, to procure the disgrace of this 
hated minister. 	Foster, therefore, was directed to 
draw up a paper, the purport of which was to show 
that the attack had been preconcerted;4  and Wotton 
(lid not scruple to declare to the young King, that 
one of the bravest noblemen of England had been 
murdered by the contrivance of Arran and Ferny-
hirst. 

James, who was cast down at this interruption 
of the league, and unprepared for the violence of 
Wetton, could not conceal or, command his feelings, 
but shed tears like a child : protested his own inno-
cence ; and wished all the lords of the Borders dead, 
provided Lord Russell were alive again. 	Nor were 
these mere words: Arran was imprisoned in the 

1 July 28. 
2  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., B.C., Sir John' Foster to Walsingbam, 

28th July. 
3  MS. Letter, St. P. Of, Wottou to Walsingbam, 31st July, 

158.5, St Andrew's. 
3  MS. St. P. Off., B.C., Sir John Foster's Reasons to prove that 

the murder of Lord Russell was intended. 	This Paper probably 
misled Camden, who gives an exaggerated account of the whole 
dispute. 	Kennet; vol. ii. p. 505. 
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Castle of St Andrew's; Fernyhirst was threatened 
to be sent to stand his trial in England ; and a strict 
investigation into the whole circumstances of the 
alleged murder Took place. 	But the result rather 
evinced the innocence, than established the guilt, of 
Fernyhirst. 	Arran, meanwhile, bribed the Master 
of Gray, who procured his imprisonment at St An-
drew's to be exchanged for a nominal confinement 
to his own castle at Kinneil ; and this scheme, for 
the ruin of the Court favourite, bid fair, by its unex-
pected result, to reestablish his influence over the 
young King, and increase his power.' 

All this fell heavily on Wotton and Walsingham. 
Arran had resumed his intrigues with France ; it 
was believed that he had adopted the interests of the 
imprisoned Queen ; who, as we shall immediately see, 
was now busily engaged in organizing that great plot 
for the invasion of England and her own delivery from 
captivity, which was known by the name of Babiug- 
ton's conspiracy. 	At the same moment Burghley 
and Walsingham, who, by intercepting Mary's let-
ters, had discovered her designs against their royal 
mistress, were occupied in weaving those toils around 
Mary, and possessing themselves of those proofs of 
her guilt, by which they trusted to bring her to the 
scaffold. 	It was to them, therefore, of the utmost 
consequence, that the league between England and 

1  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Wotton to Walsingham, 29th and 
80th July, 1585; also Ibid., same to same, 6th and 7th August, 
1585, St Andrew's ; and Ibid., 13th August, 1585, same to same; 
and Ibid., 19th August, 1585, same to same; and Ibid., 21st 
August, 1585, same to same. 
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Scotland should be concluded before they made their 
great effort against Mary; that the young King should 
be bound to Elizabeth by ties for mutual defence and 
the maintenance of the established 'religion; and that 
Arran, and French interests and, intrigues, should not 
repossess their power over, his mind. 	Yet the only 
counterpoise to Arran,,,in James's affections, lay in 
the Master of Gray, their great tool-  and partisan.; 
and he had betrayed them. There could not be a doubt 
that Arran owed ,to him his late deliverance from 
prison. 	Gray had proved false, too, at the critical mo- 
ment when he was privy to all their schemes against 
this favourite; so ,that it became equally hazardous 
to trust him or to throw him off. 	What, then, was 
to be clone ? It was necessary to act rapidly—to act 
decidedly; and yet it was almost impossible for Eliza- 
beth's ministers to make a single move against Arian 
without the fear of, failure. 	From this difficulty they 
were delivered by the fertile brain and flagitious prin-
ciples of the very man who had so recently betrayed 
them—rthe Master of Gray. 	Ile, too, had his mis- 
givings as to the insecurity of the ground on which 
he stood, and in his dilemma, sought the advice of the 
noted Archibald Douglas, now in banishment in Eng-
land, the intimate friend of Walsingharn, and equally 
familiar with the party of the banished lords and the 
expatriated ministers of the Kirk; who, since the fall 
of Morton, had found a retreat in England. 	To this 
man, who had been stained by the murder of Darnley; 
and, since then, engage d in innumerable plots, sometimes 
for, and sometimes against the Queen-mother—Gray 
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addressed an extraordinary letter, which yet remains, 
in which he laid open his secret .heart, and required 
his advice, as the friend he loved best in the world. 
He told him frankly that the Queen of England had 
deserted and almost ruined him. It was by her advice, 
and relying upon her promises of Support, that he 
had matched himself against Arran ; that he had 
sought Arran's life, and Arran ,his ; and now that he 
was reduced to a strait, where were all her promises? 
To continue to deal frankly with her was impossible; 
and must lead to his overthrow. What parties, then, 
were left to be embraced ?—Arran, the imprisoned 
Queen, the French politics, the Roman Catholic in= 
terests in Europe ? 	This was impossible : Arran, 
although obliged 'to him for his recent escape, was 
the falsest of men, and never to be long trusted; he 
knew, too, that he would have taken his life. 	As 
to the Scottish Queen, she would never trust him after 
his desertion; and his perfidy was perfectly known 
to the whole body of the Catholics. 	One party only 
remained, by uniting himself with which, a revolution 
might be effected in Scotland : the party of the banish-
ed lords, and their expatriated friends, the ministers 
of the Kirk. 	If Angus, Mar, and the Master of 
alammis, could make up their differences with their 
exiled brethren, with whom they were still at feud, 
Lords Claud and John Hamilton, and unite in invad-
ing.  Scotland, there would be little doubt of a strong 
diversion in their favour. 	He would promise them 
all his influence ; it might happen, too, that he would 
find means to rid them of Arran ; but as to this he 
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would make no stipulation. 	Yet, if the deed could 
still be done, so secretly, that his knowledge of the 
" doer " should not be suspected, he would still make 
the attempt. At all events, they should be joined by 
Bothwell and Lord Hume ; and he could promise, 
also, he thought, for Cessford. 	He concluded his 
letter, by assuring Douglas that this was the only 
plan left, which had the slightest likelihood of success; 
that if the exiled noblemen were ever to make the 
attempt, now was the time when he would promise 
them they should muster, at least, two to one against 
their enemies; and he ended his letter with these em- 
phatic words : 	Persuade yourself, if the banished 
lords come down; the. King shall either yield, or leave 
Scotland.' 

This new plot was readily embraced by the ban-
ished lords and the ministers of the Kirk, and warmly 
encouraged by Wotton, the English Ambassador, 
who immediately communicated it to Walsingham, 
in a letter from Dumbarton, whither he had accom- 
panied the young King upon a hunting party. 	The 
Master of Gray had sought him out, he said, and in-
formed him, that he was now convinced they had run 
all this while a wrong course, in seeking to disgrace 
Arran with the King, whose love towards him was 
so extreme, that he would never suffer a hair of his 
head to fall to the ground, if he might help it. 	It 
was evident, lie continued, that as long as Arran 
should remain in favour with the King, it would be 

1 MS. Letter, Brit. DMus., Caligula, C. viii. fol. 222, Master of 
Gray to Archibald Douglas, 11th August, 1585. 
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impossible to bring home the lords by fair means : 
that, unless they might he restored, the league could. 
neither be sure,. nor the Master of Gray, and the rest 
of his party, in safety. • For Arran, recovering the 
King's persOn, would be able, with his credit, to ruin 
them, and divert the King  from the Queen ; or, 
finding his affection towards her irremoveable, would 
not stick to convey him into France. 	AVotton then 
proceeded to inform Walsingham of Gray's new plot. 
It was the advice, he said, of this experienced in-
triguer, that her Majesty, having so good, occasion 
ministered by the death of my Lord Russell, should 
pretend to take the matter very grievously, and refuse 
to conclude the league for this time. 	She might 
then let slip the lords, (meaning Angus and his 
associates,) who, with some support of money, and 
their friends in Scotland, might take Arran, and 
seize on the King's person ; in which exploit Gray 
promised them the best aid he and his faction could 
give. 	Gray added, that if Walsingham found this 
overture well liked at the English Court, he would 
direct a special friend of his and the exiled lords, 
very shortly into England, who might confer with 
Angus and the rest about the execution of the plot. 
This (continued AVotton, addressing Walsingham) 
was the effect of Gray's whole speech, saving that, in 
the end, he said, in answer of an objection I made, 
that he would undertake this thing, being alone, to 
bring the league to a perfect conclusion' . 

1 St. P. Off., Wotton to Walsingham, Dumbarton, Aug. 25, 1585. 
This letter is written partly in cipher ;- but I print it from the con-
temporary decipher written above each character or number. 
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This letter was written on the 25th of August ; 
and so actively did Gray proceed with his plot, that, 
within a -week after, it had assumed a More serious 
shape. 	In Scotland, he hail gained Lord Maxwell, 
now known as the Earl of Morton, a powerful Border 
baron, who had been suspected to be in the interest 
of Arran. 	In , England, not only Angus, Mar,, 
Glammis, and their friends, were secured.  as actors,, 
but also the Lords Claud and John Hamilton, the 
mortal enemies of Arran, who had remained in ban-
ishment since,  the year 1579, when they were for-
feited fo'r the murder of the .Regents Murray and 
Lennox. 	These two noblemen agreed to a reconcilia- 
tion with Angus and his party; with who'll they had 
been at feud, and determined to unite against Arran. 

AVotton, the English Ambassador, lent to all this 
his active assistance ; and his letters to Walsingham, 
which are still preserved, present ns with an interest- 
ing picture of the growth of the conspiracy.' 	Some 
time before this, the Earl of Morton, Who was war-
den of the west 13.6rders, and whose military expe-
rience and power. -wus equal to most noblemen. ii4 
Scotland, had incurred the resentment of the King 
by an attack upon, the Laird of Johnston, in which 
he cilew Captain Lainmie, who commanded a com-
pany of the royal forces, which James had sent to 
reinforce ilohnston: 	This enraged the King, who, 

1St. P. Off.,Wottou to Walsiughaui, September 1, 1585. 	This 
letter is greatly defaced, by seine person having erased the proper 
names and emphatic words; but enough is left to show the nature 
of the plot, and the full approval of Wotton. 	Also, 	P. Off., 
same to same. 
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by the advice of Arran, determined to lead an army 
against the insurgent ;1  and at this crisis of personal 
danger, overtures being made to Morton, he, to secure 
his safety, readily embraced the offers of Gray, and 
joined the conspiracy.' 	This was a great point,. 
gained, and gave the utmost satisfaction to Wotton 
and Walsingham, to whom .it was immediately com-
municated.' 

But although nothing could exceed the activity 
and talent 	if we may use this term) of Gray and 
Wotton, in the management of this plot, their efforts. 
were counteracted by the coldness and delays of 
Elizabeth, and the reviving influence of Arran. 	This 
nobleman, 	still 	nominally confined to 	his.  house 
at Kinneil, on the charge of being accessary to Lord 
Russell's death, was yet daily recovering his power 
over the King's mind ; and it was now well known 
that, having been deceived, and thrown off by Eliza-
beth, he had embraced the interests of France, 
from which Government he had recently received a. 
large supply of money' 	Under his protection,Molt, 
Dury, and Bruce, three noted Jesuits, were secretly 
harboured in Scotland,5  and busily engaged in their 
intrigues for the restoration of the Queen-mother, 

1 St. P. Off., Wotton to 1alsingliam, 30th Sept., 1585. 
2  nistorie of tames the Sett, pp. 412, 213. 	St. P. Off., wet- 

ton to Walsingham, 30th Sept., 1585, Stirling. 
I St. P. Off., Wotton to Walsingham, Sept. 30, 1585, Stirling. 
' Orig. St. P. Off., Wotton to Walsingham, 4th Sept., 15852, 

Stirling. 	Also, same to same, 21st Ang., 1585. 
5' Id. Ibid. 
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and the reestablishment of the Roman Catholic faith' 
Nor was this all. 	Arran, as we have already seen, 
could organize plots, and frame secret schemes for 
surprise and assassination, as well as his enemies. 
He had been too early educated in the sanguinary 
and unscrupulous policy of these times not to bean 
adept in such matters ; and whilst Gray and Wotton 
were weaving their meshes round him, they knew 
that counter-plots were being formed against them-
selves, of the existence of which they were certain, 
although they could not detect the agents. 	The two 
great factions into which the state of Scotland was 
divided, were thus mutually on their guard, and jea- 
lously watching each other; both armed, both intent 
on their dark purposes, busy in gaining partisans and 
anticipating the designs of their opponents ; so that 
it seemed a race who should soonest spring the mine 
which was to overwhelm and destroy their adversary. 

In such circumstances, nothing could be more 
painful and precarious than the situation of Wotton, 
the English Ambassador. 	He knew, and repeatedly 
wrote to Walsinglunn, that his life was in danger. 
His intrigues had been partially discovered by Arran. 
Colonel Stewart, the brother of that nobleman, and 
Captain of the Royal Guard, had upbraided him for his 
perfidy before the King ; and although the Ambassa-
dor gave him the lie on the spot, the truth was too 
well known for any to be deceived by this bravado.' 

1  Orig. St. P. Off., Wotton to Walminglnun, Stirling, Sept. IS, 
1585. 

2 St. P. off., Wotton to Walsingliant, 22d $ept., 1585. 
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It was under the influence of such feelings that he 
thus addressed Walsingham :—" Though ye in Eng-
land be slow in resolving, Arran and his faction sleep 
not out their time : for they are now gathering all 
the - forces they can make, and, within three or four 
days, Arran meaueth to come to the Court, and to 
possess himself of the King, in despite of the Queen 
of England, as he saith ; which, if he do, I mean to 
retire myself to the Borders for the safety of my life, 
whereof I am in great danger, as my friends which 
hear the Stewarts' threatenings daily advertise me. 
Your Honour kuoweth what a barbarous nation this 
is, and how little they can skill of points of honour. 
Where every man carrieth a pistol at his girdle, (as 
here they do,) it is an easy matter to kill one out of 
a window or door, and no man able to discover who 
did it. 	Neither doth it go for payment with those 
men to say, I am an Ambassador, and therefore pri-
vileged ; for even their Regents and Kings have 
been subject to their violence. 

" This notwithstanding, (he continued,) I would 
not be so resolute to depart, if, by my tarrying, I 
might do her Majesty any service. 	But I find the 
King so enchanted by Arran, and myself so hated of 
him, as I cannot hope to negotiate to any purpose 
so long as Arran shall be in Court. 	If (he added), 
the Queen of England would send down the lords, 
they wi11 be able to work wonders here, and to re- 
medy all inconvenients. 	If the Queen of England 
do it not, this country will be clean lost, and all her 
friends wrecked. 	Other hope to England than in 
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them, I see none ; the King being young and easily 
carried, and most' about him either Papists or Athe- 
ists.' 	In a second letter, written to Walsinghath 
on.  the same day, Wotton added this emphatic 
paragraph : 	• 

" The Master of Gray,' through our long English 
delay, findeth hithself driveli to a great strait. 	For 
the King presseth him greatly 'to meet with Arran, 
and threateneth, that, unless he do it, he.  shall have 
just cause to suspect him. 	But the Master assureth 
me he will, by one means or other, avoid it, and will 
hold good these fOurteen.  days. 	Therefore, what ye 
will do, must be speedily done., 

" I am not, for my own part, (he added,) the great-
est favourer of [violent courses,] and, therefore, have 
hitherto rather related other men's speeches and opin- 
ions than given my advice. 	But now 'natters frame 
so overthwartly, as I must needs conclude, that no 

3  be done here, but by the [way] of good can 	 —; 
which being used, you may bring even the'proudest of 
us to [cry4 ] for miserieoMe on our knees.r6  

All was now ripe for execution of the plot. 
Morton had been gained, and his force was in readi- 
ness on the Border. 	Angus, Mar, and Glammis, with 
their friends, had, by the mediation of the banished 
ministers, been reconciled to the Lords Claud and 

1 St. P. Off., 22d Sept., 1585, Stirling, Wottou to Walsinghaut. 
2  Scored, but tolerably clear. 	 i 
3  Ciphers occur here. 	The wont was probably " violence.' 
4 I put [cry] in brackets, as the word is not clear in the original. 
3  St. P. Off., Ilrotton to Walsingbani, 22d Sept., 1585, Stirling. 
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John Hamilton. 	The Master of Gray, in the mean- 
time, remained at Court, and played into the hands 
of his brother conspirators ; watching his opportuni- 

'ties, taking every advantage against the opposite 
faction; communicating, through Wotton and Archi-
bald Douglas, with the exiled lords and the minis-
ters ; and keeping up an intercourse with Morton by 
the Provost of Lincluden, .a Douglas.' 	It was this 
same fierce partisan, who, in the former conspiracy, 
had been pitched upon to put Arran to death ;2.and, 
as Gray had declared to Douglas, his resolution to 
" essay" the • same again, if it could. be quietly and 
secretly achieved, it is not improbable that the Pro-
vost may have been again engaged to further the 
cause by assassinating this hated person. 	Such be- 
ing the ripeness of all things, Wotton, who still 
remained at the Scottish Court, although in daily 
danger of his life, wrote hastily to Walsingham, on 
the fifth of October, assuring him, that the King had 
resolved to send his forces against Morton, before 
the twentieth of October, and would probably lead 
them in person. 	Arran, he added, was to be libe- 
rated ; and if the lords meant to surprise him,' and 
strike the blow with Any hope of success, it must )be 
done instantly.' 

These arguments had the desired effect ; 	and 
1  St. P. Off., Wotton to Walsingham, 30th Sept.,1585, Stirling. 

Also, another letter, written on the same day, from the same to .,. the same. 
2  MS. Letter, Wotton to Walsingham, tune 9, 1583, Caligula, 

C. viii. fol. 
3  St. P. Off., Wotton to Walsingham, 5th Oct., 085, Stirling. 
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Elizabeth, being assured that no time was to be lost, 
commanded her Ambassador to require an audience 
of the King of Scots, and make a peremptory demand 
for the delivery into her hands of Ker of Fernyhirst; 
whom she stigmatized as the murderer of Lord 
Russell. 	It was certain that this would be,refused; 
and her object was to afford a pretext for the retire-
ment of Wotton from the Scottish Court, at the 
moment when the conspiracy, which he had organized 
with such persevering activity, was to take effect.' 
But matters framed themselves otherwise. 	Early in 
October, the banished lords, Angus, Mar, and the 
Master of Glammis, who were then in London, re-
ceived Elizabeth's permission to set out on their 
enterprise ; but by the advice of the ministers of the 
Kirk, their companions in exile, they first held an 
exercise of humiliation at Westminster, and, with 
many tears, (so writes the historian of the Kirk,) 
besought God to strengthen their arm, and grant 
them success against their enemies.2 	They then set 
forward, accompanied by their ministers, Mr Andrew 
Melvil, Mr Patrick Galloway, and Mr Walter Bal-
canquel ; and pressing forward to Berwick, met-there 
with the llamiltons and their forces. 

These movements could not be concealed; and the 
tidings flying quickly into Scotland, became known 
to the King and the English Ambassador at the 
same moment. 	It was a stirring and remarkable 

i Copy, St. P. Off., 12th Oot., 1585, Wotton to Wah3inghtun. 
Also, Draft, 11th Oct., 1585, Walsingham to Wotton. 

2  Calderwood, MS. Mist., Ayscough, 4736, fol, 1545. 
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crisis. 	James, by this time, was fully aware of the 
intrigues of Wotton ; and resolving to make him a 
hostage for his own security, gave orders to seize the 
Ambassador in his house, and carry him with the army, 
which was then on the point of marching against Mor-
ton. Wotton, however, received intimation of his dan- 
ger. 	At night-fall he threw himself upon a fleet horse ; 
gallopped to Berwick, and, from that city, wrote in 
much agitation to Walsingham and the Queen ; de-
claring that ,he had been plunged into the greatest 
difficulty by the reports of the advance of the lords; 
that he knew the King meant to arrest him, and that 
he had preferred rather to flee from Scotland, and 
peril her Majesty's displeasure, than to remain and 
thus bring ruin upon the common cause.' 

All was now confusion at Court. 	Arran, break- 
ing from his ward, hurried from Kinneil to Court, 
and rushing into the young King's presence, declared 
that the banished lords were already in Scotland, and 
rapidly coming forward with their forces ; accused 
the Master of Gray as the author of the whole con-
spiracy, and urged James to send for him instantly 
and put him to death.' 	Gray was then absent from 
Court, raising his friends in .Perthshire, and was 
thrown into perplexity and agitation on receiving 
the King's message. 	If he disobeyed it, he dreaded 
the overthrow of the plot, and the retreat of Angus 
and his friends ; if he returned to Court, he cast 

1 St. P. Off, 15th Oct., 1585, Berwick, Wotton to Elizabeth, 
same to Walsingham. 

2  Relation of the Master of Gray, by Bannatyne Club, p. 50. 
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himself within ,the toils of his Mortal enemy Arran. 
Yet, choosing the boldest, which in such'a crisis is 
generally the most successful course;.he braved the 
peril,rode back to .court, entered. the royal presence, 
defended himself from the accusation, and was sO 
graciously received, that Arran and his faction had 
determined, as their, last hope, to stab him even ill 
the .King's presence,; when a messenger arrived in 
fiery, haste, with, the news that the.advanced partigS 
of, the banishea_lords had b,een,seen, within A mile of 
§tirlingi 	They had first ,met at Kelso, separated tq 
raise their ,men, concentrated, their whole troops at 
Falkirk on the 31st October, and, from this, marchea 
toyvards that city, at ,the .head of Right thousand men., 
To „resist such a . force would, have been absurd. . 
Arran;  linew,that his head was ,the..pnly mark they,  
shot pt ,; that ,he,  was surround,ed. by enemies withip,. 
as .7ell as iwith9ut the town ; and that his life WAS 
not i  safe . for a moment. 	As the only resource left, 
hi}n, tliereforei he Acid secretly from Stirling, aceomi 
panied by a single horseman. , His retreat.  was fol-
lowed by the instant occupation and plunder of the 
town by Angus and ,his forces ; whilst Montrose„ 
Crawford, and the other lords of the opposite faction,t 
threw thernselves, as their last resource, , into the 
.castlp ; which (to use the lVfaster of (4-ray's own qcr,  
Pressiou) /was in a,  manner crammed f141 of great 
personages with the King—rsome friends, some ene-,  
inies,! 	'i•eparations for a siege wero 	now coat-i 

) RelatiOn of the Mastei of Gray, by Bannatyne 'Club, p. 59. 
1  Ibid. p. 60: 	.  

r 	 i 	• 
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menced ; and the lords had already set up their 
banners against the " spur," or principal bastion, 
when the King sent out the Master of Gray with a 
flag of truce, to demand the cause of their coming. 
They replied, it was to offer their duty to his Ma-
jesty, and kiss his hands : to which it was answered, 
that- the King was not at that moment solicitous of 
an interview; but if they would retire for a brief 
space, their lands and honours should be restored. 
Still, however, they insisted on a personal interview, 
and James declared his readiness to agree to it on 
three conditions : safety W his own person; no in-
noVation to be made in the State ; and an assurance 
for the lives of such persons aS lie should name. 	To 
the two first they instantly consented ; to the last, 
they replied, that as they were the injured persons. 
and their enemies were about the King, they must, 
for their own security, have them delivered into their 
hands, with the castles and strengths of the realm.! 
This negotiation, which was conducted by Gray, the 
arch-contriver of the whole.plot, could only terminate 
in one way. 	James was forced to submit : the gates 
were opened, the Earls of Montrose, Crawford, and 
Rothes, with Lord IDown, Sir William Stewart, and 
others, made prisoners; and the banished lords Con- 
ducted into the King's presence. 	On their admis- 
sion, they fell on their knees; and Lord Arbroath, 
the head of the house of Hamilton, taking prece-
dency from his near alliance to' the crown, entreated 

l Relation of the Master of Gray. 	Papery of the Master of 
Cray, printed by Bannatyne Club. p. GO. 

VOL. VIII. 	 T 
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his Majesty's gracious acceptance of their ditty, and 
declared that they were come in the most humble 
manner to solicit his pardon. 	It was strange to see 
men who, a few hours before, -with arms in their 
hands, had dictated terms of submission to their So-
vereign, now sue so submissively for mercy : but the 
scene was.  well acted on both sides ; and James, an 
early adept in hypocrisy, performed his part with 
much address. 

" My Lord," said he to Hamilton, " T never saw 
you before ; but you were a faithful servant of the 
Queen my mother, and of all this company have 
been the most wronged. 	But for the rest of you, 
(casting his glance over the circle on their knees,) if 
you have been exiles, was it not your own fault ? 
And as for you, Francis, (he continued, turning to 
Bothwell,) who has stirred up your unquiet spirit to 
conic in arms against your Prince ? when did I ever 
wrong thee ? 	To you all, who I believe meant no 
harm to my person, I am ready, remembering no-
thing that is past, to give my hand and heart ; -on 

' one condition, however, that you carry yourselves 
henceforth as dutiful subjects."' 

This interview was followed by measures which 
showed that these apparently submissive lords were 
not disposed to lose their opportunity. 	Arran was 
proclaimed a traitor at the Market-place, and in the 
King's name ; the royal guard altered, and its com-
mand given to the Master of Glammis ; the Castle of 
Dumbarton delivered to Lord Arbroath ; that of 

1 8pottiswood, pp. 842, 34?. 
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Edinburgh to Coldingknowes ; Tantalion.  to Angus ; 
and Stirling to Mar. 	On the same day, a pacifica-
tion and remission was published in favour of the 
exiles, .who now ruled everything at their pleasure. 
All faults were solemnly forgiven ; and the whole of 
the measures lately carried into effect with such 
speed and Success, declared to be clone for the King's 
service.' 

Immediately after the seizure of Stirling, the Mas-
ter of Gray communicated the entire success of the 
plot to the English Court, by letters to the Queen 
herself, Archibald Douglas, and Secretary Walsing- 
ham. 	He assured the English Secretary, that the 
banished men were in as good favour as they ever 
enjoyed : nothing was now required but that Elizabeth 
should send an Ambassador, and the intended league 
between the two kingdoms would be concluded with- 
out delay.2 	The Queen accordingly despatched Sir 
William Knolles, who had audience at Lithgow on the 
23d November, and was received by James with much 
courtesy. 	The King professed himself to be entirely 
at her -Majesty's devotion ; declared he was ready ta . 
join in league with England, both in matters of reli-
gion and civil policy ; and that although at first 
offended at the sudden invasion of Angus and his 
friends, he was now satisfied that they sought only 
their Own restitution, and, indeed, had found them so 
loving and obedient, that he had rather reason to 
bless God so great a revolution had been effected . 

I Relation of the Master of Gray, p. 61.• 
2  St. P. Off., Master of Gray to Walsingliam, Nov. U, 1.58.5. 
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-without bloodshed, than to regret anything that 
had• happened. 	Knolles, too, as far as he had an 
opportunity' of judging; considered these declara- 
tions sinceie. 	lie observed no. distrust on the part 
either of the Lords or their Sovereign. 	They kept 
no guard round him, but •suffered him to hunt daily 
with a moderate train; and 'as Arran had fled to the 
west coast, and' Alontrose Crawford, and the rest of 
.that party were in custody, no fear A of change. or 
-attaek seemed to bo entertained.1  	. 

Such .vas Knolles' opinion ; , although, in the end of 
his letter, he hinted that-the King might dissemble 
-according td his custom; • a suspicion. which next day 
`Seemed .'to have 'increased,' 	Apparently,,,hoVvevei-, 
'these niisgivings were without foundation ; for a Par-
liament,  assembled shortly after at Linlithgow, in 
-Which it was iunanimously resolved there should be a 
' strict' league conclvded with Elizabeth.3 	On this 
' dccaSion; the Xing, if we may judge from his address 
to the three Estates; expressed extraordinary 'de-
votedness to England, ands the. most determined 
-hostility to the Roman CatholieS. 	He alluded to. the 
-confederating together' of the 'I bastard Christiang," 
-(ta use his,  own words,)- meaning, ds 'he said,' the 
Papists, in a league; which.  they termed holy, for the 
subversion Of ,trrie 'religion- in all realihs through the 

alb. P. 'Oft, Mr William Knolles to Walsingham, Litligow, 
Nov. 21, 1383. 	 ,.. 

, ' '' 	St. P. DM, Knollos to Walaingliami, Lithesv, Nov.124;1.585. 
3  St. P. OM, certified copy of the Act of Parliament authoriking 

ith'e King of Scott; to make league with the Qtteew's.Majesty of 
England, Dee+ 10, 1585. 	' 	, 	• 	' 	1 	, 	! 	,1 
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whole_ world. 	These leagues, he observed, were com- 
posed of Frenchmen and Spaniards, assisted with the 
money of the King of Spain and the Pope, and must 
be resisted, if Protestants had either conscience, ho'- 
Jmur;,or love ofthemselves. 	To this end, he was de- 
terMined, he said, to form a counter-league, in which 
he was assured all Christian Princes would. willingly 
join ;. and. as.the.Qaten of England was not only a true 
TChristiait Princess, but nearest to them, of all others, 
in consanguinity, neighbourhood, and goodwill,:  it was 
ibis fixed resolution to begin with her' 	To isecend 
this; thd King despatched Sir William. Keith with a 
'friendly thossage to the English Queen-,;-t requesting 
her to 	end down' do Ambassador, by, whose good 
offices the proposed treaty might be carried into 
effect ? 'and' Randolph, whose veteran experience in 
Scottish diplomacy Was considered as pecilliarly qua-
lifying him for such an errandovas intrusted with 
the 'negotiation. 	lie arrived in Edinburgh on the 
26th February, hating been met at- MUSSelthlrgh, six 
miles from the capital, by the Justice-clerk, and a 
troop of forty or fifty gentlemen, Many of them he.--
longing i6 the royal households 

The English Ambassador tvasprepared to find his 
mission onelof no easy execution e ,for in (the interval 
between the Parlialhent at Lithgow and his arrival at 

1  Copy, St. P. Off., the Scottish King's Speech' t °meriting a 
League in Religion with England. 

2  St. P. Off., Randolph to Walsingliain, Feb.'24,1583-0, Ber- 
wick. 	 , 	 I 

a Copy, St, P, Off., Roger Ashton to (an I conjecture) Wel- 
einghatn, Jan. 17, 1385-6. 	 I 	• 
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Court, the fair prospects anticipated by Gray and 
Knolles had become clouded. 	An Ambassador had 
been sent from France, and was reported to have brought 
with him a golden freight of French crowns. HA the 
Jesuit, and other brethren of that order, were still 
secretly harboured in the north, supported by Huntley, 
Montrose, Crawford, and other nobles of the Roman 
Catholic faith ; the agents of the Queen-mother were 
busy with their intrigues both in Scotland and in 
England ; and Mprton, that powerful baron,. whose 
union with Angus and the Hamiltons had so recently 
turned the scale against Arran, presuming upon his 
recent success, openly professed the Roman Catholic 
faith, and caused mass to be celebrated in the Provost 
Church of Lincluden.1  

All these were ominous appearances; and, although 
James had instantly summoned Morton, and im-
prisoned him in Edinburgh Castle, yet the King was 
known to be so great a dissembler, that few trusted 
his professions. 

Randolph had been instructed by his royal 'mistress 
to congratulate the monarch upon the quiet state of his 
iealin; to express her willingness to proceed with the 
treaty, for a firm and lasting religious league between 
the two kingdoms, which had been interrupted ; and 
to warn him against the' intrigues of France. 	lie 
was also to require the delivery of Fernyhirst, who, 
she still insisted, was guilty of the murder of Lord Rus-
sell ; to urge James to prosecute Morton for his late 

i Spottiswood, p. 344. 	Copy, St. P. Off., Roger Ashton to 
"Walsinglgon,Jqn. li. 1583-a. 
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audacious contempt. of the law; to advise the severest 
measures against Arran, who still lurked in the west 
of Scotland ; and to insist on the delivery of Holt, 
Brereton, and other Jesuits ; or, at least, to their 
banishment from his dominions. 	In return for all this, 
should it be faithfully performed, Elizabeth declared 
her readiness to fix a yearly pension on the King, 
and to grant a solemn promise, under her hand and 
seal, that she would permit no measures to be brought 
forward against any title he might pretend to the 
English Crown.' 

On being admitted to an audience, which took 
place the third day after his arrival, Randolph, at 
first, found nothing but smiles and fair weather at 
Court. 	The King assured him, that he felt himself 
bound to the Queen his mistress, as strictly as if she 
were his own sister; that he esteemed her advice the 
best he could possibly receive, and meant, God will- 
ing, to follow it.' 	.Having spoken this so loud, that 
most that stood by could hear it, James, entering 
into more private talk, told him of the arrival of the 
French Ambassador, and spoke slightingly  of his 
youth and ignorance of Scotland and Scotsmen. 	This 
led to some remarks on the house of Guise. and the 
intrigues of the Jesuits ; to which the King answered, 
he had but one God to serve ; and as for the Papists, 
that Morton himself, and some others, would be ar- 

. 
1 Original Draft, St. P. Off., Principal points of Mr Ranilulrit'A 

I nktruetions. 
2  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Randolph to 	. (Wal,ingliam?) 

2d March, 1.5ti5-6. 
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raigned within a few days, Before the audience was 
concluded, Randolph exhibited a.little packet, " curi-
ously sealed and made up,',' which he gallantly pressed 
to his lips, and delivered to the young monarch. 	It 
was a private letter from Elizabeth, ,which James, 
stepping aside, read With every. appearance of devo-
tion; and, placing it. in his bosom,.declared that all 
Lis. good sister's desires should be fulfilled.' 	1 

These fair professions, however, were not fully,to be 
trup5ted ; , for Randolph,. in-a, subsequent conversation 
'iritll Secretary Maitland and Bellenden the Justice-
clerk, became aware that)  great,  ,offers had been made 
to the young King by France ; and that, although the 
royal hand was, as yet, uncontaminated byFrench gold, 
the Court necessities were so urgent, that it was not 
certain how long this Inagnanimity might continuo4 
nest counter intrigues, however, were, for the kesOlit; 
defeated : and ,the Ambassador, with, great address; 
procured th 	King's Signature to the league *Alt 
iLngland, and sent Thomas Z4lilles his assistant and 
secretary to present it to Elizabeth for her ratifies,/ 
lion. 2 	I1illes .was, at the mune time, instracted,,te 
Warn the English Queen to have special care, at that 
moment, of liner own person; and to reveal the parti, 
tilars, ,of a rco»sPiracy against. hor,, which was then 

hatching ,in ,Scotland, 	Oa this ,delicate point, the 
Ambassador wrnte, bothi,to ,Burghley, and, Walsing,  
haul 4  ilut, he referred simply to Milles'e verbal- rePoa., 

1 	I 	i 	
' 	 le 	J.; I MS., Letter, St. P. otr., iiiandoto to ----. (WtkIsingbant ?) 

§ ti Mlu'elt, '1 t5854. 	 , 	r 	I 	, 
2  St. P. Oli.,,ist April, 1386, Randolph to Lord Burghley, by 

Themttg Millesi  / 	r- 	2 	, 	1 	I i 	I 	I 
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and added to the English Secretary this ominous sen-
tence: " The men, and, perchance; the women, are yet 
living, and their hearts Mid minds all one, that devised 
or procured the devilish mischiefs that hitherto, by God's 
providence, she hath escaped. 	You haveleard, both 
out of Spain and France, what is to be doubted out .of 
the LOW Countries.,  I have seen what warning hath 
been given Toil her Majesty to look unto herself ; and, 
in the, preSence of God, "feat as much despite' and 
deiilislitiess. .from !hence as' froin,  them all;' Won& I 
judge the King as free as myself, and could.  himself 
be content that 'he were out' of this country?' l  - 

These disclosures of Milles to lEliiiibeth unfortu-
nately do not appear ; but there can be no doubt 
that they `were connected with that, conspiracy after- 
wards knoWn as " Babington's plot." 	It iS certain 
that this plot had its . ramifications in Scotland ; 
that the 'captive Queen had _still a ,powerful• party 
in that kingdom, qt the head of- 'which was Lord 
Claud. Hamilton ;! and minty of het adherents were 
busily intriping with France, Spain, 'and Rome. 
The league with England ;vas • distastera to SeJ 
eretary Maitland and a large portion of tii 	nobility, 
They maintained, and with great appearance qif 
reason, 'that the King, before he iliad been' sd readily 
induced to sign a treaty of SO muchimportanco, ought 
to have 'secured Some commerdial privileges to hi' 
subjects, similar to those enjoyed by them in France; 
that Elizabeth should have made some public and , 	i 	-1,  explicit declaration regarding their master's1  t die to 

1  St. P. Off., R1111,10101 to 11 a1 	2(1 Apri1“'581itt 	I I 
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the English Crown; and that the annuity which he 
was to receive ought to bear some proportion to the 
large offers of those foreign princes, which his adhe- 
rence to England had compelled him to refuse. 	All 
this, they said, he had neglected; and, without con-
sulting his Council, had recklessly rushed into a treaty 
which he would speedily repent' This threat seemed 
prophetic : on Miller's arrival with Elizabeth's signa-
ture to the league, James discovered that the pension 
which, as first promised by Wotton, amounted to 
twenty thousand crowns, had dwindled down to four 
thousand pounds ; and the same envoy brought the 
King a private letter, written with her own hand, in 
terms of such severe and sarcastic admonition, that 
it. utterly disgusted and enraged him.' 	It was pre- 
sented by Randolph, in an interview which he had 
with James in the garden of the palace ; and, as he 
read it, the young monarch colouring with anger, 
swore " by God," that, had he known what little 
account the Queen would make of him,•she should 
have waited long enough before he had signed any 
league, or disobliged his nobles, to reap nothing but 
disappointment and contempt. 

This fit of disgust was fostered, as may easily be 
believed, by Secretary Maitland and his friends, and 
it required all the address of Randolph to soften the 

I St- P. Off., Archibald Douglas to Walsingbant, Gth May, 1486. 
Also original draft, St. I'. Off., Waleingliam's abridgment of Archi-
bald Douglas's letters of the .16, 6th, and 11th May. 

2  St. P. Off., Randolph to WaNingliam, 13th May,1586, Edin-
burgh. 
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royal resentment and hold the King to his engage- 
ments. 	At last, however, everything was arranged, 
and the Ambassador, in a letter to Walsingham, 
congratulating himself upon a speedy return home, 
advised this minister to be careful in the choice of 
his successor at the Scottish Court. 	" Your honour 
knows," said he, " that non ev wind liyno fit 11Ier-
crn•nis ; and he has need of a long spoon that feeds 
with the Devil."1  

Having procured the young King's signature to 
the articles of the league, Randolph left the Scottish 
Court; and in the succeeding month the negotiation was 
finally concluded by the Commissioners of both coun-
tries, who met at Berwick.' In this important treaty 
it was agreed between the Queen of England and the 
Scottish King, that they should inviolably maintain 
the religion now professed in both countries against 
all adversaries, notwithstanding any former engage- 
ments to the contrary. 	If any invasion should be 
made into. their dominions, or any injuries should be 
offered them by foreign Princes or States, no aid was 
to be given to such foreign attack by either of the 
contracting parties, 	whatever 	league, 	affinity, 	or 
friendship, might happen to exist between them and 
such foreign powers. 	If England were invaded by 
a foreign enemy, in any part remote from Scotland, 

1 St. P. Off., Randolph to Walsingham, 28th May, 1386, Edin-
burgh. 

2  Camden's Elizabeth, in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 513. 	MS. Letter, 
St. P. Off., Randolph to Walsingham, 24th June, 1580. 	Ibid. 
Proclamation at Berwick of the Commikisioners, .5th July, 1586. 
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the King of Scots promised,,  at ,Elizabeth's ' requests  
to send two 'thousand horse, or, five thousand foot, to 
her assistance, but at her expense ; and if Scotland 
were attacked, the Queen was to despatch three.thou-
sand horse, or six thousand foot,, to i assist James; 
but if the invasion of England should take place 
within ',sixty miles of the •Scottish Border, James 
engaged, without • .delay, to Muster , all the 'force he 
could, alicl join the EngliSh army. 	If Ireland should 
be invaded; all Scottish,  subjects were: to be utter= 
dieted, under pain cif rebellion, from passing over into 
that kingdom. 	All rebels harboured within :either 
country, were to be delivered lip,. or compelled to de- 
part the realm. 	No contract was to be made by either 
of the Princes, with any foreign State, to the preju- 
dice i  of .this league, 	Ali formerhtreaties of amity 
between. the predecessors, of the two Princes were 
to remain in force ; and on,the Scottish King's attain/. 
Mpg the Age of twenty-five, he engaged, , that the 
``league should be confirmed by Parliament; his sister, 
the English Queen, promising the samefor her part.' 
It will be , observed, that All consideration of,:the 
condition or interests of the unhappy Queen of Scots 
is studiously avoided both by her.  son and by Eliza- 
beth. 	Indeed her name does not appear to have 
been puce alluded to during ,the whole transactions. 
It will, however,.he seen by the sequel, that although 
110 reference was openly made to Mary, the main 

1  
r' MS. Si: P. Off., Principal PeintS of the Articles 6Y tlie League, 

5th ,JUly, 1156., 	 I 	 I 
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object of Elizabeth in completing this strict alliance 
with the son, was to detect and defeat the intrigues 
and conspiracies of the mother. 

The happy-  conclusion of this league was a matter of 
sincere congratulation to the English Queen ; but she 
had intrusted to Randolph another somewhat difficult 
negotiation. , This was to induce James to recall and 
pardon , the noted Archibald Douglas, whom she had 
herself recently imprisoned, but who had purchased 
his freedom by betraying the secrets of the Scottish 
Queen. 	This gentleman, with whose name-  and his- 
tory we are already in some degree familiar, united 
the manners of a polished courtier to the knowledge 
of a scholar and a 'statesman. 	lie was of an ancient 
and noble house; he had been for years the friend 
and correspondent of Burghley and Walsingham ; 
and he , was now hi great credit with the English 
Queen. 	But Douglas had a dark as well as a bright 
side ; arid 'exhibited h contradiction or anomaly in 
character by no means vnfrequent in those days : 
the ferocity of a feudal age, gilded or lacquered over 
by a thin coating of civilisation. 	Externally all was 
polish and amenity ; truly and at heart the man was 
a sanguinary, fierce, bratty, and unscrupulous villain. 
He had been personally present'at Darnley's murder, 
although he'only admitted the foreknowledge of it; he 
had been bred as a retainer of the infamous BothwA; 
lie had, afterwards been employed by the Scottish 
Queen, whom he sold to her enemies ; and Elizabeth's 
great purpose in now iatereeding fqr 	is return from 
her Court to his own country, was to use his Lafhienee 
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with the ,young King against his mother and her 
faction. 	lie now brought a letter written by that 
Princess to the King in his favour ;1  and it is little 
to James's credit, that he speedily obtained all he 
asked. 	A mock trial was got up ; ar sentence of 
acquittal pronounced ; and .Douglas was not only 
restored to his estates and rank, but admitted into the 
highest confidence with the Sovereign, whose father 
he had murdered. 	Nay, strange to tell, James held 
a secret conversation with him on the dark subject 
of Darnley's assassination;- and as Douglas instantly 
sent a report of it to Walsingliam, we get behind the 
curtain. 	The King'commanded all the courtiers to 
retire; and, finding himself alone with Douglas, after 
reading the Queen of England's letter, thus addressed 
him : 

" At your departure, I was your enemy; and now, 
id your returning, I am and shall be your friend. 
You are not ignorant what the laws of this realm 
arc, and what best may agree with your honour to 
be done for your surety. 	I must confess her Ma- 
jesty's request in your favour to be honourable and 
favourable, and your desire 'to have come by assize 2  
to be honest ; and I myself do believe that you are 
innocent of my father's murder, except in fore-
knowledge and concealing ; an fault so common in 
those days, that' no man of any dealing could mis- 

i MS. Draft, St. P. Off., Elizabeth to James, Scottish Royal 
Letters, 6th April, 1586. 

2  To have come by assize; to be tried by a jury. 
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knaw ;1  and yet so perilous to be revealed, in respect 
of all the actors of that tragedy, that no man, with-
out extreme danger, could' utter any speech thereof, 
because they did see it and could not amend it ; and, 
therefore, I will impute unto you neither foreknow-
ledge nor concealing ; and desire that you will advise 
by my Secretary what may be most agreeable to my 
honour and your surety in trial, and it shall be per-
formed."' These are remarkable words, and probably 
come very near the truth as to the foreknowledge of 
the King's murder 'Assessed by every man of any note 
or consequence in the Court. 	It is evident the King 
kept at a distance from all direct mention of his 
mother's name. 	The general expressions which he 
used may either infer that the Queen must have 
known of the intended murder, but could not, with-
out imminent peril,• have revealed or prevented it, or 
that she knew and permitted it. 	As to Douglas's 
own active share in the murder, it was positively 
asserted by his servant on the scaffold; and at a 
moment when there could be .no temptation to deny 
or disguise the truth, that he was present at the ex-
plosion, and returned from it covered with soil and 
dust. 

1  Manaw ; be ignorant. 
2  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Archibald Douglas to Walsiiigliam, 

6th May, 1586. 
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CHAP. 

JAMES THE SIXTII. 

158G-1587. 

CONTEMPORARY PRINCES. 
E7titFca;e.. 	

German',. 
	I Sril 1:11121: 	Pr.  BIIat. 	I 	11or11I. 	IRolp. 	Philip 	I 	1"1;1 	I 	SictV.  ' r 	1 	; • 

ELIZABETH, as has been already hinted, had a great 
purpose in view, when she concluded this league and' 
sent Archibald Douglas into Scotland. 	Two months 
before, her indefatigable minister, Walsingham, had, 
detected that famous  conspiracy known by the name 
of 	BabingtOn's plot," in which Mary was implicated, 
and for which 'she afterwards suffered. 	It had been 
resolved by Leicester, Burghley, and Walsinghatn, 
and probably by the Queen herself, that this should 
be the last plot of the Scottish Queen and the -Ro-
man Catholic faction ; that the time had come when 
sufferance was criminal and weak ; that the life of 
time unfortunate, but still active and formidable cap-
tive, was inconsistent with Elizabeth's safety and the 
liberty of the realm. 	hence the importance attached 
to this league, which bound the two kingdoms to-
gether, in a treaty offensive and defensive, for the 
proteCtion of the Protestant faith, 'and separated the 
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young King from his mother. 	Hence the eagerness • 
for the return and pardon of Archibald Douglas, who 
had sold himself to Elizabeth, betrayed the secrets of 
Mary, and now offered his influence over James to ' 
be employed in furthering this great design for her 
destruction. 	 . 	 , 

It is now necessary to enter upon the history of this 
plot, and Mary's alleged connexion with it,—one of the 
inost involved and intricate portions in the hiStory of 
the two countries. 	To-be clear, and prevent the mind 
from getting entangled in the inextricable meshes of 
Walsingham and his informers, it will be proper 
for a moment • to look back. 	Mary had now been 
nineteen years a captive ; :and, upon the .cruelty and 
illegality of ber imprisonment during this long and 
dreary period, there can be but one opinion. 	She 
was seized and imprisoned during a time of peace ; 
contrary to every feeling of generosity, and in flagrant 
violation of every principle of law and justice. 	On 
the one hand, it was the right and the duty of such 
a prisoner to attempt every possible means for her 
escape; on the other, it was both natural and just 
that .the Catholic party, in England and Scottimd, 
should have combined with France and Spain to 
deliver her from her captivity, and avenge upon 
Elizabeth such an outrage on the law of nations as 
the .seizure of a free Princess. 	But the same party 
regarded Elizabeth as a heretic, whose whole life had 
been obStinately opposed to the truth. 	Some of 
them went so far as to consider her an illegitimate 
usurper, whose throne belonged to the Queen of Scots, 

VOL. VIII. 	 U 
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They had plotted, therefore, not only for Mary's 
deliverance, but for the• reestablishment of their own 
faith in England, and for Elizabeth's deposition; 
nay, some of them, mistaking fanaticism for religion, 
against Elizabeth's life. 	All these conspiracies con- 
tinued more or less during the whole period of Mary's 
captivity; and had been detected by the vigilance of 
Elizabeth's ministers, acting through the system of 
private spies; one of the most revolting features of an 
age which regarded craft and treachery as necessary 
parts of political wisdom. 	With all these plots, the 
Queen of Scots had been in some degree either 
directly 	or 	indirectly 	connected : her 	rival 	felt 
acutely (and such a feeling was the retributive 
punishment of the wrong she had committed) the 
misery of keeping so dangerous a prisoner ; but up 
to this time, there seems to have been no allegation 
that Mary was implicated in anything affecting Eliza-
beth's life, anything more, in short, than a series of 
plots continued at different times for her own escape. 
Nor did Elizabeth very highly resent them. 	So far 
at least from 6,dopting the extreme measures to which 
she had been advised by many of her councillors, she 
had repeatedly entered into negotiations with her 
royal captive, in' which she held out the hope of her 
liberty oh the one hand; whilst Mary, on the other, 
promised not only to forsake all connexion with pub. 
lic affairs, and leave the government to her son, but 
to impart to her good sister the most valuable secret 
information. 	These scenes had been so repeatedly 
begun, and repeatedly broken off, that they had be- 
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come almost matters of yearly form. 	On both sides, 
in all this, there was probably much suspicion and 
insincerity ; but chiefly on the part of Elizabeth : 
for Mary, at last sinking under the sorrows of so 
long a captivity, and worn out by deferred hope, 
became ready to pay the. highest price for freedom ; 
to give up the world, to sink into private life, to 
sacrifice all except her religion, and her title to the 
throne. 	It was on this principle, that she was ready 
to enter into that agreement with her son already 
alluded to, and known by the name of " the Associ- 
ation." 	By the terms of this, James was to continue 
King ; his mother resigning her right into his hands, 
and taking up her residence, with an allowance 
according to her rank, either in England or Scotland. 
Elizabeth, to whom the whole design was communi-
cated, and who was included as a party to the treaty, 
was to release the Scottish Queen, resume with her 
the friendly relations which had been so often broken 
off, and receive, in return, such general good advice, 
and such secret revelations, as Mary could give con-
sistently with fidelity to her friends. 

Now, at the very time when this 	association 
seemed to be concluded ; when the hopes of the un-
happy captive were at the highest ; when she was 
looking forward to her liberty with the delight 
" which the opening of the prison brings to them that 
are bound," the cup, for the hundredth time, was 
dashed 'from her lips. 	Throckmorton's treason oc- 
curred ; a plot 	still involved 	in great 	obscurity. 
Parry's conspiracy, also, took place, which included 
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an attempt against the life of the English Queen ; and, 
the covenant, or "association," for the defence of Eliza-
beth's person, •was concluded at the urgent instance 
of Leicester, by which f' inen of all degrees through-,  
Out England bound themselves, by mutual vows and 
subscriptions, to prosecute. to the death all. who 
should directly or.indirectly attempt anything against 
their Sovereign." 	It was in vitin that Mary dis- 
claimed all connexion' with these plots, affirming 
passionately, and apparently sincerely, that it would 
be cruel to hold her responsible for all the wild 
attempts of the Roman Catholic faction who proT  
fessed to be her friends, but did not inform her of 
their proceedings ; in vain, that she offered to sign 
the Association for Elizabeth's safety, and act upon 
it as if she, Were her dearest sister. 1 She was met 
by a cold refusal ; the treaty .for her freedom was 
abandoned; the Master, of Gray, and Archibald 
Douglas, men whom she ha,d implicitly trusted, were 
bribed to betray her most private transactions; and, 
as the last and, bitterest ingredient in her misery, her 
,own son broke• off all' intercourse with her, threw 
,himself into:the armns of the. English Queen, and, by 
the 9 League' which we have just seen concluded, 
.became the sworn pensioner of her enemy, and the 
,avoived persecutor of that religion :which ,  she firmly 
believed to be the truth. Are ive to wonder that, under 
such circumstances, she renounced her promises to 
.Elizabeth, and, as a last resource, encouraged the 
,Roman Catholics to resume , their projects for the 
invasion a England, her delivery from captivity, and 
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the restoration of what she believed the only true 
Church ? 

It is certain, that two Years before this,in 1584, she 
had been cognizant of Throckmorton's plot already al-,  
luded to, and got up by the English Catholic refugees 
in Spain and France for the invasion Of England, the 
dethronement of Elizabeth, and her own delivery. 
One of the principal managers of this conspiracy was 
Thomas Morgan, a devoted Catholic, Mary'S agent 
en the continent, a man deeply attached to her inter-
ests, and who had been long trained in the school of 
political intrigue: 	The rest werei Francis Throck- 
'Morton, who suffered for it ; nomad, Lord Paget ; 
Charles Arundel, who fled •to France ; and some 
others. 	It is' extremely difficult 'to disCover what. 
portion of the plot was real, and -what fictitious ; 
but that schemes were in agitation against Elizabeth, . 
hi which the Spanish Ambassador, Mendoza, parti-
ripated, and with which Mary was well acquainted, 
Cannot be doubted. 	So clear did her servant Med- 
gan's guilt appear to the King of France, in whose 
dominions he then resided, that although he refused 
to deliver hinr up as Elizabeth required: heithrerw hiM 
into prison, sent his papers to England, and treated 
him with much severity 	Even in this durance,. he 
Managed to continue his secret practices; but Mary, 
who had now entered into negotiations vith the 
Queen for her liberty, renounced, for a seasoni, all 
political intrigue; and the sniouldering embers of 
recent conspiracies Were allowed to cool land butte 
out, whilst she looked forward with sanguine hope 
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to her freedom. 	When, however, this hope was 
blasted ; when she was removed from the gentler 
custody of the Earl of Shrewsbury to the severer 
jailomhip of Paulet ;1  when she was haunted by re-
ports of private assassination, and at last saw Eliza-
beth and her son indissolubly leagued against her, 
she resumed her correspondence with Morgan, and' 
welcomed every possible project for her escape.2  

At this time, Walsingham, the English Queen's 
principal Secretary, had brought the system of secret 
information to a state. of high perfection, if we may 
use such an expression on the subject. 	The Queen 
of Scots, the French and Spanish Ambassadors; the 
English Roman Catholic refugees, were all surround-
ed by his creatures, who insinuated -  themselves into 
their.cOnfidence, pretended to join their plots, drew 
them on to reveal their secrets, and carried all they 
knew to their employers. 	Amongst these base tools 
of Walsingham, were Poley, a man who had found 
means to gain the ear andthe confidence of Morgan, and 
been employed by him in his secret correspondence 
with the Catholics of England and France ; 3  Gilbert 
Gifford, a seminary priest of a good family in Staf-
fordshire, who was also intrusted by Morgan with 
his secrets; Maitd, a sordid wretch, who pretended 
great zeal for the Catholic faith ; and some others. 

1 In October, 1584, Mary was removed from the Castle of 
Sheffield to Wingfield. 	In January, 1585-6, from Wingfield to 
Tutbury. 	In January, 1586-7, from Tutbury to Chartley. 

2  Camden in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 501. 
8 Murdin, p. 469, Morgan to Mary. 	Ult. Martii, 1586. 
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He was also assisted by Thomas Phelipps, a person 
of extraordinary skill in detecting real, and concoct,  
ing false plots by forging imaginary letters, and of 
equal talent in discovering the key to the most diffi- 
cult. and complicated ciphers. 	In his service, too; 
was one Gregory, who, by reiterated practice, had 
acquired the faculty of breaking and replacing seals 
with such nicety, that no eye could suspect the frac- 
ture.' 	By means of these agents Walsingham, about 
the same time that the league had been concluded 
between Elizabeth and the King.  of Scots, discovered 
a conspiracy for the assassination of that Princess. 
Of this atrocious design, Ballard, a seminary priest, 
and Savage, an English officer who had served in the 
Netherlands, were •the principal movers ; but Mor-
gan, Mary's agent, undoubtedly encouraged the plot, 
and drew into it seine of the English Catholic refu- 
gees. 	At the same time, the former great project for 
the invasion of England, the dethronement of Eliza-
beth, and the escape of Mary, was resumed by Spain, 
France, and the Scottish Queen's Catholic friends in 
England and Scotland ; 	and the captive Princess 
herself became engaged in a secret correspondence 
On this subject with Morgan, Charles Paget, Sir 
Francis Englefield, and the French and Spanish 
Ambassadors. 	Here, then, were two plots simul- 
taneously carrying on ; and amongst the actors to 

1 ms.sSt. P. Off., Orig. Cipher and Decipher, endorsed by Phe- 
lipps. 	Papers of Marf Queen of Scots. 	Pietro, 24th April, 138(3, 
and Gilbert Gifford'6 Letter, deciphered by Carle. 	Pietro was one 
of the names by which Gilbert Gifford was designated. 
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-whom the execution was intrusted, some persons 
were common to both,—that is, some were sworn to 
assist alike in the invasion and in the assassination ;-
others knew only of the design against the govern 
ment,.and had no knowledge of the darker purpose 
against Elizabeth. 	Amongst these last, ,up. to A.cer- 
tain,  date which can be -fixed,.we must undoubtedly 
class the Scottish Queen. 	She, was ,fully aware, "and 
indeed was an active agent in the schemes which were 
in agitation for, the invasion of the:cOuntry, and het 
own„ deliverance ;'i but. shel'was ignorant' at first og 
any designs against the life of her enemy.2 	Whether 
to the last she remained so ignorant of all, ha4. beeui 
disputed; but, in the mean time, the predicament in 
which she stood, as all must tee, was one of extreme 
peril, and 0 the result proved. 	Walsingham, through. 
his spies,- became Acquainted with both plots; and 
his „fertile 'and: unscrupulous minds  -assiUed and-
prompted by such an instrument•as Phelipps,. pro-
jected a scheme forj  involving Afary in a knowledgel  
of both, and thus drawing her on to her ruin. 	Such 
being the general,Alesign,/ let us now look more mit-
nntely into the history 'and proceedings of the cou-J 
aspirators. 	 ! 	f 

i John Savage, a Roman Catholid gentleman, who, 
-bad served in, the wars ,of the Low Countries, becom-
ing acquainted 'with some fanatical priests of thel 
Jesuit seminary of Rheims, was induced, by their 

• ' 	' 	. 	 1 	
I 	. 	r 

i  MS. St. P. OW., Morgan to Mary, a declphor in Pbelipp8' bolich) 
I.T1t. Martii, 1588, printed in Muedin, p. 481. 

2  Murdin, p. 527, Morgan to Mary, 4th July, UK 	• 	I 
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arguments, to believe that the assassination of the 
English Queen -would be a meritorious action in the 
sight, of God. 	They argued that the Papal bull, by 
which this Princess was excommunicated, was dic-
tated by the Holy Spirit; and that to slay' any per-
son thus anathenlatized 'must be accounted an act of 
faith, and not of murder. 	Savage, thus worked upon, 
took . a solemn vow that he Would kill the Queen ; 
and prepared to,  return to England for the purpose.1  
Previous to- his departure, -however, John Ballard, a 
priest of the same seminary, and -a busy agent of 
Morgan, returned to France, from-  a tour which he 
had made amongst the Catholics of England and 
Scotland. 	The purpose of his mission thither had 
been to-organize the plot for the invasion of Eng-
land ; the object of his return Was to confer upon,  
the same subject with Mendoza the Spanish Ambas- 
Su-dor, Charles Paget, and the other English Catholic 
refugees. 	Ballard was accompanied by Maud, the 
person already mentioned as a spy of Malsingham, 
who had deceived Ballard and Morgan, by pretend-
ing a great zeal for the Catholic cause ; and through 
this base person the English Secretary became ac- 
quainted with all their proceedings.2 	Paget being 
consulted, argued strongly thab no invasion could 
succeed during the lifetime of Elizabeth .,. and Bal-
lard, assuming the disguise of a soldier, and taking 

I Carte, vol. iii. p. 601; and MS. Brit. Mus., Caligula, C. ix. 
fol. 290, Savage's Confession. 	' 	 i 	1 

2  Carte, vol. iii. p. 601. 	Camden in. Kennet4 vol. ii. TJ. 515. 
Murdin, p. 517, Charles Paget tei Mary, May £9, 1.586. 
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the name of Captain Fortescue, or Foscue, came 
back to England much about the same time as. 
Savage, whose fell purpose Morgan bad communicated 
to him. 

Soon after his arrival, Ballard addressed hilt's& • 
to Anthony Babington, a young gentleman of large 
fortune, and ancient Catholic family, in Derbyshire, 
who had before this shown great zeal and activity in 
the service of the Queen of Scots. 	This was known 
to Ballard ; find he, therefore, confidently opened to 
him the great scheme for the invasion of England ; 
explained the ardour with which it had been resumed 
by Morgan and the Scottish Queen ; and exhorted 
him to second their efforts by every means in his 
power. 	Babington, 	it 	is . certain, bad been long 
warmly devoted to Mary. 	He had formed, when he 
was in France, an intimate friendship with Morgan ; 
had been introduced to Beaton the Bishop of Glas-
gow, her Ambassador in that country ; and had re. 
turned to England with letters from both these per-
sons, which strongly recommended him to the Scot- 
tish Queen. 	From this time, for the period of two 
years, he had continued to supply her with secret 
intelligence, and to receive and convey her letters to 
her friends.' 	Latterly, however, all intercourse had 
been broken off; whether for some private cause, or 
on account of the greater strictness of Mary's con- 
finement, does not appear pertain. 	This interrup- 
tion of Mary's correspondence with Babington had, 
however, given distress to Morgan ; and most unfor-

.1  llarilwieke'a Papers, vol. i. p. 227. 
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tunately, as it happened for the Scottish Queen, he 
had written to her, in urgent terms, on the 9th of 
May, 1586, advising her to renew her secret inter-
course with him, and describing him as a gentleman 
on whose ability and high honour she might have the 
firmest reliance' 

On being sought out by Ballard, Babington evinced 
all his former eagerness for the service of the captive 
Queen ; but expressed strongly the same opinion as 
that already given by Charles Paget, that no inva-
sion or rising in England could succeed as long as 
Elizabeth lived. 	Ballard then communicated to him 
Savage's purpose of assassination ; adding, that the 
gentleman who had solemnly bound himself to de- 
spatch that Princess was now in England. 	This 
revelation produced au immediate effect ; and Bab-
ington expressed a decided opinion that the simul-
taneous execution of both plots held out the fairest 
prospect of success. 	It would be dangerous, how- 
ever, he said, to intrust the assassination to only one 
hand ; it might fail, and all would be lost. 	lie sug- 
gested, therefore, an improvement, by which the 
murder should be committed by six gentlemen of big 
acquaintance, of whom Savage should be one ; whilst 
he pointed out the best havens 'where foreign troops 
might be landed ; summed up the probable native 
force with which they were likely to be joined; and 
demonstrated the surest plan for the escape of the 

1 Murdin, p. 513. Morgan to the Queen of Scots, 0thl1fay,1586, 
or old style, 29th April. 	Mary and her secretaries always fol- 
lowed the Roman or new, Walsingham, Burghley, and Phclipps, 
the old style. 	 • 
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Scottish Queen.' 	With all this Ballard' was -highly 
pleased : and from the time when the' first Meeting 
with Babington took place,2  he and 'Babington' eni- 
ployed themselves 	in 	discoverhig, 'amongst -'their' 
acquaintance, such ,men • as they deemed likely .to 
erigdge in this aboininable design. 	Three were gaol" 
procured to join with Savage: • Their names Were 
Abingdon, the son of theTate cofferer of the 'Queen's 
household; BarnWell, who vas 'connected' Niiit .  a 
noble family in fr'eland;' an 	dhainock, 'a 	atholic 
gentleman in Lancashire .° 	SoMe time after, 'the 
number of sik was Made` up by the addition' of CharleA 
tilney, one 'Of the 'Queen's baud' of gentlemen pe&. 
stoners; and Chidiock iTitchbourne. ' Other gentle-
men of their acquaintance *ere engage"d to assist in 
the project for the invasion, dit'd the egcape 'of Miry ; 
but the ddrker'phipose 'Of assa,ssinatioteVi4 hot re- 
vealed to them. • 	' 	 1 	1 

1Juring 411 this time, Marry, Oh ' account Of the 
Strictness.  of her Coati-lenient Mider'Sir AmiaA Pn:tila, 
bad found it 0th-chicly difheiiit ,6 continue her' col.,  
iespinidenee with her friehds abroad ;' but ' she 'had 
never abandOned the project of the Spanish invasion : 
aiid on the 5th May, 'she addre'sidh letter to Charles 
Paget; giving minute directions 'regarding.the likeliest 
6.etlioat  Of succeeding ift' their Common etiterprise 

f 	I 	p 	
1' 	t 	

pi 

- 	i Aturain, p. 51a. 'Morgari to th4 14neeit'of Scots, May Di i586 ; 
or old style, April 29; also, Camden in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 515. 

a Mitt period or interval cannot be precisely fired. 	It seems 
to have been between the 27th of May and the 25th Junel: 

3  Camden in Kennet, vol. ii. t. 516. 
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against Elizabeth. 	From this letter,, which, though 
long, is highly, interesting, some passages must be 
given. 	They develop the whole plot for the invasion 
of England, and exhibit adeterinination in her designs 
against Elizabeth:whichovhen known, (as they came 
to be by the interception of the letter) could not fail 
to excite e?ctreme. resentment. 	 . 

0 With' an, infinite 	►umber of other letters in 
cipher, (so she addressed Paget,). .I received five of 
yours, dated the 14th jannary, 16th of May, and last 

' of July 1585, and the 4th of February 1586. 	But, 
for their ,late arriyab here, and all at once, it .hath 
not i  been, possible, for rine to ,see them all deciphered. 
And 1 have been, since tbeideparture from Wingfield ,,2  
so wholly without all intelligence of foreign affairs, . as, not knowing the ,present state thereof, it is very 
difficile forme to establish any. certain course for re. 
establishing the same on . this side ; and methinks I 
can see no other means.to that end, except the King 
of Spain, now being,pricked in his particular, by the 
attempt made on Xiolland,. and the course of, Drake, 
yvould, takes revenge,, against the Queen of England, 
whilst, F,rance, pccupied ,4a ,it s  is,: c,annot help her; 
whereof, X desire that Ton; should essays  either ,by the 
1,ord.P,aget during his abode, in, Spin, or by,,,the 
Spanish Ambassador, to discover clearly g the said 
King of Spain hath intention to set on England." 

Mary then proceeded to state, with,great force, the 

I Am St, P,! Off. decipher by Phelippi. 	Mary to Mendoza, 
20th.may,1580, 	I 	J 	I 	1 	 i 

8 Mary was removed to Wingfield in October 455-4 
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reasons which ought to move the Spanish King to 
adopt this course ; after which, she thus expressed 
her hopes of giving him effectual assistance :— 

" Now, in case that he deliberate to set on the 
Queen of England, esteeming it most necessary that 
he assure himself also of Scotland, either to serve 
with him in the said enterprise, or, at the least, to 
hold that country so bridled that it serve not his 
enemy ; I have thought good that you enter with 
the Ambassador of Spain, in these overtures follow-
ing ; to wit, that I shall travel by all means to make . 
my son enter, in the said enterprise; and if he can-
not be persuaded thereunto, that I shall dress a secret 
strait league among the principal Catholic lords of 
that country, and their adherents, to be joined with .  
.the King of Spain, and to execute, at his devotion,  
what' of their parts shall be- thought meet for ad-
vancing of the said enter rise ; so being they may 
have such succours of men and money as they will 
ask; which, I am sure, shall not be very chargeable, 
having men enough within  the country, and little 
money stretching far and doing much there. 	More-
over, (continued Mary,) I shall dress the means to 
make my son be delivered in the hands of the said 
King of Spain, on in the Pope's, as best by them shall 
be thought good ; but with paction and promise to 
set him at liberty whensoever I shall so desire, or 
that after my death, being Catholic, he shall desire 
again to repair to this Isle. 	* 	* 	* 	This is the 
best hostage that I and the said lords of Scotland 
can give to the King of Spain for performance of 
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that which may depend on them in the said enter- 
terprise. 	But withal must there be a Regent estab-
lished in Scotland, that [may] have commission and 
power of me and my son, (whom it shall be easy to 
make pass the same, he being once in the bands of • 
the said lords,) to govern the country in his absence ; 

.for which office I find none so fit as the Lord Claud 
Hamilton, as well for the rank of his house, as for 
his manhood and wisdom ; and to shun all jealousy 

. of the rest, and to strengthen him the more, he must 
have a Council appointed him of the.  principal lords, 
without whoni he shall be bound not to ordain any- 
thing of importance. 	I should think myself most 
obliged to the King of Spain, that it would please 
him to receive my son, to make him be instructed 

R and reduced to the Catholic religion, which is the 
thing in the world I most desire ; affecting a great 
deal rather the salvation bf his soul than to see him 
monarch of all Europe ; and I fear much, that so 
long as he shall remain where he is, (amongst those 
that found all his greatness upon the maintenance of 
the religion which he professeth,) it shall never be in 
my power to bring him in. again to the right way ; 
whereby there shall remain in my heart a thousand 
regrets and apprehensions; if I should die, to leave 
behind me a tyrant and persecutor of the Catholic 
Church. 

" If you see and perceive the said Ambassador to 
have !joust in these overtures, and put you in hope of 
a good answer thereunto, which you shall insist to 
have with all diligence, I would then, in the mean 
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time, you should write to the Lord Claud, letting 
him understand how that the King of Spain is to set 
on this country, and desireth to have the 'assistance 
of the Catholics of Scotland, for' to stop, at 'least, 
that from thence the Queen of England have noisuc-
emirs ; and to that -effect, you shall pray the said.  
Lord Claud to sound and grope the minds hereunto 
of the principal of the .Catholic nobility in Scotland. 

*. * * And to the end they may be the more en- 
couraged herein, you may write plainly to the Lord 
Claud, that you have charge of me to treat with him 
of this matter. 	But by your first letter, I am not of 
opinion that you discover yourself further to him, nor 
to. other at all,. until you have received answer of the 
King of Spain, which being conform to this design-
ment, then may you open more to the ;Lord Claud ; 
showing him, that to assure himself of my son, and 
to,tbe end (if it be possible) that things be passed, 
and done under his name and authority, it shall be 
needful to seize his person, in case that willingly he, 
cannot be brought to this enterprise ; yea, and that 
the surest were to deliver him. into the King of 
Spain's hands, or the Pope's, as shall be thought best; 
and.that in. his absence, he depute the Lord.Claud 
his Lieutenant-general and Regent in the govern-
ment of Scotland ; which, you. arc assured, I may be 
easily persuaded to confirm and approve. 	For if it 
be possible, I will not, for divers respects, be named 
therein, until the extremity. 	* 	* 	* 	I can write 
nothing presently to the Lord Claud himself, for 
want of an alphabet between me and him, which now 
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I send you herewith enclosed" without any Mark on 
the back, that you may send it unto him."' 

Here, then, was Mary's plan Minutely detailed by 
herself; in which. Spain was to "set on England,' 

1AS she expressed it ; Lord Claud Hamilton to be 
made Regent in Scotland ; her son, in the event of 
big• refusal to turn Catholic, and combine against 
Elizabeth, to be seized, imprisoned, and coerced into 
obedience. 

The vigour and ubility with which the whole is 
laid down, needs no comment ; and the Scottish 
Queen omitted no opportunity to encourage her 
friends in that great enterprise which was now re-
garded as the forlorn hope for -  the recovery of her 
liberty, and the restoration of the Catholic faith in 
Britain.' 	All this.time, however, Mary had no com- 
munication 'with Ballard. 	He had been specially 
warned not to attempt to hold any intercourse with 
the Queen ; and she had been informed by Morgan, 
in a letter written from his prison, that such au agent 
was in England labouring busily in her behalf, but 
that there were strong reasons why she should avoid, 
for the present, all communication with him. 	“ Tie 
followeth (said he) some matters of consequence, the 
issue whereof is uncertain ; wberefore; as long as 

! MS. St. P. Off., Decipher by Phelipps; Queen of Scots to 
Charles Paget, 20th May, 1588, Chartle:y. 

2  MS. St. P. Off., Mendoza to the Queen of Scots, 'May 19, 1580. 
Decipher by Phelipps. 	Ibid. Decipher by Pholipps, Sir Francis 
linglefield to Nau, 3d May, 1586. 	Ibid. Archbishop of Glasgow 
to Mary, Decipher, '20th May, i586. 	See supra, pp. 250, 281, 
Randolph's intimation of this cItorpiray to -Walsiatzhain. 

VOL. VIII. 	 X 
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these labours of his and matters do continue, it is 
not for your Majesty's service to hold any intelli-
gence with . him at all, lest he,•or his , partners, be 
discovered, and they, by pains or other accidents, 
discover your Majesty afterwards to have had in-
telligence with them, which I would not should fall 
out for any good in the world. 	And I have specially 
warned the said Ballard (he continued) not to deal 
at any baud with your Majesty, as long as he fol-
loweth the affairs that he and others have in hand, 
which tend to do good,. which I pray nod. may come 
to pass ; and 'so shall your Majesty be relieved by 
.the power of God."' 

In a postscript of a letter of Morgan's to Curie, 
Mary's French secretary, written on the same, which 
was intercepted and deciphered by Phelipps, an indi-
rect allusion was made to these practices of Ballard 
against the life of Elizabeth. 	" I am not unoccu- 
pied (said he) although I be in prison, to think of 
her Majesty's state, and yours that endure with her, 
to your honours; and there be many means in hand 
to remove the beast that troubleth all the world."' 

But although Mary, thus warned, prudently ab-
stained from any communications with Ballard, she 
continued in active correspondence with Morgan, 
Englefield, Mendoza, Paget, and Persons, on the sub- 
ject of " the great enterprise." 	The principal person 
through whom she transmitted her letters was Gil- 

I Morgan to the Queen of Soap, Mural, P. 527. 
2 MS. St. P. Off., Morgan to Curie. 	Decipher by PhelippP, 

24tle Juno old style, 4th July new. 
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bent Gifford, who had sold himself to Walsingham. 
IIer letters accordingly were regularly intercepted, 
deciphered by Phelipps, copied, considered by Wal-
singham, and then forwarded to their destination.' 
The English minister, therefore, was quite as well 
acquainted with the plot for the invasion of the realni, 
and the insurrection of the Ronian Catholics, as the 
conspirators themselves. He knew, also, the desperate 
designs of Ballard, Babington, and his fellows, against 
the Queen's life ; yet, as Mary had abstained from all 
intercourse with the conspirators, there was no evi- 
dence to connect her with their designs. 	There 
might be presumptions against her ; (and it seems to 
me impossible for any one to have read Morgan's 
allusion to the. secret designs of Ballard without 
having a suspicion of some dark purpose ; ) but 
nothing had yet brought her into direct contact with 
Ballard or Babington. 	Here, then, was the diffi- 
culty ; and as Walsingham pondered over the way to 
remove it, it seems to have fallen out, most unhappily 
for the Scottish Queen, that in consequence of the 
advice of Morgan, she resolved to renew her corre-
spondence with Babington, who probably abort this 
time had returned from France to England, bringing 
with him the letter of the 29th April above-men- 
tioned.' 	It has been imagined, that Mary was drawn 
on to renew her correspondence with Babington by 
a stratagem of Walsingham's ; but although Wal- 

1 MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Paulet to Walsiuglutin, itth April, 
1 5S(3. 

2 Supra p. 290. 
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singliam vitas busy and ingenious in his • stratagems 
after the correspondence had begun, there is no 
proof that any measures of his led to its renewal; 
and it is evident, from what has been already stated., 
that for this purpose no trick or stratagem vas 
re4uireci. 	• 

But,,  however this may be, Mary could not have 
adopted a mare fatal step.; indeed, it was the very 
triSis of her fate. 	Hitherto,, she knew 'only of .the 
-project for the_ Spanish invasion ; and, listening to the 
•snggestions of ptudence.and suspicion, had connected 
herself in no way with Ballard and the plot. against 
Elizabeth's life. 	Had she continued. thus cautious, 
she was ignorant, and she was safe. 	But Babington 
arrived in 'England ; his re'sid'ence lay in the near 
neighbourhood of Mart's prison; Morgan had given 
him a-letter to that Princess, recommending the re- 
newal of their intercourse. 	The person who then 
managed the 'secret conveyance of Mary's letters was 
the treacherous Gifford. 	rile, we know, -would first 
convey it to•Walsingliasa to. be deciphered ;'it would 
be then.forwarded,  to the Scottish Queen, 	What,  a 

' inOrnent of sueptnse must this have been for the Eng- 
' fish secretary, who MS watching; silent and darlding, 
,for the 16Videncel ,Which. might i convict the captive 
Queen ?, Ifad *she! susPected, or hesitated, of. delayed, 

- Mortgan,'t +Ad Was in communication with, Ballard, 
Jana likely to be soon informed of Ilabington having 
joined the plot against Elizabeth's life, might' have 

I warned her ,against having any communication with 
hini, •11$. he had ,  done mgainSt corresponding' with 
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Ballard. 	But Mary, if we are to believe the letters 
prodUced on her trial,' which, however, she affirmed 
to be forgeries, 1  had no suspicion. 	She wrote to 
Babington, at first, briefly— 	He, if we are to accept 
as genuine a Copy of his letter produced at the trial, 
replied at great length. 	In his reply, the schemelfor 
the invasion was connected with the conspiracy for -the 
assassination of the Queen. 	Mary again answered ; 
at least so it was alleged' by her enemies, who . prit;  
duced a'copy bf her reply; she there gave directions 
Tor the landing of the troops and her own escape ; 
she alluded also to the assassination; and in he; letter,. 
if genuine, certainly did not deprecate it:, 	The agent 
who managed-this secret correspondence was Gifford ;• 
the man in whom Babington • chiefly confided was- 
Poley. Both wore sold to Walsinghatn : every letter 
was thus 'tarried first to him, deciphered by Phelipps, 
copied and reserved for evidence; every Conversation 
between the conspirators was reported. 	At last, 
when all seemed ripe for execution, the signal was 
given; Gifford and his base assistants dropt tie mask; 
Walsiugham stept from behind the burtaiu ; Ballard 
and Babington were seized ; and the unfortunate 
captive4  one tuoment elated with hope,.and joyous in. 
the anticipation ef freedom, found herself in tho next,. 
detected, entangled, lost, 	This rapid stimmary has 
been given, to bring, at one glance, under the readet's 
eye, the great , lines in this Miserable and intricate 
story',, and, before proceeding to trace it fartheri .one 
observation must be added, From the system adopted 
by Walsingham, and the assistance he might derive 
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from the unscrupulous ingenuity of Phelipps, it is clear, 
that if he were £0 base as to avail himself Of it, he 
was'in possession of a machinery by which he could 
make Mary appear guilty of any plot he pleased. The 
letters_—of het correspondents, Morgan, Babington, 
Paget,'and others, were written in cipher to her, and 
her replies were conveyed in cipher to them. 	Both 
fell into the hands of the English secretary ; and, at 
the subsequent trial of Mary, the two long letters 
which proved, as was contended, the Queen's acces-
sion to the plot against Elizabeth's life, were produced, 
not:in...the originals, but in alleged copies of the de- 
ciphered;documents. 	Nothing can be more evident 
than:that, under such a system, Mary may have been 
Wholly innocent, and yet may have been made to ap- 
pear guilty. 	The real letters which passed between 
her and Babington, and which were never produced, 
may have related solely to the great project for the 
invasion of England, and her escape. 	The copies of 
these letters, avowedly taken by Phelipps, Walsing-
bam's servant, may have been so manufactured, as 
to connect -the invasion with the assassination of 
Elizabeth. 	We shall afterwards see that Mary as- 
serted this was really done ; but, meanwhile, let us 
proceed with the story. 

Mary had two secretaries, named Nan and Curie: 
the first, a man of ability, intelligence, and education, 
but quarrelsome, and fond of political intrigue ; the 
second, chiefly employed as a clerk and decipherer. 
Both of them enjoying her confidence, and intrusted 
with the management of her secret correspondence. 
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It does not exactly appear when the Scottish Queen 
received, through Babingtou, Morgan's letter, recom-
mending the renewal of her correspondence with this 
gentleman ; but, on the 4th July, 1586,1  Curie sent 
to Gifford, or to the substitute who sometimes acted 
for him, a packet, in which he enclosed a letter, which 
he begged him to convey to Anthony Babington. The 
letter accompanying this packet was in cipher, and 
in the following words :— 

" On Sunday last, I wrote unto.  you by this bearer, 
having received. nothing from you since your letter 
dated the sixteenth of this instant.2 	I hope to have 
her Majesty's despatch, mentioned iu my foresaid, 
ready for to-morrow sevennight, [conform to] the 
appointment. 	In the mean season, her Majesty 
prayeth you to send your foot-boy, so closely as yon 
can, with these two little bills: the one so a' marked, 
to Master Anthony Babington, dwelling most in 
Derbyshire, at a house of his own, within two miles 
of Winkfield ; 3  as I doubt not but you know, for 
that in this shire he lath both friends and kinsmen; 
and the other bill, without any mark, unto one 
Richard Hurt Mercer, 	dwelling in- Nottinghame 
Tower. Unto neither of the two foresaid personages, 
your said boy needeth not to declare whose he is, 
(unless he be already known by them with whom he 
shall have to do ;) but only ask answer, and what 
is given him, to bring it to your hands ; which her 

1 

 

M. Letter, St. P. Off., Curie to/ [Gifford,] July4, . S aturday. 
' By this is meant the 16th of June. 
3  M8, Letter, St. P. Off., Curie tof [Oifford,J July 4, tiaturtlay. 
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Majesty assureth herself, .you ,will, with „eouvenieut 
diligence, make come unto her. 	her Majesty de- 
sireth . that you would, on every occasion, you Lave 
to write hither, .participate unto .hqr such occurrences 
as come to, your knowledge,,either, foreign pr within, 
the realm ;:i and, in ,particular, 'what you, understand 
of, the Earl of i4rewsbury,, pis ping 	.,court., - God 
preserye you, Chartley, of J",ply:the fourth, on Satur- 
day," 1 , 	I 	. 	' 	i 	Hi 	I 

This,letter, the authenticity ;of whiolt.there is,  no 
reason, to disptite, is a, small, $4P of Piwe4  vyritten[ 
wholly iu cipher ; the decipher being.  added, helowit, 
by Plielipps, hut much: mutilated. 	;It ,will, note  how, 
ever, escape ,an attentive Keafler„that the writer floes 
no,t ,specify by whom tip enclosed /et*, to Anthony 
Babington was written. 	,It .iiay,.liaye bepni -front 
31p,ry, or it ,may possibly have been from her secre-, 
tary, Nan, or, from Carle, i Walsingham and Burgh- 
ley, indeed, alleged at the trial, and,It was so pleaded,. 
that the„ enclosure iwas a letter from the (lupen of 

, ), 
 

This latter is preserved in cipher iu the Sti P. Off.; in a most 
valuable collection of original papers and letters, entitled, "Tapers 
of Mary Queen ;of Scots." 	The deciphered part, in Pholipps, 
band; is, much .of it,. .illegible. 	It is now printed, for the first tint°, 
from a decipher, by Mr,•Lemon of the.State,paper Office. 	It is 
singnlar,asithat gentlenuutbas remarked, that Carle, on Nati,in 
writing it, made an error in the,date.,  $ In,158.0, the 4th a July, 
Roman,  style which Mary's §eeretaries used,was on a Friday, not 
a Saturday 4 Saturday was the 5thpf.Joy, but the writer had wisp• 
taken the day of the nionth, This trivial oireutustane,e appears tot 
mete .tonarrn the authenticity .of the letters; anl there is another, 
iusta/ioe of carelessness in it.: ho speaks, although writing owtha 
5th Juiyy of than 16th l'i,of this instant;" evidentlyimeaolog the  
16th June, 	This tells the kamo way. 	, 
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Scots to Babington ; and this original 'letter is cer-
tainly alluded to as.'eXtant in a list drawn •'up-by 
Burghley ; but if it 'ever existed, it is now loSt. 	It 
waa not '-brought forward at ftlie 'trial, when 'Mary 
demanded to see it, and alleged that no such letter 
\Vas ever -written by her 	a copy was all,  that Was 
then produced; mid a copy of the decipher is all-that 
We novr -have.' 	This letter, t.purportingrAo be ad-, 
dressed by Mary to Babington, was as follows :— 

" My very good friend, albeit it belong since'You 
heard from me, no *more than I Have-done front ion,. 
against my will ;-yet would-I,not'yoii should! think I 
have 4the meanwhile, or ever Will bennniindful a the 
effectual affection you have 'showed heretofore to- 
Wards all 'that concerneth me. 	Ir have 'understood; 
that upon' the 'ceasing of bur intelligence, there werel 
addressed unto pin, both from Fruit and Scotland;, 
soine packets for ine. 	1' pray ynii,-if 'any , be edine to 
your hands, and be yet. in' Place, 'to deliver them t6 

't li may 13e 'added, that there is ato in the W211.'011., a cb'pSi 
of the same letter in -cipher, made by tome unknown hand 'most 
probably Gifford's, en the back of the small ciphered letter already 
quoted, of date the 4th July, encloSing to Gifford the Queen's letter 
to Babington, 	It may be conjectured that Qifford, before forward- 
ing the original to 13abington, took a copy of it on the back of his 
own, letter. 	This letter was dooipherdd fon me by Mr Lemon, and 
is exactly the same as that printed in the text, with.  he exception, 
that the date is thus given in the ciphered kttert ”Of June the 
twenty-fifth, at Chartley, by your assured, good friend, DLaattu le. 
The long interval between Juno 25 and July 5, can only be ac-
counted for by supposing that Mary, in writing to Babington, eon, 
tmry teller usual practice, used the old 'styles  whilstOttrIO, or Nau,, 
in writing to Gifford, and enclosing the Queea'e letter, used the 
new. 	The 25th June old style, was exactly the 5tli July news  
as there should be a difference ,0( ten days. 
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the bearer hereof, who will make theM to be safely 
conveyed unto me. 	And I will pray God kir your 
preservation. 	At Chartley, your assured good friend, 
MARIE R."1  

When the packet containing this letter reached 
Gifford, it was immediately conveyed to Sir Amias 
Paulet, who transmitted it to Walsingham on the 
29th June, with many regrets that it appeared • to 
him too small to contain any very important matter. 
He, at the same time, informed the English secre-
tary, that Phelipps, who was then in London, and to 
whom Elizabeth and Walsingham appear to have 
committed the management of the whole plot for the 
interception of Mary's letters, had written a letter to 
him, in which -he laid down a new plan 'of operations, 
by which he hoped to succeed more surely and speed- 
ily. 	Paulet, however, rejected it as dangerous, and 
liable, by exciting suspicion, to break off the good 
course already •begun.2 	He added, that this was 
the more to be feared, as it was expected, that 
on the 3d of the month, " great matter" would 
come from these people. 	Three days after this letter 

1  MS. Copy, St. P. Off., Mary to Babington, June 25. 
2  MS. Letter, St. P: Off., Paulet to Walsingham, June 29,1.;86. 

In this letter of Paulet, which is too long to quote, wo obtain a 
clear view of the machinery and the actors in this secret corre- 
pondence. 	Mary employed a brewer, who supplied the castle, 

and went by the name of " the honest man," to receive her letters 
from Gifford. 	lie carried the answers to Gifford again, or to a 
cousin of his, who acted a 	his substitute; and all the three were 
in the pay of Walminglann and Paulet; so that the letters of the 
Queen, or her secretaries, wore sure to be intercepted, sent to %Val-
singham, deciphered by Phelipps, and then retransmitted to Paulet, 
who forwarded them to their destination. 
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of Paulet's of the 29th June,' Mary wrote from. 
Chartley to Morgan, informing him that Pietro, the 
name given to Gifford in their letters, at his last re-
turn from France, bad brought her three letters from 
him, one of which regarded Babington.. 	She stated, 
also, that she had received au anonymous letter, 
which, she imagined, came from Poley, who made 
courteous offers ; but she was afraid to deal in it till 
she had.ascertained the matter more certainly; ad-
vising Morgan, for the greater security, to keep those 
persons with. whom she had to deal as much as pos- 
sible unknown to each other. 	She then added this 
remarkable passage regarding her intercourse with 
Babington : 	" As to Babington, he bath both kindly 
and honestly offered himself and all his means, to be 
employed any way I would ; whereupon I hope to 
have satisfied him by two of my several letters since 
I had his. 	IIe bath seen that mine bath prevented. 
him with all lawful excuses shown on my part' of the 
long silence between us." 	In the conclusion of the 
same letter, the Scottish Queen, in answer to the 
passage regarding Ballard, already quoted from Mor-
gan's letter of the 4th July," thus spoke of him :— 
" I have heard of that Ballard of whom you write, 
but nothing from himself, and, -therefore, have no 
intelligence with him." 3  

On the day after, 13th July, Nau, Mary's secre- 

t On,the 12th July new style, or 2(1 July old. 
2  Supra, p. 306. 
II MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Original decipher by Phelipps, Mary 

to Morgan, 12th July new style, i. e., 2d July old. 
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terry, wrote to 13abington, informing him that his 
mistress had received his letters " yesternight," that 
is, on the 'evening of -the 12th July;' which letters; he 
added, before this bearer's. ireturn, cannot • be de- 
ciphered. 	He then continued :,-,--" lie (the bearer) 
is, 'Within three days,,  to repair hither again; against 
which time he 	Majesty's letter 'will be in keadiness. 
In the Mean time, I would i not omit to show you, 
that, there is great assurance Made of Mr Poley's 
faithful serving of herr Majesty .,, and' by his own let-
ters [he] bath vowed and promised the sane." . But 
he Subjoined this cautibn. 	"As yet, her Majesty's ek- 
E)erience of him is not.  So• great as I dare entholden 
you to trust 'him much'; -'he never having written to 
her Majesty but 'once, 'Wher6Unto she Jhath' not yet 
auswei•ed. r * 	* 	'11 	Lame linovsi plainly what yon 
understand of hird.,--12th. July, Cliart14..1-÷Nnu."2  
' Although. th6e two letters, the first from Mary t6 
-111'orga'n; the sedond from,  Nau' to Bc bington,. appear 
not in the original;, blit only in the decipher, which 
is in the hn,ndwritinit, Of Phelipps, and must therefore 
be regarded1  with suspicion, there steins no sufficient 
reason for doubting' their authenticity; and they 
establish the fact, that the Scottish queen, at this 
tinie, had' twice written to' Babington; and meant to 
'write again. 	They* prove, alSO, that, on the 12th 
July, She lad,  reeeiVed ietteri froin Babington. 	But 
with regard to the subject of his offers to her, or her 

lath .]oily ieiry style ; 2d .fuly old. 	I 
2  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., 	Original decipher by ihelipps, 

en:lotted', Nau to haliington, 13th July. 	' 	, , 
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reply to him, upon which depends the whole question 
of her guilt, all is still dark. 

To understand what occurred next, the reader must 
keep in mind, that in his secret communications with 
Mary, Babington sometimes remained at Litchfield 
in the neighbourhood of ,Chartley, and sometimes 
went to London, for the pUrpose of holding his pri-
vate meetings. with the conspirators, andt  also of 
visiting Secretary Walsinghamo  to, whom, strange as 
it may appear, be bad offered himself as a spy upon 
the practices of the Roman Catholic party. 	his 
object in this Was evident. 	Be believed that Wal- 
Bingham knew nothing,of his, designs; and, hoped, 
under this disguise, to become acquainted with all 
the secret purposes of the Secretary, 	But Walsing- 
barn was too old a diplomatist . to be thus taken. in. 
He accepted his offers, and made , his , own use of 
them. 	Hitherto Babing,ton seems to have been in 
London when het received, through Gifford or his 
substitutes, the letters from Mary ; , but he now pro-
posed to come down to Litchfield, and communicate 
with her secret messenger in person. 	It is evident 
that this change made some alteration necessary ou 
the part of Walsingham and Phelipps ; for the delay 
which must have occurred in having the intercepted 
letters sent up to London, deciphered, copied, And 
retransmitted, to be, delivered again to 	13abingtoli, 
would have raised suspicion, and must, in all proba- 
bility, have led to discovery. 	Phelipps, therefore, was 
sent 'down to Chartley,1  where, on preteiu 	Of some 

16  (1 	1111e:‘,  
1  MS. Letter, St. P. Off„ Phelim to W111"111glic'T' 
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other business, he took up, his residence with Sir. 
Amias Paulet ; and thus no time was lost in.   de-
ciphering the intercepted letters, and no suspicion 
raised. 	In this Wray Walsingham trusted that he 
would he enabled, following out what they had be-
gun, 

 
to draw the nets more tightly round the Scot-

tish Queen ; and procure, at last, a clear and Positive 
ground of conviction. 	Keeping this in vievy, the. 
correspondence grows more and more interesting. 

Phelipps left London for Chartley on the evening 
of the 7th July,' and on the way thither he met a, 
messenger with a packet from Sir Amias Paulet to 
Walsingham, which, according to the directions he 
had received from this minister, he opened. 	It con- 
tained a letter of Mary's to the French Ambassador. 
This the decipherer carried back with him to Chart- 
'ley, determining to copy it with all speed, and send 
it up again ; adding in his letter, that he knew the 
Ambassador was expecting it earnestly. 	" By Sir 
Amias' letter, (to quote his note to Walsingham) I 
find (said he) all things to stand in so good terms, as 
my abode here will be the less, but for Babington's 
matters, which I beseech you resolve thoroughly and 
speedily."' 	* 	* 

14th July, 1586. 	Also, Ibid., Phelipps to Walsingbam, Stilton, 
8th July. 

It is stated by Dr Lingard, that ho brought with him 
Babington's lone letter to Mary, and it seems very probable that 
he did so; but I have found no authority for this, and none is 
given for it. 

4 M8. St. P. Off.,Phelipps to Walsingham, 8th July, 1586. 
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The arrival .of Phelipps at Chartley was not un-

noted by the- Scottish Queen, whose mind, with the 
acuteness and suspicion produced by a long captivity, 
eagerly scrutinized every new person or circumstance 
which - Might affect her destiny. 	She remembered 
that Morgan had employed many years ago a gentle-
man of the-same name; but she had never seen him. 
Caild this be the same, and was he td be trusted, or 
-might he not he some new spy or eavesdropper of her 
enemies? 	To ascertain this, she sent a minute de- 
scription of his person to Morgan.' 	Ile must have 
arrived at Chartley on the 9th July, and, having 
deciphered the intercepted packet to the French 
Ambassador,. he, on the 14th, transmitted it with 
this letter to Walsingham, 

" It may please your Honour, the packet is pre-
sently returned, which I stayed, in hopes to send both 
that and the, answer to Ba. letter at once : in the 
meanwhile, beginning to decipher that which we had 
copied out before. 	And so I send your Honour her 
letter to the - French Ambassador, which was in 
cipher, and her letters to the Lord Claud' and Cour- 
celles out of cipher, 	Likewise, the short note was 
sent to Bab., wherein is somewhat only in answer of 

1  " lfe was," she said, "of low stature, slender every way, 
dark, yellow-haired on the head, and clear yellow-bearded, pitted 
in the face with small-rocks, short-sighted, and, as it appeared, 
about thirty years of age." 	We have here a minute portrait of an 
acute, unscrupulous, and degraded man ; whose talents, as a spy 
and decipherer, were so successfully employed by Walsingham in 
the detection and destruction of the Scottish Queen. 

9 Lord Claud Hamilton. 
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that concerned Poley in hi's. 	• We attend her rew . 
heart in the next. 	She begins to recover health and 
strength, and did ride about in her coach yesterday. 
I had a smiling countenance, but I thought of the

tibi dicit Ave—sicut ab boste Cave.' 

I hope by the next to send your Honour better 
matters." 	* .* 	The postscript of this letter is 
important. 	".If the posts make any reasonable 
speed, these will be with you by to-morrow noon ; 
and G. G. (he means Gilbert Gifford) may have 
delivered his packet, and received his answer, by 
Sunday; which then despatched hither, would give 
great credit to the action ; for otherwise we look not 
to depart this se'nnight, and, therefore, as good all 
that belonged hereto were done here as at London." 

40w:  strange a scene was that now presented by 
the Castle of Chartley, Mary's prison. 	The poor 
Queen carrying on a, plot for her escape ; watching 
anxiously the fate of her letters on which all de-
pended, and believing all safe ; whilst Phelipps, living 
then tinder the same roof, and meeting her, as lie 
says„with a smiling countenance, was opening every 
packet ; communicating her most secret thoughts to 
1Vablingham and Elizabeth; - and weaving, at her 
very elbow, the toils in which she was to be caught. 

On this 	same clay, the 	14th July, 	Sir Amias 
Panlet wrote to Walsingham, acquainting him that 

1  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., 14th July, 1586, Phelipps to WO—
singham, Chalky. 
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the packet, sent by Mr Phelipps, had been thank-
fully received ; with such answer given by writing 
as the shortness of the time would allow ; and a 
promise makto answer more at length at the return 
of the honest man, which, he added, would be in 
three days. 	This packet, brought down by Phelipps, 
and thankfully received by Mary, appears to have 
contained a long letter from lBabington, describing 
the conspiracy for the invasion of the realm, the 
escape of the Scottish'queen, and the assassination of 
Elizabeth. • Thig letter, which was not produced at 
the trial; and which Mary denied baking ever re-
ceived, no longer exists, 'if it eVer did exist, in the 
origintil ; but a copy, 4n a "clerk's band, has been pre- 
served. 	ItS purport Was to excuse hiss long silence, 
every means of conveying his letters having been cut 
off, since the the that she iidd been committed Ltd 
the custody 'of such a puritan as Paulet. 	lie then 
(Tare an account of his conference Witli 'Ballard ; in-b 
formed her of the intended murder of the Queen et 
England by sit gentlemen selected for that purpose, 
and of his resolution to Bet her at the same time at 
liberty ; and he requested her to assign re*ards to 
the actors in this tragedy, or to their posterity-, should 
they perish in the attempt.1  

It is to be remembered, that th is day, the 14th 
July, in Sir Amias' letter and Mr Phelipp's, was the 
24th July according to the new style, which Mary 
and Pier secretaries, Carle and Nan, followed in their 

l Carte, vol. iii. p. 603. 	Lingard, vol. viii. p. 805. 
VOL. VIII. 	 Y 
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letters ; and, accordingly, we find that Curie, on the 
22d July new, or 12th July old style, and on the 
.27th July new, or 17th old, wrote two short letters 
in cipher, which were deciphered by Phclipps, then 
at Chartley. 	They were addressed to Gifford ; and 
in the first, he told him, that the Queen of Scots had 
received his letter, dated the 12th of that instant, 
with its enclosure ; that she was grateful for his dili-
gence, but approved of his cousin Gilbert's advice, 
not to employ frequently a certain person to whom he 
had alluded. 	He (Curie) then added this sentence : 
" If Mr Babington be past down to the country, for 
whom this character x shall serve in time coming, 
her Majesty prayeth you to cause convey to him this 
enclosed, otherwise to stay it until you hear from her 
Majesty again. 	With my next I shall do my best 
to satisfy you touching the other characters. 	God 
have you in protection. 	Of July 22. 	CURLE, Chart- 
ley."' 

In the other letter, of the 27th July, Curie wrote 
to the same person, or to Gilbert Gifford, much to 
the same purpose, informing him, that Mary had 
received his letter of the 25th inst. ; that she com-
mended his zeal, end begged him to have " this 
enclosed surely delivered in the hands of Anthony 
Babington, if he were come down in the country ; 
otherwise to keep it still in his own hands, or his 
brother's, until Babington should arrive." 	Ile goes 
on to say, that, within ten days, her Majesty would 

1  his. St. r: OIL, Cipher and decipher, July 22, Curie. 
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have a packet ready to be sent to the French Am-
bassador by his boy, who, by the same means, might 
also carry the other to Babington at London, if he 
was not come sooner' 

Here, then, at last, is the anxiously expected pac-
ket from Mary to Babington, to which, as we have 
seen, Phelipps alluded in his letter of the 14th July, 
when he wrote to Walsingham, with such emphatic 
eagerness, " We attend her very heart at the next." 
It was enclosed in the packet with this letter of 
Curie's, of the 27th July, and was instantly pounced 
upon by those who were watching for it. 	Accord-
ingly, on the 19th July, which, it must be recollected, 
is the 29th July new style, Phelipps wrote in exulta-
tion from Chartley to Walsingham : " It may please 
your Honour, you have now this Queen's answer to 
Babington, which I received yesternight. 	If he be 
in the country, the original will be conveyed into his 
hands, and, like enough, answer returned. 	I hope, 
for your.  Honour's speedy resolution touching his 
apprehension or otherwise, that I may dispose of 
myself accordingly. 	I think, under correction, you 
have enough of him ; unless you would discover more 
particularities of the confederates, which may be done 
even in his imprisonment. 	If your honour mean to 
take him, ample commission and charge would be 
given to choice persons for search of his house. 	It 
is like enough, for all her commandment, her letter 
will not be so soon defaced. 	I wish it for an evidence 

' Ms. St. P. Off., Cipher and decipher, July 27, 1586. 
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against her, if it please God, to inspire her Majesty 
with the heroical courage that were meet for the 
avenge of God's cause, and the security of herself 
and this State. 	At least, I_hope she will hang Nau 
and Curie, who justly make Sir Amias Paulet take 
upon him the name she imputes to him—of a jailor 
of criminals. 	* 	* 	* 	I have sent you herewith .cif 
this Queen's letters, in the packet was last sent, those 
to the Bishop of Glasgow, Don Lewis and Morgan. 

* 	* 	* 	She is very bold to make way to ,ther 
great personage ; and, I fear, be will be too forward 
in satisfying her for her change, till ho see Babington's 
treasons, which I doubt not but your Honour bath 
care enough of, not to discover which way this word.,  
comes in. 	I am sorry to hear from London, that 
13abblgton was not yet taken, and that some searches, 
by forewarning, have been frustrated."' 

Phelipps concluded his letter, by cautioning Wal-
singham against one Thoroughgood, who had applied 
-for t 	license to leave •the country, and whom he 
suspected. might be Ballard under a feigned name ; 
and added this postscript': 	"It may please your 
honour, by Berdon, or my man, to inform yourself 
whetherBabington.he at London or no; which known, 
we will resolve presently upon return." 	Paulet alsd 
wrote briefly, but joyfully, to Walsingham. 	His 
words, he said, would be few ; the papers now sent 
containing matter enough for one time ; but he re-
jOiced that " God had blessed his labours, giving him 

lye. Lotter, Sit. P. off., Plielipps to WaNingham, ,July 19, 1580. 
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the reward of true and faithful service, and trusted, 
that the Queen, and her grave councillors, would 
make their profit of the merciful providence of God 
towards her Highness and England."' 

It must here be remarked, that there seems no 
good reason to doubt the perfect authenticity of 
those two notes of Curie's, of the 22d and 27th July ; 

• and, therefore, no ground for questioning the fact, 
that -the Queen of Scots had transmitted two several 
letters to Babington : neither can there be any doubt 
that the letters of Phelipps, written on his road to 
Chartley, and during his residence there, are authen-
tic ; for they', like Curie's notes, are preserved, and 
prove themselves. 	But it is certainly remarkable,. 
and cannot hilt excite suspicion, that, at this critical 
mothent, the originals of Mary's tsto letters to flab 
ington, which Phelipps undoubtedly received, and the 
contents of which proved, as' was affirmed, Mary's 
knowledge a the plot against Elizabeth's life, have 
both disapp6ared. 	Nay, the singularity goes farther .,f 
for Mary send§ two letters to Babington, one on the

the other on the 27th ; and only one was after- 
Wards produced against her, and that confessedly voti 
an original. 	All the other ietteri of Curie, Morgan,. 
Nau, GifIoi'd, and others, in these intricate doings,. 
have been preserved, and generally With the decipher •,•? 
but this letter„ the most important of h.11, on which, 
inalecd, the ,whole question turned, , is a copy. 	fAtl 
Ow trial, when this copy was produced and tdgued 
on, ‘vhen Mary solemnly asserted that it was never 

1 	I-. Letteti St. P. Off., raukt tO liValsiughaul, July 20, 1386. 
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written by her, and challenged her enemies to show 

	

the original, it was not forthcoming. 	It is impossi- 
ble not to regard this as a suspicious circumstance, 
coupled with the fact already noticed, that the letter 
of Babington to Mary is in the same predicament, 
and exists only as a _copy ; and this suspicion is 
greatly increased by an assertion of Camden, that, 
after intercepting and opening the Scottish Queen's • 
letter to Babington, Walsingham, and his assistant 
Phelipps, cunningly added to it a postscript in the 
same characters, desiring him to set down the names 
of the six gentlemen, and it is likely (he observes) 
other things too.' 	hitherto this statement of Cam-
den, which involves a charge of so dark a kind against 
Walsingham, has rested on his bare averment, un-
supported by all evidence ; but I have found recently 
in the State-Paper Office, a small letter, 	written 
wholly in the same cipher as that of Mary's long 
letter to Babington, and endorsed in the hand of 
Phillipps, " The postscript of the Scottish Queen's 
letter to Babington." 	It runs thus, and certainly 
gives great support to the allegation of Camden :— 
" I would be glad to know the names and qualities 
of the six gentlemen which are to accomplish the 
designment ; 	for that it may be I shall be able, 
upon knowledge of the parties, to give you some 
further advice necessary to be followed therein ;2  as 

i Camden in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 517. 
2  After this, in the original cipher, follows this sentence scored 

through, but so as to be quite legible: "And even so do I wish 
to be made acquainted a ith the names of all such principal persons, 
as also wo be alveady a54 also who be." 
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also, from time to time, particularly how you pro-
ceed ; and as soon as you may, for the same purpose, 
who be already, and how far every one, privy here- 
unto."' 	The exact bearing of this postscript, as a 
proof of Mary's innocence, will afterwards appear. In 
the mean time, it is sufficient to remark, that it goes 
far to establish the fact, that her letters to Babington 
were tampered with, and added to by Walsingham. 

Returning, however, to the contents of her reply, 
we find that Mary, in this real or pretended letter to 
Babington, entered fully into the details of the in- 
tended invasion. 	She recommended them to examine 
deeply, first what forces they might raise ; what cap-
tains they should appoint ; of what towns and havens 
they could assure themselves ; where it would be 
best to assemble their chief strength ; what number 
of foreign auxiliaries they required ; what provision 
of money and armour ; by what means the six gen-
tlemen deliberated to proceed ; and in what manner 
she should be assisted in making her escape. 	Hav- 
ing weighed all this, she recommended them to com-
municate the result, and their intentions, to Mendoza 
the Spanish Ambassador, to whom she promised to 
write ; she enjoined on them the greatest caution 
and secrecy : and, to conceal their real designs, ad- 

1  This was deciphered for me by Mr Lemon of the State-Paper 
Office, who has added this sentence : "I hereby declare, that the 
above is a true and literal decipher of the document in the State 
Paiier Office in cipher, endorsed by Philipps—The Postscript of 
the Scottish Queen's letter to Babinuton. 	The lines struck through 
with the pen are in a similar manner struck through in the 
original. 	The spelling hag been modernised. 	Rola. LmnmoN." 
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vised them to communicate it only to a few,.pretend-
ing to the rest of their friends that they were arming 
themselves against some suspected attack of the. 
Puritans. 	She then expressed herself in these re- 
markable words :— 	 • 

" Affairs being thus prepared, and forces in readi-
ness, both without and within the realm, then shall 
it be time to set the six gentlemen to work; taking 
order, upon the accomplishing of their design, I may 
be suddenly transported out of this place, and that 
all your forces, in the same time, be on the field to 
meet me. 	* 	* 	* 	Nor for that there can be no 
certain day appointed of the accomplishing of the 
said gentlemen's designment,—to the end that others 
may be in readiness to take me from hence, I would 
that the said gentlemen had always about them, or, 
at the least, at Court, four stout men furnished with 
good and speedy horses, for, so soon as the said design 
shall be executed, to come with all diligence, to ad-
vertise thereof those that shall be appointed for my 
transporting ; to the end that, immediately thereafter, 
they may be at the place of my abode, before that 
my keeper can have advice of the execution of the 
said design, or at least before he can fortify himself 
within the house$  or carry me out of the same. 	It 
were necessary to despatch two or three of the said 
advertisers by divers ways, to the end that If one be 
staid, the other may come through ; and at the same 
instant, were it also needful, to assay to Cut off the 
post's ordinary ways. 	This is the plat which I find 
best for this enterprise, and the order whereby you 
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should conduct the same for our Common securities. 
* 	* 	* 	I shall assay, (she continued,) that at the 
same time that the work shall be in hand in these 
parts, to make the Catholics of Scotland arise, and 
to put my son in their hands; to the effect, that from 
thence our enemies here may not prevail to have any 
succour." 	She then added this caution; little be- 
lieving that, in the moment she was writing, her 
cause had. been betrayed, " Take heed of spies and 
false brethren that are amongst you, specially of 
some priests already practised by our enemies for 
your discovery ; and in any wise, keep never any 
paper about you that in any sort may do harm ; for 
from like errors have come the condemnation of all 
such us have suffered heretofore." 	* 	* 	* 	In 
the last place, the Queen informed Babington, that 
for a long time past, she had been a suitor to have 
the place of her confinement changed, and that I:0'1(110y 
Castle had been suggested, to which place it Was not 
unlikely. she might be removed by the end of sum- 
mer. 	She then observed, " If I stay here, there is 
for that purpose [her. escape] but One of these three 
means following to be looked [to.] 	The first, that 
at one certain day, appointed, in my walking abroad 
on horseback on the moors, betwixt this and Staf-
ford, where ordinarily you know-  very few people do 
pasS, a fifty or threescore meri, well borsed and 
armed, come ;to take me 'there; as they may easily; 
my keeper having with him ordinarily .but eighteen 

lid or twenty horsemen only vial dags.' 	The second' 

1  Daf,4s--Pisto14. 
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mean, is to come at midnight, or soon after, to get 
fire in the barns and stables, which you know are 
near to the house ; and whilst that my guardian's 
servants shall run forth to the fire, your company 
(having every one .a, mark whereby they may know 
one another under night) might surprise the house, 
where I hope, with the few servants I have about 
me, I were able to give you correspondence. 	And 
the third : some that bring carts hither, ordinarily 
coming early in the morning, their carts might be so 
prepared, and with such cart-leaders, that being cast 
in the midst of the great gate;' the carts might fall 
down or overwhelm, and that thereupon you might 
come suddenly with your followers to make yourself 
master of the house and carry me away." 	* 	* 0* 
She concluded her letter with expressions . of deep 
gratitude to Babington :—" Whatsoever issue the 
matter taketh, I do and will think myself obliged, as 
long as I live, towards you for the offers you make to 
hazard yourself as you do for my delivery; and by 
any means that ever I may have, I shall do my en-
deavour to recognise, by effects, your deserts herein. 
I have commanded a more ample alphabet to be 
made fOr you, which herewith you will receive. 	God 
Almightyhave you in protection !—Your most assured 
friend for ever. 	x. 	Fail not to burn this present 
quickly." 1  

As soon as Walsingham had procured this letter, 
which directly implicated Mary, not only in the con- 

I MS. Copy, St. P. Off. 
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spiracy for the invasion, but proved, by inference, her 
assent to the plot for the assassination of the Eng-
lish Queen, he determined to secure Ballard and.his 
fellows on the first opportunity. 	It was necessary, 
however, to act with extreme caution. 	If one of the 
conspirators was laid hold of before another, the rest 
might take alarm and escape, the news reach Chart-
ley, and Mary, whose papers he had resolved to 
seize, might order everything to be destroyed. 	Ho 
was too acute not to anticipate great difficulty. even 
after all he had done and intercepted. 	The letters 
of Mary to Morgan and to Babington were not in 
the Queen's hand, but in cipher, and were written by 
her secretaries, Nau or Curie. 	She might deny 
them. 	The small notes enclosing these letters were 
also in cipher, and confessedly from Curie and Nan. 
She might assert that they had written them without 
her orders, and unknown to her.i 	The only way of 
completing the proof was to search her repositories 
for the original minutes or rough drafts of these let—
ters, and to seize Curie and Nau, and compel them 
to confess all they knew. 	Hence the extreme dan- 
ger of giving any alarm at Chartley, which might 
lead to the destruction of the one, or the escape of 
the other. 	Babington apparently was still unsus- 
picious, and in constant communication with Wal- 
singham. 	Contrary to his original intention, he had. 
given up his plan of going down to Litchfield, and 

' The reader will observe, that I am here reasoning on the 
assumption that Mary's letters to Babington, as they appear in 
the copies, were authentic. 
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had remained in London, where he held secret meet-
ings with Ballard, Savage, Poley, Dun, and the 
other conspirators. 	• i 

In these difficult circumstances, Walsiugham was 
compelled to act rapidly, and yet with caution.. He 
sent for Phelipps, (July 22,) who remained still at 
Chartley, busy in the task of deciphering the last 
letter's intercepted, addressed to Mendoza, and the 
French Ambassador.' 	Elizabeth, he. said,. would 
thank him, on his arrivals  with her own lips ; abut as 
Babington was still in London, he must bring with 
him the original letter of Mary to this traitor. 	It 
was not, however, brought up by the decipherer till 
the 27th or 28th, and was then conveyed to Babing-
ton by a secret messenger, to whom he promised tel 
have the answer ready by the second of August.2  
And here, in passing, it seems very important to re-
mark, that the original letter .of Mary to Babington, 
the letter'which brought home to her the knowledge 
of the conspiracy against the Queen's life, and which 
has been, already fully quoted, Was confessedly in the 
hands of Phelipps the decipherer from the evening of 
the 18th July, when he intercepted it,3  to the 27th 
or 28th of the same Month, d period of nine days at 
the least. 	There was ample One, therefore, to make 
any changes or additions Which might seem necessary 

1 
1 MS. Letter, St. P. Off., WalsinglIn to Phelipps, July 22, 

1586, Papers 1,4 Mary. 	 r 
2  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Paulet to Walsingham, 29th July, '  

1586, T'apers of garyA 
a See supra, p. 822. 
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for the implication of the Scottish Queen. 	So far 
with Walsingham all had proceeded well. 	Babing- 
ton had received the important letter, and promised 
his answer. 	Meanwhile, the task of arresting 13a1- 
lard had been committed to Milles, one of Walsing-
ham's secretaries ; but this conspirator used so many 
devices, and glided about so mysteriously, often 
changing his lodging, that for some time he eluded 
all theif vigilance. 	At last lie was seized and lodged 
in the Counter, a prison in Wood Street.' 	Phelipps, 
however, began to be in great alarm about Babing-
ton, who had now become suspicious that they were 
discovered,' and instead of keeping his appointment 
for the 2d August, had ridden out of tow•ii, hone- 
knew where. 	The truth seems to have been, that 
the unhappy Man was in an agony of suspense. 	lie 
had discovered Maud's treachery, and trembled'for 
their plot being on the point of detection. 	If he fled, 
the cause was lost. 	If he remained, it might be to 
perish miserably. 	lie at last resolved to write to 
11ary, and return with the vain hope of still over- 
reaching Walsingham. 	Ms letter to the Scottish 
Queen, dated the 3d August, was intercepted like 
the rest.2 	It informed her of their danger, but con- 
jured her not to be dismayed, for all would yet go 
well. 	It was God's cause, he said,- and that' of the 
Church ; it must succeed : and they had sworn to 

1 'MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Milks to Waleinghtim, 4th Aug., 
1586. 

2  MS. Letter. St. P. Off., Phelipps to Walsingham, Aug. 2, 
1586. 
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perforni it or die. 	He added, that he would send 
the answer to her propositions, and their final deter- 
mination, in the next.' 	This promised letter, how- 
ever, he was destined never to write. 	I-Ie returned 
to London on the 4th August, the day on which 
Ballard was apprehended; heard the fatal news; 
attempted a feeble remonstrance with Walsingham ; 
was reassured.by the crafty excuses of that veteran 
intriguer for a few hours ; again doubted and trem-
bled ; and at last eluding the men who were set to 
watch his motions, escaped, in disguise, with some 
of his companions, and concealed himself in St John's 
Wood near the city. 

Walsingham appears hitherto, in these plots and 
counterplots, to have acted on his own responsibility ; 
but it was now necessary to determine on Mary's fate : 
and with this view, he now, for the first time, laid 
before Elizabeth, in their full extent, the appalling 
discoveries which he had made ; the conspiracy for 
the invasion of the realm ; and that also against her 
own life. The Queen was thunderstruck. She saw her 
extreme danger. 	The plot was evidently proceeding 
in her own dominions, in Scotland, in Spain, perhaps 
in France ; yet, though its general purpose was clear, 
its particular ramifications, especially in Scotland, 
and at Rome, were still unknown. 	She now recalled 
to mind Randolph's solemn and warning letter, writ- 
ten from Edinburgh some months before this. 	The 
persons to whom he alluded must he fellow-conspi- 

1  MS. Letter, Copy, St. P. Off., Dabington to the Queen of 
;felts, Aug. 3, 1586. 
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rators of Ballard ; and this man, who seemed the 
principal agent, could probably tell all. 	Walsingham 
had used the precaution of apprehending him, simply 
on the charge of being a seminary priest, and, as 
such, interdicted by law from entering England. 
Elizabeth, under these circumstances, commanded 
Walsinghaui to keep everything still to himself. 	It 
was not time yet, she said, to consult the Council : 
she and lie must act alone ; and it was her advice, 
that he should first bribe some of Ballard's confidants, 
if he knew of any such, and thus elicit his secrets. 
She suggested, also, that if any cipher used by the 
traitor in his correspondence had come to his hands, 
lie might employ it to extract from him the particu- 
lars of the plot against her life. 	It is from WO- 
singham's answer to this proposition of the Queen, 
that the above particulars are drawn, and the letter 
itself is too interesting to be omitted. 	It is as fol- 
lows : 

" It may please your most Excellent Majesty, I 
will, as duty bindeth me, most pointedly observe your 
Majesty's commandment, especially in keeping to my-
self both the depth and the manner of the discovery 
of this great and weighty cause. 	The use of some 
apt instrument towards Ballard, if there could be 
such a one found as he could confidently trust, or we 
might stand assured would deal faithfully, nothing 
would work so good effect as such a course. The party 
that ,bath been used between us, seemeth not in any 
sound concert with him, though he was content for 
the serving of his turn to use him. 	Touching the use 
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of a cipher, there is•none between him and any other 
come to my hands, so. as nothing can he wrought 
that way as your Majesty most politicly adviseth. 
Mr Vice-chamberlain' and I are humbly to crave 
your Majesty's directions touching the placing. 	of 
Ballard afore examination. 	He remaineth now under 
a most strait guard in one of the Counters; and fOr 
the avoiding .of intelligence, there are two trusty2  
placed with him to attend on him. 	In case he shall 
not lay himself open by disclosing, then were it fit he 
were committed to the Tower, with two trusty men 
to attend on him, to the end he may be examined 
out of hand, and forced by torture to utter that 
which otherwise he will not disclose."' 

We must now turn to Mary, who hot only re-
mained in utter ignorance of all that happened, but 
continued her secret correspondence with her foreign 
friends " greedily," as Paulet expressed it, when he 
intercepted the packet.' 	The time had now come to 
disclose the toils. 	On the 3d of August, Mr Wood, 
a Privy-councillor, posted from London, met Paulet 
in the fields near Chartley, and held a secret 'consul- 
tation. 	Its result was soon seen. 	The Scottish 
Queen was still fond of the chase. 	She had cheer- 
fully boasted to Morgan, in one of her letters, that 
when her enemies were representing her as bedrid, 

1 Sir C. Hatton. 	 2  So in orig. 
3  MS. St. P. Off., Orig. Drafts, Walsinginun to Elizabeth, 

about 5th or 6th Aug., 1586. 
4  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Paulet to Walsingluun, 30th July, 

1586. 
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she was able to handle her cross-bow, and follow a 
stag.' 	On the morning of the 8th August; her keeper, 
Paulet, invited her to hunt in the neighbouring park 
of Tixall, belonging to Sir Walter Ashton : she 
accepted, rode from Chartley, with a small suite, 
amongst whOm were Nan .and Curie her secretaries, 
and had not proceeded far when Mr Thomas Gorges 
encountered them, and riding up to the Queen, in-: 
formed her of the discovery of the conspiracy; adding, 
that he had received orders not to suffer her to return 
to Chartley, but to carry her to Tixall. 	At the same 
instant, Nan and Curie were seized, kept separate 
from each- other, and hurried away, under a strong 
guard, to London. 	Mary was completely taken by 
surprise. 	She 	broke into violent reproaches, and 
called upon her suite to defend. their mistress from 
the traitors who dared to lay hands on her. 	But a 
moment's reflection convinced her they were far too 
weak for resistance ; and she suffered Paulet to lead 
her to Tixall.2 	Here, by Elizabeth's orders, she Was 
kept a close prisoner, secluded from her servants, 
refused the ministry of her private chaplain, served 
by strangers, deprived of . the use of writing ma-
terials, and completely cut off from All intelligence. 
Whilst 	this 	scene of 	arrest was acting in the 
fields, Mr 1Vaad had arrived•at Chartley; where 
he broke open her repositories, seized her caskets, 
papers, letters, and ciphers ; and was, soon after, 

The Queen of Scots to Morgan, July 27, 1356. Murdin, 534. 
1  MS. St. P. Off., Sir Arnim; Paulet's Postils to Me William 

Wand's Memorial. 	Ibid., Esnevall to Courcellos, Oct. 7, 1386. 
VOL. VIII. 	 Z 
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joined by Paulet, who took possession of her money. 
All was then packed up and sealed, preparatory 
to being sent to Elizabeth, who now • appears to 
have directed every step. 	This Princess was over- 
joyed at the success which had attended the arrest of 
Mary : she wrote to Paulet, addressing him as the 
most faithful of her subjects; promised him a reward 
"non omnibus datum ;" and, soon after, sent a new 
message, eagerly desiring him to write the whole 
story of everything done to Mary ; not that she sus-
pected (as she said) be had omitted any part of his 
duty, but " simply that she might take pleasure in 
the reading thereof."' 	Above all things, Elizabeth 
urged the safe keeping, and immediate transmission 
to her, of the caskets found in the Queen of Scots' 
repositories. 	These, 	and the things contained in 
them, she declared were, in her esteem, of far greater 
value than Nau or Curie ; and, not content with a 
written message, she deputed a special envoy from 
Windsor to look after these treasures and bring 
them at once.' 

Shortly before this, Elizabeth had a new triumph 
in the seizure of Babington and his companions. 
Till now, they had escaped the officers who were in 
pursuit ; but driven at last by hunger from the woods 

1 MS. Letter, St. P. O?F, Mr Necasius Yetswert to Sir Francis 
Walsiugliam, Windsor, August 19, 1586. 

2  Could it be that the Queen expected to find, amongst these 
treasures, the famous casket, containing the letters of Bothwell, 
which she had made such strenuous exertions to get into her posses- 
sion in 1583 ? 	See supra, p. 139. 	Litigard, 4th edition, Vol. viii. 
p. 2 i 2. 
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into the open country, they were apprehended near 
Harrow, and carried in triumph to London, amid the 
shouts and execration of the citizens. 	There was no 
want of evidence against them, and their own confes-
sions corroboratedall; but after the dayfor their trials 
had been fixed, and everything seemed ready, the 
English Queen suddenly caught alarm, from the idea, 
that if the charge made by the Crown lawyers, and 
the evidence of the witnesses, deeply implicated Mary, 
her own life was not safe. 	Elizabeth had not yet 
resolved on the trial of the Scottish Queen, and the 
evidence against her was most imperfect. 	Her two 
secretaries;  Nau and Curie, had as yet confessed no- 
thing which materially involved their mistress. 	No 
original minutes of the letters to Babington had been 
found.' 	Even if Mary's trial were to take place, it 
was clear that a considerable interval must elapse 
between her arraignment and the execution of the 
conspirators ; and, in this interval, thought Elizabeth, 
what might not be attempted against her own life ? 
Though some of the leading conspirators were taken, 
yet many desperate men might still be lurking about 
Court; and so intensely did she feel upon this subject, 
that, on the evening of the 12th September, the very day 
before the trial, she sent repeated messages and letters 
to Burghley, commandingthat, in the " Indictment " 
and in the evidence, there should be no enlargement 
of the Queen of Scots' crime. 	It was her favourite, 
Sir Christopher Hatton_the Vice-chamberlain, who 

' MS% Letter, St. P. Off., Walsingliam to Pltelippq, :311  ''Pt. 
I.1843. 
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transmitted these wishes to Burghley ; and the reason 
he gave, was., that Elizabeth felt 'that it might be • 
perilous to herself, if anything were given in evidence 
which touched Mary " criminally for her life."' 

Amid these alarms the trials proceeded ; and Ba-
bington, Ballard, and Savage, with the rest of the 
conspirators being found guilty, were executed on the 
20th and 21st of September, with a studied cruelty4 
which it is revolting to find 	proceeded froni Eliza-
beth's special orders. 

She had at first suggested to her council, that some 
" new device" should be adopted to enhance their 
tortures, and strike more terror into the people ; to 
which it was answered by Burghley, that the manner 
of the execution prescribed by-law, would be fully aS 
terrible as any other new device, if the hangman took 
care to " protract the action," to the extremity of 
their pains, and to the sight of the multitude who 
beheld it.' 	The executioner by special direction did 
so: hut the sight of seven men cut up alive, after being 
partially strangled, was found to excite the rage and 
disgust of the multitude; and next daythc second seven 
were permitted to be executed after a milder fashion.' 

But, leaving these cruel scenes, we must turn to 
the unhappy Mary. 	On the 25th August, she was 
removed from Tixall, to her former residence at Chart, 
ley, under the charge of Sir Amias Paulet, and a body 

1  MS. Letter, Burghley to Sir Christopher Hatton, Sept. 12; 
158G, discovered by Mr Leigh, who is at present preparing a 
work on Babington's Conspiracy. 

* Lingard, vol. viii., Svo edition, pp. 215, 216. 
$ Camden in Kennet, vol. ii. p. .518. 
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of gentleMen of the neighbourhood, to the number of a 
hundred and forty horse. 	This strong escort Eliza- 
beth thought necessary, from the suspicion that many 
commiserated her fate; and indeed, Walsingham's let-
ters betrayed considerable uneasiness on the subject. 
But his apprehensions were needless; for nothing could 
now be more utterly helpless than the situation of the 
royal captive. 	She had been deprived, during her 
stay at Tixall, of all her servants, and was surrounded. 
by strangers. 	When seen coming from the gate of 
the castle, a crowd of poor people assembled round 
her; and on some asking alms, She answered, weeping, 
that she had nothing to give. 	All has been taken 
from me, said she: I am a beggar as well as you. 
Then turning to Sir Walter Ashton, the proprietor 
of Tixall, and the other gentlemen, she again burst 
into tears,. exclaiming, " Good gentlemen, I am not 
witting of anything intended against the Queen." 	On 
reaching Chartley Castle, her old prison, an affecting 
incident occurred. 	The wife of Curie her secretary, 
had been confined during the interval between Mary's 
removal and her return ; and before going to her 
own chamber, the Queen, with the affectionate con-
sideration which she always showed to her servants, 
went to visit the mother and child. 	It was a fe- 
male; and turning to Paulet, who stood by, she begged 
him, since her own priest was removed from her, to 
suffer his chaplain to christen the babe, and give it 
the 'name of Mary. 	It might have been imagined that 
Sir Amias, who constantly talked of Catholicism as 
idolatry, and believed Protestantism to be the truth, 
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would have welcomed the proposal ; but he peremp- 
torily refused. 	The Queen said nothing at the time ; 
but retiring for a short season, came again into the 
room, and taking the infant on her knee, dipped her 
hand in a basin of water, and sprinkling its face, said, 
" Mary, I baptize thee, in the name of the Father, 
and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost." 	Paulet, in 
a letter to Walsingham, which described the scene, 
affected to be shocked at a scandal which he might 
himself so easily have prevented. 	He was . igno- 
rant, probably, that the Catholic Church, under such 
circumstances, permitted lay baptism ; but tho man 
was of a perverse churlish temper—a strict Puritan; 
and, as his letters often showed, more remarkable for 
his zeal than his charity.' 	Mary now proceeded to 
her own apartment ; and on reaching it, the keys of 
the chamber, and of her coffers, were offered to one of 
her servants, who had been at length suffered to attend 
on her : but the Queen commanded him not to receive 
them ; and bade Mr Darrel, one of Paulet's assistants, 
open the door. 	Ile did so ; and on entering, finding 
her papers seized, and her repositories empty, she 
expressed herself with deep indignation : declaring, 
that there were two things which the Queen of 
England could never take from her,—her English 
blood, and her Catholic religion. 	She then added, 
that some of them might yet be sorry for this outrage; 
a threat which ruffled and disturbed Paulet.' 

1  MS. Letter, St. P. Oft, Paulot to Walsingham, Aug. 22, 
1586. 	Ibid., same to the same, Aug. 24, 1586. 	Ibid., same to 
the same, Aug. 27, 1586. 

2  MS. Letter, f3t. P. Off., Paulet to Walsingham, Aug. 27,1580. 
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All the efforts of Elizabeth and Walsingham were 
now directed to collect conclusive evidence against 
the Scottish Queen. 	Her secretaries, Nau and Curie, 
were in their hands, and repeatedly examined ; but, 
up to the 3d of September, their confessions did 
not materially involve their mistress' 	The evidence, 
connecting her with the general conspiracy for the 
invasion of the realm, was perfectly clear ; her cor-
respondence with France, Spain, and Scotland, and • 
her secret practices with the Catholics in England, 
was fully made out. 	But this. was not considered. 
enough ; and Walsingham, in despair, wrote to Phe-
lipps, then • at Chartley, that Nan and Curie would 
by no means be brought to confess that they were 
acquainted with the letters that passed between their 
mistress and Babington : adding, " I would to God 
that these minutes could be found !" 2 	It is evident 
that, by these minutes, the Secretary meant such 
rough drafts, or notes of Mary's letters to Babington, 
as he conjectured might be preserved in her reposi-
tories: and here we have a clear admission that, unless 
such were found, the evidence against the Scottish 
Queen was considered incomplete. 	At this moment 
of perplexity and difficulty, Burghley wrote to Sir 
Christopher Hatton, suggesting that it was terror for 
themselves that kept the Scottish Queen's secretaries 
silent : they refused, as he thought, to implicate their 
mistress, because it might bring ruin on themselves; 

' MS. St. P. Off., Walsingham to Phelipps, ad Sept., 1.-,86. 
2  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Walsingham to Plieliffs, 3d Serf., 

1586. 

   
  



344 	IIISTORY OF SCOTLAND. 	1586, 

but, he added, assure them of safety, and then we shall 
have the whole truth from them. 	" Surely then, said 
he, (to use his own revolting expressions,) they will 
yield in writing somewhat to confirm their mistress's 
crime, if they were persuaded that themselves might 
scape, and the bloW fall upon their mistress, betwixt 
her head and her shoulders."' 	So jocularly could the 
aged Treasurer anticipate the scaffold and the block 

*for the unhappy victim whom he was so solicitous to 
sacrifice. 	On the same day (4th September) Walsing- 
ham_ wrote to Phelipps, who was then at Court. 	It 
-was evident, he said, that Mary's "minutes were not 
extant." 	He directed him, therefore, to seek access 
-to Elizabeth, and persuade her to promise some 
extraordinary favour to Curie, who had, admitted, in 
general terms, his mistress's correspondence with Ba-
bington, but obstinately refused to be more explicit.' 

Both this person Curie, and his brother secretary, 
Nau, were, in truth, in a difficult dilemma. 	If they 
acknowledged that the correspondence between the 
Queen and Babiugton was in their tandwriting, 
whether the letters were in written characters or in 
cipher, or whether they related simply to the project 
Of invasion, or included an allusion to the plot against 
Elizabeth's life, tlrey stood convicted of treason. 	If 
they remained obstinate, they had before them the 
dreadful alternative of the Tower and the torture. 
They acted as might have been expected in such cir-
cumstances : at first denied everything, and at length 

1  MS. Letter, Burghley to Sir Christopher Hatton, Sept. 4, 
1586, discovered by Mr Leigh. 	Lingard, vol. viii. p. 219. 

2  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Walsinglnun to Phelipps, Sept. 4, 1580. 
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made a: partial admission, ,  which increased the pre-
sumptions, but was not conclusive, against the Scot- 
tish Queen. 	On .the ' 5th September, the day after 
Burghley had written to Hatton, Nan, actuated, no 
doubt, by Hatton's promises of escape and pardon, 
described minutely the manner in which Mary man- 
aged her secret correspondence. 	The Queen, he said, 
would never allow anything secret or important to 
be written anywhere but in her cabinet, himself and ' 
Curie sitting at the table. 	It was her usual practice 
to dictate the •points which she was pleased should 
be written; he took them down, read them over to 
her, drew out the letters, again submitted them for 
correction and finally delivered them to be put into 
cipher and disposed of accotdin€,,  to her orders. 	In 
this manner were written the intercepted letters of 
the Queen to the Archbishop of Glasgow, Charles 
Paget, and the Spanish Ambassador : but as to the 
letter to Babington, he declared that his mistress had 
delivered it to him for the most part. written in her 
own hand .1 	It was Curie, he said, who finally trans- 
lated and put the letters in cipher ; and this same 
process had taken place with this letter as with the 
rest. 	This evidence was far from being sufficiently 
explicit or satisfactory ; and various attempts were 
made to amend it. 	Burghley now threatened Nau 
with the Tower ;2  and the terror of his commitment 

1315. St. P. Off., Sept. 5, 1586. 	Endorsed in Phelipps hand,— 
"6th Sept., Copie, Nau, his Confession of tho manner of writing and 
making up his Mistress' pacquets ; and that she wrote Babinitton's 
letters with her own band." 

2  Letter, Burghley to Walsingham, Sept. 8, 1581; ; in Ellis. 
vol. iii. p. 5. 
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drew from him, on the 10th September, a long de. 
claration, addressed privately to Elizabeth ; which 
Burghley threw aside as of no importance, as it did not 
charge the Scottish Queen with any direct accession 
to the conspiracy for Elizabeth's death, but simply 
with having previously known that such a plot ex- 
isted.' 	The Queen, he affirmed, had neither invented 
nor desired, nor in any way meddled with this plot, 
but had confined herself to the designs for the invasion 
of the realm and her escape ; and at this crisis the 
unfortunate letter from Babington had arrived, which 
Mary had received, but did not consider herself bound 
to reveal. 	It is quite clear that this declaration, 
wrung out from Nau, did not corroborate, but rather 
contradicted the alleged letter of the Scottish Queen 
to Babington,—a sufficient reason why Burghley 
should have disregarded it. 	After an interval of 
eleven days, Nau and Curle were again examined 
before the Lord Chancellor, Burghley, and Sir Chris- 
topher Hatton: 	Babington and his companions had 
been executed the day before : on that same morning 
seven more conspirators had been drawn to Tyburn. 
In the interval between this examination and their 
last, Ballard had been so "racked" that he was car-
ried to the bar and arraigned in a chair ;2  and it was 
hoped that, under the influence of terror for a similar 
fate, the secretaries would declare all. 	Of this last 

1  MS. St. P. Off., Sept. 10, 1586. 	Endorsed, " Nau's long 
declaration of things of no importance, sent privately to her 
Majesty."—This endorsation is wholly in Burghley's hand. 

/ M. St. P. Off., Secret Advertisements, Babington, Sept. 16, 
158G. 
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examination no. perfect account has been preserved : 
but in au original minute drawn up by Phelipps, it is 
stated that Nau confessed that Curie had deciphered 
Babington's letter to Mary : that he (Nau) afterwards 
took down; from her - dictation, the points of her 
answer ; in which his mistress required Babington to 
consider what forces they might raise, what towns 
they might assure, where were the fittest places to 
assemble, what foreign forces were required, what 
money they should demand, what were the means by 
which the six gentlemen deliberated to proceed, and. 
in what manner she should be gotten out of the hold 
she was in? 	Nan added, that there was one other 
clause of his mistress's letter to Babington, in which 
she advised the six gentlemen to have about them 
four stout men with good. horses, who, as soon as 
their purpose was executed, were to bring speedy 
intelligence to the party appointed to transport the 
Queen of Scots. 	This statement of Nau was corro-
borated by Curie; who added, that his mistress wished 
him to burn the English copy of the letters sent to 
Babington .2  

It was now considered that there was sufficient 
evidence against the Queen of Scots, and there only 
remained the question of the mode of trial ; nor was 
this long in deliberation. 	Elizabeth held a special 
consultation with Burghley on the 24th September ;3  
and after considerable discussion and delay in the 

MS. St. P. Off., September 21, 1586. 
2 .Iitu dwicke Papers, vol. i. p. 237. 
3  MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Burghley to Phelipps, sept. 2./, 1.386. 
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Privy-council, a commission was issued 0.11 the 5th 
October to thirty-six 	individuals, including Peers,. 
Privy-councillors, and Judges, directing them to in-
quire into, and determine all offences committed 
against the statute of the 27th of the Queen, either 
by Mary, daughter and heiress of James the Fifth, 
late King of Scotland, or by any other person whom- 
soever.' 	Chasteauneuf, the French Ambassador, 
having heard of these proceedings, demanded, in the 
name of his master,-that the Scottish Queen should 
have counsel assigned her for her defence ; but this 
was peremptorily refused ; and on the '6th 'of Octo-
ber, Sir Amias Paulet, Si Walter Mildmay, and Mr 
Barker, . a notary, waited on Mary at Fothezingay 
Castle, in Northamptonshire, to which place she had 
been removed from Chartley, and delivered her a 
letter from their mistress. 	It stated briefly and 
severely, that to her great and inestimable grief, she 
understood that Mary pretended, with great protes-. 
tations, to have given no assent to, and even to have 
been ignorant of, any attempt against her State and 
person. 	It asserted, that the contrary would be 
verified by the clearest proofs; that she had, there-
fore, sent some of her chief and ancient noblemen 
to charge her with having consented to that most 
horrible and unnatural conspiracy lately discovered ; 
that, living as she did within the protection of, and 
thereby subject to her laws, she must abide by the 
mode of trial which they enjoined; and she, there• 
fore, required her to give credit to those noblemen 

1 Lingard, vol. viii. p. 222. 
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who held her commission under. the Great Seal; and 
make answer to whatever they objected against her .1  

Mary read the English Queen's letter with great 
composure. 	" I cannot but be sorry," said she, " that 
my sister is so ill inforMed against me, as to have 
treated every offer made by myself, or my friends, 
with neglect. 	I ani her Highness' nearest kinswo- 
man, and have 'forewarned her of coming dangers ; 
but haVe not' been believed i and latterly, ' the as-
sociation' for her Majesty's preservation, and the Act 
passed upon it, have given me ample warning of all 
that is intended against Me. 	It was easy to be fore- 
seen, that every danger which might arise to my 
sister from foreign Trinees, or private persons, or for 
matter of religion, would be laid to my charge. 	I 
know I have many enemies about the Queen. 	Wit- 
ness my long captivity ; the studied indignities I 
have received ; and now this last association between 
my sister and my son, in which I was not consulted, 
and which has been concluded without my consent. 
As to my answer to the accusation now made, (con-,  
tinned Mary,) her Majesty's letter is indeed written 
after a strange sort. 	It seems to me to partake of 
the nature of a command ; and it is, perhaps, expected 
that I am to reply as a subject. 	What !" she then 
exclaimed, catching fire at the word, whilst her eye 
flashed, and the colour, for a brief space, rose in her 
cheek ; " does not your mistress know that I was 
born a Queen ? and thinks she, that I will so far 
prejudice my rank and state, the blood whereof I am 

1  MS. Draft, St. P. Off., October 5, 1586. 
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descended, the son who is to follow me, and the foreign 
Kings and Princes, whose rights would be wounded 
through me, as to come and answer to .such a letter 
as that ? 	Never ! 	Worn down as I may appear, my 
heart is great, and will not yield to any affiiction. 
But why discuss these matters ? 	Tier Majesty knows 
the protestation I have once before made to the Lord 
Chancellor and Lord Delaware ; and by that I still 
abide. 	I am ignorant of the laws and statutes of 
this realm : I am destitute of counsel : I know not 
who can be my competent Peers : my papers have 
been taken from me ; and nobody dareth, or will 
speak in my behalf, though I am innocent. 	I have 
not procured or encouraged any hurt against yOur 
mistress. 	Let her convict me by my words, or by 
my writings. 	Sure I am neither the one nor the 
other can be produced against me. 	Albeit, I am free 
to confess, that, when my sister had rejected every 
offer which. . I made, I remitted myself and my 
cause to foreign Princes."' 	A few days after this 
iipirited and dignified answer was reported to Eliza-
beth, the thirty-six commissioners arrived at Fother-
ingay, and chose a deputation from their number to 
wait upon the Queen; who, after four successive in-
terviews with them, adhered to her resolution, and 
declined their jurisdiction. 	Into the clear and con- 
vincing reasons which she alleged for this proceeding, 
it is unnecessary to enter, although it is impossible 

1  MS. St. P. off., October 12, 1586. 	The Scottish Queen's first 
Answerg. 
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not to be struck with the spirit, 'sailit3;-;6nd talent, 
with which, unbefriended and unassisted by any one, 
she held her ground against the subtlety and perse- 
verance of her assailants. 	On one of these occasions, 
turning to the Lord Chancellor Bromley, she requested 
him to explain the meaning of that passage in the 
Queen of England's letter, which affirmed that she 
was subject to the laws of England, and lived under 
the Queen's protection. 	" I came," said she, " into 
England to request assistance, and I was instantly 
imprisoned. 	Is that protection ? " 	Bromley was 
taken by surprise, and contented himself by an eva- 
sion. 	The meaning of their royal mistress, he said, 
was plain ; but, being subjects, it was not their part 
to interpret it.' 	Elizabeth was immediately informed 
of this determined refusal of Mary. 	She learned, at 
the same time, the resolution of her commissioners to 
hear the evidence, and pronounce sentence, although 
the accused declined to plead ; and she wrote pri-
vately to Burghley the Lord Treasurer, commanding 
him and the other commissioners not to pronounce 
sentence till they had repaired to her presence, and 
made a report of the whole proceedings.' 

It would have been well for Mary had she adhered 
to this first resolution ; but some expressions of Sir 
Christopher Hatton the Vice-chamberlain, made a 

1  Camden in Kennet., vol. ii. p. 521. 	 • 
°MS. Letter, copy, Brit. Mus. Caligula, C. ix. fol. 332. 	The 

English Queen to Lord Burghley, Oct. 12. 	MS. St. P. Off., Tile 
Queen to the Lord Treasurer, and the Commissioners; a draft, in 
Secretary Davison's hand. 
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deep impression. upon her. 	He had insinuated that 
her declining 'to answer would be interpreted as an 
admission of guilt : he implored her to Lremember 
that even if she refused to appear before the commis.-
sioners, (for hitherto Mary had received their depu- 

in , her private ,chamber,) they must prOcee tation 	 d 
against her in absence ; and at the same moment, she 
received a brief and menacing note- from Elizabeth ; 
in which severity, if she. remained obstinate, was 
biended.artfully with a promise of favour, should she 
relent. 	, It was in these words 

" ton 'have in various ways attempted to deprive 
me of my life, and to bring ruin on my kingdom, by 
shedding. of t blopd. 	I 	have.,  never 	proceeded so 
hardly against you ; but,i  on the contrary, have elie7  
.rished and preserved you as faithfully as if you were 
my Own sell 	Your treasons will be proved andi  
made Manifest to you in that place where you nowt  
are. r  Ver this reason, it is our pleasure that you r  
aniswer to the nobility and barons of my kingdom as 
you would do to myself Were ,I there in person i and 
as my last .injunctioll', I charge and command you tto o  
reply to them. 	I have heard of your arrogance i 	mt 
act candidly, and you may meet with more favour.— 
_ 	• ELIZABETH., 	I 

We maY imagine. the bitter smile with which the 
royal captive read this letter, in which Elizabeth, in 
the nineteenth year of her imprisonment, took credit 

1  This is trandated from the French of Chasteanneuf, (Life of 
Thomas Egerton, Lord Chancellor, p. 86,) who says he translates it 
word for word from the English original. 	Lingard, vol. viii. p. 223. 
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to herself for the kindness and protection she had 
extended to Mary. 	But there was a menace in its 
tone which shook her resolution : the last sentence 
held out a hope of favour : she had no one to advise 
with ; and after a night of much suspense and trouble, 
she consented to appear before the commissioners. 

The Court was held on Friday the 14th October, in 
the great hall at Fotheringay, which had been prepared 
for the purpose, having, at the upper end, a chair and 
'canopy of state. 	It bore the arms of England only, 
and Mary was not suffered to occupy it. 	On each 
side of the room were benches for the commissioners. 
On one band sat the Lord Chancellor Bromley, the Lord 
High Treasurer Burghley, with the Earls of Oxford, 
Kent;Derby, Worcester, Rutland, Cumberland, War-
wick, Pembroke, and Lincoln : on the other, the 
• Lords Abergavenny; Zouch, Morley, Stafford, Grey, 
Lumley, and other peers. 	Near to these 	were 
the knights 'of the Privy-council, Crofts, 	Hatton, 
Walsingham, Sadler, Mildmay, and Paula. 	At 
a short distance in advance were placed the two 
Chief Justices of England and the Chief Baron 
of the Exchequer : opposite them, the other jus- 
tices and barons, with two 	doctors of the civil 
law; and at a table in the middle sat Popham the 
Queen's 	Attorney-general, 	Egerton 	the 	Solicitor- 
general, Gawdy the Queen's Serg4nt-at-law, the 
Clerk of the Crown, and two writers to take down 
the proceedings.' 	Before the bar stood such gentle- 
men and others as were permitted to be present. 

I 'Towel, 1173. 
VOL. VIII. 	 2 A 

   
  



,.3; 	 HISTORY OF SCOTLAND. 	1580. 

On this day, at nine in the morning, Mary, attended 
by a guard of halbcrdiers, and leaning on Sir Andrew 
Melva and her physician, entered the court. 	She 
was dressed in black, with a . veil of white lawn 
thrown over her. 	One of her maids of honour car- 
ried her train, another a chair covered with crimson 
velvet, another a footstool ; and as she walked to her 
seat, it was observed that she' was lame and required 
support.' 	• On coming into.the middle of this august 
assembly, the Queen bowed to the lads: then ob- 

. serving that her chair was not allowed to be placed 
under the canopy of state, but lower, and at the 
side, she appeared to feel the indignity. 	" I am a 
Queen," said she, looking proudly and resentfully for 
a moment.. 	" I have married a King of France ; and 
my seat ought to be there." 	But the feeling was 
brief ; and her features assumed again their melan-
choly cast, as .she regarded the multitude of peers 
statesmen,'and judges. 	" Alas !" said she, " here are 
ninny counsellors, And yet there is not one for me." ' 
Having then seated herself with great dignity, the 
Lord Chancellor stood up and declared, that the 

' Queen's Majesty had at last determined to bring her 
.to trial, in consequence of the practices used by her 
against her life 1 that she was not moved to this by 
personal fear, or from any malice; but because, if she 

1  Brit. Mus., espy, Caligula, C. ix., fol. 333. 	Order of tie 
Proceedings at the arraignment of the late unfortunate Queen of 
'cots at Fotheriuguy. 

2  Chasteauneuf to Henry the Third, from the King's Library at 
Paris, 30th Oct., 1580; printed in Life of Lord Chancellor Egerton, 
p. SG. 	_ 
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failed to do so, she would be guilty of neglecting the 
cause of God, and of bearing the sword in vain. 	He 
was followed by Burghley the Lord Treasurer, who 
requested her to hear their commission, which was 
read by, the clerk. 	On its conclusion, Mary rose up 
and answered that it Was well known to all now 
present, that she had come into England to require 
assistance ; and, contrary to all law and justice, had 
been made a prisoner. 	As for any commission, em- 
powering them to bring her to trial, no one could 
grant it, because no one was her superior. 	She was 
a free Princess, an anointed Queen, subject to none 
but God; she had already delivered a protestation to 
this effect, and she desired her servants to bear 
witness that her answers were now made under this 
protestation.' 	Sergeant Gawdy spoke next: entered 
into a narrative of the whole plot, and brought for-
ward the arguments,by which (he contended) itmust be . 
apparent to all, that the Scottish Queen was acquainted 
with the conspiracy against the life of Elizabeth. 	lIe 
explained Ballard's dealing- with Morgan and Paget 
in France, the conspiracy for the invasion of England, 
and his repair to that country for the purpose of 
completing the plot; he adverted to the transactions 
between Ballard and Babington, to the formation 
of the new conspiracy against the life of the English 
Queen; to the renewal of the correspondence-between 
Mary and Babington, which took place at this mo-
ment ; and he concluded by contending that she had 

1  Cainaen, vol. ii. of Kennet, p.",_.52:7. 
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approved of the- plot, had promised her; assistance, 
-and pointed out the 'readiest mode for its execution?.  

TO this i  Mary answered, that she hdd ne'verseen 
..intlibuy Babingtod, nor received any; !letter 'froth. 
Jilin, nor herself Written any' to' Min ;., that slid kite*. 
'nothing of Ballard; sand had neva.relieved him; ns 
`tor the eatbblicSi 'bf Enhland, theymerei oppressed 
And tOolt Maity .thingg hardly. T  ThiS she knew, and 
luta k•epie8etite'diit td the'Queen her sister, iinpldriug 
lief to take city on tWin, 11She acknowledged, also, 
thitt she tad'reteived offers of a.ssistanee front) and- 
Infinolis 'ebreespondents, b4 she had hot embraced 
Sitcli -offersiiilid' lidW IWaS' it poSsibl 	for 'a etipti're, 
'slid iii) in piison, tb search 'oA the !names or.lite 
intentiong Ofttinknown per8OnS, of td hinder livlial 
they 'Aitanptetil 	1  ft-v(4s.  po8sihie that Babington 
Lliah Wijitten siich 'fi, letter as he !described,' but let 
nein' pig We thatit had come into her hands;P and us 
lei' heti 4wtilletter§; het them pi odnee OM, and she 
-would' ihovo wild td 'answer. ' 

CoPiell of the 1  letter frtim liahing,tofi Ito the Queen 
of Shots, and of Mary's alleged ansWini were then 
read; ilabingion's written confession was also quoted, 

1)6614 the confessions of thin, Titchbournc, awl Bal- 
lard, three 16f his fellow' conspiratotsc; and it • was 
q.otiteiided b 	the Attorney-general Puckering, mid by 
the Lokl Treasurer Burghley, that nothing could be 
clearer than the evidence thttS adduced, of direct con- 
nivance and approval; 	Mary, with great readiness, 

. E11S.I Brit. Mue., Caligula, C. ix.- foL 033. 	'Lowers ;State 
'NOR, vol. i. ',Pi Ii71,1 118-2: 	2  CATtilen, p. 522J 
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replied, that, all .this evidence was second:hand, or 
hearsay. 	They spoke of the letters which she had 
r eceivod, of the answers she had sent; and they brought 
forward copies of a long letter from, a imau whom she 
had.never seen, and a detailed.answer, point bypoint, 
-which ,she had never written. 	Was,this garbled and 
manufactured evidenceto be [produced against her,” 
Let them produce the originals of these letters, if 
such 'originals _ever existed. 	If Babington's letter 
was in cipher, as was alleged, she would then bq able 
to compare. the cipher, with the' copy, now before 
them, to test the one by the other, and to diScover 
whether it really was written in, her alphabet or secret 
cipher, of which it was possible ' that her ,enemies 
might, by some treachery or other, have procured a 
,copy. 	And, as for her alleged letter to Ilabington, 
if its tool  was written in cipher, and. the original had 
been intercepted by them, why was it not now produced? 
If she was entitled to call for the original of Babing-
ton's alleged letter to her, much more were her ac-
cusers bound to produce the original of ,her pretended 
letter to, Babington. 	She would then be able to ex- 
amine it, to disprove it, and to detect the fraud wbieb 
bad been practised against her. 	4.t present she must 
be contented with a simple and solemn don4d that 
she had not written the letters which had been #low 
rtad, and that film was guiltless of any plot against 
the life of the Queen of ilugland. , 

1  Avis de co ph a este faict en Angleterre par Monsieur de Pel-
limo stales affaires do La Royno D'Escosse. Published in Eger-
ton's Life of Lord Chancellor Egerton, pp. On, 108. 
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" I do not deny," said she, weeping, " that I have 
longed for liberty, and earnestly laboured to pro- 
cure it. 	Nature impelled me to do so ; but , I call 
God to witness, that I have never conspired the 
death of the Queen of England, or consented to it. 
I confess that I have written to my friends, and soli-
cited their assistance in my escape from her miserable 
prisons, in which she has now kept me a captive 
Q4ueen for' nineteen years :•but I never ,wrote the let- 
ters now produced against me. 	I confess, too, that 
'T have written often in favour of the persecuted 
Catholics; and had I been able, or, even now at this 
moment were I able, to save them from their miseries 
by shedding my own blood, I would have done it ; 
and would now do it : but what connexion has this 
with any plot against the life of the Queen? and how 
can I answer for. the dangerous designs of others, 
which are carried on without my knowledge ? 	It was 
but lately, she added, that I received a letter from 
some unknown persons, entreating my pardon if they 
attempted anything without my knowledge." 1 

this Burghley, who had taken all along a most 
active part against her, undertook the reply; insisting 
strongly an the written confession of Babington, and 
the declarations of her own secretaries, Curle and 
Nan. 	This confession, and these declarations, sub-
scribed by the parties themselves who made them, 
were now on the table, and they proved, he said, in 
the clearest manner, the correspondence between 

1 Avis de Monsieur Bcllievre, p. 103. 	Camden, p. 523. 
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the Queen and Babington. 	The whole history of it 
was developed point by point, it was opened by the 
brief notes written sometimes by Curie, sometimes 
by Nau; it was they who had deciphered the letters 
of Babington, and communicated their contents to 
their mistress. 	Nay, the exact manner had been 
specified, in which the answer had been prepared by 
Nau. 	It was composed partly from minutes by the 
Queen, and from verbal dictation; it was written out 
at length in French, revised by Mary, translated and 
put into cipher by Curie, and then secretly sent to 
its 'destination. 	The letters also of the Scottish 
Queen to Engle&ld, of a date as far back as 9th 
October, 1584, proved, as he said, that the great plot, 
for the invasion of England, was then in agitation ; 
her letter to Charles Paget, on the 21st of May last, 
(1586,) showed its resumption at that period ; the 
letter of Charles Paget to the Scottish Queen, of the 
29th May, connected her with Ballard and Mendoza 
the Spanish Ambassador; and the letters of the 27th 
July, to Lord Paget, Sir Francis Englefield, Mendoza, 
the Bishop of Glasgow, and Charles Paget, corrobor-
ated not only the confessions of the conspirators, but 
the contents of the letters between her and Babing-
ton, and the written testimony of her own secretaries. 

During this address of the Lord Treasurer, he had 
occasion to mention the Earl of Arundel, as impli- 
cated in some degree, with the conspiracy ; 	upon 
which Mary burst into tears, and lamented, with 
passionate expressions, the calamities which the noble 
House of .11oward bad endured for her salo ; but, 
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soon drying her eyes, anti reassuming her dignity and 
composure, she once more, in reply to the arguments 
of the Lord Treasurer, asseverated her, innocence 'of 
any plot against the Queen's life. What BaKngton. (she 
said) plight, pr might not. confess against her, sho.was 
ignorant pf;, neither was "it possible for her to say, of 
discover, whether this: written, confession was in his 
handwriting or not, 	put why had they exeouted,him 
before, they had yon,f9nted , ]rim ,with herself, and 
permitted her to examine him?. If he were now before 
theni, f:',he would ,have. so dealt .with bimn 	that the 
truth would have , come out; hot they had• taken good 
care to in* this impossible. 	And the sam,e1  thing 
might be said, of Nan and pulp;  , why was she not 
confronted, with them? 	,Why, was she, not permitted 
to cxramine them ! 	,They at least, lwere alive : they 
lnight have been here if her adversaries bad felt con,. 
fident that they would havg corroborated their written 
confessions. , qurle, she,was assured, .was an honest 
nu n, though it rwas strange to gna tone,in his station 
adduced as a -witness against her, 	Naa wag a more 
poltie and talented person.; he bad been secretary to 
the Cardinal ,Lorrain, and, §hg had yeeeivedi keeon* 
niendations in his fayonr, from her brother, the French 
King; hat she was by no,means assured that hope 
Or fear, or reward, plight not have influenced 'him to 
give fals9 evidence against her; an.il it was well known 
that he bad Curle, at his heat  and (could 4nakc him 
write whatever he pleased. 	It was asserted truly, that 
her letters were written, and put into cipher, liy these 
secretaries,J.lut what smurity had she, i that they 

   
  



13S(1. 	 sA3tIS' VI.- 	 061 

had 	not, inserted into 	them 	such 	things , as she 
had never dictated ? ' 	Was it not possible, also, 
that they might have! 	received -letters addressed 
td her, which they never I delivered ? was it not 
possible 'that they might 'have answered letters in 
her name, and in .her cipher, which she had riel'er 
seen? "And am I," said.she, with great animation and 
dignity, "am I, a Queen,l to be reonvieted on such evi- 
dence as this? 	Is it 'not apparent, that the'majasty 
and safety of Prince falls O the ground, if they are 
to 'depend upon the writings and LtestimOny of theii- 
S._scretarieS ? 	I have delidered nothing, to. them, but 
what nature dictated to Mme, Multv'the deSife bf 're- 
6overing my liberty; and I elaitn the ivivilege'bf being 
trot victed by nothing but Mine tiWit 'word, Or 'ivt'itinf1;;; 
if they have written anYthing which May he hurtful 
to the Queen, my sister, they have written it alto-
gether without my knowledge :' let thein bear the 
punishment of their inconsiderate boldness. 	Sure I 
mn, that if they were here present, they 'would clear 
me of all blame in this Canso! and still mord aertain 
tut I, that had my papers not been Seized, ttild were 
I not .thus deprived of my' notes thud letters, I bonhl 
have more successfully and minutely itnSwered CA-er.'N' 
point which has been so bitterly :trolled against nte." 

In the course of theSe proCeedin0 (for ithvoLtild icg' 
unjust to call that a trial, Where the priSbutt vas de--
prived of counsel, not permitted UCCA'S to her papers, 
and debarred from calling witneas0§) Mary made a 

' 	MI5. Brit. Mus,, Caligula, is. fol. 383. 	irowe1'F,;.4t,ato trialg, 
tol. 1. pp. 1182, 1183. 	Also Camik'n ii 	kdintet, vol. ii. ii. 523. 
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direct attack on Secretary Walsingham, in speaking of 
the facility with which her letters and ciphers might 
be counterfeited. 	"What security have" I," said she, 
"that these are my very ciphers? a young man lately 
in France, has been detected forging my characters. 
Think yon, Mr Secretary, that I am ignorant of your 
devices used so craftily against me ? 	Your spies sur- 
rounded me on every side;_but you know not, perhaps, 
that some of your spies on me proved false, and brought 
intelligence to me. 	And if such have been his doings 
my lords," she continued, appealing to the assembly, 
"how can I be assured that he hath not counterfeited 
my ciphers to bring me to my death ? 	Has ho not 
already practised against my life, and, that of my 
son ?" 	Upon this, Walsingham, rising in his place, 
warmly disclaimed the imputation. 	"I call God to 
witness, said he, that as a private person, I have done 
nothing unbeseeming an honest man, nor as a public 
servant of my royal mistress, anything unworthy of 
my office ; but I plead guilty to my having been ex-
ceeding careful for the safety of the Queen, and this 
realm. 	I have curiously searched out every practice 
against both: nor if Ballard, the traitor, had offered me . 
his help in the investigation, would I have refused it. 
With this plausible, but really indirect and evasive 
disavowal, Mary declared herself satisfied; and after 
some arguments of the Lord Treasurer, and the crown 
lawyers, which it is unnecessary to notice, the Court 
adjourned till next morning. 

The proceedings on the second day were not ma- 
terially different from the first. 	Mary was still alone, 
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unassisted, and it may be added, undismayed ; . al- 
though at times she gave way to tears, and seemed 
to feel her desolate condition. 	She renewed her 
protestation, declining the j;risdiction of the Court; 
and demanded that it should be recorded. 	As to the 
plot itself of which she was accused, some little vari- 
ation took place in her mode of defence. 	On the 
former day, she had been wholly ignorant of the cir-
cumstances which were to be brought against her ; 
and had commenced her defence by a general denial 
or disavowal of all treasonable correspondence. 	She 	. 
was now aware of the evidence, and partially ad-
mitted and defended her letters to Morgan, Paget, and 
Mendoza;- she even acknowledged such notes as, by 
her secretaries acting under her orders, had been sent 
to Babington ;1  but she again most pointedly asserted, 
that these notes and letters referred solely to the 
project for her escape. 	This project, she said, it 
was perfectly justifiable in her to encourage by every 
means, even by the invasion of the realm : she then 
reiterated her denial of being accessary to the eon-. 
spiracy against the Queen's person ; and entered into 
a detail of her repeated offers of accommodation made 
to that Princess. 	It had been her sincete desire, she 
affirmed, to remove everygronnd of dissatisfaction from 
the mind of her sister ; but her proposals were dis-
allowed, or suspected, or despised; so that, remaining 
a captive, she was driven to practices for her escape. 
" And now," said she, "with what injustice is this cause 

Egerton, p. 103. Avis de Mon‘ienr Bellievre. 
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conducted, against, me 1, my letters are:garbled, and 
wrested from their true, }weaning : the originals kept . 
from me : no respect shown to the.  religion Which I 
profess, qr the sacred character Lbearns a Queen. 	If 
careless of my personal feelings, think at least, my 
lords, of the royal majesty which is winded through 
me,:, think of the,precedent you are creating. 	You! 
own Queen. was herself accused of a participation in 
Wyatt's plot ; yet she was , innocent. 	And, Heaven 
L my, witness that, although a good Catholic, and 
anxious,for the welfare and safety of all who profess 
that faith, I would shudder to purchase it at the price 
of blood. 	The life of the meanest of my people, has 
been ever dear to me; and far rather would I plead 
with .Esther, than take the sword with Judith ; 
though, I,know the character that has been given me 
by my enemies, and how they brand cocas irreligious." 
She then solemnly appealed to God, and to all foreign 
Princes, against the injustice with ),which she had been 
treated. " I oame into Englan d,"sheexclaimed, "relying 
on the friendship and promises of the Queen of Eng- 
land. 	I came, relying on that token which she sent 
me. 	Here, my lords," she said, drawing a ring from 
her finger, and showing it.to her judges; "here it is, 
regard it ,well.: • it came from your royal mistress, 
And trusting to that, Pledge of love and protection, I 
came amongst you :1  you can best tell how that pledge 
hay been redeemed. 	I desire, said she, in conclusion, 
that I may have another day of hearing. 	I claim the 

I Courcello*' Negotiations, p. 18. Bannatyne CH) Edition. 
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- 	privilege of having' an advocate to plead my cause ; 
011, being a queen, that I'may 'be believed upon the 
word Of a queen. "1, ' 	i ,  

The task .of 'answering this appeal,- was again un-. 
dertaken by Burghley, who recapitulated the evidence 
against her ; Mary frequently :interrupting him by 
asseverations of her innocence, and a demand for more 
decided proof. 	It Would now haVe been the time 
for the`conimissiOners 'to -delivei- their opinions, and 
to pronounce sentence; but, 'to the surprise of many 
present, the Court broke -np, having adjourned their 
meeting to the 25th Octeber, at Westminster. 	The 
alleged ground of this abruPt measure, was the in-
formality of pronouncing sentence before the record, 
or Official report 'of the proceedings, was completed 
the true cause, was the secret letter of Elizabeth 
already quoted.1  

On the same day, on which the Court broke up, the 
nigh Treasurer repaired to his country seat of Burgh-
ley, from which he wrote the following letter to Davi- 
son. 	It is valuable, as illustrating the real character 
of so noted a statesman as Lord Burghley : the appro 
bation with which he speaks of MS ow.  n elognehee; the 
complacent description he gives of his sneeess in eoun-L 
teracting the pity which most generous minds would 
have felt for Mary's desolate Condition; and the cold 
'Sneer with which he styles her the " Queen of the 
Castle," 11TO all in 'keeping with his former unfeeling 

' Camden, pp. 524, 323. 
'j MS. Letter, Brit. 31118., Caligula, C. ix. 33.1. 	If  wer3  '1E•Ite 

Trial,, vol. i. P.11137. 

   
  



36G 	uisTouv OF SCOTLAND. 	158G. 

witticism, on the probability of -the blow falling be- 
tween her neck and shoulders. 	I-Iere is his letter. 

" Mr Secretary. -Yesternight, upon receipt of your 
letter, dated on Thursday, I wrote what was thought 
would be this day's' work. 	The Queen of the Castle 
was content to appear again afore us in public, to be 
heard : but, iu truth, not to be heard for her defence; 
for she would say nothing but negatively, that the 
points of the letters that concerned the practice 
against the Queen's Majesty were never by her 
written, nor of her knowledge. 	The rest, for invasion, 
for escaping by force, she said she will neither deny 
nor affirm. 	But her intention was, by long artificial 
speeches, to move pity ; to lay all blame upon the 
Queen's Majesty, or rather on the Council, that all the 
troubles past did ensue ; avowing her reasonable offers 
and our refusals. 	And in this her speeches I did so 
encounter her with reasons out of my knowledge and 
experience, as she had not that advantage she looked 
for; as I am assured the auditory did find her case 
not pitoyable, [and] her allegations untrue, by which 
means great debate fell yesternight very long, and 
this day renewed with great stomaching. But we bad 
great reason to prorogue our Session till the 25th; 
and so we of the Council will be at Court on the 22d; 
and we find all persons here in commission fully 
satisfied, as, by her Majesty's order, judgment will be 
given at our next.  meeting." 1 	, 

The same day, Walsingham wrote on the same 
I MS. Lettter, Brit. Mits., Caligula., C. is. fol. 433. 	Burghley 

to Da\-ison, 15th Oct., 1586; since, Ellis, vol. i. p. 18. 
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subject to Leicester, declaring that even Mary's best 
friends thought her guilty; and adding, that but for 
a • secret command of Elizabeth, they would have 
pronounced sentence: 	This delay and indecision 
appears to have so greatly annoyed the Secretary, 
that he represented it as a judgment from heaven, 
that her Majesty had no power to proceed against 
her as her own safety required' 

On the 25th of October, the commissioners met in the 
Star-chamber at Westminster, and the same proofs 
were adduced against the Scottish. Queen which had 
been brought forward at Fotheringay; with the excep-
tion that her secretaries, Nau and Curle, were now 
examined, and corroborated their letters and confes-
sions? The former confessions of these two secretaries 
had been unsatisfactory to Walsingham and Burghley;' 
they proved the Queen to have received letters from 
Babingtou, and to have dictated to them certain an-
swers in reply; but judging from the imperfect papers 
which remain,' there was no certain proof in their 
confessions, that Mary had dictated the passages 
which implied a knowledge of the conspiracy against 
Elizabeth's life ; and, on this second occasion at 
Westminster, they merely comboratdd their former 
confessions.5 	But Nau, if we may trust his own 
account, did more ; for he openly asserted that the 

1  MS. Letter, Caligula, C. ix. fol. 415, WaLsingbaut to Loieester, 
15th Oct., 1586. 

2  Ilardwicke Papers, vol. i. p. 224. 
8  Burghley to Walsingham, Sept. 8. 
4  Lin4ard, vol. viii. p. 219. 	6  Ibid. p. 220. 
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principal points of accusation against his royal mis-
tress were false; and, refusing to be silenced by Wal,  
singham who attempted to overawe and put him down, 
ho declared that the commissioners would have to 
answer to God and all Christian Kings, if, on such 
false charges, they condemned an innocent Princess' 

Into these proceedings against Mary at West- 
minster *it is unnecessary to 	enter 	farther. 	At 
Fotheringay we had the accused without thewitUesses, 
at the Star-chamber we have the witnesses without 
the accused ; for Mary remained at Fotheringay 
under the morose superintendence of Paulet, whilst 
the investigation proceeded at Westminster, directed 
by the 	indefatigable 	and 	unrelenting 	Burghley. 
Having heard the evidence, the commissioners, RH 
was to be anticipated, pronounced sentence against 
the Queen : declaring that, since the 1st of June, in 
the 27th year of Elizabeth, divers matters bad been 
compassed and imagined within this realm of England, 
by Anthony Babington and others, with the privity 
of the Queen of Scots, tending to the hurt, death, 
and destruction of the royal person of her Majesty 
the Queen of England' 	They intimated, at the save 
time, with th6 object of conciliating the Scottish 
King, that nothing in this sentence should affect 
James' title to the English crown ; which Should re-
main exactly in the same state as if the proceedings 
at Fotheringay had never taken place. 

A few days after this, Parliament met, an I after 
1 Lingard, vol. viii. p. 229. 
2  'rowel, vol. i. p. 1189, 
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approiing and confirming this sentence, unanimously 
petitioned Elizabeth, aS she valued Christ% true reli-
gion, the 'security of the realm; her own life, and the 
safety of !themselves and their posterity, to consent 
that the sentence against the Queen of Scots should 
be published. 	To enforce their request, they called 
to her remembrance the anger of God against Saul 
when he spared Agag king of the Amalekites, and his 
displeasure with Ahab for pardoning I3enha,dad.1  

The answer of Elizabeth was striking; and probably 
sincere, except in the pity and sorrow it expressed 
for Mary. 	She acknowledged, with expressions of 
deep gratitude to God, her almost miraculous preser-
vation; and professed the delight she experienced, 
after a reign of twenty-eight years, to find her sub-
jects' good will even greater to her now than at its 
commencement. 	IIer life, she said, had been "danger- 
ously shot at ; " but her sense of danger was lost in 
sorrow, that one so nearly allied to her as the Queen of 
Scots should be guilty of the crime. 	So far had she 
herself been from bearing her sister any ill will, that, 
upon discovering Mary's treasonable practices, she 
bad written her, that if she would -privately con-
fess them they should be wrapt up in silence ; and 
now, if the matter had only involved dangers to 
herself, and not the welfare of her people, she pro- 
tested that 	she 	should 	willingly 	pardon 	Mary. 
It was 	only for her people that she, 	Elizabeth, 
desired to live ; and, if her death could bring them 

I clunden in Kennet, Yd. ii. p. 326  
VOL. VIII. 	 2 B 
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a more flourishing condition, or a better Prince, she 
would gladly lay down her life. 

After somewhat more in this strain, she informed 
Parliament that their last Act had reduced ,her 
to great difficulties ; and, in dwelling upon the sor-
row felt for Mary, she artfully introduced a circum-
stance, which was well Calculated to rouse their utmost 
resentment : telling them, that it was but a short 
while since she had, with her own eyes, seen and 
read an " oath, by which some persons had engaged 
to kill her within a month." 	This was on the 12th 
November, and two days after, (14th,) the Queen sent 
the Commons a message by her Vice-chamberlain, 
Sir Christopher Hatton, requesting them to consider 
whether they could not devise some gentler expedient, 
by which her commiseration for the Scottish Queen 
might be allowed to operate, and her life be spared.' 
On the 18th, after much debate, both Houses unani-
mouslyaiiswered, " that they could find no other way;" 
and this brief but stern decision was forthwith carried 
by the LordChancellor and the Speaker of the House of 
Commons to the Queen, who was then at Richmond. 
This communication, it was expected, would elicit 
something direct and definite from Elizabeth ; but 
the answer which she gave was one of studied ambi- 
guity. 	" If," said she, addressing the Chancellor, " I 
should say unto you that I mean not to grant your 

1  MS. Letter, Sir George Warrender's MS. Collection, Archi-
bald Douglas to the Master of Gray, 22d Nov., 1586, London. 
Also, Archibald Douglas to the King, 8th December, Warrender 
MSS., 1586, 
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petition—by my faith, I should say unto you more 
than, perhaps, I mean; and if I should say unto you 
I mean to grant your petition, I should then tell you 
more than it is fit for you to know : and so I must 
deliver you an answer answerless."1  

It was now deemed. proper that the captive Queen 
should be informed of these proceedings. 	Since the 
breaking up of the Court at Fotheringay, she had 
remained there uuder the custody of Paula, whose 
letters to Walsinghain breathed a personal dislike to 
his prisoner. 	On the 22d November, Lord Buck- 
hurst, and Mr lea the clerk of the Privy-council, 
arrived at Fotheringay, and communicated to her the 
sentence of death, which had been pronounced by the 
Commissioners, its ratification by Parliament, and the 
earnest petition of both Houses for her immediate 
execution. 	They warned her not to look for mercy; 
spoke severely of her attachment to the Catholic 
fitith, which made her life incompatible with the 
security of the reformed opinions; and promised her 
the ministrations of a Protestant divine in her last 
hours. 	The Queen of Scots heard them with the 
utmost tranquillity, and mildly, but firmly, declined 
all such religious assistance. 	She declared that the 
judgment of the Court was unjust, as she was inno-
cent of all consent to the plot against Elizabeth's 
life ; but she implored them, in the name of Christ, 
to permit her to have the spiritual consolations of her 
Almoner, whom she knew to be in the castle, although 
debarred from her presence. 	For a brief period this 

1  Parliamentary IIi6tory, vol. iv. p. 29S. 
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was granted: .but the indulgence was considered too 
great, and he was once more removed. 	Farther and 
more studied insults were soon offered. 	On the day 
after the arrival of Buckhurst; Paulet entered her 
chamber without ceremony, and informed her that, as 
she was now no longer to be considered a Queen, but 
a private woman dead in laW, the insignia of royalty 
must be dispensed with. 	Mary replied, that what- 
ever he or his Sovereign might consider her, did not 
much move her ; she was an anointed Princess, and 
had received this dignity from God : into his hands 
alone would she resign both it and her soul.' 	As for 
their Queen, she as little acknowledged her for her 
superior, as she did her heretical Council for her 
judges ; and, in spite of the indignities they offered, 
would die, as she had lived, a Queen. 	This spirited 
auswergTeatly enraged Paulet, who commanded Mary's 
attendants to take away the "dais," or cloth of state; 
and, when they refused, called in some of his own 
People, who executed the order. 	He then put on his 
hat, sat down in her presence, and pointing to the 
billiard-table which stood in the chamber, ordered it 
to be removed, remarking, that these vain recreations 
no longer became a person in her situation. 	Such 
brutal and insolent conduct would have disgraced the 
commonest jailor in the kingdom; and the man who 
was guilty of this outrage, could plead no order from 
Elizabeth? 

I Martyr° de la Royne D'Eseosse.. Jobb, vol. ii. pp. 293, 294. 
2  Letter of Mary in Jebb, vol, ii. p. 293. 	Also, Bisselii Maria: 

Stuartte Acta, p. 219. 
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That Princess now gave orders that the sentence 
against the Queen of Scots should be proclaimed 
to the people; and, so highly excited were the 
citizens in the metropolis with the real or fancied 
dangers which they had escaped, that the communi-
cation was received with every mark of public re- 
joicing.' 	To Mary it brought no new pang, so far 
as life was concerned ; but she became agitated with 
the suspicion that Elizabeth, to avoid the odium of 
a public execution, would endeavour to have her 
privately assassinated: and this new idea gave her 
the utmost inquietude.' 	Nor, if we •are to believe 
Camden,3  were these ideal terrors. 	Leicester, he 
affirms, on the first discovery of the conspiracy, had 
given it as his advice that Mary should be privately 
poisoned; and had even sent adivine to persuade Score-
tary Walsingham of the lawfulness of such a course, 
which he, however, utterly rejected and condemned. 
So horrid an accusation against Leicester would 
require some decided proof, which the historian has 
not given ; and it will be afterwards seen, that Wal-
singham's aversion to such a course was exceedingly 
short-lived. 	It was at this time that Mary addressed 
her last letter to Elizabeth, in these touching and 
pathetic terms :— 

" Madam—I bless God with my whole heart, that, 
by means of your final judgment, he is about to put 
a period to the wearisome pilgrimage of my life. 	I 
make no petition that it should be prolonged, having 

1  Lingard, vol. viii. p. 233. 
2  Letter of Mary to the Duke of GuiA‘. 	Jcbb, 334. 
8 Camden in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 519. 
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already but too well known its bitterness : I only 
now supplicate your Highness, that, since I cannot 
hope for any favour from those exasperated ministers 
who hold the highest offices in your State, I may 
obtain, from your own sole bounty, these three favours: 

"First, As it would be vain for me to expect a burial 
in England, accompanied by' the Catholic rites prac-
tised by the ancient monarchs, your ancestors and 
mine, and since the sepulchres of my fathers have 
been broken np and violated in Scotland, I earnestly 
request that, as soon as my enemies shall have glutted 
themselves with my innocent blood, my body may be 
carried by my servants to he interred in. holy ground; 
above all, I could wish in France, where rest the ashes 
of the Queen my most honoured mother. Thus shall 
this poor body, which has never known repose as long 
as it was united to my soul, have rest at last, when 
it and my spirit are disunited. 

"SecOndly, I implore your Majesty, owing to the 
terror I feel for the tyranny of those to whose charge 
you have abandoned me, let me not be put to death 
in secret, but in the sight of my servants and others. 
These persons will be witnesses to my dying in the 
faith, and in obedience to the true Church; and it will 
be their care to rescue the close of my life and the 
last breathings of my spirit from the calumnies with 
which they may be assailed by my enemies. 

" Thirdly, I request that my servants, who have 
clung to me so faithfully throughout my many sorrows, 
may be permitted freely to go where they please, and 
to retain. the little remembrances which my poverty 
has left them in my will, 
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" I conjure* you, Madam, by the blood of Jesus 
Christ, by our. near relationship, by the memory of 
Henry the Seventh our common ancestor, by the 
title of Queen, which I bear even to my death, refuse 
me not these poor requests, but assure me of your 
having granted them by a single word under your hand. 

" I shall then die, as I have lived, 
" Your affectionate Sister and Prisoner, 

" MARY THE QUEEN." 
NO answer was ever returned to this pathetic ap,-

peal, not, indeed, is it absolutely certain that Elizabeth 
ever received it ; but, in the meantime, some exer-
tions, to save the Scottish Queen were made by the 
French King, and by her son the King of Scotland. 
Henry the Third had never, during the long course 
of her misfortunes, exhibited for Mary any feelings 
of 	personal affection or 	deep 	interest, 	although, 
from political considerations, he had frequently es-
poused her cause; but the idea that a Queen and a 
near relative should be arraigned, condemned, and 
executed, was so new and appalling, that he deemed 
it imperative to interfere, and sent Monsieur de Bel-
lime his Ambassador to present his remonstrances to 
the English Queen. 	After many affected delays,Eliza- 
beth received him in unusual state upon her throne, 
and heard his message with a flashing eye and flushed 
and angry countenance.2 	She restrained her feelings, 
however, sufficiently to make 	a 	laboured 	reply, 
pronounced a high encomium upon her own for-
bearance, promised a speedy and definite answer, 

1  Jebb, voi. ii. pp. 91, 92. 	 9 Novembor 27. 
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protracted the time for more than a month by the 
most frivolous excuses, and, at last, drove the Ambas-
sador to declare, that if Mary was executed his master 
must resent it. 	The English Queen, fired at this 
threat, demanded whether his master had empowered 
lam to use such language ; and, having found that it 
'was warranted by Bellievre's instructions, wrote a 
letter of lofty defiance to Henry, and dismissed his 
envoy. Aubespine the resident Ambassador renewed 
the attempt; but a pretended plot against the life of 
Elizabeth, which was said to be traced to some of his 
suite, furnished a subject for a new and. bitter quarrel, 
and this, for a time, interrupted all amicable relatiops 
between the two Crowns.' 

On the side of Scotland, James' efforts were not 
more Successful. 	This young prince had been early 
informed of the conspiracy by Walsingham, and had 
written to Elizabeth congratulating her upon the dis- 
covery.2 	The English Secretary• had employed his 
Mend, the Master of Gray, to sound his royal mas-
ter as to the intended proceedings against the Queen 
of Scots ; and bade that nobleman remind the young 
King, that any mediation for Mary would come with 
a bad grace from a Prince whose father had received 
such hard measitre at her hands' 

To confirmJames in these feelings, care had been taken 
to send him an account of the plot, with full extracts 

I Carte, vol. iii. pp. 613, 614. 
2  10th September. 	MS. Letter, St. I'. Off., Master of Gray to 

Burghley, 10th Sept., 1.586. 
3  MS. Letter, St. P. Off, Orig. Draft by Wal,ingliam, Pert. 

i 7, 1586. 
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from the alleged intercepted correspondence of the 
Queen of Scots and Babington. In these letters,Jamcs 
must have perceived the severe terms in which he was 
spoken of by Mary, and become acquainted with her 
advice given to Lord Claud Hamilton, to seize his 
person and place him under a temporary restraint. 
Such revelations were little calculated to foster or 
preserve any sentiments of affection in a son towards 
a mother whom he had never known. 	Yet all this 
cannot excuse the coldness and indifference which he 
manifested. 	Monsieur de Courcelles, who was then 
iii Scotland, received instructions from the French 
King to incite the young monarch to interfere for 
Mary; but he replied that his mother was in no danger, 
and as for the conspiracy, she must be contented, he 
said, to drink the ale she had brewed. 	He loved 
her as much as nature and duty bound him; but he 
knew well she bore him as little good will as she 
did the Queen of England : her practices had already 
nearly cost him his crown, and he could be well con-
tent she would meddle with nothing but prayer and 
serving of Cod.' 

These selfish and moderate sentiments were far 
from acceptable to the Scottish nobles and people, 
who felt the treatment offered to the mother of their 
sovereign, and the superiority assumed by Elizabeth, 
as a national insult. 	Angus, Lord Claud Hamilton, 
Huntley, Bothwell, Herries, and all the leading men 
aboilt Court, protested loudly against her insolence ; 

1  4th October. 	Extract of Monsieur Coureelles' Negotiations, 
Banuatyue edition, p. 4. 
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and declared their resolution rather to break into open 
war, than suffer it to proceed to further extremity' 
On this subject, indeed, the feelings of the nobles had 
become so excited, as to impel them to speak out 
with fierce plainness to the King himself. 	James, it 
seems, suspected that Elizabeth would send an Am-
bassador, to persuade him to remain passive, whatever 
extremities might be adopted against his mother; and 
turning to the Earl of Bothwell, a blunt soldier, he 
asked his advice what he should do. 	If your Majesty, 
said he, suffers the process to proceed, I think, my 
liege, you should be hanged yourself, the day after. 
George Douglas, also, (the same brave and attached 
friend of Mary, who had assisted in her escape from 
Lochleven,) remonstrated in strong terms with his 
royal master; warning him to beware of giving credit 
to- the lying tales of some about him, who were the 
pensioned slaves of Elizabeth, and paid to create bad 
blood between him and his parent. 	"And yet," an- 
swered James, "how is it possible for me to love her, 
or to approve her proceedings ? Did she not write to 
Fontenay, the French Ambassador here, that unless 
I conformed myself to her wishes, I should have no-
thing but the Lordship of Darnley; which was all 
my father hadlefore me ? 	Has she not laboured to 
take the crown off my head, and set up a Regent ? 
Is she not obstinate in holding a different religion ?" 
" For that matter," said Douglas, " she adheres to 
her faith, in which she hath been brought up, as your 

1 Extract of Courcelles' Negotiations, pp. 11, 13. 	Pannatyno 
Club Edition, 
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Majesty doth to yours: and, looking to the character 
of your religious guides, she thinks it better that you 
should come over to her views, than she to yours." 
"Ay, ay," said the king, "truth it is I have been brought 
up amid a company of mutinous knavish ministers, 
whose doctrine I could never approve ; but yet, I 
know my religion to be the true one." 

In the mean time, the alarming news from England, 
and the representations of the French King, convinced 
James, that the question was no longer as to the im-
prisonment, but the life of Mary; and the moment he 
embraced this idea, his whole conduct changed. ' He 
wrote a letter of strong and indignant remonstrance 
to Elizabeth, and despatched it by Sir William Keith, 
who was instructed to express himself boldly, and 
without reserve upon the subject. 	He, at the same 
time, and by the same Ambassador, addressed a, 
threatening note to Walsingham, whom he considered 
his mother's greatest enemy; and he commanded Keith, 
on his arrival at the English Court, to cooperate with 
the French Ambassador in all his efforts for the 
safety of the unhappy Princess, 'whose fate seemed 
to be so fast approaching. 	He had already written 
strongly to Archibald Douglas, his Ambassador at 
the English Court.' 	But it was suspected, on good 
grounds, that Douglas was wholly in the hands of 
Elizabeth and Walsingham; and currently said, that 

I Appendix to Robertson's History of Scotland, No. XLIX. 
King James to Archibald Douglas, October 1386; also same, 
No. L., Archibald Douglas to the King, lOth Oct. 13$U. 
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as he had been at the father's murder, he would have 
his hand as deep in the mother's death.' 

On Keith's arrival at the English Court, 2  Eliza- 
beth 	and 	her 	ministers attempted 	to 	frustrate 
the object of his mission, by the asual we4ons -of 
delay and dissimulation. 	When at last admitted, 
the Queen affected the utmost solicitude for Mary's 
life ; but represented herself as driven to extremi-
ties by the remonstrances of her ministers, and 
the fears of her people. 	" And yet," said she, turning 
to the Ambassador, "I swear by the living God, that 
I would give one of my own arms to be cut off, so 
that any means could be found for us both to live 
in assurance.' 	I have already," she continued, "saved 
her life, when even her own subjects craved her death; 
and now, judge for yourselves which is most just, that 
I who am innocent, or she who is guilty, should suffer.'4  
Repeated interviews took place, and Elizabeth on one 
occasion declared, that no human power should ever 
persuade her to sign the warrant for Mary's execution; 
but in the mean time, the sentence against her had been 
made public. 	Leicester, Burghley, and Walsingham, 
advised her death. 	The people, alarmed by reports of 
the meditated invasion by Spain, and new plots against 

1  Lodge's Letters, vol. ii. (8vo edit.) p. 205. 	Master of Gray 
to Archibald Douglas, 9th Dee. 1580. 

2  5th November. 	MS. Letter, St. P. Off., Keith to Davison, 
5th Nov. 1586. 	Loudon. 

3  Sir George Warreuder MSS., D. fol. 341., Archibald Douglas 
4o James, 8th Dec. 1586. 

1  MS. Warrender, B. fol. 333., Douglas to the Master of Gray, 
22d Nov. 1586. 
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their Princess, became clamorous on the same sub-
ject; and James, agitated by the ill success of Keith, 
sent him new instructions, with a private lettor written 
in passionate and threatening terms.' On communicat-
ing it to the English Queen, she broke into one of 
those sudden and tremendous paroxysms of rage, 
which sometimes shook the Council-room, and made 
the hearts of Tier ministers quail beforeher. It was with 
the greatest difficulty that she was prevented from 
chasing Keith, who had spoken with.  great boldness, 
from her presence. 	But Leicester her favourite at 
last appeased her ; and, on the succeeding day, she 
dictated a more temperate reply to the young King. 
On his side also, James repented of his violence, and, 
unfortunately for his own honour, was induced to 
adopt a milder tone; to write an apologetic letter to 
Elizabeth; and to despatch the Master of Gray and 
Sir Robert Melvil, with instructions, to explain that 
his "meaning, in all that had hitherto been done," was 
modest and not menacing.2  Nothing could be more self-
ish and pusillanimous than such conduct. The Scottish 
nation and the nobility were loud in their expressions 
of indignation. -Eager to avenge the disgraceinflicted on 
their country, the nobles bad alreadyarmed themselves, 
to break across the Border, and take the quarrel into 
their own hands ; but the King, who had received a 
private communication from Walsingham,3  was think- 

' Warrender MSS., B. 341., Douglas to the King, 8th Dee. 15s6. 
s , MS. Letter, Copy, Warrender MSS., B. fol. 336., King 

James to Elizabeth, 15th Dec. 1586. 
3  Warrender MSS., B. fol. 334. 	A Memorial of certain Heads 

to be communicated to the Lord Secretary of Scotland. 
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in; more about his succession to the English Crown 
than the peril of his parent : and, intimidated by the 
violence of Elizabeth, judged it better to conciliate 
than exasperate. 	It is difficult to believe that James. 
had any very deep desire to save his mother's life, 
when he selected so base and unworthy au intercessor 
as the Master of Gray. 	The King must have known 
well that this man had alreadybetrayed her, that he was 
a sworn adherent of Elizabeth, and that Mary's safety 
or return to power and influence brought danger to this 
envoy himself. 	So fully were these Gray's feelings, 
that, in a letter to his friend Archibald Douglas, 
written as far back as October 11th, he described 
"any good to Mary as a staff for their own heads ;" 
and assured him, "he cared not although she were 
out of the way.' 	The result was exactly what might 
have been anticipated : Gray on his arrival at the 
English Court, (29th December,) in his public con-
ferences with Elizabeth and her ministers, and in the 
open despatches intended for the eyes of the Scottish 
Council, exhibited great apparent activity and interest 
in the cause of the Scottish Queen.' 	But this was all 
unreal: for secretly he betrayed her; cooperated with 
Archibald Douglas in his enmity; whispered in Eliza.. 
beth's ear the Significant proverb, " The dead don't 
bite;" persuaded her, that although there was much 
clamour, there was little sincerity in his master's 

I Lodge, vol. ii. 8vo edition, p. 289. 	See also Murdin, pp. 
573, 576. 

2  Robertson's Appendix, No. L. A Memorial for his Majesty, 
by the Master of (fray, 12th January, 1586-7. 
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remonstrances; and notwithstanding the honest en-
deavours of Sir Robert Melvil against his base efforts, 
encouraged her to proceed to those extremities which 
she was willing, yet afraid to perpetrate.' 

In her first interview with these new Ambassadors, 
Elizabeth received their offers with her characteristic 
violence. 	They proposed, that Mary should demit 
her right of succession to the English Crown to her 
son. 	"How is that possible?" said the Queen; "she is 
declared ' inhabir and can convey nothing." 	"If she 
have no rights," replied Gray, "your Majesty need not 
fear her ; if she have, let her assign them to her son, 
in whom will then be placed the full title of succes-
sion to your IIighness." "What," said Elizabeth, with 
a loud voice and great oath ; "get rid of one, and have 
a worse in her place ? 	Nay, then I put myself in a 
more miserable case than before. 	By God's Passion, 
that were to cut mine own throat ; and for a duchy 
or an earldom to yourself, you, or such as you, would 
cause some of your desperate knaves to kill me. 	No, 
by God ! your master shall never be in that place." 
Gray then craved, that Mary's life might at least be 
spared for fifteen days, to give them time to commu-
nicate with the King : but this she peremptorily re- 
fused. 	Melvil implored her to give a respite, were it 
only for eight days. 	""No," said Elizabeth, rising up, 
and impatiently flinging out of the apartment, " not 
for an hour."' 	After such a reception, it was impos- 

' Camden in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 533. 
2  Robertson's Appendix, No. L.: Memorial of the Master of 

Gray, 12th January, 1586-7. 
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sible not to anticipate the worst; and although, on a 
succeeding occasion, the Queen appeared somewhat 
mollified, the Ambassadors left her with the conviction, 
that fears for herself, and not any lingering feelings 
of mercy towards Mary, were the sole causes 'of her 
delay. 

It was at this time that the Scottish King, having 
required the ministers of the Kirk to pray for his 
unhappy mother, then In the toils of her enemies and 
daily expecting death, received a peremptory refusal. 
This was the more extraordinary, since James had 
carefully worded his request so as to remove, as he 
thought, every possibility of opposition ; but finding 
himself deceived, he directed Archbishop Adamson 
to offer up his prayers for the Queen, in the High 
Church of the capital. 	To his astonishment be fOUnd, 
on entering his seat, that one of the recusant ministers, 
named Cowper, had preoccupied the pulpit. 	The 
King addressed him from the gallery, told him that 
the place had been intended for another ; but added, 
that if he would pray for his mother, he might remain 
where he was. 	To this, Cowper answered, that he 
would do as the Spirit of God directed him; a signi-
ficant reply to all who knew the history of the times, 
and certainly amounting to a refusal. 	A scene of 
confusion ensued. 	James commanded Cowper to 
come down from the pulpit : he resisted. The royal 
guard sprang forward to pull out the intruder; and 
he descended, denouncing woe and wrath on sill who 
held back; declaring too, that this hour would rise up 
in witness against the King, in the great day of the 
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Lord, 	Adamson then preached on the Christian duty 
of prayer for all men, with such pathetic eloquence, . 
and so powerfully offered up his intercession for their 
unfortunate Queen, that, the congregation separated 
in tears, lamenting the obstinacy of their pastors .1  

Meanwhile, reports were circulated in England, 
which were artfully calculated to inflame the people, 
and to excuse severity towards Mary. 	It was said one 
day, that the Spaniards had landed at Milford Haven, 
and that the Catholics had joined them ; the next, 
that Fotheringay Castle was attacked, and that the 
Queen of Scots had made her escape ; then came 
rumours that the northern counties were already 
in rebellion, and that a new conspiracy was on foot 
to slay the Queen and set fire to London.2  

Amidst these fictitious terrors, the Privy-council 
held repeated meetings, and pressed Elizabeth to give 
her warrant for the execution ; Leicester, Burghley, 
and Walsingham, entreated, argued, and remonstrated, 
but she continued distracted and irresolute between 
the odium which must follow the deed and its ne-
cessity ; at last, amid her half sentences and dark 
hints, they perceived that their mistress wished Mary 
to be put to death, but had conceived a hope they 
would spare her the cruelty of commanding it, and 
find some secret way of despatching her ; she even 
seemed to think, that if their oath to "the association" 
for her protection did not lead to this, they had pro- 

1  Spottiswood, p. 334. 	 • 
2  Camden in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 533. 	Elliis Letters, 2.1 Series, 

VOL iii. pp. 106, 109. 
VOL. VIII. 	 2 C 
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mised much, but actually done nothing. 	From such 
an interpretation of their engagement however they 
all shrunk.. 	The idea of private assassination was ab- 
horrent, no doubt, to their feelings; but they suspected, 
also, that Elizabeth's only object was to shift, the re-
sponsibility of Mary's death from her sh oulders to theirs; 
and that nothing was more likely than that, the mo-
ment they had fulfilled her wishes, she should turn round, 
and accuse them of acting without orders.. 	Mean- 
while, she became hourly more unquiet, forsook her 
wonted amusements, courted solitude, and often was 
heard muttering to herself a Latin sentence taken 
from some of those books of Emblemata, or Aphor-
isms, which were the fashion of the day : Aut fer 
rout feri ; ne feriare, feri.1 	This continued till the 
1st of February, when the Queen sent for Mr Davison 
the secretary at ten in the morning. 	On arriving at 
the Palace, he found that the Lord Admiral Howard 
had been conversing with Elizabeth °lithe old point, the 
Scottish Queen's execution; and had received orders to 
send Secretary Davison to her with the warrant, which 
bad already been drawn up by Burghley the Lord Trea- 
surer,2  and lay in his possession unsigned. 	Davison 
hasted to his chamber, and coining instantly back with 
it, and some other papers in his hand, was called in by 
Elizabeth, who, after some talk on indifferent topics, 
asked him what papers he had with him. 	He replied, 

I Either strike or be stricken ; strike lest thou be stricken. 
Camden in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 534. 

2  Caligula, C. ix. -fol. 470. 	For a minute and interesting ac-
count of the whole proceedings of Davison, see Sir Harris Nicolas 
Life of Davison, ip. 79, 105.   
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divers warrants for her signature. 	She then inquired 
whether he had seen the Lord Admiral, and had brought 
the warrant for the Scottish Queen's execution: He 
declared he had, and delivered it into the Queen's 
hand; upon which she read it over, called for pen and 
ink, deliberately signed it, and then looking up asked 
him whether he was not heartily sorry she had done so. 
To this bantering question he replied gravely, that 
he preferred the death of the guilty before that of the 
innocent, and could not be sorry that her Majesty 
took the only course to protect her person from immi- 
nent danger. 	Elizabeth then coMmanded him to take 
the warrant to the Chancellor and have it sealed, with - 
her orders that it should be used as secretly as possible; 
and by the way, said she, relapsing•again into a jocu-
lar tone, "you may call on Walsingham and show it 
him : I fear the shock will kill him outright." 	She 
added that a public execution must he avoided. 	It 
shotld be done, she said, not in the open green or court 
of the castle, but in the hall. 	In conclusion, she for- 
bade him absolutelyto troubleher anyfarther or let her 
hear anymore till it was done; she, for herpart,having 
performed all that in law or reason could be required.' 

_ The secretary now gathered up his papers, and was 
taking his leave, when Elizabeth stayed. him for a 
short space; and complained of Paulet and others, who 
might have eased her of this burden. 	Even now, 
said she, it might be so done, that the blame might 
be removed from myself, would you and Walsingham 

3  Davison's Defence, drawn up by himself, in Caligula, C'. ix. 
fol. 470, printed by Nicolas. 	Life of Davison, Appendix A. 
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write jointly, and sound Sir A mias and Sir Drew Drury 
upon it. 	To this Davison consented, promising to let 
Sir Ainiasknowwhat sheexpected athis hands; andthe 
Queen, having again repeated in an earnest tone, that 
the matter must be closely handled, dismissed him' 

All this took place on the morning of the 1st of 
February. In the afternoon of that day, Davison visited 
WalSingham, showed him the warrant with Elizabeth's 
signature, consulted with him on the horrid com-
munication to be made to Paulet and Drury; and 
repairing to.  he Chancellor, had the Great Seal affixed 
to the warrant. 	The fatal paper was then left in the 
hands of that dignitary; and Walsingharn and Davison 
the same evening wrote and despatched a letter to 
Fotheringay, recothmending to her keepers, the secret 
assassination of their royal charge, at the Queen their 
mistress' special request. 	This letter, taken froni an 
original found amongst Paulet's own papers,'•was in • 
these calin and measured terms :— 

To Sm. AMIAS PAULET. 
" After our hearty commendations. 	We find by 

speech lately uttered by her Majesty, that she doth 
note in you both a lack of that care and zeal for her 
service, that she looketh for at your hands; in that 
you have not in all this time, of yourselves, (without 
other provocation,) found out some way to shorten 
the life of that Queen; considering the great peril she 
is subject unto hourly, so long as the said Queen shall 
live. 	Wherein, besides a lack of love towards her, 

1 Nicolas' Life of Davison, p. 84. 
2  Id., p. 85. 	Hearne's Robert of Gloucester, vol. ii. r. 676. 
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she noteth greatly, that you have not that care of 
your own particular safeties, or rather of the preser-
vation of Religion; and the public gdod and prosperity 
of your country that reason and policy commandeth; 
especially, having so good a warrant and ground for 
the satisfaction of your consciences towards God, and. 
the discharge of your credit and reputation towards 
the World, as the oath of " Association ;" which you 
both have so solemnly taken and vowed; and especially 
the matter wherewith she standeth charged being so 
clearly and manifestly proved against her: and therefore 
she taketh it most unkindly that men, professing that 
love towards her thatyou do, should in any kind of sort, 
for lack of the discharge of your duties, cast the burden 
upon her; knowing, as you do, her indisposition to 
shed blood, especially of one of that sex and quality, 
and so near to her in blood as the said Queen is. 

" These respects we find do greatly trouble her 
Majesty, who, we assure you, has sundry times pro-
tested, that if the regard of the danger of her good 
subjects and faithful servants did not more move her 
than her own peril, she would never be drawn to 
assent to the shedding her blood. 	We thought it 
very meet to acquaint you [with] these speeches lately 
passed from her Majesty, referring the same to your 
good judgments. And so we commit you to-the pro- 
tection of the Almighty. 	Your most assured friends, 

" FRANCIS WALSINGHAM. 
“ WILLIAM DAVISON. 

"London, February 1st, 1586."1  
' Robert of Gloucester's Chronicle, by Hearne, vul. ii. p. 674. 
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With the letter, Davison sent an earnest injunction 
that it should be committed to the flames; promising 
for his part to burn, or as he styled it, " make a 
heretic" of the answer. 	Cruel and morose, however, 
as Paulet had undoubtedly been to Mary, he was not 
the common murderer which Elizabeth took him to 
be, and refused, peremptorily, to have any hand in her 
horrid purpose. 	He received the letter on the 2d of 
February, at five in the afternoon, and at six the same 
evening, having communicated it to Drury, returned 
this answer to Walsingham. 

" Your letters of yesterday, coming to my hands 
this present day at five in the afternoon, I would not 
fail, according to your directions, to return my answer 
with all possible speed ; which [I] shall deliver unto 
you with great grief and bitterness of mind, in that 
I am so unhappy to have liven to see this unhappy 
day, in the which I am required, by direction from 
my most gracious Sovereign, to do an act which God 
and the law forbiddeth. 	My good livings and life 
are at her Majesty's disposition, and I am ready to 
lose them this next morrow, if it shall so please her : 
acknowledging that I hold them as of her mere and 
gracious favour. 	I do not desire them to enjoy them 
but with her Highness' good liking; but God forbid 
that I should make so foul a shipwrack of my con-
science, or leave so great a blot to my poor posterity, 
to shed blood without law and warrant. Trusting that 
her Majesty, of her accustomed clemency, will take 
this my dutiful answer in good part."' 	* 	* 	* 

1  Hearne's Robert of Gloucester, vol. ii. p. 675. 
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This refusal, as we have seen, was written on the 2d. 
February, in the evening, at Fotheringay ; and, next 
morning, (the 3d, Friday,) Davison received an early and 
hasty summonsfrom Elizabeth, who called him into her 
chamber, and inquired if be had been with the warrant 
to the Chancellor's. 	He said he bad ; and she asked 
sharply why he had made such haste. 	" I obeyed 
your Al aj esty's comman ds," was his reply; "and deemed 
it no matter to be dallied with."—=" True," said she, 
" yet methinks the best and safest way would be to 
have it otherwise handled." 	He answered to this, 
that, if it was to be done at all, the honourable way 
was the safest;' and the Queen dismissed him. 	But 
by this time the warrant, with the royal signature, 
was in the hands of the Council ; and on that day 
they addressed a letter, enclosing it, to the Earl of 
Shrewsbury. This letter was signed by Burghley the 
Lord Treasurer, Leicester, Hunsdon, Knollys, W al-
singham, Derby, IIoward, Cobham, Sir Christopher 
Hatton, and Davison himself.' 	Yet some fears as to 
the responsibility of sending it away without the 
Queen's knowledge, made them still hesitate to de- 
spatch it. 	In this interval, Paulet's answer arrived; 
and as Walsinghain, to whom he had addressed it, 
was sick, (or, as some said, pretended illness,) the 
task of communicating it to Elizabeth fell on Davison. 
She read it with symptoms of great impatience; and, 
breaking out into passionate expressions, declared 
that slae hated those dainty, nice, precise fellows, who 

I Davison's Apology, in Nicolas' Life, Appendix A. 
2  Ellis's Letters, 2d series, vol. iii. pp. 111, 112. 
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promised much, but performed nothing: casting all the 
burden on her. But, she added, she would have it done 
without him, by Wingfield. 	Who this new assassin 
was, to whom the Queen alluded, does not appear.' 

The Privy-council, meanwhile, had determined to 
take the responsibility of sending off the warrant for 
the execution upon themselves; and, for this purpose, 
intrusted it to Beal the -clerk of the Council ; who, 
on the evening of Saturday the 4th of February, ar-
rived with it at the seat of the Earl of Kent; and, next 
day, being Sunday, proceeded to Fotheringay and com-
municated it .to Sir Amias Paulet and Sir Drew 
Drury.' 	Intelligence was then sent to the Earl of 
Shrewsbury, Grand Marshal of England, who lived at 
no great distance from Fotheringay; and, on Tuesday 
morning; the 7th FebrUary, this nobleman and the Earl 
of Kent came to the castle with several persOns who 
were to give directions or to be employed in the 
approaching tragedy. 	For some days before this, 
Mary's servants had suspected the worst; but the pre-
parations which now took place, and the arrival of so 
many strangers, threw them into despair. On Tuesday 
after dinner, at two o'clock, the two Earls demanded 
an audience of the Queen of Scots, who sent word 
that ' she was ' indisposed- and in bed ; but if the 
matter were of consequence, she would rise and 
receive them. 	On their reply that it could brook no 
delay, they were admitted after a short interval ; and 
Kent and Shrewsbury coming into the apartment, 
' Davison's Defence; Nieolaz' Life of Davison, p. 103; and 

Id. Appendix A. 
3 La Mort de la Royne D'Escosse, iu Jebb, vol. ii. p. 512. 
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with Paulet, Drury, and Beal, found her seated at the 
bottom of her bed, her usual place, with her small 
work-table before her.1 	Near her stood her physician, 
Burgoin, and her women. - When the Earls uncovered, 
she received them with her usual tranquil grace ; awl 
Shrewsbury, in few words, informed her that his royal 
mistress, Elizabeth, being overcome by the importunity 
of her subjeCts, had given orders for her execution ; 
for which she would now be pleased to hear the war- 
rant. 	Beal then read the commission; to which she 
listened unmoved and without interrupting him. 	On 
its conclusion she bowed her head, and, making the 
sign of the cross, thanked her gracious God that this 
welcome news bad, at last, come ; declaring how 
happy she should be to leave a world where she was 
of no use, and had suffered such continued affliction. 
She assured the lords that she regarded it as a signal 
happiness, that God had sent her death at this moment, 
after so many evils and sorrows endured for his 
Holy Catholic Church : " That Church," she con-
tinued, with great fervour of egression, " for which 
I have been ready, as I have often testified, to lay 
clown my life, and to shed my. blood drop by drop. 
Alas," she continued, "I did not think myself worthy 
of so happy a death as this ; but I acknowledge it as 
a sign of the love of God, and humbly receive it as an 
earnest of my reception into the number of his ser-
vants. Long have I doubted and speculated for these 
eighteen or nineteen years, from day to day, upon all 
that was about to happen to me. 	Often have I 

' La Mort de la Royale D'EseoEse. 	Jebb, vol. ii.p. 612. 
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thought on the manner in which the English have 
acted to imprisoned princes ; and, after my frequent 
escapes from such snares as have been laid for me, I 
have scarce ventured to hope for such a blessed end 
as this." 	She then spoke of her high rank, ,which 
had so little defended her from cruelty and injus-
tice : born a Queen, the daughter of a King, the 
near relative of the Queen of England, the grand-
daughter of Henry the Seventh, once Queen of France, 
and still Queen-dowager of that kingdom; and yet, 
what had all this availed her ? 	She had loved Eng- 
land ; she had desired its prosperity, as the next heir 
to that Crown ; and, as far as was permitted to a 
good Catholic, had laboured fOr its welfare. She had 
earnestly longed for the love and friendship of her 
good sister the Queen ; had often informed her of ' 
coming dangers ; had cherished, as the dearest wish 
of her heart, that for once she should meet her in 
person, and speak with her in confidence ;being well 
assured that, had this ever happened, there would 
have been an end of all jealousies and dissensions. 
But all had been refused her ; her enemies, who kill 
lived and acted for their own interests, had kept them 
asunder. She had been treated with ignominy and in-
justice; imprisoned contrary to all faith and treaties; 
kept a captive for nineteen years; "and, at last," 
said she, laying her hand upon the New Testament 
which was on her table, " condemned by a tribunal 
which had no power over me, for a crime of which I 
here solemnly declare I am innocent.' I have neither 

1 La Mort de la Royne D'Ecosge, p. 618. 
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invented, nor consented to, •nor pursued any conspi- 
racy for the death of the Queen of England." 	The 
Earl of Kent here hastily interrupted her, declaring 
that the translation of the Scriptures on which she 
had sworn was false, and the Roman Catholic version, 

. which invalidated her oath. 	" It is the translation 
in which I believe," answered Mary, " as the version 
of our Holy Church. 	Does your lordship think my 
oath would be better if I swore on your translation, 
which I disbelieve ? " 

She then entreated to be allowed the services 
of her priest and almoner, who was in the castle, 
but had • not been permitted to see her since her 
removal from Chartley. 	He would assist her, she 
said, in her preparations for death, and administer 
that spiritual consolation, which it would be sinful 
to receive from any one of a different faith. 	To the 
disgrace of the noblemen, the request was refused : 
nor was this to be attributed to any cruelty in Eliza-
beth, who had given no instructions upon the subject; 
but to the intolerant bigotry of the Earl of Kent, 
who, in along theological discourse, attempted to con-
vert her to his own opinions; offering her, in the place 
of her confessor, the services of the Protestant Dean 
of Peterborough, Dr Fletcher, whom they had brought 
with them. 	Mary expressed her astonishment at this 
last unexpected stroke of cruelty ; but bore it meekly 
as she had done all the rest, although she peremptorily 
declined all assistance from the Dean. 	She then in- 
quired what time she should die; and the Earls having 
answered " To-morrow at eight in the morning," made 
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their obeisance, and left the room. 	On their dePartfire 
she called her women, and bade them hasten .Supper, 
that she might have time to arrange her affairs. 	No- 
thing could be more natural, or rather playful, than 
her manner at this moment. 	"Collie, come," said she, 
"Jane Kennedy, cease weeping, and be busy. 	Did I 
not warn you, my children, that it would come to 
this? and now, blessed be God! it has come, and fear 
and sorrow are at an end. 	Weep not then,' nor 
lament, but rejoice rather that you see your poor 
mistress so near the end of all her troubles. 	Dry 
your eyes, then, and let us pray together." 

Her men-servants, who were in tears, then left the 
room, and Mary passed some time in devotion with 
her ladies. 	After which she occupied herself in 
counting the money which still remained in her 
Cabinet ; dividing it into separate sums, which she 
intended for her servants ; and then putting each sum 
into a little purse with a slip of paper, on which she 
wrote, with her own hand, the name of the person for 
whom it was destined. Supper was next brought in, of 
which she partook sparingly, as was usual with her; con-
versing from time to time with Burgoin her physician, 
who served her ; and sometimes falling into a reverie, 
during which it was remarked that a sweet smile, as 
if she had heard some good news, would pass over 
her features, lighting them up with an expression of 
animated joy, which, much changed as she was by sor-
row and ill health, recalled to her poor servants her 
days of beauty. 	It was with one of these looks that, 
turning to her physician, she said, " Did you remark, 
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l3urgoin, what that Earl' of Kent said in his talk with 
me: that my life would have been the death, as my. 
death would be the life of their religion ? 	Oh, how 
glad am I at that speech ! 	Here comes the truth at 
last, and I pray you remark it. 	They told me I was 
to die, because I had plotted against the Queen ; but 
then arrives this Kent, whom they sent hither to con-
vert me, andwhat says he? I am to die for myreligion."1  

After supper, she called for her ladies, and asking 
for a cup of wine, drank to them all, begging thorn to 
pledge her; which they did on their knees, mingling 
their tears in the cup, and asking her forgiveness if 
they had ever offended her. 	This she readily gave 
them, bidding them farewell with much tenderness, 
entreating in her turn their pardon, and solemnly 
enjoining them to continue firm in their religion, and 
forget all their little jealousies, living in peace and 
love with each other. 	It would be easier to do so 
now, she added, since Nau, who bad been so busy in 
creating dissensions, yvas no longer with them. 	This 
was the only subject on which she felt and expressed 
herself with something like keenness; repeating more 
than once, that he was the cause of her death, but 
adding that she forgave him. 	She next examined her 
wardrobe, and selected various dresses as presents 
to her servants, delivering them at the moment, with 
some kind expression to each. 	She then wrote to her 
almoner, lamenting that the cruelty of her enemies 
bad refused her the consolation of his presence with 
' Camden in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 534. 	Mort do In  Rorie D'Es- 

eoFye. 	Jebb, vol. ii. p. 625. 
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her in her last moments, imploring him to watch and 
pray with her that night, and to send her his absolu- 
tion.1 	After this she made her will ; and lastly;  wrote 
to the king of France. 	By this time it was two in 
the -morning, and finding herself fatigued, she lay 
down, having first washed her feet, whilst her women 
watched and read at her bedside. They observed that, 
though quite still and tranquil, she was not asleep, 
her lips moving, as if engaged in secret prayer. 	It 
was her custom to have her women read to her at 
night a portion of the " Lives of the Saints," a book 
she loved much ; and this last night she would not 
omit it, but made Jane Kennedy choose a portion, for 
their usual devotions. 	She selected the life entitled, 
" The Good Thief," which treats of that beautiful 
and affecting example of dying faith and divine com- 
passion. 	"Alas !" said Mary, " he was indeed a very 
great sinner, but not so great as I am. 	May my 
Saviour, in memory of Ills Passion, have mercy on 
me, as he had on him, at the hour of death."' 	At 
this moment she recollected that she would require 
a handkerchief to bind her eyes at her execution ; 
and bidding them bring her several, she selected one 
of the finest, which was embroidered with gold, lay- 
ing it carefully aside. 	Early in the morning she rose, 
observing that now she had but two hours to live ; 
and having finished her toilet she came into her ora-
tory, and kneeling with her women before the altar, 

' The letters are preserved, and will be found printed in Jebb, 
vol. ii. pp. 627, 630. 

2  Mort de la Royno D'Escosse, jobb, vol. ii. p. 631. 

   
  



1586-7. 	 JAMES VI. 	 399 

where they usually said mass, continued long in prayer. 
Her physician then, afraid of her being exhausted, 
begged Ur to take a little bread and wine; which 
she did cheerfully, thanking him, at the same time, 
for giving her her last meal. 	 4 

A knock was now heard at the door, and a mes-
senger came to say that the Lords waited for her. 
She begged to be allowed a short time to conclude 
her devotions. 	Soon after, a second summons ar- 
riving, the door was opened, and the sheriff alone, 
with his white wand, walked into the room, proceeded 
to the altar, where the Queen still knelt, and informed 
her that all was ready. 	She then rose, saying simply, 
"Let us go ;" and Burgoin her physician, who assisted 
her to rise from her knees, asking her at this moment 
whether she would not wish to take with her the little 
cross and ivory crucifix which lay on the altar, she 
said : " Oh yes, yes ; it was my intention to have done 
so : many, many thanks for putting me in mind!" She 
then received it, kissed it, and desired Annibal, one 
of her suite, to carry it before her. 	The sheriff, walk- 
ing first, now conducted her to the door of the apart-
ment ; on reaching which, her servants, who had fol-
lowed her thus far, were informed that they must now 
turn back, as a command had been given that they 
should not accompany their mistress to the scaffold. 
This stern and unnecessary order was received by 
them with loud remonstrances and tears; but Mary 
only observed, that it was hard not to suffer her poor 
servants to be present at her death. 	She then took 
the crucifix in her hand, and bade them affectionately 
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adieu ; whilst they clung in tears to her robe, kissed 
her hand, and were with difficulty torn from her, and 
locked up in the apartment. 	The Queen•after this 
proceeded alone down the great staircase, at the foot 
of which she was received by the Earls of Shrewsbury 
and Kent, who were struck with the perfect tranquil-
lity and unaffected grace with which she met them. 
'She was dressed in black satin, matronly, but richly ; 
and with more studied care than she was commonly 
accustomed to bestow. 	She wore a long veil of white 
crape, and her usual high Italian ruff ; an Agnus Dei 
was suspended by a pomander chain round her neck, 
and her beads of gold hung at her girdle. 	At the 
bottom of the staircase she 	found 	Sir Andrew 
Melvil, her old affectionate servant, and Master of 
her Household, waiting to take his last farewell. 
On seeing her he flung himself on his knees at her 
feet, and bitterly lamented it should have fallen on 

him to carry to Scotland the heart-rending news of 
his dear mistress' death. 	" Weep not, my good Mel- 
vil,' said she, " but rather rejoice that an end has at 
last come to the sorrows of Mary Stuart. And carry 
this news with thee, that I die firm in my reLer,ion, 
true to Scotland, true to France. 	May God, who 
can alone judge the thoughts and actions of men, for-
give those who have thirsted for my blood ! Ile knows 
my heart ; He knows my desire bath ever been, that 
Scotland and England should be united. 	Remember 
me to my son," she added. 	" Tell him I have done 
nothing that may prejudice his kingdom of Scotland. 
And now, good Melvil, my most faithful servant, once 
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• • 
more I bid thee farewell." 	She then earnestly en- 
treated that her women might still be ..permitted 
to be with her at her death ; but the Earl of Kent 
peremptorily refused, alleging that they would only 
disturb everything by their lamentations, tind be guilty 
of something scandalous and superstitious ; probably 
dipping their handkerchiefs in her blood. 	"Alas, poor 
souls !" said Mary, " I will give my word and promise 
they will do none of these things. 	It would do them 
good to bid me farewell ; and I hope your misaess. 
who is a maiden Queen; hath not given you so strait a 
commission. She might grant me more than this, were 
I a far meaner person. 	And yet, my Lords, you know 
T am cousin to your Queen, descended from the blood 
of Henry the Seventh, a married Queen of France, 
and an anointed Queen of Scotland. 	Surely, surely 
they will not deny me this last little request : my 
poor girls wish only to see me die."1 	AS she said this, 
a few tears were observed to fall, for the first time ; 
and after some consultation, she was permitted .t.tt 
have two of her ladies and four of her gentlemen be- 
side her. 	She then immediately chose Bu rgoin her 
physician, her almoner, surgeon, and aliothecary. with 
Jane Kennedy and Elizabeth Curie. 	Followed by 
them, and by Melvil bearing her train, she entered 
the great hall, and walked to the scaffold, which had 
been erected at its upper end. 	It was a raised plat- 
form, about two feet in height, and twelve broad, 
surrounded by a rail, and covered with black. rpon it 
were placed a low chair and cushion,  two otii(sr seats. 

1 La. Mort de la Royne D'Escosse; Jebb, vul. ii. PP. 6:33, (M. 
VOL. yin. 	 2 D 
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. 	• 
and the block. 	The Queen regarded it without the 
least change of countenance, cheerfully mounted the 
steps, and sat down with the same easy grace and 
dignity with which she would have occupied her 
throne. 	On her right were seated the Earls of Kent 
and Shrewsbury, on her left stood the Sheriffs, and 
before her the two executioners. 	The Earl of Kent, 
the Dean of Peterborough, Sir Amias Paulet, Sir 
Drew Drury, Beal the Clerk of the Privy-council, 
and others stood beside the scaffold; and these, with 
the guards, 	officers, attendants, and some of the 
neighbouring gentry, who had been permitted to be 
present, made up an assembly of about tWo hundred 
in all. 	Beal then read the warrant for her death, 
which she heard with apparent attention ; but those 
near her could see, by the sweet and absent expres-
sion of her countenance, that her thoughts were far off. 

When it was finished, she crossed herself, and ad-
dressed afew words to the persons round the scaffold. 
She spoke of her rights as a Sovereign Princess, which 
had been invaded and trampled on, and of her long 
sorrows and imprisomnent ; but expressed the deepest 
thankfulgess to God, that, being now about to die for 
her religion, she was permitted, before this company, 
to testify that• she died a Catholic, and innocent of 
having invented any plot, or consented to any practices 
against the Queen's life. 	" I will here," said, she, 
" in my last moments, accuse no one; but when I am 
gone, much will be discovered that is now hid, and 
the objects of those who have procured my death be 
more clearly disclosed to the world." 

   
  



15 SG-7. 	 JAMES VI. 	 4.(13 

Fletcher the Dean of Peterborough now came up 
upon the scaffold, and, with the Earl' of Kent and 
Shrewsbury, made an ineffectual attempt to engage 
Mary in their devotions ; but she repelled all their 
offers, at first mildly, and afterwards, when they in-
sisted on her joining with them in prayer, in more 
peremptory terms. 	It was at this moment that 
Kent, in the excess of his Puritanism, observing her 
intensely_ regarding the crucifix, bade her renounce 
such antiquated superstitious : " Madam," said he, 
" that image of Christ serves to little purpose, if you 
have him not engraved upon your beart."—" All," said 
Mary, " there is nothing more becoming a dying 
Christian than to carry in his hands this remembrance 
of his redemption. 	How impossible is it to have 
such an object in our hands and keep the heart un-
moved!' 

The Dean of Peterborough then prayed in English, 
being joined by the noblemen and gentlemen who 
were present ; whilst Mary, kneeling apart, repeated 
portions of the Penitential Psalms in Latin,' and 
afterwards continued her prayers aloud in English. 
By this time, the Dean having concluded, there was 
a deep silence, so that every word was heard. Amid 
this stillness she recommended to God his afflicted 

I Martyre (le Marie Stuart, Royue D'Eseosse. 	Jebb, vol. ii. 
pp. 47, 200, 307; and same volume, Mort de la Royue D'Eseosse, 
e87. 

The psalms, as numbered in the reformed version, were xxxi. 
li. and xci. 	In the vulgate, Miserere mei Deus, In te, Domine, 
Nperavi, Qui habitat in adjutorio. 	Mort de In R,Tne D'E,,e, wo, 
in J.hb, vol. ii. p. 638. 	Lingard, vol. viii. p. 248. 
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Church, •heur son the ,King of Scotland, and Queen, 
Elizabeth. 	She declared .that her whole hope rested, 
on herSaviour; and; although she confessed_ that she-
was a great sinner, she humbly trusted that the Wood 
of, that, immaculate Lamb, which•  had been shed for 
all sinners, would wash all her guilt away. 	She then 
invoked the blessed Virgin and all ;the ,saint.$ lim-r  
ploring them . to 	grant 	leer 	their, prayers 	with 
God ; and ,finally declared that she ,forgave all her 
enemies. 	,It was .impossible for any one to behold 
her at this moment without being deeply affected; 
on her knees, her hands clasped together and raised,  
to Heaven, an expression of adoration and divine 
serenity lighting up her features, and npOn hep lips 
the words of forgiveness to her persecutors. 	As slit' 
finished her devotions she kissed the crucifix, and, 
making the sign of the cross, exclaimed in a clear, 
sweet voice, " As thine arms, ,O my Gqd, were spread 
out upon the cross, so receive me within the arms of 
thy mercy : extend thy pity and forgive my sins! " 

She then cheerfully suffered herself to be undressed 
by her two women, Jane • Kennedy and Elizabeth 
Curie, and gently admonished them not to distress her 
by their tears and lamentations ; putting her finger 
on her lips, and' bidding them remember that she had 
promised for them. 	On seeing the executioner conic 
up to offer his assistance, she smiled, and playfully, 
said she had neither been used to such grooms of the 
chamber, nor to undress before so many people. 
When all was ready she kissed her two women, and, 
giving them her last blessing, desired them to leave 
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her, one of them having first bound her eyes with the 
handkerchief which she had chosen for the purpose. 
She-  then sat down, and, clasping her hands together, 
held her neck firm and erect, expecting that she was 
to be beheaded in the French fashion, with a sword, 
and in a sitting attitude. 	Those who were present, 
and knew nothing of this misconception, wondered at 
this; and in the pause, Mary, still waiting for the 
blow, repeated the pSalm, " In thee, 0 Lord, have I 
trusted : let me never be put to confusion.' . On 
being made aware of her mistake she instantly knelt 
down, and, groping with her hands for the block, 
laid her neck upon it without the slightest mark of 
trembling or hesitation. 	IIer last words were, " Into 
thy hands I commend my spirit, for Thou bast re- 
deemed me, 0 Lord God of truth." 	At this moment 
the tears and emotions of the spectators had reached 
their height, and appear,nnfortunately, to have shaken 
the nerves and disturbed the aim of the executioner, 
so that his first blow was ill directed, and only wounded 
his victim. 	She lay, however, perfectly still, and the 
next stroke severed the head from the body. 	The 
executioner then held the head up and called aloud, 
" God save the Queen"' " So let all Queen Elizabeth's. 
enemies perish!" was the prayer of the Dean of . Peter-
borough ; but the spectators were dissolved in tears, 
and one deep voice only answered, Amen. 	It came 
from the Earl of Kent.' 

1  Tu to, Domino, confido: non confundar in teternum. 
2  Mort de la Royne D'Escosse, p. 641. 	Martyr() de Mario 

ittiost. 	Jebb, vol. ii. p. 308. 	Camden in Kennet, vol. ii. p. 535. 
Ellis's Letters, 2(1 series, vol. iii. p. 117. 
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An affecting incident now occurred. 	On removing 
the dead body, and the clothes and mantle which lay 
beside it, Mary's favourite little dog, which had fol-
lowed its mistress to the scaffold unperceived, was 
found nestling under them. 	No entreaty could pre- 
vail on it to quit the spot; and it remained lying 
beside the corpse, and stained in the blood, till for-
cibly carried away by the attendants.1  . 

1  Mort de la Royue D'Escosse, Jobli, vol. ii. p. 641. 	Elli,'s 
Letters, 2d series, vol. Hi. p: 117. 
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PROOFS AND ILLUSTRATIONS. 

I. 

ATTACK ON STIRLING, 2.8TII APRIL, 1:48.—Page 37. 

A MINUTE and interesting account of the successful attack on 
Stirling Castle, which led to the restoration of Morton to the 
supreme power in the Government, will be found in the following 
letter from Sir Robert Bowes to Lord Burghley. 

. 	• 
BowEs TO BURGULEY.1  

. 	 "EDixouRun, Aiwii 28th, 1578. 
"May it please your Lordship. 	On Saturday last, about six in 

the morning, the Earl of Mar, accompanied with the Abbots of 
Dryburgh add Cambuskenneth, and their servants ordinarily lodgM 
in the Castle of Stirling, came to the castle gate, with pretence 
to go a-hunting; and finding there the Master and his servants, the 
Abbots called the Master aside, charging him that he had much 
abused the' Earl of Mar his nephew, and far overseen himself in 
withholding the custody of the King and castle from the Earl. 
The Master after reasonable excuse made, found that they pressed 
to possess the keys, and command the piece; and reaching himself 
to an halbert, his servants came to assist him. 	Dryburgh and some,  
with him stayed the Master; Cambuskenneth and his complices 
assaulted the rest; when Buchanan, one of the Master's men, wa4 
sore hurt. After the fray pacified, the Master and the Abbots with-
draw themselves to the hall to debate the matter; and Argyle, 
being then a-bed, rose speedily, and came with a small number to 
the hall, where, hearing that the Master and the Abbots were in 

1  Orig. British Mnseum, Caligula, C. v. fol. 89. 
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quiet communication, he retired himsellto his chamber, and, arming 
himself, he assembled his servants, that with the Master were able 
to have overmatched the other. 	But the Master being then fully 
satisfied, Argyle was likewise soon-after appeased; and then yielding 
possession .for the Earl, they agreed at length to 'remove thence, 
and draw to concord, specially to satisfy the King, who of the 
tumult, as is reported, was in great fear, and teared his hair, saying 
the Master was slain. 	And as I am informed, his Grace by night, 
bath been by this means so discouraged, as in his sleep he is here- 
with greatly disquieted. 	After all this was ended, the Earls of 
Argyle and Mar, the two Abbots and Mr Buchanan,' advertised 
by their letters this Council of this accident; declaring that the 
parties were well reconciled; and persuaded the Council to proceed 
forwards in the course determined for.the government, as no such 
matter had happened. 	Argyle departed out of tho castle, and he 
is now gone to levy his forces, meaning to return within two days 
at the farthest. 	 . 

"In this uproar, the eldest spa of the Master was so crushed in 
the throng, as he died the next day: 	The Master is fallen into 
vehement disease with danger of his life. 

"Upon the coming of the said letters from Stirling, on Saturday 
about nine in the afternoon, the Council assembled ; and after some 
hot humours digested, they despatched -Montrose that night towards 
Stirling, to understand, and certify to them the true state of the 
matter, to persuade quietness about the King's person, and to con-
tinue this present government established until the next Parliament. 

"Montrose, after long abode at the Lord of Livingston's house, 
came to Stirling in the next day, and was received into the castle. 
He putteth the Council in good hope that the matter is well paci-
fied, and that this government shall not by this accident be im- 
peached. 	Whereupon the most part of this Council, pretending 
to have the King's, letters commanding their repair to him, are 
departed this day towards Stirling; but what shall ensue hereof 
is greatly doubted. 

"Lochleven being speedily advertised of the doings of the Abbots, 
came the same day to Stirling, and with some difficulty, (as out-
wardly was showed,) was let into the castle with one servant, 
whom presently he returned to Lochleven to the Earl of Morton, 	. _ 
and himself remaineth still in the castle. 	The Earl of Merton, 

1 This was the celebrated Buchanan. 
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upon the first advertisement, came to Lochleven; despatched his 
servant to the Earl of Angus," to put all his friends and forces in a 
readiness on an hour's warning. And many noblemen, being friends 
to these two Earls, have done the like; nevertheless they show no 
force nor assembly as yet. 

"The Lords of the Council have likewise levied all their powdrs; 
drawing some part with all possible speed towards Stirling; and 
leaving the residue in readiness upon warning. 

"Some are of opinion, that the Council will be readily received 
and welcomed to the King and to all the castle, without further 
change; and many think that, by the means of the Abbots, the 
King shall cause them to retire to their own houses, till his pleasure 
he further known. 	And in case they disobey the same; • then to 
lay siege and take the castle. 	That then the King will cause the 
Earl of Morton and other nobles to levy their power within the 
realm, to raise the siege, and rescue his person from their violence. 
What stormshall fall out of these swell ing.heats doth not yet appear. 
But I think, verily, and that within two or three days, that it will 
burst into some open matter; discovering sufficiently the purposes 
intended; wherein, to my power, I shall seek to quench all violent 
rages, and persuade unity and concord among them; which, if this 
sudden chance had not happened, might easily have taken place. 
Thus referring the rest to the next occasion, 

"And with humble duty, &e. 
"ROBERT ROW ES."  

II. 

COMPOSITION BETWEEN MORTON AND MS ENE3IIES.—Page 43. 

Lord II unsdon's letter from Berwick to Lord Burghley, referred 
to in the text, and preserved in the British Museum, Caligula, C. v. 
fol. 101, gives some interesting particulars of the composition be-
tween Morton and his powerful opponents.. It is as follows :— 

HuNsDoN TO BURGULEY. 
"BERWICK, August 19, 1578. 

" My very good Lord—I will no£ trouble your Lordship NI ith 
any long discourse touching this matter in Scotland." 

Hunsdon then refers Burghley to Mr Bowes' letter, " who," 
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he says, " has the greatest merit in bringing 	about peace : 
otherwise there bad been such a slaughter as would not • have 
been appeased in Scotland these many years, the malice of the 
lords and their adherents, especially the Warden's' of Tevydalo 
and the Morse and their bands, which was their -greatest force 
against Morton, was so great and so desirous of revenge. 	They 
of the Morse made them a standard of blue sarcenet, and in it 
a child painted within a grate, with this speech out of his mouth, 
, Liberty I crave, and cannot it have.' 	They seemed to tuiswer 
under it, ' Either you shall have it, or wo will die for it; so as 
though their malice to Morton was their quarrel indeed, yet they 
made the detaining of the King their colour. 

" My Lord, the Queen's Maj: hath now both sides at her devo-
tion, and the party of Atholl and Argyle more in show than the 
King's; for the King,'s side terms the others Englishmen, because 
they were contented to put the whole of their causes to her Majesty, 
which the other lords, being required of Mr Bowes to do the like, 
Morton utterly refused the same, 'saying that the K. and his 
Council would end them. But if Mr Bowes' travel, and some other 
means, had not taken place, it was very like that Morton had been 
hard bested; for although the King's side were something more in 
number, yet were the others better chosen men, far better horsed 
and armed, and, besides, few of them but, either for their own 
causes or their friends, bare Morton a deadly hatred and sour de-
sire of revenge, which was but in few of the King's side against any 
of the other lords. I pray God her Majesty do so deal now, having 
both sides at her devotion, as she may keep them both; -which 
surely she may easily do, if she will, 

"The King bath sent her Majesty a east of Falcons. ' I would be 
glad that her Majesty would remember him with some token. 

"Thus have I troubled, &c. &c. &c.,. 
"F. HusnoN." 

III. 
DESTRUCTION OF THE HOUSE OF HAMILTON HY MORTON IN 1579. 

Page 53. 

The following letter of Captain Nicholas Arrington to Lord 
Burghley, describes his negotiations with the young King, and the 
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deep feeling of hatred and revenge which animated so many of 
the nobility against the house of Hamilton. 	It is preserved in the 
British Mnseum,,Caligtda, C. v. fol. 130. 

NICIIOLAS ARIUNGTON TO BtrnmuLEI-. 
• 

"BERWICK, Mk October, 1579. 

"Right Honourable—Having given my attendance, as well at 
Stirling as at Edinburgh, these twenty-six days, for answer of the 
King to such letters and instructions- as I had to deliver and deal 
in from the Queen's Highness my Sovereign with the King there; 
and having used my duty and diligence there to my simple know-
ledge, as well to the King himself as to the whole board and 
nobility, 	" 	* 	I have now received the King's letters in answer, 
which I send herewith to your hononr, as also a letter to her 
Highness froth the Earl of Morton, &c. 	Yet, in using such con- 
ference with his Grace, as her Majesty's letters and instructions 
did lead me unto, touching the Hamiltons, I could not find in 
the King other than fervent hatred against them, and as it were a 
fear he had of them, if they should remain or inhabit within that 
realm, to be dangerous to his person. 	I found the like devotion 
of the whole nobility there towards them, and not willing to pity 
their cause; and thought not only discourtesy in receiving them 
in England, but as much in soliciting their causes, being so odious 
murderers to the King's dearest friends; yet seeming to be grate-
ful of her Majesty's good [will] in forewarning the danger that 
might 	happen to the King's estate by their banishment into 
foreign countries, being of so great a house and quality. 	' 
Touching the present state of that country, the King bath not 
been directly moved by the Council, or any number of Councillors 
or noblemen together, for nny marriage with any particular person. 
Yet it is thought that, as there be several factions in that matter, 
so every one of them seeketh to persuade the K. to marry in that 
place that may be best for their own purpose; wherein some look 
for France, some for Spain, some for Denmark ; and it is said the 
matter will be offered to the Queen shortly, with request to dispose 
himself such way as shall be found most convenient for his mar-
tin,4o ; and it seems that the K., of his own inclination, best net!' 
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and affecteth to match with.  England in marriage, in case he may 
find her Majesty favourable to him. 

"Touching Monsieur de Aubig,ny, it appeareth that the King is 
much delighted with his company, and he is like to win to special 
favour; and not only to be Earl of Lennox in reversion, (after the 
Earl present,) but also to have some part of the Hamilions' lands, 
if he may be drawn to religion. 	Ile bath not, as yet, dealt 
in any matter of marriage with the King, nor in any matter of 
great weight, but defers all those things to further time. Ire means 
to abide in Scotland this Winter. 	his wife is looked for there, 
with her younger brother Andracks. He lives in Court more than 
his living will bear, as is thought; whereupon some judges he is 
borne with some greater than himself. 	Ile bath many followers, 
as Mr Henry Ker and others, that are much suspected; which 
they perceive, causing them to ho more wary to meddle in any-
thing as yet. 

"This Parliament holds at Edinburgh, the 20th of this month, 
which is thought chiefly for these causes: for the forfeiture of the 
Hamiltons and Sir James Balfour ; for the confirmation of all 
things done in the Regent's times during the King's minority; and 
for order to be done in the King'S house and revenues. 	The 
heartburn and hatred betwixt the Earl of Morton and the Kern 
and the Humes, who depend upon Argyle, Montrose, and that 
fellowship, still continuoth. 

"The Kingis generally well loved and obeyed of both sides, and 
of all the 'people. 	Thus craving pardon for my evil scribbling, 
using more another weapon than the pen, I do commit your honour 
to the pre'orvation of the Almighty. 	. 

" NrcTIOLAS ARRINGTON."  

• nr. 

POISONINI OP THE EARL or ATHOLL, AND STATE OF PARTIES IN 

SCOTLAND.—Page M. 

The two following letters, which arc printed from the originals 
in the Bowes' Papers, relate to the state of the country immediately 
after the (lentil of the Earl of Atholl :— 
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• . 	. 
LETTER FROM AN ANONYMOUS CORRESPONDENT Or SIR GEORGE 

BOWES. 	Dated, 29th April, 1570 
" The spirit of the Lord Jesus be with you for salutation. 
" I wrote to you before, the day and date of the Earl of Atholl 

Acid, qidtilk2  was the 24th of this instant April. 
" He was opened and bowelled on Sunday, and it is plainly said 

he was poisoned, for so they perceive when he was opened. 	The • 
Earl of .Montrose and the Baillie of Arrol is left chief councillors 
to the Earl of Atholl's son, quhilk3  is eighteen years old. 

" His father has given him in command to keep friendship with 
all them that ho was iu friendship withal before. 

" There is great strife and debate quhilk should be Chancellor ; 
but the Earl of Argyle has gotten the grant.of it at the King. 

" Morton is at Castle Semple with Boyd, and has ane enterprise 
upon the namiltous, at least seems so ; but all is falsetto he means. 

" To this 'effect, Captain Crawford is to take up ane hundred 
men, and Captain Hume ane other hundred ; but I think my Lord 
of Atholl's deid shall make them run a new course. 

" Ye shall surely know that Atholl'a fellowship will not leave 
the common cause; and, therefore, I think ye shall hear of some 
alteration shortly. 

" Our name and the Kers is lying at wait what shall be enter-- 
prised. 	I wrote to you before we shall never be Morton's. 

"It is thought that Argyle shall take Atholl's place plain upon him, 
and begin whore he left; and Montrose will be a spur to the same. 

" We are surely informed that the King of Denmark has levied 
six thousand men to come on Orkney and Shetland : by whose 
means this is done I wrote to you before in my last letter. 

" The Earl of Angus remains at Tantallon. 
" The Court is very quiet at this time. 	I pray Clod preserve 

our King, for he is in great hazard: for if they begin the Italian 
fashion in the King's house, what good shall we look for so long 
as he is there ? Surely, I fear me, if he be not gotten out of their 
bands, they will the like with him. 	As I hear farther, you shall 
be advertised. 

" Written the 29th April, 1579. 	Your loving friend, 
" 4O 

1  Flom the BoWes' MSS. Orig. 	* Death, which. 
' Quhilk—which, for wh ). 	' Falsett, falmehood. 
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. 	. 	. 	. 
Lurrurt Or INTELFIGENCkill103.1 AN ANONY*OrSCORRIIStONDENT 

. TO SIR GI:AIRGE BOWES. 	 . 
" Sir;—Albeit the' time hath been shor,t since .your departure, 

the accidents and mutations in• this realm hath not bden of small 
importance. 	As I wrote to yon of before, that the Earl of Atholl* 
his sickness was thonghtio,be mortal,: so is ho now &patted this 
present life, at Kincardine, the 2oth of' April, not without great 
suspicion, and a crying out that be was poisoned. 	And .yet I think, 
with time, that bruit will vanish, notwithstanding that the Lord.of 
Aratully,1  whose name is Stewart, was by the-Earl of Montrose, 
and the remanent friends that was present when -the -.corpse was 
opened, sent to the King's Majesty, humbly requiring for trial 
mini punishment. 	Tft whom his Majesty answered,—Gill"-  that 
matter were true, it concerned himself for divers respects ; and 
yet, as it were a shame to him to leave the matter untried, and 
gif need required unpunished,—so were it ane sin to slander any 
innocent personage : and therefore he would not fail, first to take 
trial, and thereafter to proceed to punishment. 

"The hail3  friends of the dead are convened at Dunkelden on the 
:_;(1. of May, where the young Earls of Atholl and Montrose put in 
deliberation what were best way to come by ane revenge of this 
heinous fact. 

" It bath been concluded with that assembly, that not only those 
which were present should crave justice of this matter at the 
King's Majesty, but also all the sociats of the Falkirk should he 
convened to crave the same. 	Upon this conclusion, a convention 
of the foresaids is appointed to be at Edinburgh upon the 15th 
May; but I ant of opinion that this their appointed diet shall not 
hold, in respect of the causes subsequent. 

" Upon the 1st May, a matter, before concluded, was put in CXP- 
cutiou. 	Letters was directed by the King and Council to charge 
the Lords of Arbroath and Paisley to exhibit their brother, the Earl 
of Arran, before the King in Stirling, upon the 20th of the said 
mouth; which letters was only devised to put the said lords in 
hot e that no further shall proceed against them but by the order 
aforesaid. 

" The Earl of Morton before that time was sent to Dalkeith, the 
Earl of Angus to Douglas, the Earl of Lennox to Cllasgow, the 

1  Grantully. 	 * If. 	 3 Whole. • 
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• • 	 . . 	 . 
Loid Ruthven 'to Stirling; all. these persons havingtheir forces 
privately warned upon the 3d of Mn,l marched towards Hamilc. 
ton and Draffnage, where they made their rendezvous before their 
setting forward. -The twae brother- I ,  was fled away, and left, the 
house garnished ; which are now t nclosed, and ready to be 
given up. 	. 	.' 	 . 	. 

• "Immediately after the said lords was upon the Ada to press 
towards Hamilton, when they were certain that no intelligence 
could prevent their- doings, proclamation was sent forth by the 

• King and Council, at air hour proclaimed in divers shoriffdoms, , 
tb follow thci same lords fo-i prosecuting and apprehending of the 
two foresail brethren and .their compliees. 	* 	* 	* 

"This sudden and unexpected dealing and prOceeding, is like to 
put sucti affray in the minds of the associates at Falkirk, that 
their appointed diet for meeting at Edinburgh shall turn to great-
uncertainty. 

" Besides tlds, the Lord Seton is charged to appear peisonally dt 
Stirling, upon the 6th day hereof, to answer super inquirendis ; 
where he is, for divers respects, to be committed to ward. 

"John Seton, second son to the said lord, arrived in this country 
upon the 2d of May. 	Ile is created Cavalier° de Rocca of the 
Catholic King of Spain. 	But I believe this commission shall be 
of :the less efficacy, that his father is now by chance happened in 
the midst of these troubles. 	* 	* 	By fame nobody is charged 
with this heinous fact of poisott but the Lady Mar, and her brother 
the Comptroller, quhilk 2  is thought shall be after trial evanished ; 
because divers does believe, that this bruit hath rather proceeded 
upon malice to found ano quarrel upon, nor upon any sure ground_ 
Ye may, by yourself, consider that all these matters tends to this 
tine,3  to bring the King to Edinburgh out of fear. 	* 	* 	The 
rulers of his affairs and person are looked for to be these : the 
Earls.Morton, Buchan, Argyle, gift he will leave the associates; 
and Montrose in like manner, and the Lord Rutliven. 	It is 
thought, that w, at the King's desire, shall bo 5  accept upon hint 
the office of Chancellor; and failing of that, it is in question be- 

- 

1  The two brothers. 	2  Quhilk, which. 	3  Fine, end. 
' Gif, if. 

So in the original. 	The writer had meant to score out be, but forpt. 
VOL. VIII. 	 2 E 
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twist Argyle and Buchan, of thir twae 1  whay shall be thought 
meetest by the King and Council. 

"I write only unto you nudant et veram; historiant, leaving to 
your own judgment to discourse what shall follow ; whilk is able 
enough to do, in respect that all the affairs of this country is better 
to you known nor by writing can be explained. 

"I have had large conference with w,2  which I cannot at this 
time commit to writing. 	It appeareth that he is in part offended 
with some proceedings, but yet easily mitigate, gif the, great word 
to you known shall be spoken. 

" The Flemish painter is in Stirling, in working of the King's 
portraiture, but expelled forth of the place at the beginning of 
thir troubles. 	I am presently travelling to obtain him license to 
see the King's presence thrice in the day, till the end of his work; 
qubilk will be no sooner perfected nor nine days, after the obtain- 
ing of this license." 	* 	* 	* 

JAMES' LETTER TO MARY: Page 75. 

In the State Paper Office, there is an original letter of the 
young King, written at this time to his mother the captive Queen. 
Mary had sent him a ring; and the little ape which appears in 
the postscript, whose fidelity he so 'much commends, was perhaps 
also a present from her. 

The letter of James is as follows :— 

JA.MES VI. TO 1lAny QUEEN OF F.!coT5.3  
" Je veils supplie tres humblement de croire quo ce tea poinct esto 

de ma bonne vollonte que vostre segetaire s'en soit retorne sens 
quil m'aye donne vostre lettre, et faict entendre ce que lily avies 
commence de me dire ayent treu beaucoup de regret do ce qui 
fen est passe, car je serois infiuiment facile quo long crust que jo 
no vons voulu se porter Plionneur of le devoir que je vous doibs, 

1 Thir twae, these two. 
2  Morton is here meant, I think. 	What the "great wool" was which the 

writer thinks would operate like a talionan on this proud and able peer, is 
not easily discovered. 

3  29th January, 1580-1. 
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ayant esperense pie avecque le temps Dieu me fera grace de vous 
faire prendre de ma bonne et affectionne amyt6e, sachent asses 
qu'apres luy tout l'honneur qu'ay ence monde, je le tiens de vous. 

"Je resceu In Lague pill vous a pleu m'envoyer laquelle je gar- 
deray Bien pour rhonneur de vous. 	Et vous en envoye une aultre, 
que je vous supplie treshumblement de vouloir resevoir daussy bon 
cueur commo je resceue la vostre. 	Vous m'aves Lien faict pa- 
roistre par les avertisemens quil vous a pleu me fairo par vos 
derrieres lettres, combion vous metes bonne mere. 	Vous supplient 
treshumblement que sy en .endendes davantage de men advertir 
pour y mettre ordre le mieulk qui' me sera possible, aquoy je 
desja counnense ainsi quentendres par le Compte de Lenox, vous 
supplient de m'y estre aydonte et de me donner vostre bon. conseil 
et advis lequel je veulx ensuyire a celle. 	De vous rendre plus 
certain quen toute chose on it vous plaira de me commender vous 
me trouverez toujours vostre tres oboissant filz. 	Vous baisent tres 
humblemenfles mains prient Dieu, &c. 

" Vostre obeisant Filz a jamais, 
"JACQUES R.1  

"Madame, je vous recommende la Fidelite de mon petit singe qui 
ne bouge daupres de moy, par lequel me manderes dotivent de noz 
nouvelles. 
• " A la Royne D'Escosse, 

" Matres Honoree Dame." 

VI. 

RANDOLPII'S NEGOTIATION IN SCOTLAND, AND ELIZADETII's 
ATTEMPT TO SAVE MORTON.—Page 89. 

The following letter of Randolph to Walsingham, written im-
mediately before his leaving that country, after his unsuccessful 
attempt to save Morton, and the abstract from his original ac-
count of his negotiation upon this subject, contain many interesting 
particulars, too detailed and minute for a general history. 

1  This signature and the postscript are written in the young King's own 
hand. 
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RANDOLPH TO WALSYSGIIAM. I  
. 	, 

" May it please your Honour—There is so much matter fallen 
out against Morton, as I am credibly-  informed, by the confession 
of Whittingham brother to Archibald Douglas, George Fleck, 
Andrew Nesbit, John Reid, and Saunders Jerdan, that it is 
thought nothing can now save his life. The King's self is so vehe-
ment against him, and not ono Councillor that dare open his mouth 
for him. 	All men are appalled ; courage and stomach quite over- 
thrown. 	His enemies pursue these matters hot against him, and 
his friends able to do him no good: 	Neither can I yet be parti- 
cularly informed of the matters they have against, him. 	I think 
his clays will not be long here ; and yet have I wrought for, hum, 
and yet do for him, as for mine own self. 	The good course that 
was intended for meeting of Commissioners is now smally accounted 
of ; alleging now that nothing less was intended than that Morton's 

'case should be committed to treaty. 	Your Honour bath now both 
to consider and advise what is to be done, and that with all ex- 
pedition. 	* 	* 	* 

* 	* 	I have been here so well dealt with, that, besides the 
libel set upon my lodging's door on Wednesday last, I had a shot 
bestowed on tho window of my chamber, in the place whore I ant 
wont to sit and write. 	My good hap was to be away when it was 
shot, otherwise either Mulles or I had been past writing ; for the 
piece being charged with two bullets, struck the wall opposite 
before me, and behind him, where I am accustomed to sit, the.table 
between Us. 	Some show of search is made for fashion's sake. 
The rest I have written to my Lord Hunsdon, &c. 	And so. 
Edinburgh, 2.5th March, 1581.' 	 KT, R." 

3frt RANDOLPH'S NEGOTIATION IN SCOTLAND.'- 

"17th January, R. took his journey into Scotland from Berwick. 
"By the way, he received word ofMorton's being removed from 

' Orig., 25th March, 1581. 
t The orighlal paper, of which this is an abstract, appears to me to ho is 

the handwriting of one of Walsingham's clerks. 
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Edinburgh Castle to Dumbarton Castle, which made him hasten • 
forward. 	Next day after his arrival, he had au audience of the 
King. 	The King promised Morton should be put to his trial. 

"2d Audience, 21st January.—The King promised that nothing 
should be done against Morton, without open trial and lawful 
favour. 	About this time came the bruit of her MajOsty's forces 
about the Borders; this gave him [Randolph] greater boldness 
to proceed both with the King and against D'Aubigny. 

"3d Audience, 25th January.—R. charged some of the Scottish 
Council with breaking the amity, especially Lennox; and produced 
two intercepted letters written by the B. of Glasgow :—Lennox 
warmly defended himself. 	He gave copies of the letters, and 
demanded a speedy reply. 	All this time the report a the forces 
on the Borders continued. 

"4th Audience, 30th January.—The King begged to hear any 
further matter against Lennox. 	After this the Ambassador began 
to deal according to the third part of his instructions; to deal with. 
such of the nobility as came unto him; to represent the hazard 
to the King's person, and the danger to themselves (intending to 
make out a party in this way, fit to join with her Majesty's forces.) 
At first lie had good hope; but finding that, day by day, the King 
grow more affectionate to the one and aggravated against the 
other, they all began to fail.; and `no man seemed willing either 
to enterprise it himself, or join with others in this action.' 	As these 
things were tlms underhand in brewing, the King sent his answer 
by a Clerk of the Council. 

"1st. that Morton's trial was delayed for want of Archibald Dou- 
glas. 	 _ 

"2d. The matter against Lennox seemed to be forged. 
"After this, the King assembled the General Estates of the realm, 

the matter being weighty, on the 20th February. 	The interval 
gave R. time to labour privately with the nobility, representing 
the greatness of Aubigny his offences against Elizabeth, and the 
danger to themselves. 	He also, in a private access to the King, 
laid before hitn his estate at large : the King took all well. 

"All this time the Earl of Lennox made private means to speak 
with Randolph, standing still upon his purgation, which (being 
so commanded) he still resisted, which, notwithstanding grieved 
him [Randolph] much, as he understood a reconciliation was about 
to be wrought between Lennox and Morton, and the King approved 
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of it; and was to have gone to Glasgow the better to contrive the 
matter ; 'albeit that purpose took not effect ; for Morton's friends, 
esteeming this course dishonourable, broke it off.' 

"It was next determined to send Lord Seton from the King to 
her Maj. 

"This staid by Randolph. 	 • 
"The bruit of the gathering of English forces on the Borders 

continuing, it was determined to appoint a Lieutenant and 12 
Captains, with commissions to levy 120 men. 

"All this time, as matters grew worse, Mr Randolph omitted 
not underhand to procure a party, labouring by all means to make 
Morton's. case fearful unto them, and the greatness of Lennox 
cdious ; alluring them by promises of Elizabeth's support. 	Not- 
withstanding all, vel preee vel pretio, though many seemed forward, 
no man would he foremost,—no assurance could be had except on 
Angus, Mar, and Glencairn. 	They said also, there was a -want 
of sufficient proof of the matters with which Lennox was charged 
withal. 

" On the other hand, the friends of Lennox were not idle, and 
made a great impression, urging, that Elizabeth's injustice and 
severity against an innocent man, showed she hid more in view 
than the trial of Morton and the dismissal of D'Aubigny. 
• "At last, the 20th February, the' day of the Convention, ar- 
rived. 	R. before it had a private conference with the King, and 
lie obtained an audience of the whole Assembly on the 24th Feb-
ruary, when he repeated all his'messago and arguments,--showed 
all that the Queen had done for the realm and the King, in a 
speech of almost two hours length,—added some further matter 
against D'Aubigny contained in Ross letter, and so left the Par- 
liament House. 	D'Aubigny at that Assembly said nothing. 

" To this assembly came Angus, with his friends, having all the 
time before kept himself aloof, (be had assurance from the King,) 
spending the day within doors, and the night in the fields, for fear 
of his enemies: but as it fortuned, his abode was nob long in 
Edinburgh; for being secretly advised of certain practices intended 
against him by the Earl of Montrose and his own wife, upon the 
intercepting of certain letters passed between them, suddenly, in 
the night, lie departed the town unto Dalketh ;where, finding his 
wife, and after speech with her, lie in due time prevented the 
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In i -cli ief, acquainted the King with the matter dealing. by Mar, who-
abode still in Court, and sent her away home unto her father.' 

"The Convention held not long. 	It was agreed, if war came 
from England, 40,000 L. Scots should be advanced by the barons 
and boroughs. 	Every day bred a new disorder. 	The bruit of 
wars grew stronger, Wien stirring in all parts,—thd ambassador 
grew odious and his death suspected, and the Court in a manner 
desperate. 	For all this, ho forbore not to call for his answer : 
the Council was perplexed, and. Lennox still stood up to his justi-
fication. 

" Morton. abode still at Dumbarton, straitlier kept than before, 
(although Lis larger liberty was craved by the ambassador.) Angels 
absented himself from the Court ; and being suspected of dealing 
with the ambassador, made Lennox; Montrose, and Argyle, and 
that party, stand on their guard. 	The party from the first got up 
by the ambassador yet hung in doubt ; but Angus was weakened 
by the late accident. 	Montrose and Rothes became Lis deadly 
enemies, and all went wrong. 

" 8th March. 	The answer so long in framing was at last given 
by the King. 	It was stated in it, that all griefs and jealousies 
should be healed by a meeting of commissioners on the frontiers. 
During the time that this ansWer was aframing, the ministers, who 
continually in their sermons preached against the disorders of the 
Court to prevent the wrath of God that now seemed to be immi-
nent, published a general fast, to be held through the realm from 
the first Sunday in March to the second of the same. 	This pro- 
mised meeting of commissioners on the Borders might have been 
to good purpose, had it not been for the discovery of the practices 
between Angus and the ambassador, by Angus and M6rton's own 
servants, which caused the ambassador to be greatly suspected and 
disliked. 	Whereupon all persons were examined that resorted to 
him, viz. George Fleck the laird of Mains, the laird of Spot, 
John Reid, and Whittitigham,2  all servants and nearest kinsmen 
to Morton and Angus. 	Angus himself was banished beyond the 
Spey. 	He laboured, notwithstanding, by conference with the 
claus,his friends Glencairn, Boyd, Lochleven, Clanquill, Dryburgh, 
and Drumqubassel, to combine together a sufficient party to join 
with her Majesty's forces on the Borders; and might have wrought 

' Her father was Mar. 	2  Douglas of Whittiughant. 
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good effect, had not their own trustiest servants betrayed them, 
overthrowing all their purposes, to the great danger of themselves 
and Mr Runde10. 	The faithless and traitorous dealing of Whit-
tingham was most noted, like a deep dissembler and fearful wretch. 
From the beginning, having had the handling and .knowledge of 
all matters of importance and secrecy between Angus and the 
rest, in the end, without compulsion, by a voluntary confession he 
discovered their whole proceedings, not regarding his nearness of 
blood, or bond of duty to the Earls of Angus and Morton, or the 
danger he threw the other noblemen into. 	This man's treachery 
made Angus be put to the horn, and the ambassador -ill bandied. . 
The King upon this intending to acquaint Elizabeth with the result 
of the confe4sions by an envoy, and proceeding with greater seve- 
rity against Angus, Morton, and Mar. 	Fund°1ph, finding his 
longer abode useless, and daugerons.to himself, retired to Berwick, 
there to await her Majesty's further orders. 	Within two days a 
gentleman from Angus and Mar came to him to declare their 
state, and wishing to know when and where they were to await 
his coming. 	But finding their party not sufficiently strong nor 
trustworthy, it was thought imprudent to hazard the advance of 
her Majesty's forces; and so the messenger was dismissed.. Thus 
were they deserted. 	In the meantime, news came daily of their 
proscription, and seizing their houses, summoning of Stirling Castle 
held by Mar, fortifying Leith,—at last they,heard that Mar was 
reconciled, and Angus left alone. 	b"uch being the state of matters, 
it was thought best to discharge her Majesty's forces, to remain in 
these terms of divorce, and to call Mr Randolph home." 1  

It appears, in the above account of Randolph's negotiation, al-
though I have not given the passage in the abstract, that at one 
time there was a proposal for a reconciliation between Lennox 
and Morton, on conditions which the King approved of. 	The 
following paper shows that these conditions were of the most 
severe nature, imprisonment for life being the first:

I Original, Gth May. 	. 
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CONDITIONS OFFERED BY TILE KING TO 111QRTON AND 
ARCHIBALD DOUGLAS.-16th May. . 

" Angus to move his uncle— 	 . 
"1. That. be ;hall be confined for life. 
" 2. That theEarl of Morton and A.D.' shall renounce all actions 

for goods taken from them since 29th December last. 
" 3. That he shall give up Dalkeith to the King for ever. 
" 4. Renounce his right to the castle of Blackness, mid sheriff-

ship and lands of Linlithgow, to the King. 
" 5. Give np the office of Admiralty and sheriffship of Lothian 

to the King. 
" 6. -Caust3 his base son James, Prior of Pluscardine, give the 

Priory to Lord Seaton. 
" 7. Pay the whole charges of the soldiers levied since last 

December. 	_ 	. 
" 8. Pay to the King a 100 stone weight of bullion, coined with • 

out warrant during his regency." 

VII. 

LETTERS ON THE TROUBLES, TRIAL, AND DEATH OF THE 
REGENT Monto.x.—Page 79. 

The following interesting letters, relative to the troubles, trial, 
and death of the Regent Morton, are taken from the originals pre- 
,.erved in the Harleian Collection in the British Museum. 	The 
volume of the Harleian is No. 6999, to which my attention was 
drawn by the Rev. Joseph Stevenson. 

Stu R. BOWES TO LORD BUROIILEY AND SIR FRANCIS 
WALSINGRAM.--Jaututry 7, 1580-1. 

"It may please your good Lordship and your Honour. Yesterday 
Mr Archibald Douglas came out of Tyvedale hither, openly to 
Berwick, to seek her Majesty's relief to the Earl of Morton in his 
present distress, and her Highness' succour to himself." 	* 	* 	* 

He had offered himself for trial, if .they would give him a fair 
trial and 'exempt him from the torture which was threatened, but 

1  Archibald Douglas. 
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finding his house seized, and his goods and papers seized, Le I 9(1 
fled to Berwick. 	* 	* 	* 	* 

" My servant, lately addressed into Scotland to learn the certainty 
of these now accidents, returned- yesternight, giving me to under-
stand, that on Saturday the last of December, as before bath been 
signified, Captain James Stewart, with the privity and especial 
commandment of the King, and in the Council-chamber in the 
presence of the King and that Council, accused the Earl of Morton 
for the murder of the King's father; not opening particularly at 
that time any other offence against him, as once was intended, and 
as is pretended to be done hereafter. 	After large discourse made 
by the Earl for his own acquittal, he concluded, and with such 
sharp words, against the Captain his accuser, as, the Captain re-
turning to him like and bitter terms, they were ready to pass to . 
blows, which was chiefly stayed by the Lords Lindsay and Cath-
cart ; and the Earl was removed into the chapel to his own servants, 
and the• Captain put out at the other door to the gardens; others 
that Waited there in great numbers, looked for the beginning of 
the broil. 	Albeit many friends and servants of the Earl, being a. 
great strength, and able to have delivered him at his pleasure, per-
suaded the Earl to put himself in safety; yet he refused to tarry 
with them, and returned to the Council. And James Stewart, under-
standing of his presence there, rushed in again, whereupon a new 
scuffle begun, that was likewise stayed by the Lords aforesaid; and 
hereupon all the Earl's servants and friends wore commanded, upon 
pain of treason, to depart, and whereunto the Earl commanded 
them to obey. 

" The Earl of Argyle Lord Chancellor, (the chief instrument 
against 	Morton,) asked the Earl of Angus, 	then sitting in 
Council with them, what should be done ; but Angus alleging 
that the matter did so narrowly touch and concern him, as he 
would not vote therein. 	Likewise the Earl of Lennox refused to 
vote. 	At length the Earl of Eglinton persuaded that the King's 
Advocate and Council might be conferred withal ; which advocate 
being ready, affirmed, that upon such accusations of treasons, the 
party accused ought to be committed to sure custody, and after- 
wards tried as to the laws and case should appertain. 	Where-
upon the Earl of Morton was committed to a chamber in Holy-
roodhouse, and there kept until the next Monday, on which lie 
was conveyed to the Castle of Edinburgh, where he remaineth. 
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The town of Edinburgh, and many others, offered liberally for 
his delivery ; nevertheless he always refused to be delivered in 
any sort, other than by the order of the laws. 	Mr John Craig, 
in his sermon on the Sunday following, did, npon the leading of 
his text, inveigh greatly against false accusations, 	Whereupon 
Captain James Stewart, as it is informed for truth, threatened him 
with his dagger drawen, charging him to forbear to touch him; 
or otherwise he should receive his reward. 	* 	* 	The Lord 
Boyd, accused also for the murder of the King's father, is sum-
moned to appear, and not yet corned. 

" It is said Sir James Balfour bad come out of France. 	* 	* 	* 
It is now thought as dangerous in Scotland •to confer with nn 
Englishman, as to rub on the infected with the plague. 	' 	.4' 	* 

" ROBERT BOWES." 

RANDOLPII TO LORDS HUNSDON AND HUNTINGDON.*  

a  EDIMICR011, 16th Mara, 1580-1. 
The first portion of the letter is unimportant. 	He then proceeds 

as follows :— 
" Angus' intent I know not. 	Yesterday it was determined in 

Council he should be commanded to ward beyond the river of 
Spey. 	Carmichael, and the Prior, and Mains, are commanded not 
to come at Angus, on pain of forfeiture of their goods, ipso facto; 
and means is made to apprehend them, but yet none of them are 
taken. 	The Laird of Whittingham is boasted to wear the boots, 
but I hear it will not be so. 	Spot bath had a sight of them, as I 
hear. 	* 	* 	All the Court is set ou mischief. 	Captain Stewart 
taketh upon him as a prince, and no man so forward as Ito. 	I 
spike, on Tuesday, long with the King. 	There passed nothing on 
his part from him, but very good speeches of her Maje,ty, which 

.I exhorted him to show forth in actions and in deed. 	Ile pro- 
miseth much if the meeting of the commissioners be. 	I charged 
more his Council than himself of the unkindness lately showed 
unto the Q. my mistress, that no one point of her requests could 
be yielded, specially for the Earl of Morton, that was, [not] so much 
as his liberty upon sufficient caution, until the day were appointed 
for his 'trial, might be granted. 	Whereat he fell again in speech 
of Mr Archibald Douglas; and I answered him with partial deal- 

. 
I Ihrleian, 6.999. 
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ings, and favour showed to Sir James Balfour. I told him in what 
house he halt in, between the Church and Castle, upon the 
right baud. 	I told who bad spoken with him,—Lennox, Seten, 
and others ; and that means would be made shortly to bring him 
into his own presence. 	I spake again of the Land in the grecin 
bar, containing the names of all the chief persons consenting to 
the King's murder, which Sir James either bath, or can tell of. 
I told him that I heard daily of now men apprehended, examined, 
and boasted with the boots, to find matter against the Earl of 
Morton ; and he that was privy to the murder, and in whose house 
the King was killed, and was therefore condemned by Parliament, 
was suffered to live unpunished and;untouched, in his chief and 
principal town." 	* 	* 'Randolph then states that he asked leave 
to depart from Scotland, adding, that after anothei farewell inter-
view with the King, he hoped " it would ho the last that ho ever 
should have to do with that King anal Council." " I have again this 
day spoken with Angus's trusty friend, who gave mo some notes 
touching the Bands, and is gone unto him. 	I have given therein 
my advice. 	What will be farther done I know not; but sure I mn 
Angus will not obey the charge for putting himself in ward. * * " 
George Fleck had yesternight the boots, and is said to have confessed 
that the Earl of Morten was privy to the poisoning of the Earl of 
Atholl, whereon they have sent for the Earl of Morton's chamber- 
lain, Sandy Jordan, from Dumbarton. 	They have also in hand 
Sandy 	George Fleck's 	 they suppose to know —L., 	 servant, whom 
many of Morton's secrets, &c.--Your L., 	• 	- 

"THOMAS RANDOLPH."  

RANDOLPH TO LORD HUNSDON. 

. 	"March 20, 1500-l. • 
" Whatsoever was intended by my Lord Angus is discovered* 

by the voluntary confession of the Laird of Whittingham, that 
bath left nothing unspoken that he knew against any man, and 
much more than any man would have done upon so small occasion 
at all to sty anything, being neither offered the boots, nor other 
kind of torment. The ministers have seen it, and in their sermons 
hive God great thanks therefor. 

" The enterprise should have been (as they say) to have taken 
the house where the King lieth, by forged keys, and intelligence 
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by some within, to have slain the Earl of Lenox, Montrose, and 
Argyle,. and to have possessed themselves of the King to have 
sent him into England. 	Albeit these things have so small appear-
ance:of truth to have been intended indeed, as, for mine own part, 
I mean.to suspend my judgment thereof till further trial be bad." 
" He bath also confessed that 170 was hero, with the Earl of Angus, 
tit my lodging, and what passed between us. 	" 	* 	I think it 
will fall out that George Fleck bath played as honest a part 
against his master as Whittiugham bath done for the Earl of 
Angus, for be bath been so sore booted. 	But his legs serve him 
well enough to walk up and down, which I know to be true. 

" Poor Sandy Jerdan came yesterday to this town, from Dum-
barton, and is lodged near:to the Court : one on whom the bur-
den is laid to Lave ministerel the bread and drink that poisoned 
A troll. So accused by Afileck. What is done to him, I know not. 

"The suspicion of this poisoning of the Earl of Atholl is thought 
to be great, for that it is said John Provend bought it. 	And he 
is fled thereupon, .no man knowing whore he is. 	* 	* 	* 
Robert Semple, for the making of a ballad, is taken and put in 
prison. 	Robert Lekprevik, for the printing thereof, is also fled, 
but not found. 	* 	* 	* 	* 

" THOMAS RANDOLPH." 

SIR JOHN FOSTER TO SIR F. WALSINGIIA31.1  

" I'leasit your Honour to be advertised, that this day a man of 
mine, whom I sent into Scotland about certain business, is returned 
unto me with certain news, whereof I think my Lord of Hunsdon 
bath already written unto you ; but, notwithstanding, I thought I 
could do no less but advertise your Honour thereof. 	That is, of the 
death of the Earl of Morton, who was convicted on Thursday, and 
adjudged to be hanged, drawn, and quartered on Friday. 	And 
there was twenty-two articles put against him ; but there was none 
that hurt him but the murder of the King, which was laid unto 
him by four or five sundry witnesses. 	The first is the Lord Both- 
well's testament. 	The second, Mr Archibald Douglas, when he 
was his man. 	Mr Archibald Douglas' man is the accuser of him, 
that bare a barrel of powder to the blowing up of the King into 

. 
I Orig. 4th June, 1581. 	Alum ick. 
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the air, and that for haste to come away, the said Mr Archibald 
Douglas left one of his pantafles at the house end. 	And, more- 
over, he was convicted for the speaking with the Lord Bothwell 
after his banishment in England bef9re the King's murder, and 
then the consenting to the' murdering of the King, and the bind-
ing his band of manrent to the said Lord Bothwell to defend him, 
and no person to be excepted. 	And the Queen's confession when 
she was taking at Carberrie Hill. 	She said he was the principal 
man that was the deed doer and the drawer of that purpose. Thus 
having none other news worthy of advertisement to send unto 
your Honour at this time, I humbly take my leave, at my house, 
nigh Alnwick, this 4th June, 1581. 

" Jour/ FOSTER. 
" P.S.—The man that brought methese news came from Edin-

burgh on Friday last, at two of the clock, and then the said Earl of 
.Morton was standing on the scaffold, and it is thought the accusa-
tions that were laid against him were very slender, and that be 
died very stoutly." 	 . 

VIII. 

SCOTTISH PREACHING IN 1582. 	JOHN DURIE'S SERMON. 
Page 112. 

The sermon of Mr John Durie, alluded to in the text, is parti-
cularly described in the following extract from a letter of Sir 
henry Woddrington to Sir Francis Walsingham. 	It is preserved 
in the British Museum, Caligula, C. vii., fol. 7, and dated 28th 
May, 1582. • 

WODDRINGTON TO WALSINOTE.131. 

• 
"Upon Wednesday, being the 23d inst., Mr John Durie preached 

in the Cathedral Church of Edinburgh, where divers noblemen 
were present, the effect thereof tending to the reproof of the 
Bishop of Glasgow, as plainly terming him an apostate and man- 
sworn traitor to God and his Church. 	And that even as the Scribes 
and Pharisees could find none so meet to betray Christ as one of 
his own school and disciples, even so this Duke, with the rest of 
the faction, cannot find so meet an instrument to subvert the 
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religion planted in Scotland as one of their own number, ono cif 
their own brethren, and one nourished among their own bowels 
who likewise touched the virtuous bringing up of the King, fear-
ing now they have some device to withdraw him from the* true 
fear of God, and to follow the devices and inventions of men, 
affirming that be was moved to think so, for that ho saw all that 
were manifestly known to be enemies to the Church and religion 
to be nearest unto his person, and others that were favourers and 
maintainers thereof put off the Court, or to have small countenance 
there showed them. 	And likewise, he touched the present sent 
by the Duke of Guise to the King in these manner of speeches :— 
' I pray you what should move Guise, that bloody persecutor and 
enemy unto all truth, that pillar of the Pope, to scud this present 
by one of his trustiest servants unto our King? 	Not for any love: 
no, no,.his pretence is known. 	And I beseech the Lord the Church 
of Scotland feel it not oversoon. 	The King's Majesty was per- 
suaded not to receive it; for why ? 	What amity or friendship can 
wo look for at his hands, who bath been the bloodiest persecutor 
of the professors of the truth in all France? Neither was there ever 
any notable murder or havoc of God's people at any time in all 
France but he was at it in person ; and yet for all this, the Duke 
and .Arran will needs have our King to take a present from him. 
If God did threaten the captivity and spoil of Jerusalem because 
that their King, ilezekiah, did receive a letter and present from the 
King of Babylon, shall we think to be free committing the like, 
or rather worse? 	And because you, my Lords, which both do see 
me, and even at this present hears me,—I say; because you shall 
nut be hereafter excusable,--I tell it you with tears. 	I feel such 
confusion to be like to ensue that I fear me will be the subversion 
and ruin of the preaching of God's Evangile here in the Church of 
Scotland. 	I am the more plain with you, because I know there 
is some of you in the same action with the rest. 	I know I shall 
be called to an account for these words here spoken ; but let them 
do with this carcass of mine what they will, for I know my soul 
is in the hands of the Lord, and., therefore, I will speak, and that 
to your condemnation, unless you speedily return.' 	And then, in 
the prayers made, he prayed unto the Lord, either to convert or 
confound the Duke. 	The sermon was very long, godly, and plain, 
to the great comfort and rejoice of the most number duo la and it, 
or do hear of it." 	* 	* 	" 
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Ix. 

:Sin ROBERT BOWES TO WALSINGUAM, WRITTEN IMMEDIATELY 
PREVIOUS TO THE RAID OF RUTUVEN.-15th AIM 1582.— 
Page 122. 

The minute and accurate information of Bowes communicated 
to Wralsingham and the faction of the Protestant Lords, which 
led to the enterprise termed the Raid of Rutlwen, is proved by the 
following extract from a letter of Sir Robert Bowes to Walsingham, 
dated Durham, 15th August, 1582 :— 

. 	 • 
BOWES TO WALSINGIIAM. 

" * 	* 	* 	I;1111 informed the Duko intendetk to persuade the 
1.Sing's Majesty to commit to ward the Earls of Glencaim and 
Mar, the Lord Lindsay and Boyd, and sundry others best affected 
in religion, and lovingthe amity aforesaid; and also afterwards to 
hasten the death of the principals of them, whom I bear that he 
will not purine for the death of David the Italian, (as from France 
ye have been advertised,) but rather to charge them with late 
matter and conspiracy intended, mid to hare been pat in execu-
tion by them and their complices in the last month of July against 
the King and himself. 	And in. ease the information given me be 
true, then there is a secret intention and practice in device,—that 
after the execution' of such principal persons in Scotland as would 
be most ready to defend religion, and the apprehension and safe 
custody of others known to be chiefly devoted that way, the 
alteration of that 'state in Scotland should be attempted ;" and the 
matter to reach into England so far, and with such speed as„the 
(confederates) who practice could perform. 	Tho truth and secret 
herein May be hest learned in France, I think, from whence the 
device and direction for the execution is said to come. 	The vari- 
mice between the Duke and the Earl of Gowrie,—the progress of 
the matter against the new Bishop of Glasgow, both entreated in 
Edinburgh,—the labour of the Duke to win nobles and gentlemen 
to enter into friendship and band with him,—the purpose of some 
persons in Scotland to proceed in the provision of remedy against 
the dangerous course presently holden there,—with all other intel- 
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ligence and oceurrents in that state and realm 	* 	" 	are so suf- 
ficiently signified to you, as I need not trouble you with needless 
repetition." 	* 

The conspiracy with which Lennox meant to charge the Pro-
testant party alluded to in the above letter of Bowes, must be the 
same as that mentioned by Sir Henry Woddrington in a letter 
addressed (as I think) to WaLsingham some time before this, 
dated 19th July, 1582. 	After stating that the King was with 
the Duke at St Johnston, he observed, that "the ministers had 
accused the Duke of supporting the Bishop of Glasgow, who was 
excommunicated." He then adds, "The Duke is about to charge 
them with the late conspiracy and practice, wherein they. were 
about to have procured hint to have been shot and slain." 	C 	* 

• 

X. 	. 

ARCHIBALD DOUGLAS TO RANDOLPII.--.-Pftg0 133. 

It is stated in the text, that, on the successful issue of the Ruid 
of Ruthven, the notorious Archibald Douglas wrote from London 
an exulting letter to his old friend, Randolph. 	The, original is in 
the State-paper Office, endorsed by Randolph himself "Mr Nenzo." 
It is spirited and characteristic :— 

. 
A R CH I BA LD DOUGLAS TO RANDOLPII.-1 all Sept., 1582, London. 

" Sin,—From Scotland, by letters, I am advertised, that the 
Duke being in Edinburgh with some few lords, ho made choice of 
Iferries and Newbottle to seed the King and lords with hi. 
Majesty some offers, which were all rejected. 

" The said lords returned to Edinburgh accompanied with Cess-
ford and Coldingknows, who gave the Duke a charge to render 
the Castle of Dumbarton to the Earl of Mar, in name of the King ; 
to avoid the town of Edinburgh, and retire himself to Dalkeith or 
Aberdoub in private manner, there to await the King's farther 
pleasure. 	The Duke seeming to obey the charge, made him as 
he would ride to Dalkeith ; but in the midway he turned, and 
is fled to Dumbarton, where, I think, he shall not make great 
cheer, if he render not that castle shortly. 

• VOL. VIII. 	 6) t, 
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"The King will hold his Convention at Edinburgh upon the 13th 
day hereof ; to the which the Duke is charged to compear, but I 
think he shall not obey. 	When law has given the stroke against 
him, I believe ye shall hear news of his escaping. 	Your special 
good friend, the Earl of Arran, for the singular and constant affec-
tion he bears to the Duke, offers to accuse him of high treason, if 
they will spare his life to serve and assist the party that is with 
'the King. 	Pity it were that he should not be well used in re- 
spect of his rare qualities natural, beautified with his virtuous 
education in moral philosophy : wherein he has so well profited, 
that his behaviour is marvellous, specially in treating of ambassa-
dors; which makes me to believe that your worship, as one honoured 
with that dignity, will interpone some special request in his favours. 
If ye be disposed so to do, I will take the pains to be your mes-
senger, for the safe conveying thereof to her Majesty's ministers 
in Scotland. 

"Your physic, ministered at your late being in that realm,begins 
now to be of so mighty operation, that banished men are like to 
have place to seek trial of their innocency, or else, I think, very 
shortly it shall be hard to . discern the subject from the traitor. 
From such a market ye may think that I shall not be long absent. 
I am to take my journey towards that country shortly. 	If your 
sore! horse's price be so low as a poor banished man's money may 
amount unto it, I pray you send him hither, and I will pay 
what price ye, sot upon him, so it be reasonable. _ And so, &c. 

" London, this 12th of September. 
G" A. DOUGLAS."  

.110. 	• 

THE DUKE OF LENNOX'S LAST LETTER TO THE KING OF SCOTE, 
Page 141. 

This letter is preserved in the State-paper Office, in a copy of 
the time, endorsed by Burghley, " From the Duke of Lennox to 
the Scottish King from Dumbarton, 16th December, 1582." 	It 
is as follows :— 

" Sins,--Je me rescons le plus malhenrenx homme du monde, 
de voir la mauvaise opinion quo vostre Alajeste a prise de moy, et 
Ale cc que la persuasion de ceux, qui sont aupres de vous mainte-
nant, vous out fait croiro, quo j'avois aultre intention que de vous 
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rendre robeissance et la fidelite pm je vous doibs. 	Croyoz je vous 
supplie tres humblement, que ces motz d'inconstanee et desloy-
suite que me =Ludes dans vostre lettre qu'ay laisse gaigner a mes 
ennemis sur moy, m'ont Taporte uno. graude crevecoeur. 	Car je 
n'eusse jamais pease pie vostre Majeste m'eust voulu ecrire telz 
mots, et je me prio a Dien quo tous ceulx qui yeas serve, et se 
disont vos fideles serviteursl  volts serve avec aultant d'affeetion et 
de fidelite commo jay le fait, pendant que jay eu ceste bonneur 
d'estre a vostre service. • 

"Sire,—Jo ne crams nullement deestre accuse d'inconstanee et 
de desloyaulte. 	C'est chose jamais remarque' en moy, mais si ron 
me veult accuser d'avoir faict une tasche a mon honneur pour vous 
obeir, it faut bien pc je ravoue, car it est tres veritable, et me 
senible, que rengagement de mon dicte bonneur vous doibt asset 
rendre to preuve de ma diet obeissance of fidelite. 

" Ce m'est ung piteux reconfort a mon partement, que apres avoir 
recoil le dur traictment que j'ay receu, et endure les paines, et 
tortuous et ennuis; qu'ay endure depuis trois alts, pour m'estro 
affeetioune a vostre service, en vous servent fidelement (comme jay 
faict) que de voir vostre Majeste indigne contre inoy, pour settle-
ment avoir evite le danger qui me ponvoit avouir, et lequello peut-
estre avoit este conclu sans vostre BM, sous ombre que les Comptes 
d'Angus et de Mar n'avoient pas sign?: rasseurance, dont la 
procuration 	do diet Mar peat donuer asses tesmoignago. 	Et 
pense que si tout chose soil hien recherechee que [vous] trouverez 
que commo it estoit entre Falkirk et Callendei, qu'il y eu a eu de 
sa troupe, que luy donnera conseil de m'enfermer an diet Callender, 
et d'envoyer querir a le diet Angous, ce qu'ayant entendu, voyant 
qu'il n'y avoit pas ung des seigneurs n'y gentilhommes aryves a 
Lythgou, le Mardy a six heures de soir, except° Laird de Wachton 
et les serviteurs et ands de Mous*. do Levisttin, pour la seurte de 
ma vie, laquelle je scay estre recherche& par eulx, je me suis seule-
meat retire en co lieu, en attendant que vostre Majeste &cattiest' 
ordre que je puisse passer seurement, et ce qui volts avoit demand& 
de passer par Carleill, estoit parce que ce chemin la m'estoit 
beaucoup plus sour que celui de Barwick. 	Mais puis que test 
vostre volonte que je preune ce chemin la je vous obeiray, et 
snyvant vostre commandemeut je partiray Manly do ee lieu et 
m'en iray toucher a Glasgow, le Mecredy a Calendar, en Jeudy a 
Dalkeitli, et Vendredy a Dunbar, et si Ines liardes quo je suis eon- 
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straint do faire faire a Lislebourg, me soyent apportees le jour la,' 
je no fandray d'estro le lendemain a.  Barwick, et ou °Iles me 
pourront estro apportees. • Jo 'yens supplie tres liumblement, de 
me permettre de les attendre.au  diet Dunbar, of de me vonloir faire 
envoyor a Dalkeith tout ce que m'avez promis, par le diet Maistre 
George Young, et aussi de mender ung gentilhomme de me venir 
rencontror que le diet Maistre George man& a vostre Majeste, 
lequel 	trouver 	 de 	fin vous yra 	puis qu'il m'a you' party 	— a 
de eons asseurer de l'obeissance quo je vous vouley rondre.—Priant 
Dieu, Sire, qu'il vous ayt en sa sauve garde. Do Dumbarton, 16 do 
Decembre, 1582. 

" De vostre Majeste, 
" Le tres humble* et fidele serviteur, 

" LENNOX." 

XII. 

°TUE KTNG'S RECOVERY OF HIS LIBERTY IN 1583.—Page 165. 

In the month of May, 1583, when James was pondering on the 
plot for the recovery of his liberty, and his escape from the thraldom 

in which he was kept by the Ratliven lords, there occurs a re-
markable letter written by Fowler to Walsingham, which shows 
that the young King bad, first disclosed his secret intentions to the 
Master of Glammis. 	This is strange enough; for Glammis, as we 
have seen, (supra, p. 125,) was one of the leaders of the " Raid of 
Ruthven." 	The letter is as follows.—It is preserved in Brit. Mus., 
Caligula, C. vii. fol. 148 

1'011-LER TO WALSINGIWI. 

" May, 1583. 

" MY LORD,—Aftet my most humble commendations and ser-
vice, I do send your honour such proofs of my fidelity, that your 
honour may thereby well jndge of my true meaning. 	The King 
bath entered in conference with the Master of Glammis after thi i 
sort: —` I intend to go in progress, and first to Falkland, and there-
after to the Glammis. What think you, Master,—shall I be welcome?' 
The other answered, that his welcome should be better than his 
21elajestyp entertainment ; because, saith he, ' I am lees able now 
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than I was these five years before :' meaning of his loss and fine of xx, 
thousand pounds, which ho paid, by the Duke of Lennox's means, 
for the killing of the Earl of Crawford's man. The King answered, 
'Masier, are you not yet contented and sufficiently revenged? 	If 
you had not turned that night to Ruthven, these things, which were 
then devised, would never have taken effect. 	Well, Master, I will 
forgive you ; and if you will conform yourself now to my request, 
your losses shall be faithfully repaired you hereafter.' 	Sir, said lie, 
what is your will ? Command me in anything : your Majesty shall 
be obeyed,—yea, wore it in the killing of the best that are about. 
your Majesty.' 	The King answered, 'Master, I mean not so: but 
because I think it stands not with my honour to be guided by 
other coon's will, I would things were changed,—which you only 
may perform, if you follow my device. None mistrusteth you; and, 
therefore, I will come to the Glammis, where you mayhave such power 
for that effect,that I will remain your prisoner, so that you debar 
these from me who Lath me at their devotion. . To conclude, the-
other bath agreed thereto, and shall conclude therein, if good coun- 
sel prevent it not. 	* 	0 	0  

" As these things must come to light, so would I they so should 
be used, as the, chief intelligence should be known not to have 
coined from hence ; otherwise I shall be suspected, and incur th& 
King's hatred, and the Master of Glammis' displeasure " 	* 	* 

XIII. 

WALUNGRAM'S EMBAS6Y TO TUE SCOTTISU COURT, IN SEPTEMBER 

1583.—Page 175. 

The following letter, from the State-paper Office, relates to this 
interesting embasty :— 

WALSIN(al AM TO BURGULEY. 

" EDINBURGH, 6tk September, 1383. 
" ny very good Lord—Since I last wrote unto your Lordship. 

I have oceived three sundry letters from you, by the which I find 
your Lordship bath obtained so much leisure as to see your house 
at Burghley, where I could have been content, having finished 
here, to her Majesty's contentment the charge committed to me, 
to have met your Lordship.—I mean, with the leave of God, ac- 
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cording to my promise made to Sir Thomas Cecil, to see him there, 
and to survey such faults as have been committed in your buildings 
by reason of your Lordship's absence ; and yet am I in hope to 
come time enough in my return to see him at Snape ; for here I 
see little hope to do any good, so resolutely and violently are they 
carried into a course altogether contrary to the amity of this Crown, 
which by the better sort is greatly misliked of : and it is thought 
that they which have the whole managing of the affairs cannot 
long stand, so hateful do they grow generally to all estates in this 
realm. 	 . 

" Though I press my audience.very earnestly, yet can they not 
resolve neither of the time nor place. 	They are now, as I learn, 
busily occupied how they may excuse their breaches of promises 
and other attempts against her Majesty, but most especially how 
they may excuse the late outrage committed in the Middle Marches, 
by yielding fair words and promises for satisfaction. 	This kind of 
proceeding cannot but render them hateful that now manage the 
affairs; for I find the Borderers, the loose men only excepted, 
generally inclined to continue good peace with England. The Bur-
rows, also, who live by traffick, and are grown to be wealthy by 
the long-continued peace between the two realms, do not willingly 
liar of any breach. 	The ministers, who foresee how greatly the 
common cause should be shaken if discord between the two nations 
should break out, will not omit to do their best endeavours to pre- 
vent the same. 	I. will not fail, at my access, to press both speedy 
redress and full satisfaction, as well of that outrage as of divers 
others committed this laSt month. 	* 	* 	It shall be necessary 
for her Majesty, in these doubtful times, considering how they 
stand affected that have now the helm in hand here, to place some 
horsemen and footmen upon the Borders for a season, which may 
servo well for some other purpose, as your Lordship shall hereafter 
understand. 	* 	* 	*—At Edinburgh, the 6th September 1583. 

" Your Lordship's, &e. 
" FRANCIS WALSINGHAM. 

• 
" After I had written my letter, Mr James Melvin came unto 

me from the King, to excuse the delay of my audience, without 
bringing any certain knowledge when the same should be granted, 
which moved me to deal roundly with him." 	* 	* 
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xnr. 

HISTORICAL REMARKS ON TIIE QUEEN OF SCOTS' SUPPOSED 
ACCESSION TO 13ABINGTON'S CONSPIRACY. 

• 
That Mary was a party to this plot, so far as it involved a pro-

ject for her escape, may be assumed as certain; indeed, she ap-
pears to have admitted' it, by implication at least, on her trial. 
But the question remains, and it is one deeply affecting Elizabeth 
and her ministers—was she cognizant of the resolution to assassi-
nate the English Queen?--did'the permit, or encourage this atro- 
cious design ? 	After a careful research into the history of this 
conspiracy, and an anxious desire to procure and weigh every do-
cument connected with it, I believe Mary's solemn assertion to 
be true,—that she neither gave-any encouragement to the plot, nor 
was aware of its existence. 	Hume, who pronounces Mary guilty, 
has written on this conspiracy with all his inimitable clearness and 
plausibility; but unfortunatelywith much of his usual carelessness as 
to facts and dates, which enter deeply into the question, and which 
a little trouble might have enabled him to discover and to rectify. 
Dr Lingard, in an acute note added to the last edition of his Ills-
tory,1  has supported Mary's innocence; and Dr Robertson, with-
out interrupting his narrative by critical remarks, has assumed it. 
Referring the reader to the works of these eminent men, I shall 
now briefly give some additional facts and observations, from which 
there arises the strongest presumption, if not absolute proof, of the 
innocence of the Queen of Scots. 

First. 	It is evident, from the history of this conspiracy as 
given in the text, that Phelipps the decipherer bad much, almost 
everything, in his power as to the proof of Mary's guilt or inno- 
cence. 	He was admitted by Walsingham into all " the secrets of 
the cause," (to 'Use Paulet's phrase;) he enjoyed the full confi- 
dence of this minister and his royal mistress. 	It does not appear 
that any other person about Walsingham or the Queen of England 
could decipher. 	There aro letters in the State-paper Office, and 
in the British Museum, which prove that whenever any inter-
cepted letters in cipher fell into the hands of Elizabeth or Secre-
tary Walsingham, they were forthwith sent to Phelipps " to he• 

' Note M. vol. viii. History of England, p. 434. 
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made English ;"J and it is certain that be did decipher, and retain in 
his bands for ten days, the letter in cipher from Mary to Babington, 
upon a copy of which that Princess was convicted. It is evident from 
all this, that Phelipps had the power and the opportunity to alter 
the letters of Babington or of Mary which.wero bent him to be 
deciphered; and owing to the ignorance of his employers in this • 
intricate science, he might have done so without much, or almost 
any fear of discovery. 	But it may be asked, Could be be so base 
as to garble these letters ? or was Walsingham so lost to all sense 
of justice and honour as to have permitted it? • 
. To this I reply, that there is preserved in the State-paper Office a 

letter or petition of Phelipps to theYarl of SalisbUry, an extract from 
which I give below, which proves, that in one noted instance. he 
bad availed himself of his talents and opportunity to a base and 
unscrupulous extent. 	In this case, be did .not add to or alter any 
letter placed in his halide ; but ho did much more. 	Ile composed, 
or created, an entirely imaginary correspondence. 	He wrote let- 
ters under the name of an imaginary person to a real person, 
who enjoyed the confidence of the Spanish Government., and who, 
by the forgery of these letters, was betrayed into a correspondence 
with Phelipps, who made his own uses of his base contrivance. 
All this be acknowledges in 11 letter to the Earl of Salisbury, 
which is an undoubted original, written in his own hands pleading 

3  MS. Letter, Caligula, C. ix., fol. 455, Davison to Phelipps, 11th Dec. 
DAVISON TO PIIELIPPS. 

" Mr Phelipps. 	Her Majesty delivered me the ticket hero enclosed for 
your exercise, because she thinketh you now be idle. 	When you have inade 
English thereof, I doubt not but you will return it back to her Highness : 
and so, in the meantime, I commit you to God.—At the Court the 11th De-
cember." 

There is another letter of Walsingham in Caligula, C. ix., fol. 455, written, 
I think, evidently to Phelipps, though the address does not appear :— 

" I send you herewith enclosed another letter, written from the King of 
Spain unto some noblemen within this realm, which was delivered unto me 
by her Majesty, together with the other letter of Don Bernardino remaining 
in your hands, which, if it may be deciphered, will, I hope, lay open the 
treachery that reigneth here amongst us. 	Her Majesty bath promised to 
double your pension, and to be otherwise good unto you.—And so I commit 
you to God. 	Tile 30th Nov., 158.5. 	 "F. WALSINOHAM." 

2  State-paper Office, 29th Apri1,1606. 	Thomas Pholipps, orig. in his own 
hand, dated (in pencil) 29th Apri1,1606 :--- 

"Phelipps humbly prayed', that the King's Majesty may be moved to 
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in extenuation of the forgery, that it was done for thd benefit of 
the State. 

Such being the unscrupulous character of this person, is it any 
overetreined supposition, that such:a man would have felt little 
hesitation in altering the letters of the Queen of Scots, to suit the 
purpoSes • of her enemies ? 

But here it is asked, (and the argument is insisted on by Rutile,) 
—would a man of such high honour and probity as Walsingham, 
have been guilty of so base a proceeding ?' As to this alleged 
probity and honour, Hume, it is evident, trusted to the common 
eulogies which, in popular works, have been bestowed on Eliza- 
bethan statesmen. 	Happily, however, the correspondence of Eliza-
beth's ministers remains to test this praise ; and Walsingliam has 
left many letters which prove, incontestably, that, in working Out 
any object which he was persuaded was for the good of the State, he 

descend into a gracious consideration of his case, and he doubted' not but his 
Majesty shall find cause to conceive much better of his proceedings than it 
seemeth he doth. 	 . 

" The truth is, that there never Was any real or direct correspondence held 
with Owen. 	But, by a mere stratagem and sleight in the late Queen's time, 
that State upon an occasion,was entertaited in an opinion of an intelligence 
with an imaginary person on this side, such as was none in rerun; navel, 
which Owen, abused, did manage on that side, as Phelipps for the Queen's 
service did on this. 	The manner whereof and the means were particu- 
larly declared to my Lord of Salisbury by Ph. when he was first called 
in qUestion, who had himself made some use of it in the Queen's time ; and 
you, Mr Lieutenant can, best of any man, remember how the Queen and my 
Lord of Essex served themselves of it. 

" In the carriage of this business, the imaginary correspondent being pressed 
to find somebody that should set afoot certain overtures, touching peace and 
the jewels of the House of Burgundy, and such like, Phelipps was nominated 
and used for those purposes, to the contentment of both sides, as it fell out 
at sundry times, without that it was known, or so much as suspected, that 
Phelipps was the man that indeed managed all matters. 

° With the Queen's life this course was supposed to have been quite deter-
mined ; but shortly after, upon the hope of amity, which was growing be-
tween this realm and Spain, an address was newly made to the imaginary 
correspondent in Maucididor's name, to have Phelipps moved to concur with 
those that should be set a-work both for peace and league of firm amity be-
tween the,Princes, with large offers, and promises of honourable gratification 
to all such as could do any good therein. 

" Which being a thing in itself not unlawful, and Phelipps seeing oppor- 
tunity offered him to make himself thereby of use, he willingly embraced," .. 	. 	. 
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was quite as crafty and unscrupulous as his brethren. In those dark 
times, the scale of moral duty and honour was miserably low : justice, 
truth, religion, wore names common in men's mouths, but slightly 
regarded in their actual dealings. 	To open letters, to rob an am- 
bassador's desk, to corrupt his servants, to forge his signature, were 
all allowable methods of furthering the business of the State. 	The 
reader is already well aware of the little value placed on human life, 
of the frequency of private assassination, and the encouragement 
given to it by the highest statesmen of the ago. 	To argue on the 
honour and probity of such men—as we should be entitled to do 
had they lived in our own times, (lax as this age may be in some 
things)—must lead to error. 	Nay, Hume himself was aware of, 
and states one instance in which Walsingham acted with a total 
disregard of all high principle. 	This historian tells us, that the 
English secretary, when he had intercepted and opened Mary's 
letters to Babington, added to them a postscript in the same cipher, 
in which she desired him to inform her of the names of the con- 
spirators; hoping thus to elicit from Babington the whole secrets 
of the plot. 	Was it possible that any man of common probity 
could have so acted? and what are we to think of his letter quoted 
in the text, in which, in obedience to the English Queen's com-
mands, he solicited Paulet to put Mary privately to death? Could 
a man of the slightest probity have written that letter ? 

It appears, then, that Phelipps and Walsingham wore persons 
capable of such a course as garbling and altering Mary's letters : 
it is evident. that Phelipps had the power and the talent to 
do so ; and we have neon, from the history of the Conspiracy 
given in the text, that both were anxious to convict her and 
bring her to punishment. 	But it may be said, All this is presump- 
tion : where is the proof that they added anything to these 
letters ? 	In answer to this may be first quoted, the forged 
postscript endorsed in Phelipps' handwriting, " Postscript of the 
Scottish Queen's Wen to BaLington,"1  inquiring the names of 
the six gentlemen. 	Hume, following Camden,2  asserts that Wal- 
singham added a postscript of this import to one of Mary's letters 
to Babington. 	It is singular, however, that it should not have 
struck this historian, that no such postscript appeared in any of 
Mary's alleged letters produced at the trial ; and had this charge, 

' Supra, p. 326. 
2  Hume, p. 453. 	Edition 1832. 	In one volume. 	Camden in Kennet, vol. 

ii. p. 517. 
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which involves so grave a delinquency in Walsingham, 'rested on 
the single assertion of Camden, one would certainly have hesitated 
to believe it. 	But the case is altered by the discovery, (mentioned 
in tho temt,p. 326) of this postscript in cipher, endorsed by Phelipps, 
and preserved in the State-paper Office. Now, such a postscript was 
either what it purports to be—an original of Mary's, or a true copy 
of such an original, or a forgery. 	If it were an original of Mary's, 
or a true copy of such, why, it may be asked, was it not produced 
against her at the trial ? 	It connected her with the six conspira- 
tors, who were Babington's associates; and in this light would have 
been decided evidence against her. 	But no use was made of it at 
the trial ; and it may be conjectured, from this suppression, that, 
after having exercised his skill in fabricating it, Phelipps changed 
his scheme for' the conviction of the Scottish Queen, and intro-
duced the sentences connecting her with the six gentlemen who 
were to assassinate the English Queen into the body of the letters, 
rather than in a postscript at tho end. 

In the next place, although there is no direct evidence by which 
we can detect Phelipps or Walsingham in the act of garbling and 
altering Mary's letters, yet strong presumptive evidence is fur-
nished by the circumstances of the trial itself; and this even after 
making allowance for the partiality and disregard of justice which 
appears in all the judicial proceedings of those times. 

It is evident that Mary could only be proved guilty by the 
production of her own letters ; by the production of the minutes, 
or rough drafts of these in her own hand; by the evidence of her 
secretaries, Nan and Curie, who wrote the letters ; or by the evi- 
dence of Phelipps, who deciphered them. 	The limits to which I 
must confine these remarks will not permit me to go into detail ; 
but it may be observed, that on each of these modes of proof, 
the evidence against the Scottish Queen, either totally fails, or is 
defective. 

1. No original of Babington's long letter to her, or of her answer 
to Babington, was produced. 	Mary anxiously demanded the pro-
duction of both, and positively assorted that she had never written 
the letter of which they produced a copy; but she demanded it in 
vain, and she was convicted on the evidence of this avowed copy. 

2. It was stated by Nan, her secretary, that the greater part 
of her letter to Babington was copied by hint from a minute in 
Mary's own hand, written in French, which, he stated, would be 
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found amongst her papers,' and which, if we amt.!) believe Nan's 
declaration, Elizabeth and her ministers had really in their hands, 
and could have produced if they pleased? 	Now, flick: 'French 
minutes written in Mary's hand, if they had contained the guilty 
passages connecting her with the plot against Elizabeth's life, 
would undoubtedly have proved the case against her. 	Why then 
were they not produced ? 	It seems plain, that if found at all, of 
which there is reason to doubt,3  they did not Contain any mention 
of the plot against Elizabeth's life. 	Here, again, the proof against 
the Scottish Queen totally fails. 	, 

3. As to Neu and Carle, the manner of dealing with these two 
secretaries of Mary betrays, in a striking way, the weakness of 
the proof against her. 	She anxiously requested to be allowed to 
examine them ; and engaged, if this were permitted, to prove by 
their testimony, that she was innocent. 	This was denied: she 
was shown some depositions to which they had attached their 
signatures; and other declarations were produced wholly written 
by them, the contents of which, it was argued, proved her guilty 
of sending the long letter to Babington. 	Mary's reply to these de- 
positions has been already stated in the text ; but it is here material 
to attend to an observation of Dr Lingard, who contends, and 
apparently with perfect justice--that, judging from the only papers 
which now remain, it does not appear that Nan or Curio wore ever 

' MS. letter, State-paper Office, 7th September, 153G. 
WAAL/ TO PHELIPPS. 

" Iler Majesty's pleasure is, you should presently repair hither ; for that, 
upon Nau's confession, it should appear we have not performed the search suf-
ficiently; for ho doth assure we shall find, amongst the minutes which were 
in Pasquier's chests, the copies of the letters wanting, both in French and 
English." 	* 	* 	4. 

2  Orig. State-paper Office. 	Nau's first Answer, 3d September, UK— 
" Il luy pietist me bailler nue minute de lettre escripte de sa main pour la 
polir et mettre au net, aiusi gull apparoit a vos Honneurs avoir este faict 
ayant l'une et l'autre entre vos mains." 	4 	* 	* 

3  On the 3d September, Nan, in a paper in the State-paper Office, en-
dorsed by Burghley, " Nau's first Answer," speaks as if Elizabeth and her 
ministers had Mary's original minutes, written by herself, in their hands. 
But next day, September 4th, Walsiugham, in a letter to Phelipps, State-
paper Office, says, " the minute of her answer is not extant;" and on the 7th 
September, these alleged minutes and letter of Mary's were still wanting; 
for Waad writes to Phelipps to search anew for them. 	(State-paper Office, 
'Weed to Phelipps; 7th September, 158G.) 	1 have discovered no proof that 
they were ever found. 
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shown the original of Mary's letter in cipher to Babington, or the 
true deciphered copy of it ; but merely an abstract of the principal 
points in it, so made up as to render it doubtful whether they in-
cluded • the guilty passages which Mary so solemnly affirmed 
were not dictated or written by her.' 	It is true, indeed, that in 
the'State-paper Office,- and in the British Museum also, there are 
preserved copies of Mary's letter to Babington, with the copy of 
an attestation signed by Curio and Nau ;—but iu what terms is it 
given ? 	Do they verify, on oath, that this is a true copy of the 
letter written by them from Mary's dictation, and sent to Babing- 
ton ? 	Far from it. 	Nan simply says, ho truly thinks, to the best 
of his recollection, this is the letter; and Curie, that it was either 
this letter, or one like it, that he put in cipher.3 	And it was on 
such an attestation as this that Burghley contended that the Scot-
tish Queen was guilty ? 

4. There was yet one other way in which the defects of the 
proof against Mary might have been supplied. 	If 1Valsingliam 
and Burghley could not produce the original of her lettor•to Ba-
bington—if they had no minutes of this letter in her own hand-
writing—they still had l'helipps, who had deciphered it, and who 
could have attested on oath the accuracy of his own decipher, and 
its agreement• with the copy produced at the trial. 	Why was this 
man not produced? 	Can the motive be doubted ? 

There are three original papers preserved in the State-paper 
Office, which appear to me to establish Mary's innocence, on as 
convincing grounds as the question admits of. 	It has been already 
noticed, that when Nau affirmed that the greater part of ISlary's 
letter to Babington was taken by him from an original in the 
Queen's hand, and that this minute of her answer would be found 
in her repositories, a strict search was made, which was wholly 
unsuccessful; and on the 4th September, Walsingliam became con- 
vinced that " the minute was not extant." 	VA,- failure of obtain- 

1  Lingard, list. of England, vol. viii. pp. 220, °2l ; and Appendix, pp. 436, 
437. 

9  "Je jense de v'ray que c'est la lettre escripto par sa Majestc a Babitigton,  
confine it me sourenit.—Ainsi signe, 	 " NAL." 

" Tolle as semblable »re semble avoir sate la reponse escripto en Francois 
par Mons' Nan, laquelle fay tradnit, et mis en there, commo Fen fail men-
tion an pied d'uno copie do lettre de Mr Babington, Mimetic Mona,  Nan a 
signe le premier.—Ainsi signe, 	 '6  GILBERT CCRLI:." 

66  3th September, rifiq." 
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jug proof against Mary, threw Walsingham into great perplexity, • 
in the midst of which he wrote this letter to Phelipps : 

IVALSINGIIANI TO PIIELIPPS. 	 - 

"-This morning I received the enclosed from Francis Mulles; and 
this afternoon he made report unto me of his proceeding with 
Curie accordingly as is set down in the enclosed; by the which you 
may perceive that Curie cloth both testify the 'receipt of Babing-
ton's letters, as also the Queen his mistress' answer to the same, 
wherein he chargeth Nau to have been a principal instrument. 	I 
took upon me to put him in comfort of favour, in case he would 
deal plainly, being moved thereto for that the minute of her answer 
is not extant, and that I saw Nau resolved to confess no more than 
we wore able of ourselves to charge him withal. 

" If it might please her Majesty, upon Curie's plain dealing, and 
in respect of the comfort I have put him in to receive grace for 
the same, to extend some extraordinary favour towards him, con-
sidering that he is a stranger, and that which he did was by his 
mistress' commandment, I conceive great hope there might be 
things drawn from him worthy of her Majesty's knowledge ; fur 
which purpose I can be content to retain him still prisoner with 
me, if her Majesty shall allow of it. 

" I pray you therefore procure some access unto her Majesty, 
that you may know her pleasure therein, with as convenient speed 
as you may. 	And so God keep you. 	From Barnelme, the 4th 
September, 1586.1  

"Fa. WALSLNGILAZI." 
This letter proves that no minutes in Mary's handwriting, con-

necting her with the letter to Etabington, had then (4th Septem-
ber) been found ; that Nan bad confessed nothing that implicated 
her; and that all Walsingham's hopes rested on bribing Carle, by 
some "extraordinary favour," to make further disclosures. 

In these difficulties, it seems to have struck Phelipps, that 
Curie and Nan might be intimidated into confessing something 
against Mary, by showing them that they had already, by their 
written declarations, confessed enough against themselves to in-: 
volve a charge of treason, as abettors of the plot for the invasion 
of England, and the escape of the Scottish Queen. 	The idea of 
Pholipps was, to say to these secretaries of the Queen of Scots--

, MS. Letter, State-paper Offlee, Papers of Mary Queen of Scots. 
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" We have already enough against you to hang you ; but be more 
explicit : tell us something which may connect your mistress 
with Babington's designs against Elizabeth's life, and you shall 
receive ; some' extraordinary favour.' " 	For this purpose, Phelipps, 
on the 4th September, the very day on which Walsingham wrote 
the above letter, drew up some remarks, which he sent to Burgh- 
ley, who has endorsed them " From Phelipps." 	This paper is 
entitled, "An Extract of the points contained in the minutes 
written by Nau and Carle, arguing their privity to the enterprise 
of the Catholics, and their mistress' plot."-4th September, 1586. 
The reader must pardon its abrupt and unfinished state, remem- 
bering that this makes it more authentic. 	It has been carefully 
read and marked by Burghley, and is as follows :— 	. 

"Nan and Curie are charged to be privy and partakers of the 
Conspiracy made by the Papists for the invasion and a rebellion 
within, the realm; as also of a plot laid by their mistress, and 
bent by her unto the said Papists, with direction fur execution of 
their enterprise, by the minutes of the letters sent to divers persons 
following, which they }Ave confessed to be their own hands :— 

"I'Vau. 	K. 	The letter K, written from the Scottish Q. to 
Charles Paget, 27th July, being Nan his hand, bath these 
express words beginning at the letter K, Sur le retour de 
Ballard, 4c. 	In English thus :—" Upon the return of Ballard 
into this country, the principal Catholics which had despatched 
him unto that side for want of intelligence with me, have im-
parted unto me their intentions conform to that which you wrote 
thereof; but more particularly demanding my directions for the 
execution of the whole. 	I have made them a very ample de- 
spatch, containing point by.point my advice touching all things 
requisite, as well on this side the sea as on that, to bring to pass 
their design," &c. 

" The same written in English by Curie, the letter marked D. 
"Eau. 	L. 	The letter marked L, written from the Scottish Q. 

to the B. of Glasgow, 27th July, being Nau his hand, coutaineth a 
direction unto the said B. to renew the practices with the King of 
Spain and the Pope, for reformation (as she terms it) of this 
Island—an advice to raise some contrary faction in Scotland to 
that of England, to disturb the quiet of this Isle—sho assureth 
that the principal Catholics of England were never better disposed 
than at this present, being resolute to set upon the rest. 	Wills 
him to know of her cousin the D. of Guise, if, the peace being 
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made in France, he may not employ himself iii this action with 
the forces, which, without suspicion, he may have in readiness by 
that mean, Sze. 	 _ 	- 	• 

" F. 	The letter F, written by the Scottish Queen to Mendoza, 
27th July, being Nan his hand, containeth, in express terms, that 
upon intelligence. of the K. of Spain's good intention in these 
luarters, she bath written very amply to' the principal Catholics, 
touching a design which he hath sent them, with his advice upon 
every point, to.resolve upon the execution thereof. 	And particu- 
lady that she bath sent unto them to despatch one in all diligence 
unto him, sufficiently instructed to treat with him according to the 
general offers that had been made him of all things to be required 
on the behalf of his master. 	She wills him to give the bearer 
credit, which shall be sent from the Catholics, as to herself. 	The 
said deputy of the Catholics, she saitb, shall inform him of the 
means of her escape, &c. 

"Carle) 	0. 	The letter marked 0, written by the Q. of Scots 
to the L. Pagett, 27th July, with Curie's hand, argueth an over-
ture made by the Catholics of this realm to the Spanish Ambassa-
dor, Mendoza, which she says she thinks his brother bath acquainted 
him 	with: she ankh she bath written very amply to the principal 
of the, said Catholics, for to have, upon a plot which she bath 
dressed for them, their common resolution ; and for to treat accor-
dingly with the K. of Spain, she hath addressed them unto him ; 

'and she prays him to consider deeply of the said plot, and all the 
particularities for the execution thereof; namely, for the support, 
both men, armour, munition, and money, which is to be had of the 
Pope and King of Spain. 

"There is a minute of the same in French, under Nan his hand. 
" Curie.2 	E. 	The letter marked E, written by the Scottish 

Q. to Sir Francis Englefield, 27th July, of Curie's hand, contain- 
eth the same in effect also." 	* 	0 	° 3  

In the above summary of proofs against the Queen of Scots and 
her two secretaries, drawn up by Phelipps, and evidently founded 
on all the original letters which had been then recovered, and with 
which either Nan or Curie could be connected, there is not, it will 
be seen, the slightest proof of Mary's participation in Babington's 
plot against Elizabeth's  life : nor does there appear to have been 

' This word, Curie, on the margin, is in Burghley's hand. 
2  The name "Curie" is in Burghley's hand. 
3  MS. State-paper Office, Paper' of Mary Queen of Scots. 
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anything in these letters, written by her secretaries, connecting 
her or them with such a design. 	The plot related entirely, as is 
shown by these proofs, to the Spanish invasion of England, and 
the plans drawn up by Mary for her escape—to which she pleaded 
guilty. 

This defect appears to have struck Burghley, and Phelipps en-
deavoured to supply it by drawing up for this statesman a second 
SUMMARY, endorsed by Burghley : "From Phelipps," and dated 
on the same day as the former, 4th Sept., 1586. 	This paper 
appears to me, from its admissions and omissions, to be almost 
conclusive in establishing the innocence of Mary. 	It is entitled, 
" Arguments of Nan and Curie's privity to the whole conspiracy, 
as well of invasion, as rebellion and murder of the Queen's per-
son ; " and is as follows :—. 

" Their privity to that was written by their mistress touching 
the two former points both to Mendoza, the L. Paget, Charles 
Paget, Sir Francis Englefield, and the B. of Glasgow, in the letters 
of the 27th July, thus marked—F, 0, K, D, li, L; which minutes 
are of their own hands, as themselves confess, the like trust not 
unlike to be given for writing those to Babington. 

"The first letter written by that Queen unto Babiugton, as it 
soemeth, since his intelligence was renewed,being of the 26th June, 
is of Curie's hand, (litera B;) and the secret intelligencer Bar-
naby,1  is directed by Curie's letter where to find Babington, 
litera B. 

" The second letter, likewise coming from Nau to Babington; 
touching their assurance of Foley, is of Curlefs hand, (liters P;) 
and it argueth a letter sent in cipher from Babington, which Curie, 
or the inditer thereof, was to decipher, which was Nan. 	In the 
same letter, Curie taketh order that x shall stand for Babington's 
name. 

"Litera A showeth that there wa.s another letter in cipher sent 
to Babington by the secret messenger, 27th July, which Babington 
shall confess to be the bloody letter. 	The letters to Babington 
and from Babington, two of them were verylong, and all in cipher, 
fair written, (as Babington will confess;) and therefore it cannot 
choose but that the Queen's letter was put in cipher by Nati or 
Curie, and Babington's letter likewise deciphered. 

1  Barnaby is a name for Gilbert Gifford. 	"Curie's Letter," 19th June ; 
State-paper Office, in which he says, "ff stands also for Barnaby, or Gilbert 
G ifford." 

VOL. VIII. 	 2 a 
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"The new alphabet sent to be used in time to come between 1 
Queen and Babington; accompanying the bloody despatch, o 1.1,, 
Nau's hand. 	 • 

"The heads of that bloody letter sent to Babington, touching the 
designment of the Queen's person, (by this he means the plot to 
assassinate Elizabeth,) is of Nau's hand likewise. 

." They cannot any way say it should stand with reason that the 
Queen did decipher, and put in cipher, her letters herself. 	For it 
appeareth that she despatched ordinarily more parquets every 
fortnight than it was positible for one body well exercised therein 
to put in cipher, and decipher those sent ; much less for her, being 
diseased, a Queen, &c. 	 . 

"It appeareth all letters were addressed, to one of them, Nan of 
Curle; for that in the deciphering there,is, for the most part,. a 
postscript found to them—excusing sometimes the error or length 
of the cipher, sometimes of their private occasions, Sze." 

Such is this second " Summary." 	Now it will be noted that 
Phelipps argues thus. 	The letters of Mary to Mendoza, Lord 
Paget, and others, marked F, 0, K, D, E, L, were written from 
minutes drawn up by Curie and Nau from Mary's dictation. 	It 
is, therefore, to be presumed, that a similar trust would be given 
them for writing the letters to Babington. 	Is there not hero an 
express admission by Phelipps, that there was no proof that Mary 
had given any instructions whatever to her secretaries, which con-
nected her with the alleged letter to Babington, produced on her 
trial.—He presumes that she may have given instructions for 
Babington's letter, because she gave such instructions for the let- 
ters to Mendoza, Paget, and the rest. 	 • 

But there is a still more important fact stated by Phelipps in 
this second " Summary." 	The heade of the bloody letter to BA-
ington had, it appears, been found, although the minutes of thi • 
same letter which Nau affirmed to have been given him by ! the 
Queen in her own handwriting, had not been found. 	And the,c 
heads, let it be observed, were in the handwriting of Nau himself, 
not of Mary. 

It is, therefore, evident, that the utmost exertions, and the 
strictest search on the part of Mary's enemies, directed by all the 
skill and vigour of Walsingham, and carried into effect by tho 
unscrupulous artifices and ingenuity of Phelipps, bad not been Able 
to find the smallest scrap of evidence under Mary's hand, which 
could connect her with the plot against Queen Elizabeth's 	if'. 
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Last of all, we have in this " Summary," the admission that all 
the letters, (which includes Babington's among the rest,) were ad- 
dressed 	to Mary, but 	to Nau 	Curle—that Mary not 	either 	or 	 relied 
on Nau and Curie to decipher them—and that the Queen's alleged 
letter to Babington was put in cipher either by Nau or Curie. 	If, 
then, (to sum up these proofs,) Babington's alleged letter was not 
addressed to Mary—if she had nothing to do with deciphering it 
—if the alleged answer in cipher was not made by her—if there 
were no minutes in her hand for that answer—if Nau and Curie's 
declarations do not connect her with the plot against the Queen's 
life—and if Phelipps, whose evidence, under such a lack of proof, 
could alone have supplied the deficiency, was not brought forward 
—it appears aifficult to resist the conclusion that Mary was im-
plicated solely in a plot for her escape, that she was entirely igno-
rant of the project for Elizabeth's assassination, and that she was 
the 'victim of forged letters manufactured by her enemies.' 	It 
would be easy to corroborate this conclusion by sonic additional 
arguments, drawn from tho successive declarations of Nan, and 
other letters or papers preserved in the British Museum and State-
paper Office ; but enough has been said upon the point, and any 
reader who wishes to pursue the inquiry, will find ample materials 
in these two noble repositories of original information. 	lie will 
there find the lists, notes, and arguments which Lord Burghley 
Grew up previous to the trial of the Scottish Queen ; upon which I 
cannot enter,—but the whole have been examined and carefully 
weighed, and the result is a confirmation of the opinion of Mary's 
innocence. 

•I lathe British Museum, Caligula, C. ix. fol. 458, there is a confession of Thomas 
llarrison, who styles himself Secretary to Sir Francis Walsingham, in which 
he states that Walsingham, Phelipps, and himself, contrived the conspiracy, 
and forged the letters, for. which Mary suffered death. 	I have not given this 
confession, because I know one part of it to be false, and dare not trust the 
rest. 

END OF VOLUME EICIIIII. 

t 

EDINBURGH; 
Printed by Wu 11AM TAIT, Prince's Street 
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Page 324, lino 14—for word read wind. _ 
Page 327. 	In Noto 1  dele this last sentence, The spelling has been modernised. 
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